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REBUILDING FEMA: PREPARING FOR THE
NEXT DISASTER
TUESDAY, MAY 18, 1993
U.S. SENATE,
COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS,

Washington, DC.
The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:34 a.m., in room
SD-342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. John Glenn, Chairman of the Committee, presiding.
Present: Senators Glenn, Roth, and Akaka.
OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN GLENN
Chairman GLENN. The hearing will be in order.
Today the Committee on Governmental Affairs meets to consider
how we can improve the Federal response to disasters, particularly
those of a catastrophic nature, like Hurricane Andrew.
I am particularly pleased to have back before us the newly-confirmed Director of FEMA, Mr. James Lee Witt, who I think brings
the experience and perspective and commitment necessary to turn
FEMA around.
I also look forward to hearing from Dexter Peach on the final resuits of GAO's investigation, which I had requested, on disaster
management. He and his staff have done yeoman's work in this
area. I should note that Mr. Peach will be making recommendations directly to the President, whose leadership on this issue is
vital.
In order to get a sense of perspective for this hearing, I asked
my staff to review the Committee's work, which goes clear back to
1978, on President Carter's reorganization plan which created
FEMA. The goal was to consolidate disparate agency programs
under one central roof and to provide strong leadership focus and
attention for emergency management activities. It has been 15
years. The level of coordination that we had anticipated at that
time, I think it would be fair to say, has certainly not happened
as of yet.
In fact, we hear the cries from the very people FEMA was set
up to serve, those Americans who are victims of natural catastrophes and who have bitterly complained that FEMA's follow-up
on many occasions was an even bigger disaster.
I don't know whether we expect too much or whether there are
different levels of responses depending on the type of disaster.
whether it is a small tornado or flood that the local police and fire
department can handle, as opposed to things where we should be

moving in the National Guard on a more rapid basis, but we really
have to get control of this thing.
I also came across, incidentally, a comment made by Mr. George
Elsey, then head of the Red Cross, who told this Committee some
15 years ago how fortunate it was that South Florida, with its tremendous increase in population density, had not experienced a
major hurricane in some time. Those words certainly have come
back to haunt us in a very deadly and a costly manner, and I guess
our luck finally ran out.
Given the severity of catastrophic disasters which we have experienced lately and what has appeared to be a painfully slow Federal response, some people have called for FEMA's abolition. While
it is true that since its inception FEMA has been plagued by a host
of problems with scant attention from either the White House or
Congress, I think it does a great disservice to the many career employees in FEMA who have worked so hard under such adverse circumstances.
We are no longer fighting the Cold War. That is history. But recent reports in the media have indicated that during the Cold War,
FEMA spent a much greater proportion of its funds on nuclear war
preparedness than natural disaster relief.
There has been some writing about the Continuity of Government, the COG program as it is called, and we know that that assumed a very large proportion of the activities of FEMA, even
though it was kept very quiet, was one of the most classified areas
of government activity for a long period of time.
I think it is time for that to change, because we do know it is
only a matter of time, be it days, weeks, or months, until our own
citizens are victimized by a major catastrophe. In fact, some experts, such as Dr. Bob Sheets, who is here today, have predicted
that we are at the start of such a cycle.
I think we can make FEMA a more proactive and responsive
agency and one that embodies Presidential leadership, attention,
and respect. I think we must change FEMA's focus from nuclear
attack to civil emergencies and natural disasters. Finally, we must
ensure that States are contributing their fair share towards disaster mitigation, training, and planning. After all, this is a partnership and we can't always expect the feds to cut a blank check if
the States themselves have skimped on disaster management programs.
I was reminded of an article I by Steve Twomey in the Washington Post in April of this year, just a few weeks ago, about one of
our suburbs of Washington, Herndon, putting in for $23,000 for
snow removal out here during the April snow, and FEMA apparently paid $30-some million up and down the coast to help in snow
removal. Now that was hardly what we envisioned, I think, when
FEMA was established and when the funds are given out.
Was there some inconvenience to people in communities during
that period of time? Yes, there certainly was. Is that a function to
step in and spend some $30-some million to assist in snow removal? I would hope that that money gets recouped one of these
days when we have a year in which there is very little snow and
'The article referred to appears on page 145.

these same communities don't have to spend their money out there

on snow removal. Maybe they can gratefully repay the U.S. Government now for the $30-some million that was spent this year.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN GLENN
Good morning. Today the Committee on Governmental Affairs meets to consider
how we can improve the Federal response to disasters, particularly those of a catastrophic nature, like Hurricane Andrew. I am particularly pleased to have back before us the newly-confirmed Director of FEMA, Mr. James Lee Witt, who I think
brings the experience, perspective, and commitment necessary to turn FEMA
around.
I also look forward to hearing from Dexter Peach on the final results of GAO's
investigation, pursuant to my request, on disaster management. He and his staff
have done yeoman's work in this area. I should note that Mr.Peach will be making
recommendations directly to the President, whose leadership on this issue isvital.
In order to get a sense of perspective for this hearing, I asked my staff to review
the Committee's work-back in 1978--on President Carter's reorganization plan
which created FEMA. The goal was to consolidate disparate agency programs under
one central roof and to provide strong leadership, focus, and attention for emergency
management activities. Well, it's been fifteen years and that still hasn't happened.
In fact, we hear the cries from the very people FEMA was set up to serve-those
Americans who are victims of natural catastrophes--who have bitterly complained
that FEMA's follow-up was even a bigger disaster.
I also came across, incidentally a comment made by Mr. George Elsey, then-head
of the Red Cross who told this committee some 15 years ago how fortunate it was
that south Florida-with its tremendous increase in population density-hadn't experienced a major hurricane in some time. Those words certainly have come back
to haunt us in a very deadly and costly manner. I guess our luck finally ran out.
Given the severity of catastrophic disasters which we've experienced lately-and
what has appeared to be a painfully slow Federal response-some people have called
for FEMA's abolition. While it's true that, since its inception, FEMA has been
plagued by a host of problems-with scant attention from either the White House
or Congress-I think it does a great disservice to the many career employees who
have worked so hard under such adverse circumstances.
We are no longer fighting the Cold War. That's history. Recent reports in the
media, however, have indicated that during the Cold War, FEMA spent a much
greater proportion of its funds on nuclear war preparedness than natural disaster
relief.
It's time for that to change, because we do know it's only a matter of time-be
it days, weeks, or months-until our own citizens are victimized by a major catastrophe. In fact, some experts such as Dr. Bob Sheets, who is here today,have predicted we are at the start of such a cycle.
I think we can make FEMA a more proactive and responsive agency, one that embodies Presidential leadership, attention, and respect We must change FEMA's
focus from nuclear attack to civil emergencies and natural disasters. Finally, we
must ensure that States are contributing their fair share toward disaster mitigation,
training, and planning. After all, this is a partnership and we can't always expect
the feds to cut a "blank check" if the States themselves have skimped on disaster
management programs.
In the next few days, Senator Mikulski and I, plus some of our colleagues, will
be introducing comprehensive FEMA reform legislation which embraces these principles. I know it will take some effort to get this moving, and there's always room
for improvement, but the time is ripe to start.
Let me mention a couple of other points. One is the increase in Presidential disaster declarations-from 11 in 1988, to 43 in 1991, with 35' such declarations last
year. We're not talking small change here; we've spent nearly $10 billion on response and recovery efforts since 1988.
Certainly, Mother Nature, in all her power and grandeur, is the primary culprit
but there are other factors as well. While we tend to think of natural disasters in
terms of tornadoes, floods, and hurricanes, FEMA funds in recent years have flowed
to the Chicago tunnel flood, the L.A. riots, the World Trade Center bombing and,
recently, for snow removal up and down the East Coast.
I do not question the severity of any of these incidents, or the tragic loss of human
life, threats to public safety and health, or destruction of property. But I do want
to note that the definition of what constitutes a "disaster" has been expanding over
the years and new demands are being placed on the Federal Government-in terms

of money and resources--for events over which we traditionally depend on States
and localities to have primary control, the adequacy of local building codes or routine infrastructure maintenance, for example.
There is no doubt in my mind, however, that in terms of responding to truly catastrophic disasters we do have a higher burden than in the past, particularly with
the advent of satellite TV and remote cams. The shock, frustration, and grief felt
by victims of these tragedies are carried instantaneously into our living rooms. All
Americans share their pain and want to reach out and help. In these instances, we
must accept the fact that all eyes-and expectations-turn to Washington, and
rightly so. For we do have an array of state-of-the-art technologies, life-saving equipment, and skilled personnel at our disposal, all funded by taxpayers.
In closing, we should appreciate that how fast and how well we respond becomes
a reflection of the Federal Government itself. We must show, when people's lives,
safety, and health are at stake that Government can work. That it can help, and
it can make a difference.
I know Mr. Witt has confronted many of these issues as an Arkansas State Director, and has already begun to undertake changes in FEMA's operation and organization. I applaud these initiatives, and I look forward to working with him to provide
the proper legislative authority. I'd also like to acknowledge the efforts of President
Clinton himself who, I understand, is looking at how to improve disaster communications, monitoring, and reporting. This is a laudable goal, and if it works right,
it'll be nice to know he shouldn't have to rely on CNN for news of these disasters.
So I want to welcome our distinguished witnesses here today, and am eager hear
their testimony.

Chairman GLENN. In the next few days, Senator Mikulski and I
plus some of our colleagues will be introducing comprehensive
FEMA reform legislation which embraces some of the principles I
mentioned earlier. I know it will take some effort to get this moving, and there is always room for improvement, but I think the
time is ripe to start.
Let me mention a couple of other points. One is the increase in
Presidential disaster declarations, from 11 in 1988 to 43 in 1991,
with 35 such declarations last year. And we are not talking small
change. We have spent nearly $10 billion on response and recovery
efforts since 1988.
Certainly Mother Nature in all her power and grandeur is the
primary culprit, but there are other factors as well. While we tend
to think of natural disasters in terms of tornadoes, floods, and hurricanes, FEMA funds in recent years have flowed to the Chicago
tunnel flood, the L.A. riots, the World Trade Center bombing, and
recently, as I mentioned, for snow removal up and down the East
Coast. Now maybe all of these are valid, but if they are then we
should say that type of emergency to be covered also and not leave
it up just to a whim of the moment as to what we do and don't
do.
I don't question the severity of any of these incidents or the tragic loss of human life, or the threats to public safety and health, or
destruction of property. I do want to say that the definition of what
constitutes a disaster has been expanding over the years and new
demands are being placed on the Federal Government, in terms of
money and resources, for events over which we traditionally depend on States and localities to have primary control, like the adequacy of local building codes or routine infrastructure maintenance,
or example.
There is no doubt in my mind, however, that in terms of responding to truly catastrophic disasters we do have a higher burden than
in the past. We immediately see the results of some of these natural disasters on TV, sometimes within minutes and certainly within
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hours after the time they occur. The shock, the frustration and
grief felt by victims of these tragedies are carried instantaneously
into our living rooms. All Americans share their pain and want to
reach out and help.
In these instances, we must accept the fact, rightly or wrongly,
that all eyes and expectations turn to Washington. We do have an
array of state-of-the-art technologies and life-saving equipment,
skilled personnel at our disposal, all funded by taxpayers.
In closing, we should appreciate that how fast and how well we
respond sometimes becomes a reflection of the Federal Government
itself, and I think we need to show that when people's lives, safety,
and health are at stake that government-at all levels-can work.
That the Federal Government can help and it can make a difference, especially when there are severe damages.
I know that Mr. Witt has confronted many of these issues as an
Arkansas State Director. He has already begun to undertake
changes in FEMA's operation and organization. I applaud these initiatives and look forward to working with him to provide the proper legislative authority.
I would also like to acknowledge the efforts of President Clinton
himself, who I understand is looking at how to improve disaster
communications, monitoring, and reporting, which has been a little
flimsy, at best, in the past. That is certainly a laudable goal, and
if it works right, it will be nice to know that he shouldn't have to
rely on CNN or the networks or whatever for news of these disasters.
I want to welcome our distinguished witnesses here today. I am
eager to hear their testimony, and we have a lot of questions once
they testify.
We also have Curt Weldon. I was just passed a note that he has
been delayed and he will be here a little bit later, so we will get
his testimony later on.
Our first witness then this morning will be the Hon. Dexter
Peach, Assistant Comptroller General, General Accounting Office.
Mr. Peach is no stranger to this Committee. He has been here
many times and we always look forward to his testimony, as we do
this morning.
Dexter, if you would introduce your colleagues with you this
morning for the record so we will have their names here, we would
appreciate it.
TESTIMONY OF THE HON. J. DEXTER PEACH,1 ASSISTANT
COMPTROLLER GENERAL, U.S. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE, ACCOMPANIED BY JUDY ENGLAND-JOSEPH, DIREC.
TOR, RESOURCES, COMMUNITY, AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIVISION; HENRY L. HINTON, DIRECTOR, NATIONAL
SECURITY AND INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS DIVISION; AND
STAN CZERWINSKI, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, RESOURCES,
COMMUNITY, AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIVISION
Mr. PEACH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
IThe prepared statement of Mr. Peach appears on page 76.

We are pleased to have the opportunity to be here today to discuss, as you say, the final results of our work on the Nation's approach to handling major natural disasters.
Chairman GLENN. Let me ask a question. We don't have copies
of that to be released yet, do we? The printed copy will be out
when? Do you have a date for that?
Mr. PEACH. The testimony itself will be the final copy, would be
the final product that we are looking at. It includes our recommendations right within the testimony, and we will be transmitting that testimony today with the recommendation, for example,
to the White House as well as with the recommendations to FEMA.
Chairman GLENN. OK Are you going to publish the usual little
blue-covered book on that? When will that be available?
Mr. PEACH. We were not looking to publish it as a blue-cover but
to publish it as the testimony.
Chairman GLENN. OK, fine. We will have copies of that made
and have them available for the press later on then. Copies are already there, I am told. I am one step behind the program here.
Mr. PEACH. Right. We pre-supplied a number of copies at this
point.
Chairman GLENN. All right.
Mr. PEACH.
And we
willoffice
have who
full distribution
available
for other
at our
are looking for
it.
people
who inquire
Chairman GLENN. I understand we have copies on the press
table now, so that is good.
Mr. PEACH. I am accompanied today, Mr. Chairman, by Judy
England-Joseph, who is director of our work in housing and community development issues, which covers the Federal Emergency
Management Agency; also by Henry L. Hinton, Jr., who is the Director of Planning in our National Security and International Affairs Division at my far right; and at my left, Stan Czerwinski, who
was project director for the work that we did in these disaster
areas.
I think in reflecting on the kind of coordination that is required
to respond to these disasters, it also required that kind of coordination at the General Accounting Office because, in the case of this
disaster, we needed the people who both had experience on FEMA
activities but we also needed the people who had experience in
dealing with Department of Defense activities because of the massive defense response that was required. So this was truly a cooperative effort at GAO between our people in two divisions working together.
Since the recent catastrophes, especially last year's Hurricane
Andrew and the growing dissatisfaction with the Nation's system
for responding to large disasters, you and a number of other Congressional leaders asked us to examine the adequacy of Federal
strategy for responding to disasters and to develop solutions for improving it.
My statement today summarizes the conclusions presented in
earlier hearings before the Senate Appropriations and House Public Works and Transportation Committees, provides additional
analysis on disaster management, and discusses fundamental
changes we believe are essential in the Federal response to disasters.
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We focused our review on the immediate response to catastrophic
disasters, those that require life-sustaining, mass care services
within 12 to 24 hours following a disaster. Our work is based on
a review of the National disaster response activities at all levels of
government, particularly in South Florida, and reflects the insights
of natural disaster experts with whom we consulted.
I would ask that my entire statement be placed in the record and
then I will proceed with a brief oral summary.
Chairman GLENN.Your entire statement will be included in the
record as if delivered.
Mr. PEACH. Our three key findings, in brief, are first, there must

be Presidential involvement and leadership before and after catastrophic disasters strike to improve both Federal preparedness and
response. We believe this step is fundamental to the long-term success of any effort to improve the Federal response to disasters.
Second, FEMA should establish a disaster unit dedicated to improving Federal decision making on providing help to State and
local governments, both during actual disaster response and during
day-to-day preparations for such disasters.
Third, for catastrophic disasters, FEMA should strengthen the
Federal role in providing mass care by increasing its reliance on
DOD when there is a gap between what State, local, and volunteer
networks can provide and what disaster victims need.
Although my testimony today highlights improvements we believe are necessary in the Federal response to disasters, State and
local governments are integral parts of an effective natural disaster
response system. The success or failure of any changes in the Federal role in that system will always be heavily affected by the efforts of State and local responders.
Because we believe State and local governments should remain,
to the extent possible, the first responders to all disasters, FEMA
needs to enhance its level of preparedness and response capabilities
so that they are as effective as possible. FEMA also needs to ensure that State and local governments contribute their fair share
to disaster response, commensurate with their level of preparedness so that the use of Federal resources is minimized.
Let me be more specific about our findings on the Federal response to catastrophic disasters. Basically, Hurricane Andrew in
South Florida showed that FEMA's response strategy, implemented
through its Federal Response Plan, does not adequately deal with
catastrophic disasters. The plan lacks provisions for the Federal
Government to comprehensively assess damage and the corresponding needs of disaster victims and to provide them with
quick, responsive assistance.
We also found that the Federal Government does not have explicit authority to adequately prepare for a disaster when there is
a warning. Currently, Federal agencies may fail to prepare before
a disaster because of uncertainty about being reimbursed in the
event their assistance is not required. Federal agencies need to mobilize resources and deploy personnel in anticipation of a catastrophe, and we believe that Congress should provide them with explicit legal authority to do so.
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Finally, State and local governments, for the most part, do not
have adequate training and funding to enable them to respond to
catastrophic disasters on their own.
In the case of Hurricane Andrew, the combination of these factors resulted in such shortcomings as inadequate damage assessments, inaccurate estimates of needed services, and miscommunication and confusion at all levels of government, all of which
slowed the delivery of services vital to disaster victims.
For example, during the first 3 critical days after the storm,
State, local, and voluntary agencies could provide enough daily
meals to feed about 30,000 to 50,000 disaster victims, even though
an estimated 160,000 to 250,000 were homeless. As a result, some
victims told us that they survived by looting grocery stores, drinking potentially contaminated water, and living in makeshift dwellings to defend the remnants of their property from looters.
The responses to Hurricanes Andrew and Iniki also demonstrated the effectiveness of the military in providing a variety of
supplies and services and in establishing the infrastructure necessary to restore order and meet the immediate needs of the victims. However, the Federal Response Plan has no explicit provisions for turning .t the U.S. military to quickly provide this kind
of assistance to victims of catastrophic disasters.
FEMA currently relies on the American Red Cross and other volunteer organizations to meet mass care needs with support from
the Department of Defense and other Federal agencies. For all but
the most severe catastrophic disasters, the Red Cross and its large
network of volunteers may be well suited to meet this responsibility.
However, for disasters as devastating as Hurricane Andrew in
South Florida, the needs of disaster victims are so overwhelming
that there is a gap between victims' needs and the level of resources the Red Cross and other voluntary organizations can provide.
Although the Red Cross responded immediately to the needs of
Hurricane Andrew's victims, sheltering those who evacuated South
Florida and providing some mass care after the storm, sufficient
private and voluntary resources were unavailable for a disaster of
this magnitude. Only the Department of Defense can quickly escalate the response if, as was the case in South Florida, the destruction and need for mass care is far greater than first anticipated.
Given these findings, let me highlight the fundamental changes
we believe are needed to improve the Nation's response to catastrophic disasters.
Because the necessary Federal response is so fundamentally different, bigger and more urgent than to less-severe events, the person or organization directing the Federal response must explicitly
and demonstrably have the authority of the President in managing
the disaster. The presence of Presidential leadership creates a powerful, meaningful demonstration that the Federal Government recognizes an event as catastrophic, is in control, and is going to use
every means necessary to meet the immediate mass care needs of
disaster victims.
Further, Presidential leadership during times when the Federal
Government is not engaged in responding to a catastrophic disaster

creates an ongoing sense of the importance of emergency management responsibilities that translates into a better commitment to
preparedness and response by all Federal agencies involved.
The best way to underscore the commitment of the President is
to place responsibility for catastrophic disaster preparedness responsibilities with a key official in the White House. Doing so
would institutionalize the direct Presidential involvement that has
happened on an ad hoc basis in two recent disasters.
I might emphasize, in two of the recent large disasters, there has
been placed an ad hoc official, a cabinet secretary, to be in charge
during those particular events, as opposed to having someone that
would have a continuing involvement where there is catastrophic
disaster and develop the experience and have the leadership in
that area.
When a catastrophic disaster is imminent or has happened, managing the Federal response would be a full-time responsibility for
the White House official. At other times, disaster planning and preparedness oversight would be a part-time duty. In addition, we did
not foresee the need for a disaster response staff in the White
House. Rather, the designated official would receive advice from
the FEMA Director and assistance and information from the disaster unit that we suggest is needed.
Given the shortcomings we saw primarily in South Florida, we
do believe FEMA needs a disaster unit whose sole mission is planning for and responding to catastrophic disasters. This unit's mission would be two-fold. One, just before, when there is a warning,
or immediately following a disaster, it would be charged with such
duties as estimating the extent of damage and relief needs. And
two, when not actually engaged in disaster response, it would have
an ongoing responsibility to plan for and predict the effects of a variety of catastrophic disasters.
This unit would consist of a core staff located in FEMA plus additional staff in participating Federal agencies, such as the Department of Defense and the Public Health Service, serving as permanent liaisons to the unit. The disaster unit's core should be comprised of both staff from FEMA's State and Local Programs and
Support Directorate who already have disaster response experience
and existing resources from FEMA's National Preparedness Directorate.
National Preparedness' current mission entails rapid deployment
in response to a nuclear threat. As such, it places a premium on
people with such skills as strategic and tactical planning, logistics,
command and control, and communication. Its resources include
communication, transportation, life support, and sophisticated computer modeling equipment.
Reorganizing FEMA is crucial to the disaster unit's success. To
successfully develop the capabilities we envision for FEMA's disaster unit, it must permanently combine staff and resources. However, the two FEMA directorates I just mentioned whose resources
would form the core of the disaster unit historically have pursued
their missions in isolation from one another. This isolation is longstanding and has persisted since FEMA's inception. As a result, we
believe FEMA should receive direction from its oversight commit-

tees in the Congress to reorganize its staff and resources to meet
the responsibilities we discussed for the disaster unit.
Improving the Nation's disaster response capability is essential,
as we may face disasters or emergencies that could affect even
more people than Hurricane Andrew. We could experience stronger
hurricanes and earthquakes or radiological or hazardous materials
releases.
Accordingly, the recommendations we present today are aimed at
assuring the Federal Government has both capacity and leadership
to effectively respond to future catastrophic disasters.
And as you noted in your opening statement, Mr. Chairman, our
first recommendation we make today is to the President, and it is
unusual for GAO to make such a recommendation. Often they are
addressed to the heads of agencies. But we believe it is important
enough in this case to recommend that the President designate a
senior official in the White House to oversee Federal preparedness
for and responses to catastrophic disasters.
This official should not only monitor the initial Federal response
to catastrophic disasters but also have ongoing responsibility for
oversight of FEMA and other Federal agencies' efforts to plan, prepare for, and respond to such disasters.
Ultimately, the choice of which official should have this responsibility is the prerogative of the President. However, we believe the
primary criteria that must be used in designating this official are
two-fold. One, the official must have sufficient public recognition so
that he or she is perceived as having the authority and the attention of the President in managing the disaster. Andtwo, the official
must have access to and confidence of the President.
And I might underline, Mr. Chairman, that this recommendation
is directed towards the involvement with catastrophic disasters,
and if you look at the history of FEMA, there are numerous disasters being declared each year, and perhaps a very small percentage-and we have looked at disasters over the last few years-you
may find a small percentage, of something in the range of less than
one in 20 or 25 of the disasters would even be a candidate for the
catastrophic disaster designation, whether or not it would ultimately be declared to be such a disaster. But you have a small
number that are a candidate for this type of attention. But where
they happen, as we found out in Andrew, we have very serious consequences to deal with.
In terms of recommendations to FEMA, we recommend that they
work to develop a catastrophic disaster response capability that
would be headquartered in FEMA. It would be comprised of a core
of FEMA staff and would be augmented by resources and staff from
other key Federal agencies. The unit would, using analyses of State
and local governments' capability and preparedness to respond to
catastrophic disasters, predict, plan for, and assess the damage resulting from such disasters.
It would also translate its damage assessments into assessments
of immediate response needs, including the extent to which FEMA
and other Federal participants are needed to meet those needs. On
the basis of its assessments and needs determinations, the unit
would make concrete recommendations to the governor of the affected State regarding the amount, type, and cost of Federal assist-

ance that should be provided, and then the disaster unit would direct any needed Federal effort.
Again, Mr. Chairman, looking at the experience in Andrew and
just relating this recommendation to that, you often have a kind
of a dance that goes -n around what is needed to deal with this
disaster-you have FEMA waiting for the State to tell them what
they need and you have the State not knowing what they are dealing with and understanding what may be available to them readily.
So you have all this uncertainty going on, and this translated, in
part, to that delay, this lack of understanding of what they are
dealing with for 4 days in the case of Andrew.
I need to also emphasize that at the hearings earlier this year
before Senator Mikulski, we made a number of recommendations
to improve the way FEMA decides whether State and local governments need help, to use existing authorities to provide that help,
and to enhance State and local preparedness to minimize the
amount of Federal assistance needed. We also suggested areas
where Congress should consider providing additional legislative authority to agencies.
Specifically, we recommended that FEMA develop a catastrophic
disaster response capability by conducting its independent and
comprehensive damage needs assessments, using existing authority
to aggressively respond to catastrophic disasters, including actively
advising State and local officials of identified needs and Federal resources available to them, actively determining when DOD resources will be needed to supplement those of the Red Cross in
meeting mass care needs, and enhancing the capability of State
and local governments to respond to catastrophic disasters by continuing to give them increased flexibility to match grant funding
with individual response needs, upgrading training and exercises
specifically geared toward catastrophic disaster response, and assessing each State's preparedness for catastrophic disaster response.
Additionally, we suggested that the Congress consider giving
FEMA and other Federal agencies explicit authority to take actions
to prepare for catastrophic disasters where there is warning, and
giving DOD the authority to activate reserve units for catastrophic
disaster relief.
And those recommendations continue to be on the record, together with the additional recommendations that we are making
today on establishing the disaster response unit and establishing
clear Presidential authority and involvement when dealing with
catastrophic disasters.
Mr. Chairman, that concludes my testimony. I and my colleagues
would be pleased to respond to questions from you.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you. Before we get to that, Senator
Roth, do you have any opening comments?
Then I believe Congressman Weldon is with us here. We will get
his comments next before we proceed with questions.
OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR ROTH
Senator ROTH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I apologize for being

late. Unfortunately, my train had problems and was canceled.

I do want to compliment you for having these hearings, as FEMA
does have a vital role to play in coordinating Federal agencies in
the event of a disaster. But unfortunately, the agency has been
plagued with a variety of internal management organizational
problems.
In the past few months, both the FEMA IG and NAPA have released reports critical of FEMA, and of course we have the new
GAO report -providing their assessment of FEMA with regard to
Hurricane Andrew. Today the Committee will review the issues
raised in these reports.
Now over the years, there has been a great deal of criticism of
FEMA's ability to respond quickly, efficiently to disasters. Of
course, FEMA is in the unfortunate situation of being observed
under a microscope as a response to catastrophic events, events
which are generally unpredictable in their timing, unique in their
force and destructi-o, but consistently painful in terms of the
human suffering and the loss of property which they impose.
There is no doubt that planning and responding for the unknown
is a difficult task. I personally believe that we can find better ways
to organize and coordinate our Federal resources to meet these
needs as they arise.
One point of caution I want to raise today is the fact that within
the area of emergency management we have protected our Federalist system of government, and we need to maintain respect for the
system and not move in the direction of imposing costly Federal
mandates or promoting unwelcome or unwarranted Federal intrusion.
Throughout the country, at the State and local level there is a
great deal, a f-at-diversity of resources, capabilities which are
committed to this work. They include State-level emergency preparedness offices, emergency medical specialties, city rescue organizations, and as in my State of Delaware, thousands of volunteer
firemen organized to respond at any hour to an emergency call,
along with countless other charitable organizations such as the
American Red Cross and the Salvation Army.
Much of the debate surrounding the future of emergency preparedness is the need for all-hazard planning. Every part of the
country has a need for quick emergency response, whether it is a
major natural disaster, such as hurricanes, floods, earthquakes, or
other emergencies such as a plane crash, chemical fire, or other
man-made tragedies.
State and local emergency capabilities have provided and must
continue to provide, at least in my judgment, the first response to
the vast majority of disasters. FEMA cannot play this role, and for
its part, FEMA must be an agency which enhances and supports
other actors in the system.
FEMA needs to be organized so that they are capable of integrating, identifying, or bringing together all available resources in
order to provide quick, flexible response when people are in 'need.
Mr. Chairman, in the interest of time, I would ask that my full
statement be included in the record.
-

Chairman GLENN. It will be included in the record.
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Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Committee undertakes one of its most important functions this morning, as
it considers how governmental organization can be improved to enhance its ability
to meet the needs of the American people. I strongly believe we need this type of
review for the entire executive branch, and while we undertake an indepth review
of an agency directly under this Committee's jurisdiction, I also look forward to
working with the Chairman and others in pursuing the bi-partisan commission to
handle the broad organizational review.
FEMA has a vital role to play in coordinating Federal agencies in the event of
a disaster, but unfortunately the agency has been plagued with a variety of internal
management and organization problems. In the past few months, both the FEMA
IG and NAPA have released reports critical of FEMA; and we also have a new GAO
report providing their assessment of FEMA with regard to Hurricane Andrew.
Today the Committee will review the issues raised in those reports as we evaluate
whether FEMA's mission should be redirected or redefined.
Over the years, there has been a great deal of criticism of FEMA's ability to respond quickly and efficiently to disasters. Of course, FEMA is in the unfortunate
situation of being observed under a microscope as it responds to catastrophic events
events which are generally unpredictable in their timing, unique in their force and
destruction, but consistently painful in terms of the human suffering and the loss
of property which they impose. There is no doubt that planning and responding for
the unknown is a difficult task. I personally believe, however, that we can find better ways to organize and coordinate our Federal resources to meet these needs as
they arise. I hope this hearing and any subsequent work of the Committee will move
us closer to that goal.
One point of caution I want to raise today is the fact that within the area of emergency management we have protected our federalist system of government. We need
to maintain respect for this system and not move in the direction of imposing costly
Federal mandates or promoting unwelcome or unwarranted Federal intrusion.
Throughout the country-at the State and local level-there is a great diversity
of resources and capabilities which are committed to this work. They include State
level emergency preparedness offices, emergency medical specialties, city rescue organizations-and as in my State of Delaware, thousands of volunteer firemen, organized to respond at any hour to an emergency call-along with countless others
from charitable organizations such as the American Red Cross and the Salvation
Army.
Much of the debate surrounding the future of emergency preparedness is the need
for ALL HAZARD planning. Every part of the country has a need for quick emergency response-whether it is to major natural disasters, such as hurricanes, floods,
earthquakes or volcanic eruptions-or other emergencies such as a plane crash, a
chemical fire, or any number of other man-made tragedies waiting to happen.
State and local emergency capabilities have provided and must continue to provide the first response to the vast majority of disasters. FEMA cannot play this role.
For its part, FEMA must be an agency which enhances and supports other actors
in the system. FEMA needs to be organized so that they are capable of integrating
and identifying for brining together all available resources in order to provide quick
and flexible response when people are in need.
As we hear testimony this morning I will be listening for ideas which suggest how
the Federal Government can better accomplish this.
Training and professional development are specific areas in which FEMA can enhance resources at all levels of government. The agency has demonstrated its ability
to provide information and instruction through the U.S. Fire Administration and the
Fire Academy. I suspect that FEMA can build on this experience with equal success
in the broader area of emergency management. By combining training, education
and shared missions for emergency responders, it may help to knit together a professional community of volunteers and careerists from across the country.
There are a number of other important issues, but I won't raise everything at this
time. I'll simply add that I support the Chairman's initiative to bring about a
stronger FEMA and a stronger emergency capability at all levels of government.

Chairman GLENN. Congressman Weldon, we are glad to have you
with us this morning. Do you want to proceed with your testimony?

TESTIMONY OF THE HON. CURT WELDON,1 REPRESENTATIVE
IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA
Mr. WELDON. Good morning, Mr. Chairman and Senator Roth. It
is a pleasure to be here and I thank you for inviting me back for
this rescheduled hearing.
It is an honor to be here before you, Senator Glenn. There is no
other public official I know that has a fireboat named after him,
and I am well aware that the D.C. fireboat is the Honorable Senator John GlennChairman GLENN. That is right.

Mr. WELDON [continuing]. And that may be a token of your leadership, but we also know that you are the leader in this Congress
on the issue of arson in this country. I can tell you that the emergency
response community in this country greatly appreciates your
leadership.
Senator Roth, there is perhaps no better champion of the 1.5 million men and women who serve as our first-line emergency responders in America than you. Your State is an example of probably the best-run and best-prepared State for a disaster in the
country, and that is directly because of those people that you support.
We appreciate your leadership, and especially as related to problems in the past with the U.S. Fire Administration and the Fire
Academy. I can tell you the Fire Service of America appreciates
that as well.
I apologize for being late today. It is primary day in Pennsylvania, and I would ask unanimous consent to have my statement inserted and I will just speak extemporaneously for a few moments.
Chairman GLENN. Without objection, your entire statement will
be included in the record.
Mr. WELDON. Senator, as you perhaps know, my background is
in local government, where I served as mayor for 5 years of a community with very serious hazards, a major port facility, and the
largest fire in America in 1975. Before that, I was the fire chief of
the community and the emergency response director of that community. I went on to county government where I served for 5 years
on the county commission and eventually as the chairman of the
county government which served 600,000 people, and again had responsibility for emergency management before coming to Congress.
My professional career has also been involved in emergency response. I have a degree in fire protection, besides my other degrees,
and I worked for the INA Cigna Corporation developing risk managememt programs for public entities around the country professionally. So my comments will be reflective of both of those backgrounds and experiences.
Since coming to Congress, I have addressed and tried to concern
myself with the issues involved with emergency preparedness and
response in this country. Five years ago, I formed what is now the
largest caucus in the congress, the National Fire and Emergency
Services Caucus, which has some 427 members of the House and
Senate, and both of you are very honored members. Senator Roth
is one of our co-chairs.
I The prepared statement of Mr. Weldon appears on page 88.

As a matter of fact, the day before your last hearing was to be
held, Vice President Al Gore was the keynote speaker before 2,000
of our leaders nationwide here in Washington, and for the last 5
years we have worked the issues that you are dealing with today,
and that is the need to realign FEMA and to deal with the issue
of emergency preparedness and response in this country.
As a member of the House Armed Services Committee, I am very
much aware of the calls that are being made to involve the military
more directly in emergency preparedness and response. While I am
a strong supporter of the military, I think we have to understand
their limitations and who really provides the first line of response
in America.
By the way, personally I have visited the sites of every major disaster in this country for the last 7 years, such as the Loma Prieta
earthquake, and the Valdez incident. I spent Labor Day weekend
in Tent City in Homestead after Hurricane Andrew. I was up at
the World Trade Center 2 days after the explosion occurred, and
visited the wildlands fires in Yellowstone and California. So I have
had the chance to interact with the first-line responders repeatedly
over the past 5 and 6 years.
I would tell you that there are obviously problems with FEMA.
I think the largest problem that everyone has acknowledged is that
FEMA, in fact, has had the wrong mindset. It has, in fact, developed a fallout shelter mentality, concerned only with response to a
nuclear attack. While that perhaps has been one major role, it certainly should not be its primary role today in terms of disasters in
this country.
In addition, and I say this as a Republican, FEMA has been a
dumping ground for retread military career officers who really have
no understanding of what emergency response preparedness is all
about in this country. Since coming to Congress I have been involved in attempting to get people appointed to the FEMA leadership who are aware of that agency's responsibilities in terms of disaster preparedness and response in America.
I think that the most recent Director of FEMA, Wally Stickney,
was the right type of person. Unfortunately, he was dealing with
an entrenched bureaucracy that was very difficult to change, although improvements were made. I would point to the urban
search and rescue effort, which was set up and working with our
cities all across America, under the leadership of Wally Stickney
that did a great job in allowing us to support cities to prepare for
urban disasters, building collapses, underground subway accidents,
and so forth. But FEMA definitely needs to be reoriented.
I am pleased with the current leader. I have met with him on
several occasions. I think that James Lee Witt will do a good job
as FEMA Director, primarily because he is willing to listen, and I
say listen because the one group of people who have consistently
not been heard from on this issue are those people who are the
first people we ask to go in and respond to disasters.
I was taken aback by one of the statements that is being presented here today, I think it was the NAPA study, which states
emergency management has almost no natural constituency base
until an emergency or disaster occurs.

Mr. Chairman, there are 1.5 million men and women in this
country who every day of their lives respond to disasters. If that
is not a natural consistency base, I don't know what is. Two thousand of their leaders were in this city 2 weeks ago asking the Congress to listen and work with them on preparedness and response
issues, and they have been out there for years. Long before it was
the in thing to do, they were there dealing with these concerns all
across the country. And 85 percent of them, as Senator Roth has
pointed out, are volunteers, 30,000 organized departments across
the country.
Unfortunately, we in the Congress don't always listen to these
people. We listen to the academics and the theoreticians and they
have a place and a role, but what I am saying is let us listen to
the people who are going to be asked to put their lives on the line
when the DC-10 crashes in Sioux City, when the Albianca crashes
in Long Island, when the wildlands fires occur in Yellowstone, or
when Hurricane Andrew, Hurricane Hugo, Loma Prieta Earthquake occur, or all the other disasters that they have to respond
to. And in every incident, they are the first responders.
But one of our major problems is that FEMA has not listened to
this group of people. As a matter of fact, in the past several years,
FEMA tried to wipe out the National Fire Academy, remove it totally and separate it from the Emergency Management Institute,
and it was only through the efforts of this Committee and its counterpart in the House, that we were able to reunite the National
Fire Academy with the U.S. Fire Administration. Now Senator Mikulski is going to introduce legislation this coming Thursday that
will, in fact, give it the kind of recognition that Congress originally
intended for it back in 1974 when the National Fire Prevention and
Control Administration first established the Fire Academy.
Let me say this to you. While FEMA has problems, and I am the
first to acknowledge that, they are solvable problems. But let me
also say as a former local official that FEMA can't be blamed for
some of the problems that we have seen in recent years.
For instance, if we examine what happened down in Florida with
Hurricane Andrew, we can't blame FEMA for lax building codes
that were not properly enforced or not properly put into place in
areas where roofs were blown off, even though they were not in the
direct path of Andrew but in areas where strict building code enforcement could have minimized the damage.
And we can't fault FEMA for Dade County, which I have the
highest respect for, failing to have an ongoing recognized and followed-through planning process to deal with that kind of disaster.
As a matter of fact, if you read the public statements, and I will
be happy to provide them for the record, they acknowledge that
their plan was on the shelf and had not, in fact, been even considered prior to that major incident of Hurricane Andrew.
Compare that to San Francisco. The Loma Prieta earthquake,
where we had an earthquake of about the same magnitude on the
Richter scale as the earthquake in Armenia. Over 25,000 people
were killed in the Armenian earthquake compared to less than 100
in the Loma Prieta earthquake, even though it was in the heart of
a metropolitan area. That didn't happen by accident. It is because

the building codes in San Francisco and Oakland are the toughest
in the country and they are designed to deal with earthquakes.
So the local planning process and preparedness process and enforcement process by local government is very much focused on the
kinds of incidents that they expect will occur.
In addition, 6 months before Loma Prieta, California had a major
response exercise, coordinated with FEMA, by the way, in the
southern part of that State that allowed them to be well prepared
to handle that incident, and they did a fantastic job. So I would say
to you that the success in San Francisco is not necessarily because
of what FEMA did or did not do but primarily because of what the
local and State governments did.
We have to make sure that FEMA has the ability to use that carrot-and-stick approach to get local governments to play their proper
role, and both of you, I think, have acknowledged that here today.
The planning and the response must first of all be local considerations.
Now let me say that there are also some problems with FEMA
created by the Congress. How can we expect a Federal agency to
know what its mission is when it has 20 separate committees
overseeing it? It has 20 separate bosses, all of whom call it in to
say, well, we think your mission is this, we think your mission is
that. I am on the Armed Services Committee and we have a certain
jurisdiction over FEMA.
So we in the Congress have, to some extent, I think, been part
of the problem in terms of FEMA not having a clear mandate and
a clear direction.
Therefore, I will mention a couple of ideas that I have been working on for the past couple of years, some of which are included in
Senator Mikulski's bill. I have suggested that because Congress
has so many jurisdictional problems with FEMA that perhaps we
ask President Clinton to convene a Presidential task force on emergency preparedness and response that would last for 1 year and
then be sunsetted, that would bring in the National leaders, not
just the academic institutions and the think tanks, but the leaders
of the first responder community, the International Association of
Fire Fighters, the National Volunteer Fire Council, the American
Ambulance Association, the National Association of Urban Search
and Rescue, and all of those other groups that need to be heard
from in this instance, and let them provide their testimony about
what they feel should be done regarding national preparedness and
response for disasters in America.
Congressman Rob Andrews, my Democratic colleague from New
Jersey, and I wrote to President Clinton with that idea back in
January, and Governor Mario Cuomo has endorsed that idea as a
follow-up to the World Trade Center bombing, where some glaring
deficiencies also were identified.
The second thing, and this is a piece of legislation that I have
had under consideration in the House for two terms, is to establish
a national disaster or emergency preparedness response inventory.
What struck me most when I was out in San Francisco and Oakland for Loma Prieta was that as the fire fighters and the rescue
personnel were searching for bodies along that collapsed interstate
they were using dogs. And I asked the chief officer from Oakland

if he had asked the Navy for use of their thermal imagers, new devices that we have placed on all of our combat ships. They weren't
even aware the Federal Government had them in the Navy.
Part of our problem is we have tremendous resources in the military, we have tremendous assets in terms of heavy equipment, construction, engineers, thermal imagers, you name it, but we don't
have a computerized inventory that every local emergency response
leader in America can have access to instantaneously.
Now FEMA has been moving in this direction for the last 3 years
and they understand the need, but that is still, I think, a major
priority. We have the resources in the country. The question is having local officials know where to get those resources in the quickest
possible way to bring them to bear on the disaster. Senator Mikulski's bill has that as a major component of her effort to reorganize
FEMA.
So what I would say to you, Mr. Chairman and Senator Roth, is
that I think we can realign FEMA. I think we have to go carefully
in terms of an enhanced role for the military. The military can do
the job when we need to secure an area, when we need to have food
supplies, as they did very well down in Homestead and Dade County, but the military can't be the first responder to every disaster
in America. That is not going to be the case and we can't make it
that way.
We need to listen to the first responders, the men and women
who we ask to risk their lives every day of the year, who are out
there doing the job. I would ask as you in this Committee consider
ways to reorganize FEMA that you consider the recommendations
of the 60-some-odd national associations who form a monumental
constituency that is concerned with emergency planning and response in America.
I apologize for going over, perhaps, my allotted time, but as you
can see, I feel very strongly about these issues. That is why I am
here to give voice to that constituency that perhaps in the past,
with the exception of perhaps the two of you and a few others in
this Congress, has felt it hasn't had spokespeople here in Washington. Thank you.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you very much, Curt. Your enthusiasm
is quite obvious.
Mr. WELDON. Thank you.
Chairman GLENN. That is a good subject, too.
Do you have any questions, Senator Roth?
Senator ROTH. No, I just want to thank you, Curt, for coming
over here and sharing your expertise. No one has done more in this
area than you. We appreciate your personal knowledge and understanding. I congratulate you once more for the fire caucus.
The one point that I think you have made at least twice in your
opening statement that I think is critically important, that it is the
State and local that are the first react. What we do is have to better help and assist, and not replace.
Mr. WELDON. Exactly.

Senator ROTH. You are wonderful to come over. Thank you very
much.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you much.
We will proceed to questions for Mr. Peach.

Mr. PEACH. Mr. Chairman.
Chairman GLENN. Yes?
Mr. PEACH. I might, just to correct the record here before we
start, as Congressman Weldon was testifying my staff brought me
up to date. I was out of town last week, and they were telling me
as our plans evolve we will have a blue-cover report that will be
out in about a month that will be addressed to you and Senator Mikulski that would incorporate the basic thinking.
Chairman GLENN. OK
Mr. PEACH. I don't expect you will see anything new, but it will
be a way of pulling together what was in the testimonies.
Chairman GLENN. That is very good.
Mr. PEACH. That will be there.
Chairman GLENN. I was concerned mainly that we have it available for the press so they could comment on this, and I am glad
we had copies this morning here. We will get wider distribution
when they get their usual blue-cover one, obviously.
Who should be in charge of rapid response in the Federal Government? Why do you believe there needs to be a direct link to the
White House? Can it not be run as it is now?
Mr. PEACH. I think the experience that we have had, particularly
where you are dealing-and I am talking here about a catastrophic
disaster, something that we would see as outstripping the ability
of the State or local government to perform during that critical first
1 or 2 days after the disaster where you have potential for large
numbers of people that are homeless, inability to get food, water,
complete disruption of communications, that type of thing that occurs with a large hurricane, occurs with an earthquake potentially
if it hits a large population center, that you need the leadership
that can come out of the White House to assure that all of the resources that the Federal Government can bring to bear are provided very quickly.
You also need that leadership because ultimately the person
there would be negotiating or working with the governor, who is
also head of a sovereign entity, who has very important responsibilities in deciding on the level of response. And so that is why we
chose to believe that you have that need where there is a catastrophic disaster.
I might draw a line and make a point. You see, you can categorize disasters into three levels. At one level, you have a kind of
a disaster, something we think of as a disaster of a large plane
crash or something else like that where basically your State and
local people are responding to deal with the problem, and they are
able to deal or respond with it.
Then you have another level of disaster which does outstrip their
ability to perform, but it is not catastrophic in nature and the response can be something that is measured or provided within a
reasonable period of time. That happens with some of the flooding,
some areas like that where you may have severe drought, hurricanes where they don't hit major areas. And FEMA deals with a
lot of those disasters and has dealt with them in, in many cases
I think people would say, reasonably effective ways. And that is the
majority of your disaster declarations.

Then you have these catastrophic disasters, and we have sort of
avoided ones that create the real dire circumstances we had in
Hurricane Andrew in the past, but when we saw it hit a major population area and you see up to a quarter-of-a-million people homeless, without ability to get food or other kinds of things and communications completely disrupted, you don't know what is going on.
And we ultimately saw, after 4 days we finally decided, well, this
is so bad that we need to bring more Federal resources to bear
here.
But anyway, that is where we see in these catastrophic disasters
this need to involve that leadership of the White House.
Chairman GLENN. Where do you think that leadership should be?
NEMA, the National Emergency Management Association, has said
the Vice President should be given that responsibility. NAPA, the
National Academy of Public Administration, thinks there should be
creation of a domestic crisis monitoring unit. Do you have any idea
where this should be done?
Mr. PEACH. In making our recommendation, we chose not to be
so prescriptive about exactly where it should be but to leave that
decision up to each particular President as to who he would care
to designate. The important thing is designating someone who you
would feel would have the public recognition and would clearly be
seen as having the access to and speaking for the President on that
issue.
So we have generally dealt with setting out that type of criteria
and that type of thinking. Others have tended to be more prescriptive about exactly where it should be, but we think the President
should have some latitude in deciding exactly how he may organize
that within the White House.
Chairman GLENN. Yes.
Mr. PEACH. The important thing is establishing a concept.
Chairman GLENN. Well, the way we have done sometimes in the
past is we sort of ad hoc appoint somebody on the spur of the moment to coordinate activities. I don't think that is the answer.
Mr. PEACH. Well, we have seen that in the past, and it may be
one person in one case, it may be another person in another case.
We
that as giving them the continuity, the
withdon't
whatsee
is going on in the planning and thinking for involvement
catastrophic
disasters so they can apply what they learn from situation to situation as they may evolve.
Chairman GLENN. On that matrix that FEMA has 26 or 27 different agencies of government-that have something to do with either communications, equipment, or assessing the damage, or
something or other-who has primary responsibility and who has
lateral. Here is a copy of it right here.'
For somebody who is now in the middle of a crisis, you have
something going on and people are out there hurting and all at
once we appoint an ad hoc designee and the first time that person
may even have seen this matrix of who has some piece of this
emergency pie will be in the middle of the crisis itself. I just don't
think that is the time to'The

information referred to appears on page 147.

Mr. PEACH. Well, there is the kind of question I see of how quickly someone would respond. I mean, basically FEMA has had this
role to coordinate all these response activities when these situations occur, but the question is there for these other agencies, just
how quickly they will be able to jump to provide the resources
when FEMA calls. The first 2 or 3 days are very crucial to what
happens in a response. It is not a thing where you are looking for
delay when you are dealing with this catastrophic situation.
Chairman GLENN. It has always seemed to me we need to have
some assessing, and FEMA has to be in on that. It seems to me,
though, that that is primarily at the State level of responsibility,
and maybe you disagree with this. You have looked at it in detail.
If I have a little tornado that touches down in Ohio and it knocks
down a house or something, the local community is adequate to
take care of that, the local fire fighters, the local police, the county,
whatever, and we don't need somebody coming in on something like
that.
If it gets a little bit bigger, then the State has to move in. Then
if you get something like happened in Xenia, Ohio, back some years
ago where a massive tornado went right down through the middle
of town, it was a major disaster and a lot of people were killed. It
seems to me then the State has an option of calling out the National Guard, and can they cope with it then.
But when you get to big-time disasters that are beyond the capability of a State to really take care of, it seems to me that is when
we ought to get into FEMA. It should be an escalation of these
things where it gets out of the ability of local fire fighters and
churches and local branches of Red Cross to take care of something
like that.
I guess my concern is we may have trivialized FEMA. Every time
the wind blows through-for instance, I think $30 million for snow
removal up and down the East Coast, now maybe there were some
places that needed that. Herndon out here put in, and I guess they
got $23,000. There were more branches that blew down for PEPCO
a week ago here that I am sure it cost them far more than that.
Every time some windstorm goes through, is that a FEMA problem? I never envisioned FEMA as taking on all of these different
things that local governments may find onerous as far as the budget goes, and now they want to turn everything over to FEMA. So
I am concerned that we are trivializing what FEMA was designed
to do. That is more a statement than a question, but would you
comment on that?
Mr. PEACH. Well, I think in terms of the trivializing, I am not
sure there is very clear criteria that exists right now other than
looking at what is submitted, is developed, and deciding whether
something meets the qualifications for a disaster or not. Maybe
that has led to a situation where you have an ever-increasing number of things that come in as potential candidates for disasters.
As we did this work, we focused primarily on what happened in
the case of this catastrophic disaster that hit South Florida and
that led us to the conclusion that, at least at the FEMA level, that
they need to have the kind of disaster response and planning unit
that would have the capability to do the advance plamling and
thinking about how you deal with catastrophic disasters.

They can do this within the kind of resources they have by focusing more on an all-hazards approach and beginning to use some of
the resources and capabilities that have been devoted solely to this
national preparedness type area in a very effective way.
I will tell you one anecdotal thing that is sort of interesting and
reflective of what happened in South Florida. As I understand it,
in the national preparedness side, using some nuclear modeling capabilities, they did a modeling exercise to take a look at wind velocities and what they may do to the homes in South Florida if the
storm hit in that particular area, to see if this is a model that could
be adapted from the nuclear attack mode. It predicted within a
very close number the amount of homeless people that you may
have.
But that type of information wasn't a part of the disaster planning and thinking. It wasn't even information that was fed into the
system. It was just an exercise that was done. But if you had that
unit developed properly with the mission and role, you could do the
advance type of planning for disasters where you have predictions
of hurricanes coming into areas and the simulation or other types
of things that would also help you in exercising, to plan how you
deal with catastrophic situations.
Chairman GLENN. We always seem to do things by 100-day time
limits here. We just finished all this super-duper analysis of what
the President has done or hasn't done within 100 days, as though
that is magic, for some reason or other.
What could be done in the next 100 days in this area of catastrophic disaster response? What would be your one, two, three,
four, five wish list, if you had one?
Mr. PEACH. The kind of wish list I have, and one of the things
I am uncertain of, and you are more an expert on this than I am,
although I observe it frequently, is how quickly legislation might
be able to move. You have discussed the fact that Senator Mikulski
will be submitting a bill which you will be cosponsoring and workingwithin that area, and that will be coming out shortly.
But certainly one of the things we suggested, a White House official could be designated. That could be done by executive order. It
doesn't have to await legislation, although legislation over the long
term may be desirable.
We think it is desirable tnat Congress act to increase the ability
of Federal agencies to pre-prepare before a catastrophic disaster occurs. What we have found in looking at Hurricane Andrew is because you may not be reimbursed for expenses you incur in preparing for a disaster, then agencies may not do the effort to preposition, preplan, even where the high potential is there that you could
have a catastrophic situation develop.
A third area would be in FEMA, reorganizing its existing personnel to create this kind of rapid response unit. Again, legislation
could call for that to be done, but that is an action FEMA can take
itself. We. believe they are planning, thinking, and moving in that
direction, but that is something they could better address, as I understand they will be testifying today.
FEMA could also work to better determine when DOD resources
may be needed, in lieu of having Red Cross and other volunteer
agencies provide the response. That is an action they can take now.

And there are also a number of actions that FEMA can begin to
take to begin to develop better State programs for emergency management through providing more flexibility in how they can use
funds to meet the kind of hazards they would expect to have in
their States most likely occur, to do better training and better exercising.
So there are a number of things right now that FEMA should be
doing to improve the situation and put them in a better position
to deal with disasters, although I think in some of these areas over
the longer term, legislative guidance would be appropriate in terms
of what you want that agency to do.
Chairman GLENN. In your analysis of FEMA, did you get into the
separation of their responsibilities under the Continuity of Government, and on the other hand, how they deal with natural disasters,
things like that? In other words, did you get into the nuclear defense area as opposed to civilian defense from natural causes?
Mr. PEACH. We did look at that area, and, of course, as I alluded
to in my testimony, those areas have been run for years as very
separate areas with little use of the resources that are over in that
civil defense area to meet the other disasters. It is almost like two
separate worlds.
Chairman GLENN. Well, is this-

Mr. PEACH. There are many resources that could be used effectively to deal with the all-hazards philosophy here.
Chairman GLENN. The budgeting in that area of Continuity of
Government was kept very highly classified for a long period of
time. Are you permitted into the budgeting figures on that now, or
is that still kept separate?
Mr. PEACH. A great deal of that has been declassified at this
point in this year's budgeting, but we were permitted to look and
deal with that information, but much of it in the earlier years was
under a very heavily classified nature.
Chairman GLENN. Yes. Have you ever done an audit of that Continuity of Government function?
Mr. PEACH. I might ask whether there has been any work that
has been done specifically.
Mr. HINTON. Not recently, no sir.
Chairman GLENN. Has there ever been one run?

Mr. HINTON. I think about 3 or 4 years ago, we had done some
preliminary work in it.
Ms. ENGLAND-JOSEPH. The people who had responsibility for that
work, sir, stand ready to brief you separately, because much of that
work is highly classified.
Chairman GLENN. Well, it has been very highly classified, I
know, and I have had some briefings on that in the past and we
may want to do that again here to look at some of those particular
areas.
Can you give us any idea, though, of breakdown, just in approximate ballpark figures, as to what percent of the budget goes to the

Continuity of Government and to the nuclear function of FEMA as
opposed to this disaster response we are talking about?
Mr. PEACH. In past years, roughly, it has been in the ballpark
of 25 percent of the budget. Now as they have looked at the budget
this year, it is my understanding that FEMA is relooking at this

kind of question with the changing world situation, about how
much money should be going in that area.
Chairman GLENN. I had thought from newspaper reports, these
are strictly newspaper reports, that it was just the opposite, that
about one-fourth went to normal disaster response and about twothirds or three-quarters went to the nuclear side. Is that incorrect?
Mr. CZERWINSKI. There has been change, Mr. Chairman. Over
the past several years, there has been a decrease in the amount of
funds going into the national preparedness area. If you look at
FEMA's operating budget, it is typically about $400 million a year.
National preparedness is around $100 million, which has been, as
you know, highly classified. In this current year's budget, though,
only $7 million is classified. The other $93 million has been made
available to an all-hazards approach.
Chairman GLENN. We may want to go into that separately rather
than pushing it on today.
Ms. ENGLAND-JOSEPH. Sir, if I might go back to your 100-day

question, one additional point I would make is Hurricane Andrew
was the first time the Federal Response Plan was used. That was
a plan that really resulted out of our lessons learned from Hurricane Hugo. The Federal Response Plan is supposed to be the Federal road map in helping to determine how Federal agencies and
volunteer agencies work with State and local government.
I think in this first 100 days, the other very key point that needs
to be emphasized is that we have not really tested that plan other
than in Hurricane Andrew and we really need to work, FEMA
does, in taking the leadership of actually practicing and coordinating that effort before we have to use that plan again. At this point,
we have really never practiced that plan, other than with Andrew.
Chairman GLENN. Well, it seems to me it is always easy in hindsight to say, well, Andrew was big and we should have jumped in
there sooner, but when something like that is developing, you don't
know what is going to happen. There may have been very little
damage from a storm like that.
It seems to me much of this is up to local people, local authorities, and the governor within each State to assess what the damage
is and call for FEMA if necessary, if it is beyond the governor's capability and the local Red Cross and people like that. I think we
ave drifted into a situation where we call for FEMA first and
worry about the local assets second.
Mr. PEACH. I think there is one point we need to-at least, I
would emphasize the difference between this catastrophic situation
and the planning and thinking for that, because what happens is
the governor doesn't often know what he is dealing with.
Now there can be more done with training the people at the
State and local level in assessing disasters. There has not been
much done in that.
Chairman GLENN. If the governor doesn't know what is happening in his State, though, who does? I don't know how you say-who
should have responsibility, then? FEMA shouldn't be required to
come in and tell the governor what is going on in his State, should
they?
Mr. PEACH. If you are dealing with a catastrophic situation, we
think the Federal Government probably has some capabilities that

the individual State governments may not have to tell how bad the
damage is, what help is available, and how quickly that help can
be provided.
But if you look at what happened in the case of Hurricane Andrew's situation, as we studied it, we had about 4 days before there
was a call to bring in the military, and during that 4-day period,
FEMA was basically waiting for the State government to tell them
what, if anything, they thought they might need, although the suspicion began to grow that they were dealing with a much more catastrophic situation.
What happened is they had a complete knocking out of all the
communications with a storm of that scope coming in and it took
about 2 or 3 days for it to sink in that they had a quarter-of-a-million people, potentially, that were outside of homes, not able to get
food, not able to get drinking water or other kinds of supplies
which could have been provided.
Ms. ENGLAND-JOSEPH. We were on the ground about a week after
the storm hit, walking through some of the devastation with the
military, and these are individuals that have over 20, maybe 30
years of experience in the military. They said the disaster sites
that they visited south of Miami was as close to a nuclear detonation that they had ever seen in their career.
So we really need to understand the extent and damage that we
saw down there. It wasn't just that communication lines were completely destroyed. People had no wherewithal to determine how
they could even get from point A to point B. So it really was a bad,
bad situation.
Nothing you said is incorrect in terms of the responsibility of the
State governor and certainly local officials and being in a position
to try to determine and assess damage, but what I think we found
was the State and local officials were not prepared for that type of
devastation.
I mean, in many cases they were waiting for a return call to hear
whether everything was OK, and when they didn't get a call, they
thought everything was fine. Well, they didn't realize nobody even
had a phone to even call them to say, we are in desperate need.
Half of Miami was also blacked out. I mean, we couldn't even get
in and out of airports during several days, several hours after the
storm, and some people in North Miami were calling the governor's
office and saying, we made it, we survived.
I think much of the kind of information that States get in those
times of disaster circumstances, if they are not prepared for the
worst case, they won't anticipate the kinds of needs that they have.
Chairman GLENN. I know, but you are talking about ground com-

munications, basically, now. All it needs is one helicopter to circle
around that area and it is quite obvious what happened.
What was wrong with that? Why did it take 4 or 5 days to get
that kind of an analysis?
Ms. ENGLAND-JOSEPH. Well, that analysis probably occurred

within the first 48 hours, and in some cases they may claim that
it occurred earlier than that, but part of the difficulty was the expertise that you needed to go in that helicopter around that devastated area to really determine need wasn't on the helicopter.

Chairman GLENN. Well, there is no particular expertise needed
to fly a helicopter after the storm is done.
Ms. ENGLAND-JOSEPH. Well, in terms of knowing how much of
what you need, Iffnterms of heavy debris removal equipment, the
type of heavy-lift helicopter you need, to be able to assess how
many people might be homeless, because some folks felt that many
of those individuals that reside down there had been evacuated so
there would be no need to go back into that area and provide any
life-sustaining support. And even though a number of people, hundreds of thousands of people, were evacuated, what we didn't anticipate would be that they would all go back home within hours
after the storm.
Chairman GLENN. Well, whatMr. CZERWINSKI. Mr. Chairman, there is a technology for estimating damage that combines on the ground inspections with what
you get from the air. It is very, very difficult in a situation like
Hurricane Andrew to get people on the ground because of the tremendous amount of debris, closed-up airports, et cetera.
What we are talking about is mobilizing a team that would compare information from over-flights, satellite technology, and also
possesses the ability to inject people into a disaster area to come
up with a combined assessment rapidly. Our feeling is that the
Federal Government with agencies such as DOD, NASA, etc., already has the capability to do that. To expect each State or local
government to replicate that ability probably isn't efficient.
Chairman GLENN. No, but I think, and this is not the place
where we should debate all this, I realize that, but I think you
have one organization that is set to go into any situation like that.
What is the problem in a situation like that? You don't have food,
you don't have shelter, you don't have control of things, you don't
have communications. As you said, you don't have all these things.
There is one organization, and that is the military, that is accustomed to operating under what basically are combat conditions.
There is devastation there that is akin to combat, and that is why
they are activating a National Guard and they can be in there in
a matter of 24 hours or even less than that in many cases. You
have meals-ready-to-eat, you have field kitchens, you have tents
they can throw up, you have all these things.
It just seems to me that it is ideal that they respond to something like that and not wait for days and days and days for some
FEMA assessment or something. I think every head of State government, as I understand it, at least, can activate the Guard for
a purpose like that. If not, we certainly can give them that kind
of authority so that once they make an assessment that this is a
bad situation, they put people in there who are accustomed to operating in devastation. That is what they are trained to do. To me,
that would be the first thing to happen.
Mr. HINTON. Senator Glenn, the National Guard has predomi-

nately combat capability. The type of support you need for disaster
assistance-your medics, your cooks, your engineers-rests largely
in your combat support and combat service support units of your
Army Reserves.

One of the points that we were making is that some legislative
clarification is needed on the authorization to be able to call up
these reserve units.
Chairman GLENN. I disagree. You don't need to go to Reserves
on something like that. I am reminded of Fritz Hollings telling me
when Hugo went across South Carolina and they were fussing
around, and there was a lot of criticism of FEMA and who was
doing what and who was declaring what and who is trying to assess this and that. He finally got so disgusted he got on the phone
and called, I believe it was the Marines up at Camp LeJeune, and
said, we have a bad situation, how soon can you be there? They
Were there within hours. They threw the stuff on the trucks and
they were down there within a very short period of time.
So it is not all limited to Guard and Reserve. If you have a disaster like that going on, and you remember those pictures where they
had boats piled up and all that kind of stuff? That was about a
mile from Fritz's home down there. They were just like little toys
that you poured out of a box over there, it was that kind of devastation. You have military available. They have stuff on any military base in the country that they can throw on the trucks and go,
whether it is National Guard or not.
So with the Guard, if you had to activate people or things like
that, that might be a factor, but I think in a disaster situation like
this the military stands ready to respond, whether active, Reserve,
Guard, or what they are, and I thinkMr. PEACH. The military very much, I think, want to do what
they are asked to do. They don't want to be the people to be in
charge of it because they see that separation of the military dealing
with a domestic situation, so they want to be tasked with what to
do.
I think one of the reasons in looking for the Guard, or at least
the ability to call up the Reserves, from the military argument, was
that it would give them some more flexibility. They didn't argue
they couldn't respond with the existing troops they had, but if they
were involved in other situations around the world that required
some of their troops to be deployed, it gave them flexibility in using
heavy units that had the kind of capability that Mr. Hinton was
referring to.
Chairman GLENN. Yes. I don't want to oversimplify things, but
it just seems to me it would be pretty simple if you just called the
Pentagon and said, you have Reserves, you have the Guard, you
have active duty people, who can be there the fastest and with
what type equipmentMr. PEACH. But the question is
Chairman GLENN [continuing]. And food and tents and everything else.
Mr. PEACH. Let me plant one other seed in your mind. The question is, what do you need and how much? I will give you one impression I have from looking at the Hurricane Andrew situation.
We had about 4 days that transpired before they called for the
military to come in. The military responded massively to that call
because there was a lot of uncertainty about what was going on.
A tremendous amount of equipment was brought in and deployed
within a very short period of time.

I think there is a question as to whether we threw more at it at
that time than was needed because of the way the situation had
deteriorated. If we had a better assessment of what was needed,
how, and when, we might have been able to even come up with a
more measured response that would have still met the needs.
The cost is not going to be inexpensive when the final bill is in
for dealing with Hurricane Andrew and the call up of the military.
It is already running at an excess of $500 million in terms of costs
that we know now. So having the ability to better assess what you
are dealing with and what you need, and again, in catastrophic
cases, not for every disaster, could be a big help.
As it turned out in Louisiana, they did not have to have a response that went beyond the Guard and the ability of the Red
Cross and other agencies, but had that roared right up the bayou
and into New Orleans instead of where it did hit, again, I am not
sure about what kind of situation you would be dealing with. As
it was, it happened to hit a less-populated area.
Chairman GLENN. I know we are going on at great length here,
but who should do the assessing?. Should it be FEMA? Should it be
the governor? Who should say when we have forces ready to come
in that can help you here and here is the measured response, as
you put it, rather than just throwing a lot of people in there?
Incidentally, if I was in a situation like that, I wouldn't mind
having a few extra people in there, an over-response.
Mr. PEACH. You want to err on the side of being responsive.
Chairman GLENN. That is right.
Mr. PEACH. That is correct. Again, we are suggesting and recommending that you need this disaster response unit for catastrophic disasters in FEMA, and it could be done by combining
some of the capabilities that have been existing in that national
preparedness area together with other capabilities they have where
they could do the pre-planning, the pre-thinking, and they could
also deal with the kind of training that you want to have happen
to the States and understanding what State capabilities are to be
able to respond in -a situation.
Chairman GLENN. Yes.
Mr. PEACH. And what you want to do is be in a position where
they can go in to the governor and say, "Governor, this is our assessment of what the situation is that you are dealing with here
and these are the kind of resources we have that we can offer to
you that we think might be able to help in this situation," rather
than sitting back and saying, "what do you think, Governor?"
Chairman GLENN. Yes.
Ms. ENGLAND-JOSEPH. We also are not suggesting that this unit
would simply be Federal employees or part of FEMA. We are saying that we need to work very closely with State and local officials.
So we are talking about a group of people who are most familiar
with how to assess the damage, both from a local perspective as
well as from a Federal technology perspective.
Chairman GLENN. Were any of the NP assets, the National Preparedness assets, used down there in Andrew?
Mr. PEACH. Yes, there were some that were deployed down there,
basically some of the communication vehicles that they have.

I might add that those were deployed down there but we don't
necessarily think they were used in an effective manner. Certainly
they weren't even connected in earlier. They had not been used to
being exercised or being used to meet these natural disaster kind
of situations. So I think some were brought down but they were not
used in the early stages in a very effective manner. Later on, they
got some use.
Chairman GLENN. You have mentioned several times that what
we should be dealing with here are catastrophic disasters. Did you
get into FEMA's operation enough to give us an assessment of
what is-I guess trivial is the wrong word to use, but I used it before anyway-what is less important and what are really catastrophic situations that they deal with? Did you make a breakdown
of their operations in that regard?
Mr. PEACH. We didn't do a complete breakdown of their operations. We did define "catastrophic" as where it outstrips the capability of the State and local government to respond within the first
12 to 24 hours of the disaster.
Chairman GLENN. Yes.
Mr. PEACH. We know and we did take the kind of look that says
there are numerous disasters that FEMA is asked to respond to,
most of which fall far short of what you would consider catastrophic. That is one of the reasons why, although a lot of people
were saying, do you need to abolish FEMA, or you don't need it,
or it is not doing its job, is that they have numerous disasters of
a lesser character to respond to and they have been responding to
those over the years and the government is going to need that capacity to respond to those kind of disasters alongside the catastrophic disasters.
Chairman GLENN. No, I agree with that. I was just trying to get
a feel for how much of their budget goes for things that--the example I used was the snow removal case, and maybe that was justied in some communities, I don't know.
I was just using that as an example. I was wondering if the bulk
of their money is going to things like that where communities feel,
hey, we might as well put in for it because everybody else is getting
it, we might as well too, if that is a major part of the operation
as opposed to catastrophic situations like we were talking about
here.
We had the "Reagan revolution", so-called, in which all of these
responsibilities were being passed back to the States. They were
supposed to pick this stuff up and do things locally. Now maybe
they are not able to do that.
Mr. CZERWINSKI. The majority, Mr. Chairman, of FEMA's re-

sponse budget is devoted to those smaller-type disasters.
Chairman GLENN. It is? Do you have any breakdown budget-wise
as to how much of the FEMA budget goes to the smaller considerations?
Mr. CZERWINSKI. Virtually all of it. Very little goes to the catastrophic. The simplest way to look at FEMA's budget is to say that
there is about a quarter of it that goes, as we mentioned, to National Preparedness, which had the classified function. About a
quarter of it goes to grants to State and local governments to help
them prepare for their own disasters. About a quarter also goes to
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other functions, such as the Fire Academy, etc. The rest is left for
FEMA's response to all types of disasters, and the majority of that
is for what you would call the run of the mill.
Now FEMA is realigning its budget for 1994 and there are some
significant changes. It is probably more appropriate for Mr. Witt to
talk about that, but it looks to us like there is a reorientation towards greater resources being given towards a Federal response to
catastrophic disasters.
Chairman GLENN. That sounds like a lead-in for Mr. Witt.
Mr. PEACH. And there isChairman GLENN. Mr. Witt, we are all set for you here.
Go ahead, Dexter, and then we will end this.
Mr. PEACH. One of the issues, though, of course, is you have the
regular budget they are dealing with and they get these supplemental appropriations that come in on an emergency basis to deal
with the large disasters.
One of the things, as you sort of alluded to or noted in your comments, this has been going up, the overall supplemental money
that is having to come in and deal with disasters. In 1992, those
appropriations exceeded $4 billion to cover not only things like the
Hugo and Loma Prieta earthquake, the Chicago flooding, Los Angeles riots, Hurricane Andrew, Iniki, a whole variety of things where
they have gotten supplemental money to deal with some of those
that come in in addition.
Chairman GLENN. We may have additional questions for you. If
you would respond to them, we will send you a list of those from
other members or after our review of the record here.
We appreciate your being here this morning.
Mr. IEACH. We appreciate the opportunity, Mr. Chairman. We
would be glad to continue to work with you, because we think legislation in moving forward in this area is very important.
Chairman GLENN. Good. Thank you much. We appreciate it.
Our next witness is the Hon. James Lee Witt, the Director of the
Federal Emergency Management Agency.
Mr. Witt, we are glad to have you with us here. This will be one
of your first times at testifying at a post-confirmation hearing. We
welcome you back again.
TESTIMONY OF THE HON. JAMES LEE WITT,' DIRECTOR,
FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
Mr. WI r. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
It is a pleasure to appear before this Committee again. President
Clinton honored me when he nominated me for the position of Director of the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA. I am
grateful to this Committee for the swift action you took on my confirmation.
In my confirmation hearing, I made a number of commitments
to this Committee. This morning, I would like to give you a
progress report on my accomplishments and then follow that with
comments on my vision and plans for the future direction of FEMA.
But first, I would like to tell you about my trip to Dade County,
Florida. I have been to many disaster sites and have seen more
I The prepared statement of Mr. Witt

appears on page 91.

than enough damage and suffering, but I have never seen anything
like the results of Hurricane Andrew in South Florida. During that
visit, I identified several major problems severely affecting victims
and the rebuilding process.
I was most affected by the condition of the people who, at that
time, were living in St. Anne Tent City. I hate to think what their
life would have been like after the rainy season had started.
Another problem that especially concerned me wAs debris removal. I saw houses that had been rebuilt, but the occupants could
not move back in because of piles of debris around their houses. It
was demoralizing.
I was determined to help these victims. Since my return from
Florida, I have taken the following actions to help these people. We
worked with Dade County to put more debris contractors to work,
especially around the rebuilt homes. The tent city has been closed
and virtually all of the families have been provided FEMA trailers
or vouchers for other housing. We have extended the deadline for
disaster assistance applications to provide an opportunity for all
victims to apply for the assistance for which they are eligible.
On the renewal of FEMA, one of the first things I did after being
sworn in as Director was to review the statements that I had made
during the confirmation process and then prepare a checklist of actions to be taken on a priority basis.
I would like to describe the majority of the activities, because
they provide a picture of where FEMA is going under my leadership. These activities are grouped according to the five priorities I
set: Preparing to respond effectively to any disaster; revitalizing
the agency and improving employee morale; creating a national
emergency management partnership involving FEMA, other Federal agencies, State and local governments, and private organzations; establishing mitigation as the foundation of the Nation's
emergency management system; and examining FEMA's mission
and organization.
On an effective disaster response, I am determined to be as prepared as possible for any major disasters that occur during my administration.
One of my first activities was to review our response readiness,
to determine what our current capabilities are, and what we need
to do to be well prepared. I have met with the representatives of
other Federal agencies involved in the Federal Response Plan and
have written to the State and territorial directors to begin the process of improving coordination and working relationships.
In addition, I have asked the FEMA regional directors to assign
an employee to work with the Governor and Emergency Management Directors at the State emergency management operations
center immediately upon occurrence of a disaster, warning or
event. These assignments have been made and this procedure has
already been applied in a recent disaster situation.
A FEMA representative worked closely with the Oklahoma Governor and his staff as they dealt with the recent flooding and tornadoes in that State. As a result, Governor Walters requested a perso _al meeting to thank FEMA for their support and swift action.
We are currently examining options for pre-positioning resources
for an anticipated disaster and for establishing rapid deployment

teams for use when the event does occur. We are reviewing our authority to take more of these proactive actions than we have in the
past.
I am especially concerned about the oncoming hurricane season
and have taken a number of steps to prepare for such an event. We
have done a preliminary review of the readiness of the 22 coastal
States. In addition, I will be meeting with the Emergency Management Directors of the hurricane-prone States next week to discuss
their needs and how we can assist them should a hurricane occur.
On employee morale, one of my first acts as Director was to greet
each headquarters FEMA employee as they reported for work the
next morning. I wanted to let them know, in the clearest possible
way, that I will be listening to them and including them in the
process of rebuilding FEMA.
Following those meetings, I instituted an open door policy. I have
set aside time each week specifically for FEMA employees to talk
with me about their ideas on how we can improve emergency management in this country and make FEMA an Agency we can all be
proud of.
I have met with representatives of our union at the headquarters. I told them that I want their ideas and support in making FEMA a better Agency and a better place to work.
In addition, I have asked all employees to give me their ideas on
how we can make FEMA a better agency and a meaningful place
to work. In fact, since this request went out, we have been overwhelmed by the response. I want each employee to share in my excitement about what we can do to accomplish this while we build
the best emergency management system in the world.
On building emergency management partnership, I have initiated a partnership with State and local agencies, private organizations, and other Federal agencies through the following actions.
I have written to each State and territorial Emergency Management Director to -state my ideas for a risk-based all-hazards emergency management system, based on a foundation of mitigation. To
further this partnership, I have invited those Directors to meet
with me at the Emergency Management Institute in June to help
in the development of the partnership and associated emergency
management system.
I have met with the Catastrophic Disaster Response Group. This
interagency group is the focal point for FEMA coordination within
the Federal Government for planning and responding to majoi disasters. In addition, I have had extremely productive meetings with
Secretary Cisneros, Secretary Pena, and Acting Secretary of the
Army Shannon to discuss our mutual responsibilities in the event
of a major disaster.
I have initiated the development of a draft interstate compact
and will encourage the States and territories to adopt it as a mutual aid agreement. Of course, after the compact is adopted, it
would have to be ratified by Congess.
We are preparing a draft model agreement that will define how
FEMA and each State and territory will work together in the event
of a major disaster. These agreements will then be individually negotiated with each State and territory. The agreements will define

how we will work together on major events, especially during the
initial period after the prediction of a disaster.
Under the Federal Response Plan, we have a special group addressing the problem of initial damage and situation assessment.
I have asked that any new assessment process be designed with
the participation of appropriate State and local and private organizations. We know that damage and situation assessment has to be
fact, accurate, and complete. We can accomplish this by working together through the partnership.
I have initiated a review of the administrative load on the State
and local agencies receiving FEMA funds. I want to give the States
the flexibility to develop their own programs and corresponding priorities without undue restrictions from FEMA. Our requirements
should be performance-based and focused on program accomplishments. I have also initiated a project to see if we can reduce administrative reporting requirements on the States.
As a general practice, I have asked headquarters and regional
personnel to spend as much time as possible working with State
and local organizations. This practice will enable FEMA personnel
to become better acquainted with our counterparts at the State and
local level and to better understand the emergency management organizations, policies, and procedures used by these agencies.
On mitigation, I believe that mitigation must become a recognized national priority. While mitigation makes good sense, it often
isn't a priority for communities. We will work to change that
mindset and provide solid, cost-effective tools and incentives to encourage mitigation actions. The entire Nation needs to make the
commitment now to invest in the long-term payoff of mitigation,
and I plan for FEMA to provide the leadership to accomplish this
effort.
In my letter to State and territorial directors and to various constituency groups, I announced that mitigation would be the foundation for developing a stronger emergency management system. I
have also discussed this issue with members of my staff to begin
the process of integrating mitigation into all our programs.
There are several programs at FEMA which currently emphasize
mitigation. We need to build on these programs, especially at the
State and local level. We know that mitigation at all levels can
help reduce the disaster assistance costs and it makes good economic sense.
On FEMA's mission and organization, I have initiated -a project
to determine the need to revise FEMA's mission, organization, and
policies. This is being accomplished in two ways.
First, I am involving FEMA employees in the process. A letter
was sent to all employees informing them of the project and inviting their participation. In addition, we are using several existing
ad hoc employee committees to develop ideas and recommendations. We are using an open approach. FEMA's mission and organization will come fom the people, the people who are responsible
for the agency and the people served by the agency.
We are reviewing alP of the recent recommendations concerning
FEMA that have been made by various organizations and investigative teams. We will analyze them and develop a plan for implementation. For example, I have recently met with the National
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Academy of Public Administration officials to discuss their recommendations and how they can support us as we go through the
review process.
In reviewing FEMA's mission and or anization, I have two guiding principles. Nothing will be change for the sake of change but
only to do what is necessary to achieve our goals. The ideas of
State and local government representatives, as well as those of the
volunteer communities, will be sought throughout the process.
In closing, I again want to thank the Committee for the confidence it has shown in me and for the opportunity to share with
you my recent actions and plans for the renewal of FEMA.
I have described my commitments to this Committee, the Congress, the administration, the emergency management community,
and the American public. However, I cannot meet these commitments alone. I must have the support of FEMA personnel, State,
local, and private emergency management officials, and the support
of Congress.
While I am willing to make these commitments to you this morning, I challenge each of you to, in turn, make a commitment to support the new FEMA and the new emergency management partnership.
I thank you for your time and your attention, and I will try my
very best to answer all your questions. I may not be able to answer
all of them, but if I cannot answer it, I will provide it to you in
writing.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you, Mr. Witt. Thank you very much.
I want to compliment you. I know you want to revitalize FEMA
and I know you want to make it proactive and more responsive
with better coordination with the States and boosting morale and
all the things that you have talked about. I compliment you for getting started on the path of doing exactly that, and we want to work
with you in that area.
Do you agree with Mr. Peach's recommendation that in the case
of catastrophic disasters, the President must step in to take official
responsibility for directing the Federal response? In other words,
that there has to be somebody designated right in the White House
to do that?
Mr. WiTT. In the past few weeks, we have worked with the White
House in establishing a strong information flow from FEMA to the
White House situation room. They have assigned someone at the
White House to work with FEMA in time of a disaster.
During the Oklahoma floods and tornadoes that have just happened recently, this information flow worked very well, very quickly. The President was advised immediately of the situation, and in
turn called Governor Walters in Oklahoma when he received the
information, just after Governor Walters got back from touring it
with a helicopter.
So the information flow that we have established with the White
House and the very close working relationships that we have has
done very well.
Chairman GLENN. Who is this assigned person that you have,
then, as your direct liaison in the White House?
Mr. WiTT. Steve Silverman.

-
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Chairman GLENN. Steve Silverman. Now is that just temporary,
or is he supposed to take on all these functions now that NEMA
and some of the other groups are suggesting should be done by the
Vice President or by a coordinating group in the White House?
Mr. WITT. As far as I know, Mr. Chairman, it is a permanent assignment.
Chairman GLENN. A permanent assignment, OK
Is the idea, then, that when you want to exercise some of the different functions in the Federal Response Plan Matrix, would you
call those people directly now or would Mr. Silverman be the one
that would call them and tell them they have to comply?
Mr. WiTr. Under theChairman GLENN. In other words, what I want to know is if you
have a catastrophic situation and you call up and say, Les Aspin,
this is Jim Witt and I need stuff for 12,000 people who are out in
the open down there, I need field kitchens for 12,000, tents for
12,000, and so on. Is he going to say, Jim, great, you have them
on the way, or does some ody else have to approve it? Are there
different levels of control? Or do you have to give this to Mr. Silverman and he calls Les Aspin and tells him that this stuff has got
to go?
Mr. WiTT. As we look at redefining the mission of FEMA and reorganizing FEMA, then I would expect that if the President had
confidence in me to appoint me for this position, then I would expect that he would have the confidence in me to help carry out this
mission, and we would work towards organizing the agency in that
whgairman GLENN. I don't doubt that
President Clinton has the
utmost confidence in you. You have known each other a long time
and you have worked together. I don't question the confidence he
has in you. What I am concerned about is who is giving the orders
during a catastrophic situation and can expect a response from up
and down the line and has the authority to do it?
Mr. WiTT. Under the Federal Response Plan, FEMA has that responsibility.
Chairman GLENN. Yes, but that hasn't worked right in the past
and that is what we are trying to correct here. You know, every
time we've been faced with this in the past, we had to designate
somebody in the cabinet to suddenly take over during the emergency to work with FEMA so that you had the top White House
people on board, including the President, and everybody knew then
that the President was completely behind what was going on, what
decisions were being made, and what orders would be carried out
because of that.
Now what you are telling me is that you are going to have authority to do this but, you would get approval from Mr. Silverman
then, or what?
Mr. WiTT. If I needed to, yes sir, but that is something that we
are looking at under the Federal Response Plan with the task force
now. However, FEMA has the lead role of the Federal agencies.
Chairman GLENN. I understand that, but that hasn't been adequate in the past. You are telling me you think it is different now?
Mr. WiTr. If it is not, Mr. Chairman, then we will be sure and
address it.

Chairman GLENN. OK I hate to wait until we get in the middle
of a big disaster of some kind and then be straightening out our
lines here if they are not adequate. That concerns me somewhat.
Mr. WITT. I agree, sir.
Chairman GLENN. Either Mr. Silverman is going to be able to
tell you yes, it is OK, or-if something happened right now, we got
word there is a big blowup someplace and we have 10,000 people
out, or there is an earthquake in California or whatever and you
wanted to start sending people-would you have to ask Mr. Silverman? Would you notify him and say, is it OK to do this, and he
would give you the OK, or would you go ahead and tell the Defense
Department, I have authority, the President has vested this authority in me, go do it?
Mr. Wirt. That is what I would tell Mr. Aspin, yes sir.
Chairman GLENN. OK, and I hope he would respond.
Mr. Wirr. I do, too.
Chairman GLENN. OK. I just think we have to work these things
out and Les Aspin has got to understand that if he gets a call from
you and you tell him this, that you are in turn speaking for the
President, then, if the President has given you that authority, because that is one of the problems in the past.
I would think it wouldn't be at all bad to formalize this with
some sort of written material that goes to each one of the agencies,
part of your matrix here, all, what is it, 27 different units of the
government that have some piece of this thing, and it wouldn't
hurt to have each one of those people understand that in an emergency, then, you speak for the President, and if not, who does.
Mr. WITT.

I agree with you, sir.

Chairman GLENN. And that is the reason that NEMA and NAPA
have suggested somebody in the White House, because that has
been found to be necessary before.
If you have this working relationship with the President, I would
suggest that if it is going to work in an emergency, it might not
be a bad idea to get the President to sign off and send all these
people a letter that you speak for him when an emergency occurs
and they are to respond.
Mr. WT. I agree with you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you. My time is up.
Senator Akaka.
OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR AKAKA

Senator AKAKA. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I wish to
commend you for holding this meeting.
Chairman GLENN. You had some experience in this area recently.
Senator AKAKA. Yes, we all have, and I thank you for your leadership in examining ways to improve the effectiveness of FEMA
and FEMA's response to disasters.
I wish to welcome other witnesses before the Committee today
and especially our friend, Mr. Witt.
In the closing part of his statement, he referred to the confidence
that we have in you, and we certainly do, and we look forward to
trying improve our mechanisms so that we can serve the country
better when disasters come.

Mr. Chairman, I simply wish to note that major structural and

operational changes in FEMA are long overdue. Recent disasters,
including Hugo, Loma Prieta, Andrew, and Iniki have demonstrated that FEMA as currently organized cannot address the
type and number of emergencies that confront this agency.
In this respect, I agree with many of the recommendations that
have been recently put forward by a number of our colleagues, including yourself, Mr. Chairman, the GAO, the National Academy
of Public Administration, and the National Emergency Management Association. During Mr. Witt's confirmation hearings a few
weeks ago, I was gratified to learn that you, Mr. Witt, also have
embraced many of these same recommendations.
Thus, Mr. Chairman, for the first time in many years, it appears
that all the planets are aligned - [Laughter.]
For a landmark transformation of this important agency, and we
have confidence in you, Mr. Witt, and we look forward to effective
changes that will certainly help our Nation in case of disaster.
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and I have questions, if
I may proceed.
Chairman GLENN. Certainly.
Senator AKAKA. Getting information on FEMA programs, Mr.
Witt, and activities to 1
agencies and individuals before, during,
and after a disaster is considered sometimes a weakness of FEMA.
What are your plans to improve this function? For example, are
you considering expanding the public affairs staff and identifying
key community groups so that information and assistance is available to consumers?
Mr. WITT. Senator, thank you for your kind remarks. We are
asking for ten positions in our 1994 budget to strengthen the public
affairs office, one in each of the regions, particularly, because it is
very important that a good, strong public affairs office is in place,
particularly when there is a disaster situation, to work with that
Governor and that State director and the local media so that you
can get the information out to those disaster victims and the general public as fast as possible.
Senator AKAKA. FEMA, Mr. Witt, will soon be conducting an
earthquake exercise called Response 1993 in the State of Utah.
This is the first such exercise in some time. How does FEMA plan
to use lessons learned from Andrew and Iniki in this exercise?
Mr. WiTT. Senator, I have not seen the scenario of the exercise
but it is an Earthquake 1993 Response exercise consisting of all of
the Federal agencies and State and local government. Even the
Governor of Utah is planning to exercise the 4 days.
The lessons that we have learned will be incorporated into the
Federal Response Plan, and then as we exercise that Federal Response Plan down to the State and local level, incorporating their
emergency operations plans as well. So I think the lessons learned
will help us to see how we need to reorganize FEMA and to see
how we need to reorganize the Federal Response Plan so we can
respond better.
Senator AJAKA. Mr. Witt, most of FEMA's programs are implemented on the regional level. Shouldn't staffing between the regions and headquarters reflect this fact? In other words, shouldn't
staffing be increased in the regions and reduced in Washington?

Mr. WITT. That is something that we will be addressing in our

reorganization plan and be looking at. The regional offices are the
offices that carry out the policies and also implement the training
and exercise programs down on the State level.
Senator AKAKA. As you know, FEMA generally is praised for its

response to small and medium-sized disasters. It is with respect to
catastrophic disasters that FEMA has difficulties, which has
caused many critics to call for DOD to take over in the event of
major disasters.
Is there currently a threshold written into the Federal Response
Plan in terms of the degree of DOD involvement in responding to
various levels of disasters, and if not, should there be such?
Mr. WiTT. I think it is important that we on the Federal level,

as well as the State and local level, look at some type of system
that will give a Governor or State director, and even us on the Federal level, an idea of the level of the disaster, where we will know
how much to send to respond to if they need us. We are looking
at that process now and probably will be coming back to the Administration, OMB and Congress very soon with a proposal that
would give everybody an idea of the level of that disaster and what
would be needed to respond with.
Senator AKAKA. I do not know for a fact if this is true or not,
but I have been told that there may exist a Holiday Inn mentality
within FEMA that reduces its effectiveness with respect to major
disasters. By this I mean that some employees maybe more worried about staying at a nice hotel, getting a nice rental car, and returning home as soon as possible rather than committing themselves fully to helping disaster victims. These are individuals who
complain about the food or are unprepared to sleep on the floor or
undergo other sacrifices that may be called for in certain circumstances in disaster areas.
Of course, this is not to say that all or even most FEMA employees have this attitude, but I have been told that such an attitude
apparently exists, which, of course, can only undermine FEMA's
humanitarian mission.
To your knowledge, does such an attitude exist? If so, what can
you do to inspire a more positive public service attitude in FEMA
staff?.
Mr. Wir. We are trying to work in establishing stronger morale
and build these people up to where they can say, I am proud to be
an employee of FEMA and I am proud of what I do.
Let me tell you about the people that have responded to disasters, and we have talked about Andrew. A lot of these people are
still there that were there on the initial start. Those people are
dedicated and they are as hard-working as, well as just about all
of the employees at FEMA. What they need is a chance to prove
themselves, and I hope that I can give them that chance. I am
going to try.
Senator AKAKA. Well, you certainly are trying with your meeting
with staff members, as you are now, once a week.
My time is up, Mr. Chairman, and I will have other questions.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you, Senator Akaka.
How do you make your judgments right now, and address my
snow problem I mentioned earlier. FEMA can't be a 911 responder

every time the weather changes and every time a limb blows off
a tree or something. You want to save it for things that are of some
size, and yet you just heard testimony from GAO, they feel that
most of your money is going to fairly small projects. Now fairly
small projects are very important to the people in a particular spot,
I don't doubt that.
But who makes the decisions on something like this? I don't
know whether that article in the paper I referred to earlier out of
the Washington Post actually said specifically that the money got
paid, but they put in for $24,763.09. Was that paid to help out in
snow removal out here at Herndon during that spring snowstorm
we had? Did that get paid?
Mr. WiTT. I don't know if that particular bill got paid. I would
be glad to provide it to you, Senator.
Chairman GLENN. I would like to know.

Mr. WiTT. I certainly will. I will be glad to provide that to you.'
When it is beyond the local and State government's capability to
take care of their constituents, then they ask for assistance. The
assistance that they needed was to get an emergency route opened
for your police, fire, paramedics, emergency Medical Technicians
(EMTs) and your power and light people. Actually there were more
lives lost during this snowstorm than there were during Hurricane
Andrew and it was an emergency situation.
These people were not prepared for that type of a snow in some
of these areas. They didn't have snow plows. So it was very critical
that emergency routes be opened up, and that is what the assistance was used for; to open emergency routes and get debris off the
power lines so power could be restored.
Chairman GLENN. Well, I would like an analysis of that one because that is not the way it was written up in the paper. It was
a spring snowstorm and they decided their costs had gone up. They
didn't need additional plows, as I understand it. They had to do
some overtime work and things like that, I gather, and that is normal. Then another year they will be $24,763.09 below their budget
probably and save money in that year.
Every time somebody comes up with a few dollars extra expense
in the community, is it fair game that they come into FEMA, oh
my goodness, we had to spend a little more than we budgeted for
this year. Please make it up for us out of the Federal treasury.
How do you make judgments on things like that? That seems to
me pretty fundamental in running your business there.
Mr. WiT. You look at the damage and do a damage assessment
with the State and locals and write up those damage assessment
reports to see and identify if it is beyond their capability, andChairman GLENN. No, but this is after the fact. They already
went ahead and plowed it out, as I understand it, and then put in
to you to pay the bill. The emergency was done.
Mr. WiTT. I don't know about that particular bill, Mr. Chairman,
butChairman GLENN. Well, I think you ought to look into that one.
Mr. WIT. I will.
,The information referred to appears on page 150.

Chairman GLENN. If that is where most of the money in FEMA
is going, and GAO indicated apparently there is a lot of it going
in that direction, I think we really have to take a look at things
because I don't think that is what was envisioned. We are talking
about real emergencies here and we want to cover really catastrophic problems and cover them well.
I think this idea that every time somebody runs a little over on
their town budget, that they can put into FEMA and get money out
of the Federal treasury to pick it up, I think that is just the wrong
mentality here and-we are going to have to change that mindset,
that is for sure.
Can you tell me as much as you can, I know part of it is classified, on the Continuity of Government? Let me first ask a question
on that. Do you think that should be transferred to DOD or do you
think that would be best administered continuing under FEMA?
Have you had a chance to really look at COG yet?
Mr. WiTT. Not all of it, no sir, Mr. Chairman.
Let me tell-you of an example of Continuity of-Government from
a county perspective and also as a State Director. Continuity of
Government works in many ways, not just for national preparedness. It also works during times of catastrophic disaster. When you
establish that chain of people who are in command if there is something that happens in that State or local level, then it is important
in times of disaster, too.
But there is a tremendous difference in the classified and nonclassified portion-of our budgets that has changed a great deal,
and those assets and those people are going to be used more in allhazard approach than they have been in the past.
Chairman GLENN. GAO said a little while ago that you have
some of your COG people used, some of their communications
equipment was finally moved in down there, Was there anything
that was necessary out of that that DOD couldn't already provide
in the realm of communications?
Mr. WiTT. I am not sure if there is anything. DOD can provide
a lot, but the communications systems that we have now that have
been freed up to respond to disasters and also on exercises and
training programs are very important, to not only FEMA but also
to State and local. They were very important during Andrew. They
provided the communications capability there that even DOD did
not have.
Chairman GLENN. Can you break down your budget for us be-

tween COG and your other disaster response functions?
Mr. Wi r. I don't have all those figures here, Senator, with me,
but I will be glad to provide them to you.
[Subsequently, the following information was furnished by Mr.
Witt.)
The 1994 budget request contained a total cf $7.5 million for national security
(COG) related items. Other funds requested for disaster planning and response at
the Federal, State and local level-whether the cause of the disaster is natural,
technological or manmade-total $234 million.

Chairman GLENN. All right, if you would. We would like the unclassified figures, if you could, so that we can include those in our
report, and break down as much as you can gi,-e us on that.
Mr. WiTT. I will, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GLENN. Fine, thank you. My time is up.
Senator Akaka, do you have more questions?
Senator AAKMA. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Witt, the Pacific insular states, that is American Samoa, the
Commonwealth of Northern Marianas Islands, Hawaii, Federated
States of Micronesia, Palau, and the Republic of Marshall Islands
received assistance in major disasters from FEMA. What assistance
is provided by FEMA to these States to help them develop the
emergency management infrastructures necessary to manage their
programs and apply for assistance? You can provide this for the
record if you don t have the information at hand.
Mr. WiTT. Senator, they share in the program through the CCA,
EMA funds, just as the State or locals would here. The territories
all share in those funds, and that is a 50/50 match fund. But I will
provide you the figures that each one of them receives.
Senator AKAKA. Hawaii, Mr. Witt, and the Pacific, an area that
suffers more disasters than. any other region, is currently under
Region Nine, which also covers the West Coast, yet the Pacific insular area experiences different types of disasters and disaster-related problems than California, Arizona, or Nevada, which are also
within the jurisdiction of the Region Nine office. For example, there
are significantly different problems posed by geography, language,
political structure, and culture.
Just in terms of distance, I would point out that American
Samoa is more than-4,100 miles from San Francisco, where Region
Nine is headquartered. Similarly, the Republic of Palau is 3,450
miles away.
While I understand that the new Hawaii satellite office promises
to make FEMA more responsive to the unique needs of the Pacific,
a separate regional office entirely devoted to the Pacific insular region would appear to be more advantageous. In fact, I am considering introducing legislation today to require an eleventh FEMA region for the Pacific.
What are your thoughts regarding the establishment of a separate regional office- for the insular Pacific area, and how much
would it cost, if you know, and what additional resources would it
take to upgrade the Hawaii satellite office to a fully-fledged regional office?
Mr. WIrr. Senator, we will be glad to work with you and get that
information for you and the dollar figures as well. Of course, we
have the satellite office now in Hawaii but also we have one in
Puerto Rico, and we can get the dollar costs of each of those satellite offices and combine those for you so it will give you a realistic
figure on what it would cost to have a Region Eleven in Hawaii.
Senator AKAXA. FEMA, Mr. Witt, has significant experience that
it can offer other countries. For example, it is probably no accident
that Loma Prieta, which was similar in intensity to the earthquake
that devastated Armenia 5 years ago, resulted in 65 dead versus
the 25,000 .that died in Armenia. At least in part, this is obviously
because FEMA does some things very well.
Do you envision a more active role for FEMA in terms of offering
assistance to other nations?
Mr. WITT. We are going to be meeting with the International
Decade for Disaster soon, I believe it is Friday. I will meet with

some of the people who work with them, and we are going to try
to offer more technical and coordinating advice with them in the
future, yes sir.
Senator AKAXA. In your confirmation hearings, you expressed a
strong interest in the National Disaster Medical System, NDMS.
How do you plan to assure that NDMS is fully integrated into our
Federal disaster response plan? Do you believe that NDMS should
be removed from the Department of Health and Human Services
to FEMA? And if so, how would you assure that it received appropriate visibility and resource support?
Mr. Wirr. That is a good question- Senator. First, I have met
with Dr. Mattingly and Mr. Young from HHS about a week ago
and I asked them about the NDMS program and told them that I
was very concerned about it. I asked for a senior policy meeting.
We are meeting tomorrow on NDMS.
I am concerned about NDMS because it is very important to the
Federal response program. It is very important to those States and
those locals to have that capability to respond when we have a catastrophic disaster with that medical capability.
I will know more tomorrow after I meet with them on the future
role which I feel like we need to play. It needs to be stronger, there
is no doubt about that.
Senator AKAKA. The State Department, Mr. Witt, maintains an
office of Foreign Disaster Assistance, or FDA, which possesses resources and expertise that may be potentially useful to FEMA or
other agencies in responding to disasters. FDA has access to training, supplies, and military support that are separate from that
available to FEMA or other agencies. For example, FDA has experience in responding to requests for assistance from the foreign governments in the Pacific. FDA's experience and resources in this
area could have been used to support FEMA's responses to emergencies in American Samoa or Guam.
What are your thoughts with respect to integrating FDA with
FEMA?
Mr. WIrr. We will work with OFDA and other agencies as well
in trying to identify all the resources that are available and incorporate that into our resource capability, and I think it is very important.
Senator AKAKA. Mr. Chairman, if I may have one more question?
Chairman GLENN. Yes, go ahead.
Senator AKAKA. During your confirmation hearings, in response
to my question, you indicated that there should be a better way to
coordinate the collection and delivery of private donations across
the country. Subsequently, I was informed of an important program run by Volunteers in Technical Assistance, that is VITA,
which is funded through an OFDA grant that coordinates information on disaster assistance. This includes donations from the private sector, which are used primarily to assist victims of foreign
disasters.
I understand that FEMA has used VITA to some extent for domestic disasters. What role could VITA play with respect to your
own plans to facilitate donation management?
Mr. WITT. After the confirmation hearing, Senator, and after I
had been confirmed, I met with the FEMA Directorate of State and

Local Programs, and asked them to establish a committee to look
into how we can receive donated goods, and how we can better disburse them. They are working on that now and should have a report for you very soon, hope ly this next month. Each of the private organizations, the volunteer organizations and Red Cross and
everybody will be involved in this.
Senator AKAKA. Well, that is great. I am glad to hear that you
are moving on it and it is underway.
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you, Senator Akaka.
Just one other area here. I mentioned wanting a rundown on the
Herndon thing out here. I want to use that as a little example here,
because there was apparently $34 million that went out to 17
States after that snowstorm. Maybe that was justified; I don't
know. If this is our policy, that we recompense communities for
their expenses, then that should be our policy, we know about it,
and appropriate funds for that purpose. If not, it seems to me that
FEMA has gotten off on a wrong track here as to defining what
emergencies are and what they are not.
You probably have a copy of this article. I gather you probably
have seen it. If not, we can surely give you a copy. Do you have
a copy of it?
Mr. WITT. I am not sure, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman GLENN. We will give you a copy to take with you. In
this, it talks about the Mayor-this is Steve Twomey's article out
of the April 26 Washington Post-and in that it talks about some
$34 million went out to 17 States after that late snowstorm and
used this as an example out here at Herndon. One of the council
members, Connie Hutchinson, said, "I felt it was a misappropriation of Federal funds." Mayor Thomas Rust and the three other
council members, however, voted to take the cash. Because Hemdon needed it? Absolutely not. "That is the irony of it," Rust says.
Later on, he is quoted also as saying-something which is called
the Mount Everest Theory-if it is there, we ought to do something
about it. "It would have been irresponsible for us not to have taken
it," Russ says, meaning voters would have looked askance at passing up painless revenue. Rust adds that if Herndon didn't get it,
another jurisdiction would.
Now if that is the attitude people have who are coming to you
and you are passing out many millions of dollars, $34 million in
this case, on that basis, and people will figure, well, we might as
well get it because somebody else is going to if we don't, then we
have to really look at your budgeting over there, very carefully.
I want to support you in your activities, as you know. You and
I met before and I am all for what you are doing and I am all for
the compassion that we all feel when there is a big disaster and
want to help out, and you are our front line in that area. But I also
think you may be being nickel-and-dimed to death on your budget
by some things like this that never should have happened.
So if you could give me a report back on where that whole $34
million went, if his figures are correct here, I would appreciate it

very much. Give us a rundown on it and what the justification for
that $34 million was. 1
Mr. WITT. We will be glad to.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you very much. We may have additional questions that we will send to you from other Members of
the Committee. We would appreciate your early response.
Mr. WiTT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you for being here.
Chairman GLENN. Our next panel consists of Dr. Robert Sheets,
Director of the National Hurricane Center, Robert Scott Fosler,
President, National Academy of Public Administration, usually
called NAPA, Dale Shipley, Deputy Director, State of Ohio Emergency Management Agency, who we have dealt with in the past a
number of times, an Dale is also Immediate Past President of the
National Emergency Management Association (NEMA), and Dr.
Richard T. Sylves-how do you pronounce it?
I
Mr. SYLvEs. Sylves.
Chairman GLENN. Sylves, all right, Dr. Richard Sylves, Professor
of Political Science, University of Delaware.
Dr. Sheets, if you would lead off for us, we would appreciate it.
TESTIMONY OF ROBERT C. SHEETS, PH.D.,2 DIRECTOR,
NATIONAL HURRICANE CENTER
Mr. SHEETS. Thank you for the opprtunity to be here. I guess
I am sort of unique among the people that are here, that indeed
I lived where Andrew struck. I have lived there for about 25 years
and have responsibilities for warning purposes.
Chairman GLENN. Where is your center, in Coral Gables?
Mr. SHEETS. Yes, it is.

Chairman GLENN. You caught the brunt of some of this right
there.
Mr. SHEETS. Well, my home and many of our families' homes
caught much more than our center did, but indeed we did suffer
considerable damage at our center. In fact, you have before you, a
little gray brochure, and in that brochure, is a satellite picture of
Andrew. Also in that folder is a radar picture of the eye wall of Andrew.
I sat here and listened with interest to some of the discussions
about what did and did not take place in Hurricane Andrew. That
is not part of my testimony that I am going to talk about later, but
I would like to address some problems that deal primarily with the
threat from the hurricane, the potential losses, the forecast warning and response issues, but not the recovery. That is not my area
of expertise.
First, I would like to have my total testimony included in the
record.
Chairman GLENN. It will be included in the record. All of your
statements, if you have longer statements, will be included in the
record as though delivered.
Mr. SHEETS. Now to date, during the past few major hurricanes,
Hugo, Bob, and Andrew, the response and protection of life was
'The information is contained in Mr. Witt's *questions and answers." See page 134, para. 3.
'The prepared statement of Mr. Sheets with attachments appears on page 93.
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very good. It went very well if we look at the numbers of lives that
were lost from these major disasters, and that did not happen as
a result of what happened on the day of the hurricane.
I heard a lot of FEMA bashing and Red Cross bashing and things
like that, and I can say that as a resident of South Florida as well
as the Director of the Hurricane Center, there are a lot of bad
knocks out there that are not deserved.
In terms of preparation for hurricanes, the reason we did not
have the large loss of life during Hugo, Bob, and Andrew is because
for 5 years or more before they occurred we had been planning for
that day. We had worked together with FEMA, we had worked together with the Army Corps of Engineers, we had worked together
with the local and State officials, that is the emergency management officials, and we worked together with the media. It takes
that team to be able to respond to a hurricane, and we have been
quite successful in that response.
Today we know how long it takes to respond to a hurricane of
any particular size to any particular community. Now that is a
frightening thing, because people think Andrew was the big one.
By far, it was not the big one, but it came within a gnat's eyelash
of being our nightmare and the big one. I will describe that in some
documents that you have here in that gray folder.
The evacuation times for respond to hurricanes are large. For instance, New Orleans, it is 60 to 8a hours. The Florida Keys, it is
more than 30 hours. If you look at the Southwest Florida area, or
the Tampa Bay area, it is in the 30-hour range. Similar times are
required around the coast. That is the situation we have today.
We don't have the skills meteorologically speaking to provide a
sufficient warning for those long lead times. There is no way I am
going to have 70 hours of lead time for New Orleans to respond to
a hurricane.
And yet to date, there is no last resort refuge plan in place in
New Orleans. What I mean by that is if a major hurricane were
to strike New Orleans as Andrew came so close to doing, the city
of New Orleans would have gone under 18 to 20 feet of water.
There is no plan there to tell those people what to do. The plan is,
everybody is going to be out and gone. We know that didn't happen
during Andrew and we know that there are going to be times when
that does not happen in the future.
We know the same situation exists in Port Aransas, Texas and
on North Padre Island. We know that situation exists in many
other areas. The only place to date that has taken this problem serious and addressed it has been the Florida Keys. They exercised
that plan during Hurricane Andrew.
The reason we are in this situation is it seems to be human nature to always wait until after the disaster to try to correct the
problems.
It was indicated earlier that we have been able to reduce loss of
life from earthquakes here in the United States relative to the rest
of the world. The same thing is true in hurricanes. We don't lose
a half-a-million people like they do in Bangladesh, but we did lose
6,000 people in Galveston in 1900 when people were trapped on the
barrier islands. That is ten times more than the great San Fran-

cisco earthquake of 1906, and most people don't even know about
the Galveston hurricane experience.
In the 1970s and 1980s, we had increases in damage from hurricanes. Look at attachment A in this document.1 Shown there is a
graph of deaths and damage by decade. You find at the turn of the
century we lost over 8,000 people as a result of hurricanes, and
then the loss has gone down. Through the decade of the 1980s, it
was 125. And so far in the decade of the 1990s, it is 41.
Now on the other side of that page is damage. What you see is
the loss going up almost exponentially through the decade of the
1960s. Then in the decade of the 1970s and 1980s, it essentially
leveled off. Those numbers are all adjusted for inflation. Notice for
the decade of the 1990s it is already above $27 billion and we are
only 3 years into the 1990s. Is that going to go off scale? I don't
know, it probably will. We have already adjusted the scale on the
basis of what happened here with Andrew.
But what happened in the 1970s and the 1980s? Well, look back
to the next two or three figures. You will see the tracks of major
hurricanes. The first one is the decade of the 1940s. These are Category Three or stronger hurricanes. You will see that they essentially struck anywhere. There were eight major hurricanes. It
didn't matter if it was the Texas Coast, the Gulf Coast, or the East
Coast.
What you see is that there were ten major hurricanes and a good
portion of those were over Florida, some on the East Coast, and
two or three in the Gulf of Mexico. That is a lot of hurricane activity. The population in Florida in the 1940s was quite small. The
property at risk was quite small. The next figure is for the decade of the 1950s. Those major hurricanes primarily struck the East Coast. You may remember the Hazels, the Connies, the Carols, the Donnas, the Ednas, the Tones,
and so on. There were eight major hurricanes in this decade.
As a result of the numerous hurricane strikes of the 1940s and
1950s, in the mid-1950s in particular, there were special hurricane
research programs that were started. Those have all been going
downhill for the last 20 years. We are doing less today than we did
in the mid-1960s for hurricane research. That is in our own meteorological field, for instance. In my opinion, that situation has resulted primarily as a result of reduced major hurricane strikes on
the U.S. mainland from the 1960s through the mid-1980s.
If you look at the 1960s here, you see that there were no major
hurricanes over Florida or the East Coast except with Hurricane
Betsy that came through the upper part of the Florida Keys.
And then if you look at the 1970s, you will see that the number
of major hurricanes was four, not ten, only four, and none over
Florida and the East Coast.
And now the final figure in that series is the decade of the 1980s.
Starting in the mid-1980s, there was Hurricane Gloria in 1985, and
then Hugo in 1989 and now Bob, in 1991, and now Andrew in
1992. It seems we are heading back into a more active period of
hurricane activity. What that means is that for two decades it was
out of sight and out of mind in terms of the hurricane problem.
IThe document referred to appears on page 154.

If you look at the next series, there is some scientific reasoning,
primarily by Professor Bill Gray at Colorado State University, that
indicates that perhaps some of these cycles of hurricane activity
are related to rainfall patterns over Africa. There is a drought and
a wet phase there, on roughly a 20-year cycle. In the left upper diagram, there are three major storms that occurred during the "dry"
phase, and on the right, with essentially the same size of sample,
you see much more activity when the rainfall was above normal.
In the lower right, you will see that the Gulf and Atlantic coastal
county population has been rising markedly from ten million starting in 1900, and now is more than 44 million in permanent population in 1990, in these areas vulnerable to hurricanes. A graph of
damage is next to the population chart and you see that the damage was rising in tandem with the population until the 1970s and
1980s when it leveled off due to reduced hurricane strikes on the
U.S. coasts. Now the 1990s look like the damage rise is going to
catch up with the population.
I indicated earlier that Andrew was not the big one, but Andrew
came-within what I call meteorological gnat's eyelash of being that.
If you look on the upper -left in the next figure, shown is the track
that Andrew took as it crossed South Florida and into Louisiana.
Over in the upper right is the nightmare storm! That is the big
one! That is Andrew at the strength it was, moving across downtown Miami rather than South Dade County, then not over the Everglades on the West Coast of Florida, but across the Fort MyersNaples area, and then makes a direct hit on New Orleans.
The meteorological conditions that would create the difference
betwr.en those two tracks, is not detectable by the present observing system.
What difference would this hypothetical track make in South
Florida? There was an article by Steve Doig, a Miami Herald
science writer assessing this possibility. The estimated damage in
Hurricane Andrew in South Dade at the time was $20 billion. I
find it somewhat amazing that now when we talk about hurricanes
the uncertainty in damage is the order of $5 billion rather than
$200 or $300 million, but in the case of Andrew, that was the uncertainty, because it is now $25 billion, not $20 billion.
At the time this study was done, it was $20 billion. This core region, the radar picture that I showed you there with the doughnut
shape of the eye wall, that 20-mile wide sector is described by this
yellow zone there. Shown are the property values at risk in the 20mile wide sector that was impacted by that core region of the hurricane where most of the $25 billion in damaged occurred.
If you move that hurricane track 20 miles farther north, you increase the damage by a factor of three in South Florida alone. That
is, it is a direct hit on Miami Beach, Fort Lauderdale, Hallandale,
Hollywood, and Miami International Airport looks like Homestead
Air Force Base. We are going to show you a couple pictures later
of the Burger King World Headquarters. That is what Miami downtown would look like.
The end result is that had Andrew, at the strength it was, with
the same ratio of damage occurred 20 miles farther north, the
losses would have been of the order of $70 billion on the East Coast
of Florida alone.

In terms of people, in the right, the yellow zone is where the

storm struck, 350,000 people. Twenty miles farther north, 1.6 ml-

lion people.
Now the real frightening case is continuing this track into New
Orleans. That is in the next picture. In the lower part of the next
frame you see a satellite picture of Andrew as it was south of New
Orleans. That exact same strength of storm, displaced again to the
north on the track illustrated, is the one that makes a direct hit
on New Orleans. Now we have used what is called the Slosh model
to try to define the risk areas and worked with FEMA to do that,
so we know the problems in New Orleans.
This hurricane displaced on the same west-northwest track
shown moving inland just to the south of New Orleans will drive
the water up into Lake Borgne and Lake Pontchartrain and empty
that water into the city of New Orleans! The city will be under 20
feet of water and there is no plan for the people who may be in
their cars on the streets in that situation. The plan is that they
have all gotten out! We know that not all will be out of the city.
We are not going to provide enough lead time for that.
What I wanted to try to do was put Andrew into perspective relative to what could just as easily have happened. As I said, Andrew
was up close and personal for my family, our staff at the National
Hurricane Center and many of our friends that live there.
First of all, Andrew was unprecedented. I have looked in the
wake of every hurricane from 1965 to the present in my position
in research as well as my position with the National Hurricane
Center, and when I first observed what had occurred in Andrew,
it was totally unparalleled. Nothing, even Camille did not compare
to what we saw there because of the widespread nature of the damage.
We have researched and looked at why so much damage occurred
with Hurricane Andrew. We have found that Andrew actually
strengthened as it moved ashore. It was stronger than we first
thought when we actually warned. At the time, we were warning
for 140-mile-per-hour winds with gusts to 175. The after-the-fact
analysis indicates that the sustained winds were 140 to 150, with
gusts to 170 to 180, and some tornado experts have said that there
were isolated streaks of damage where winds probably exceeded
200 miles per hour! I will show you some of that damage in a moment.
So it is unprecedented. In fact, you look at the $25 billion figure
and the top 20 hurricanes in terms of dollar damage adjusted to
1990 dollars. You can take the three previous worst hurricanes and
add them up and they won't reach the losses from Andrew. Or you
can take the two worst hurricanes and the Loma Prieta earthquake
and add them up and the total will not reach that of Andrew. Andrew was the third strongest hurricane of this century to strike the
continental United States.
Now the next series of pictures I wanted to show you deal with
the causes of the large losses I have heard some discussion here
and up and down the coast which indicate a false sense of why the
damage occurred. Last night I was in Massachusetts, yesterday I
was in New Jersey, and I have seen quotes from officials in South
Carolina, from Florida, other locations outside of that area, who

have stated that the reason for the damage in South Florida was
due to "shoddy construction." The highest number I have heard
from anyone for damage due to shoddy construction, even those
who advocate that factor for insurance purposes or whatever, is of
the order of 15 or 20 percent was due to shoddy construction. The
true number is probably considerably less.
Had Andrew struck any community except South Florida, the
damage per building would have been far worse than it was in
South Florida, because of the building codes and building practices
there. Yes, there was some shoddy construction, particularly in
some newer developments. The problem was more design then any
thing else.
In this next series of pictures, there on the upper left, is the area
that got all of the attention right after the hurricane. I think that
was because one of the media people lived there and sometimes
that is how attention gets placed. It was the Country Walk area.
It was a beautiful development with lots of green areas. There are
lawsuits over this that are taking place today over "shoddy construction." These were primarily wood frame structures.
In the upper right you see in the background, the Dadeland Mobile Home Park. There were 425 mobile homes in that area. I am
told that there were over 9,000 mobile homes prior to Andrew in
South Dade, and after Andrew only nine were occupiable. Residents of these mobile homes were evacuated. There was only one
person who lost their life in a mobile home park.
In the lower part of that same picture, you see what we have as
standard construction in South Florida. You see, all the attention
was placed on the kind of home that was in Country Walk, the
wood frame structures. Those were a minority of structures. The
majority of the structures in South Florida were what we call concrete block, steel-reinforced poured concrete tie beams and stucco,
far stronger than houses are in Massachusetts, where I was at last
night, far stronger than they are in New Jersey, far stronger than
they are on the West Coast of Florida or Texas or wherever else
you want to name.
You see that the roofs and the walls are still there but windows
and doors failed and you had tremendous internal damage. And in
fact, in the lower right in that picture you will see a whole community of CBS homes which all stood. These were in the core areas
of the hurricane.
There were areas of concrete buildings that did, indeed, have
failures, and in the next series of pictures you see what we call the
steel-reinforced tie beam with tie straps that hold the roof on. You
didn't see roofs taking off like you saw in "Eye Witness Video" in
Iniki. If you looked at the videos that were done there, you saw the
entire roofs taking off. That basically didn't happen in South Florida because the roofs are much better attached in South Florida
using these straps shown. Those connections are four to five times
stronger than what is used in Texas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, and almost anywhere else outside of Southeast Florida.
We saw streaks of damage. People thought they were tornadoes.
You see it on the upper right picture over here. What is happening
is wind is flowing up and over the top of the building andwith a

design shown here of the mansard roof it lifts that roof up. In that
building shown, one person died.
In the next series of pictures, there is a streak of damage across
what is called Naraja Lakes. A 67-year-old widow was in the
home that is in the upper right. She stayed there because she had
five cats. No place to go. She died; she was pierced by a two-byfour.
In the lower left, you see that around the top of the wall there
was a solid concrete tie beam. Strong construction, but they did not
tie it down to the footing. There needs to be a tie column that connects the tie beam to the footing.
There are structures, that stood up very well. Engineered buildings, and individual homes can do very well if they are constructed
properly.
In the next series of pictures, we see the message relative to mobile homes. In the foreground you see the community center that
was concrete, steel reinforced, etc. that is there. Seventeen people
were in this building during the hurricane. No one was in the mobile homes. In the background you see a government subsidized
senior citizen development. It suffered damage, but if it had good
covers on the windows it probably would not have. That was a key
element in reducing damage that occurred in South Florida. There
are other things I don't have time to go over but they are written
underneath the pictures.
The next series shows types of construction in South Florida
today. First, over on the left side, you see a building with a concrete first floor and a wood frame second floor that is destroyed. My
daughter's home was right next to this house. On the right side,
you see concrete all the way through the second floor and it is intact. What is the difference in cost between the two? It is minimal,
and yet you saw that mixture of construction all over South Florida
in newer developments. The person who built like that on the
right, has the walls and roofs still there. The person who built like
that on the left, the same developer in this case, had severe damage.
Just below the picture on the left is a rebuild by that same developer in another community. Notice that they have added the concrete on the second floor rather than the original wood.
Now I said earlier that the construction in South Florida is far
better than it is anywhere else in the continental United States.
On the right side is a picture that I took in Myrtle Beach, South
Carolina-Garden City, to be precise-about a month ago. These
are the type of structures that are going up all along our coasts
today. The connections there are about one-fourth the strength of
those that were used in South Florida. The walls there are about
one-fourth the strength of those that were in South Florida.
I was certainly pleased by Mr. Witt's comments about mitigation.
I think that is an area we have got to move more aggressively into.
We are going to be forced to do that because we cannot get insurance today.
The next series is a lesson about condominiums and engineered
buildings. In the upper left is the Burger King World Headquarters. It is just south of my home in South Dade County. In the
upper left, you will see on the top floor, there is an opening. These

windows were designed to withstand 150-mile-per-hour winds. This
building faced Biscayne Bay. The windows failed. In the upper left,
you see a little bit of a hole, like a little patio area that is outside.
In the lower right is the CEO's desk looking over what is inside
of that building. The other three pictures here are showing what
the inside of the Burger King building looked like after Andrew.
The lesson to be learned here is that high-rise condominiums
that we have along our coasts, at Hollywood, Fort Lauderdale, and
Miami Beach, would look like the inside of the Burger King building if Andrew had struck there. The frightening thing is that 30
percent of the people in those areas of Miami Beach, Hallandale,
and Hollywood did not evacuate. They were in engineered buildings
like this and they think they are safe. This perception of safety in
these types of buildings is true all along our coast today!
We need to get on with an educational program to try to resolve
some of those problems. The failure of external and internal walls
in engineered buildings occurred throughout the high wind area. I
am showing you two or three other buildings in the next series of
slides, that had similar problems.
This next picture illustrates the power of this storm. In the left
side is the most unusual picture I have ever seen in a hurricane.
It is a two-car garage. There are only two cars in there. That is
not the unusual part, but the fact that they are parked in there
upside down is unusual. They were parked outside of the garage
before the hurricane. The garage door failed and the roof came off.
These automobiles were flipped end over end, and were driven by
the wind upside down right into the garage. Next, you see the plywood through the palm tree, and the beams across the cars.
Now the message there is that the hurricane was strong and also
you don't want people caught on the highways when the storm arrives. The numbers of people who say today that they are going to
evacuate South Florida if another hurricane strikes is so great that
we know we are going to have them caught on the highways. We
know there is going to be a gridlock situation where people are not
going to get out of Miami Beach. They are not going to get out of
the Florida Keys. The result will be large loss of life in such a situation in addition to the large loss of property that we experienced
in Andrew.
So we need to move on with actions to try to prevent such losses.
One is obviously mitigation. I want to touch on about three issues
listed in my prepared statement.
One is we need to reduce required evacuation times. To do that
we must provide safe in-place sheltering. We need to move people
two to 10 miles not 200 miles. As we have seen, there are engineered buildings that can be used as in-place shelters or refuges.
There is no way that the roadway system can handle the population that is in Southeast or Southwest Florida and get them to
Orlando, for instance. Also, we know there are not enough shelters
there for the possible evacuees. We need FEMA working with the
rest of the community to try to develop better evacuation methods
and better in-place sheltering.
The next area we need to work on is to provide last resort refuges where people can be trapped by rising waters. I won't mention
the specific city, but in Texas there is a city with 10,000 residents

on a barrier island and there are only two ways out of that city.
One is by ferry and the other is by a causeway that goes underwater in a high tide, and moderate winds. The plan is that they
will get off that barrier island.
And I asked the official in charge, what if a Juan develops in the
area? Now Juan was a hurricane that developed on an old frontal
zone, and so the winds were already there before the storm developed. That is, escape routes would be cut off before any evacuations
might occur. What if a Juan develops? What plan do you have for
your 10,000 residents? The answer was I don t know. I don't have
a plan. And that is the situation we have almost everywhere along
our barrier islands and in New Orleans. People would simply be on
their own in that situation.
So I strongly urge that we get a last resort refuge plan in place
around our coastal areas. FEA could help in doing that. The Florida Keys are the only place that has done that and they used that
plan during Andrew. This year was the first time that it has ever
been done. Everyone is afraid of the liability issues, and there are
severe liability issues.
But I don't think it is reasonable for government officials to simply say to the 5,000 or 10,000 people that may be trapped on the
outer banks of North Carolina or wherever else you want to talk
about and simply throw their hands up in the air and say, sorry
folks, our plan was you were going to get out. You didn't get out
and now you are on your own. We need to plan for those kind of
contingencies.
The next recommended action I listed was to improve the forecast accuracies. We know that the present computer models we
have today in our scientific field are far better than the data we
are putting into them. The data-gathering systems throughout the
Caribbean, throughout the tropical world have deteriorated from
what we had in the 1960s and 1970s. We have satellite data which
is much better than we had back then, but it is not of the accuracy
and the quantitative nature required for the numerical models.
We have tested and demonstrated that we can improve the forecast by the order of 20 percent with just having reasonable data
around the hurricane throughout the troposphere. We don't have a
means of getting that data today. But we know how to do that.
The budgetary situation was such last year that we quit sending
up upper-air soundings in the Caribbean half the time.We reduced
them by 50 percent. Even with those soundings, we have about
four million square miles where we have only one sounding, at Bermuda, between the United States and Africa. Because of budgetary
reasons, we only had one per day. Over the continental United
States, we have one for every 40,000 square miles twice per day.
Down through the Caribbean, where all these storms come from,
we didn't have that data.
The National Weather Service scrounged up some money some
way and reinstated portions of those soundings during the hurricane season, and we believe those funds are available to us during
this season to be able to get some of those basic soundings. But
even with those soundings we don't have the data that we need to
take advantage of the technology and the science to improve the
forecast.

A 20-percent improvement in the forecast means much less
overwarning. Whether a hurricane ever strikes or not, the average
warning costs something in the order of $50 million to prepare the
coastline. That is what it costs for the individuals to board up, close
down businesses-we are not talking about the loss of business but
the cost of preparation for an average 300-mile section of the coast.
If we have to warn 30 hours in advance, the overwarning can be
large. For example, for Hurricane Andrew on the West Coast of
Florida we would include the greater Tampa Bay area. In fact, the
uncertainty in our forecast was such that we had to include that
area in a watch.
Now we waited a little bit longer to put up our warning, for the
West Coast, and we were able to move the warning area south of
the Tampa Bay area, from Venice area southward on the Southwest Coast of Florida. That alone probably saved on the order of
$30 million just in preparation costs for the community that did
not have to respond.
With better forecast accuracy that we have available to us in
terms of the technology, then we would have more confidence in
our forecast and we would do less overwarning.
On the East Coast as Andrew approached, we had to put Cape
Kennedy in the watch area. We didn't put them in the warning
area, but the shuttle was on the launch pad and three other rockets were out there that we were dealing with. So it was a very iffy
situation because they have to take actions 48 hours. in advance of
a hit. We don't have the skills to refine the watch and warning
down to be very precise 48 hours into the future.
The final thing that I have listed is protection of property. The
recommendations are to restrict development and redevelopment in
high-risk areas, with some of the mitigation programs that have
been mentioned here.
Establish and enforce hurricane resistant building codes. What I
find is that there seems to be a pride in each individual community's particular building code. Al so, there are all of these home
rule situations where you don't tell me what to do from another
level. If a hurricane strikes my area, we decide we are going to invent a new code.
We have the technology today to have a good uniform code. Let
us use the power, the carrot-and-stick approach, that may be there
through FEMA or whatever Federal funding that may be there, to
enforce a good hurricane resistant code in our coastlines.
You see, some of the things that we do in the Federal Government are counterproductive to this whole problem. We will go in
and put Federal funds into Gulf Shores, Alabama, after Hurricane
Frederick to put in a new sewage system and a new water system
and a new four-lane road so that where we had 100 families, now
we have 1,000 af, a result of that development, and we still only
have one road out over the causeway. So where there was one condominium in Gulf Shores, Alabama, in 1979 prior to Frederick, I
have counted over 104 condominium groups there today. That is all
since 1979.
That would not have been possible-in fact, I have had some of
the developers tell me that they planned to do this development
over a period of 15 to 20 years, and they were able to do it in 5

to 10 years because the infrastructure was put in through Federal
funding. So let us tie these things together in firms of where and
how we build.
Those are the primary areas that I had to present. Thank you.
Chairman GLENN. Very good and very interesting. Let me ask a
couple questions before we go on to the other statements here.
You said that Andrew actually strengthened after it came ashore.
Was the land warmer, or what happened?
Mr. SHEETS. No, what happens is the mechanism-in fact, the
pressure was lower on the coast and slightly inland than it was off
the coast. What happens-and our numerical models have shown
this for years and something similar happened in Hugo over the
Francis Marion National Forest-is that the eye wall, that doughnut that you see in that radar picture, the eye wall became more
vigorous as the hurricane moved ashore. The source of energy is
still the ocean, still the warm waters, but because there is friction
over land, you have an inflow angle over water that is less than
that over land and so there is a convergence in the boundary layer,
in the surface layer in that eye wall region and that is the fuel that
drives that mechanism.
So it strengthened for the next 30 to 40 minutes as the center
of the storm came ashore. The picture that I showed where the
lady died with the five cats, there were three people who died, in
that development. By the way, there were 1,500 units there that
are totally being leveled. Gone, 5,000 people, no home. It is a permanent situation, leveled, gone, and the thing that was missing
there was the tie column.
So when it came ashore, that damage occurred in that community on the back side of the hurricane because of the strengthening
that wrapped around the eye wall. We lost our radar at the National Hurricane Center as the storm came ashore. We were outside of the eye wall. But we had the Tampa radar and the new
modernized National Weather Service radar so we were able to
track the storm very well. By the way, that new radar is a fantastic system, so we are anxious to see it going in across the country.
We were able to track it, but we saw this strengthening taking
place. There were all the arguments from wind engineers over how
they failed to look at the observations.
1ere-W1,
strong the winds w
They went out on a limb very quick and said the winds were thus
and thus and they were wrong, absolutely wrong.
Chairman GLENN. Let me ask just one other question, and this
gets into the direct relation to FEMA and FEMA planning. In the
weather cycles that we have gone through, this 11-year cycle or 22year cycle that appears to occur in the weather, if you can use that
kind of a projection, does that indicate more hurricanes then? What
part of that cycle are we in-now?
First, is it a valid cycle? No. 2, what part of that cycle are we
in and can we expect-more hurricanes or less over, say, the next
10 or 11 years?
Mr. SHEETS. No one can tell you with scientific confidence that
we are coming into the strong cycle or in a weak cycle. All we can
do is look at the cycles themselves. We do have that relationship,
the rainfall over Africa, and no drought has lasted more than 24

years. We are coming up near the end of that 24-year period and
we see the rainfall coming up to near normal over there.
Whether it is going to be this year or not, I don't know. If you
are asking my analysis of what is taking place, I think that if we
look back 10 years from now we will indeed see that we were coming into a more active period, of strong hurricanes. That is really
not a difficult statement because, after all, the last two decades
were an inactive period which was abnormal if you look at 100
years of records, and nature really hasn't changed. What has
changed is where we have built and how we have built. Nature
hasn t changed.
Chairman GLENN. Well, we could talk about this all afternoon.
This is intensely interesting, but we do have to get on to our other
testimony here.
Mr. Scott Fosler, President, National Academy of Public Administration, NAPA. Mr. Foster.
TESTIMONY OF IL SCOTT FOSLER,I PRESIDENT, NATIONAL
ACADEMY OF PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION, ACCOMPANIED BY
GARY WAMSLEY
Mr. FOSLER. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
As you know, the National Academy of Public Administration is
chartered by Congress to improve the effectiveness of government
at all levels, Federal, State, and local. The Academy, pursuant to
a Congressional mandate, recently completed a major study of Federal, State, and local governments' capacities to respond promptly
and effectively to major natural disasters.
I am accompanied today by Gary Wamsley, who is the project director for our FEMA study, and I respectfully request that the executive summary and list of panel recommendations from the Academy's report,
"Coping with Catastrophe," be inserted in the hearing
record. 2
Chairman GLENN. It will be included in the record.

Mr. FOSLER. Given several current efforts to examine the government's performance in recent major natural disasters, the Academy
concluded that it could make a unique contribution by reviewing
and analyzing the whole system of governmental organizations, private, and non-profit organizations and individuals involved in responding to major disasters. Moreover, it concluded that it could
not examine the response to natural disasters in isolation from all
emergency management functions-mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery.
In addition, the Academy believed that an analysis of FEMA's
roles and mission required an understanding of both the agency's
major functions and how these functions related to the programs
and functions of other related government agencies.
Simply put, we found that FEMA was like a patient in triage.
The President and Congress must decide whether to treat it or let
it die.
The present time and circumstances provide a unique opportunity for change. A small independent agency could coordinate the
'The prepared statement of Mr. Fowler appears on page 99.
2The Academy's report, "Coping With Catastrophe, appears on page 178.

Federal response to major natural disasters, but only under certain
conditions, and absent these conditions, the President and Congress should consider dismantling FEMA and assigning its various
functions either separately to other agencies or all together to a
cabinet department or major agency. Otherwise, America's frustration with the timeliness and quality of the Federal response to
major natural disasters very likely will continue.
The 1978 reorganization plan that created FEMA was adopted
with several goals in mind. One goal was to make a single agency
and a single official accountable for all Federal emergency preparedness, mitigation, response, and recovery activities, and to create a single point of contact for State and local governments.
The second goal was to enhance the dual use of emergency preparedness and response resources at all levels of government.
The third was to integrate the functions of emergency management-mitigation, preparation, response, and recovery.
And a fourth was to achieve significant economies through combining duplicate regional structures and redundant data processing
and policy analysis systems.
But to date, each goal has been only partially iet, if at all. In
essence, the institution envisioned by the 1978 plan has not yet
been built.
Concerns about FEMA's record have prompted numerous calls to
let the military do it or to place FEMA in the Department of Defense, and such calls are certainly understandable in light of the
military's laudable performance after Andrew. But close examination reveals that such an approach would be simplistic.
First, emergency management/disaster response must necessarily remain a secondary mission for the military, whose primary commitment must be a war-fighting capability.
Second, there are problems stemming from the posse comitatus
law in using the Armed Forces to maintain law and order unless
the President or a governor are willing to declare an insurrection.
And third, given its commitments to prepare for war and other
international crises, the military should be rapidly called upon only
when the civilian arms of government and private relief agencies
are overwhelmed.
Unless the Nation is prepared to abandon more than two centuries of federalism, it cannot make the Federal Government the
911 first responder. Our constitutional structure is fundamentally
bottom-heavy. Most emergencies and even most incidents we call
disasters are met by private voluntary groups and by local and
State units of government. Even in catastrophic situations, there
are ways to improve the Federal disaster response without altering
the traditions of federalism.
Federal-State-local relations are complex and often highly conflicted regarding emergency preparedness, response, and recovery.
We believe that Congress needs to clarify Federal, State, and local
emergency management responsibilities by shifting the emphasis
from nuclear attack preparedness to domestic emergencies and natural disasters. Even if the Federal Government strengthens its own
response role in catastrophic disasters, it still must help increase
the capacity of State and local governments.

That effort, however, should involve building capacity rather
than increasing controls. Means of doing so include setting performance standards, monitoring State emergency management
plans, evaluating State plans and States' efforts to help local governments create their own compatible plans and capabilities, and
making grants conditional on effective State performance. In addition, FEMA should encourage regional planning and preparedness
efforts, such as those for interstate earthquake or hurricane planning.
As for FEMA itself, we made numerous recommendations designed to create a high-performance, high-reliability agency, which
boil down to several conditions which we have listed in the report
and in our executive summary. If, after a reasonable period, most
of those conditions are not met, the President and Congress should
consider and take action on a more drastic scale of the kind that
I mentioned above.
Many of FEMA's problems with disaster response are traceable
to a preoccupation with national security emergency preparedness.
We have recommended that the responsibility for the major national security functions be transferred to the Department of Defense and that FEMA's operations be declassified.
Congress plays a leading role in developing emergency management policy and the Federal response to natural disasters. Its jurisdiction over these functions in FEMA is so splintered, however,
that no single authorizing committee has the ability or intereAt to
examine either one in its totality. This splintered jurisdiction also
reinforces fragmentation within the agency and authorizations tied
to specific kinds of disasters, such as earthquakes or radiological
hazards. In addition, FEMA's relations with Congress are needlessly time-consuming, complex, and often contentious.
We believe that Congress should enact a comprehensive emergency management charter by revising the Stafford Act to encompass emergencies and disasters of all types. Congress also should
designate a single committee in each chamber of Congress with jurisdiction over emergency management and the laws applying to
FEMA. We have urged the Joint Committee on the Organization of
Congress to give this matter priority attention.
We are encouraged by some actions that the new administration
and FEMA have already taken to respond to our recommendations.
James Lee Witt, the new FEMA Director, is the first person to
head the agency with a background and practical experience in
emergency management. He also has ties to the President that
should facilitate the Federal response to future disasters and provide the necessary support for building a high-performance, highreliability institution. We are pleased that he has begun a strategic
goal-setting process involving FEMA managers and rank-and-file
employees, and we are encouraged to hear his testimony before the
Committee this morning.
In addition, FEMA has established a task force with other Federal agencies to act on the lessons learned from last year's catastrophic storms. Hurricanes Andrew and Iniki provided the first
real test of the Federal Response Plan. Comments we heard from
persons at all levels of government were positive toward the FRP
as an important beginning. However, these individuals were un-

clear about when or under what circumstances the FRP will be invoked. This creates confusion among participating agencies, leading
to crucial delays. Revision of the FRP should establish clear guidance as to when and how it goes into effect.
As to the task of reinventing FEMA, we strongly believe that this
agency or any successor should become a professional, depoliticized
organization capable of coordinating Federal, State, and local responses to disasters and meeting the needs of disaster victims.
There is no Republican or Democratic way to perform emergency
management. In "Coping with Catastrophe", we made several recommendations designed to create a high-performance, high-reliability agency, thereby strengthening the Federal emergency management function. Some of these recommendations are summarized in
the seven essential conditions outlined in our report and executive
summary.
The task of strengthening the Nation's emergency management
system has begun, and we are hopeful that governments at all levels will be better prepared for the next hurricane season. However,
the Nation's leaders must make a sustained effort over several
years to address all of the problems outlined in our report and
those of other organizations, such as the General Accounting Office.
Difficult challenges still lie ahead, such as reducing the number
of political appointees, developing a common vision, mission, and
values, and enacting a statutory charter. We will be working with
FEMA over the next several months on implementing our recommendations.
This concludes my prepared statement, Mr. Chairman. I would
be happy to answer any questions.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you, Mr. Fosler.
Our next witness is Dale Shipley, Deputy Director, State of Ohio
Emergency Management Agency and Immediate Past President of
NEMA,the National Emergency Management Association.
Dale, welcome to our hearing. I look forward to your statement.
TESTIMONY OF DALE W. S1IPLEY,1 DEPUTY DIRECTOR, STATE
OF OHIO EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY AND IMMEDIATE PAST PRESIDENT OF THE NATIONAL EMERGENCY
MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATION
Mr. SHIPLEY. Thank you, sir. It is a pleasure for me personally

to be here again and to represent the National Emergency Management Association, an association of State directors appointed by
their governors to deal with emergency management in their
States.

I would like to summarize a few points out of my prepared testi-

mony. First, I would like to recognize the timely nomination by the
President of James Lee Witt to be the Director of FEMA, and
equally important, the timely confirmation of his appointment.
I think in listening to his testimony, after 6 weeks in his position, it is obvious the knowledge and background that he is bringing to this organization and the forward thinking and vision that
he has for it, and some of the many meetings and activities that
he testified to here today.
IThe prepared statement

of Mr. Shipley appears on page 102.
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As Senator Akaka has elo uently said, I think the planets are
aligned and we are going to do great things with emergency management in this country.
I will spend no time, critiquing FEMA's performance as a result
of Andrew other than to point out that it was one of 35 declarations
last year, and although certain things obviously need to be done to
prepare and to respond to such a catastrophic disaster, as has been
mentioned already here today by a Member of the Committee,
FEMA is routinely praised for responses to the other 35 and the
dedication that they put in to assisting us in responding to disasters across the country.
The fact is, the response after Andrew, was too little and too late,
and it was well publicized. But I would commit, sir, that some of
the fault is shared by State and local governments in their preparedness and their activities following that disaster.
Emergency management must be a partnership. We have to be
a team-local, State, and Federal. And as you said, sir, in your
statement, we routinely have disasters that local officials respond
to every day and every night. The bigger they are, the more help
they may need from me at the State level. And if I don't have the
wherewithal and the resources to effectively deal with whatever it
is, then I need help from the Federal Government, and James Lee
is behind us to provide that support as we need it.
But we need to build that team and we need to train that team
and we need to practice as a team. As any athletic team or any soldier knows, you need to train the way you are going to fight, and
we need to train this organization to respond to the big as well as
the small.
I commend both the GAO and the NAPA reports to your serious
consideration and action. They have both been well done. We at
NEMA have been particularly impressed with the NAPA report
and would like to specifically support their conclusion -that no other
department provides an ideal home any better than FEMA does for
emergency management in the country.
We support their finding that the military has a very definite
support role, and I think both words are important, they have a
very definite role and it should be a support role to civilian government.
We believe, as they do, that the Federal Government needs to
help build the capacity and the consistency of emergency management efforts at the State and local level. We do need to be consistent. We do need to be able to interface. We need to be compatible.
We believe Congressional oversight is a heck of a challenge, and
agree that a more coherent legislative charter, greater funding
flexibility and sustained support from maybe a single committee or
a reorganization of the Committee oversight would be appropriate.
The Federal ResponDe Plan is an excellent beginning. It is recognized as that. It was still being printed, I think, when they were
trying to respond to Andrew. They recommend that we set in motion a review of that plan and particularly by DOD of the role of
the National Guard, in both the total force structure, which the
military obviously understands, but also the structure of the National Guard in emergency management and disaster response and
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the needs of every governor to have at his disposal some minimum
capability within his own State to respond.
Funding-the NAPA report calls for additional funding in the
near term and believes that it is required. The result will be improved efficiency and program effectiveness that in the long run
would reduce costs, and I hope both of those assumptions to be correct.
Legislation is recommended to develop a comprehensive emergency management charter, and as you indicated, that may be
forthcoming in the very near term.
We do not agree with one recommendation out of the NAPA report and feel obligated to comment on that, and that is the comment of depolitization, if that is the correct word. We believe that
James Lee should have a group of subordinates directly responsive
to him and to the President of the United States, and that an
ensconced bureaucracy might not be the most responsive, the most
effective.
Professionals are there, and several of them are sitting behind
me and I would recognize them by name. They are excellent in
their job, but I think at the regional level there is something to be
said for an administration establishing a team directly responsive
to that team as opposed to long-term bureaucrats in those positions. That is a minor difference in their total report.
You asked me specifically, sir, to talk about performance and accountability and budget, particularly as it impacts training and response at State and local level. Our priorities, and I think they are
defendable priorities, are to: (1) establish a staff, necessary critical
staff; (2) train them, both State and local level I am referring to;
(3) develop the planning to deal with those risks that we can assume in our jurisdictions; (4) to exercise those plans to ensure that
they are effective and they will work and that everybody understandb what their responsibilities are; and (5) finally we deal with
mitigation, and mitigation is our last priority.
I do not have a member of my staff right now designated as a
mitigation officer, one that I would like very much to have. We define mitigation as the opportunity to eliminate or reduce, at least,
the impact of a disaster. It is important work, and Dr. Sheets has
recognized it. Other testimonies here today have talked about the
value of mitigation efforts, whether it is shelters or building codes
or zoning to keep people from building in flood plains.
But the fact is, I think I can defend the other four as higher priority. I have got to have people, I have got to train those people
in the very basics of developing plans. Those plans that we can develop have to show that they will work.
In the budget cuts that we experienced last year in Ohio, and
they were not uncommon across many States in the last couple
years, I have had to give up rain gauge monitoring systems, or at
least pause in the development of that, an initiative generated by
Shadyside flash flooding, obviously needed, obviously supported by
the general assembly, and I had to pause because I just had to give
up money somewhere.
I have yet to develop a geographic information system. That, I
have faith; will be back in our biennial budget beginning in July,
but I could not begin the development last year.

Communications, I have backup radio communications now to 32
counties out of 88. I believe that telephone systems are vulnerable
and I would like to have that backup communication. It would help
in our response. It would have helped, I think, in Dade County,
had those communications survived.
But the budget won't support all that we want to do. Even
FEMA's hazard mitigation program, a 50/50 grant program to help
us develop some of these mitigation projects kicks in only after the
disaster and is predicated on a function of the amount of public assistance that is given in the disaster. It would not be possible, for
instance, to address Dr. Sheets' warning to build shelters before
the fact. It is money that would be available to develop those shelters after the hurricane and prior to the next one.
The family protection program and how people can take care of
themselves in the first 72 hours is another very important one, and
the question was asked earlier about public affairs, and the education of the public is something we work hard on but it is something that gets little funding through FEMA.
I am saying in many ways our budgets are inadequate, and they
are, and we know that they will continue to be less than what
would be ideal to develop our systems. Therefore, we need increased flexibility in what we do with the money that is available,
and FEMA needs to work with us in identifying the major risks in
each of our jurisdictions, be sensitive to public demands, and attempt to improve the performance based on local needs rather than
on stovepipe programs that come down with a little bit of money
that must be spent in specific ways.
Natural disaster is our first priority. Radiological is one that the
public is very, very sensitive to, both low-level and high-level
wastes that have to be moved and stored, as well as the increased
use of radiological materials by industry, by academia, and finally,
hazardous materials.
We are not opposed, obviously, to being held accountable for how
we use those funds. We would like to negotiate with FEMA to use
the funding available to best meet our needs and our risks and establish performance standards to which we will be held accountable
and against which they will evaluate our performance.
But it needs to -be, as you have heard before today, a ground-up
analysis and organization and commitment, because a lot of the
dollars are local and State dollars to which we can add Federal
funds and Federal standards.
Before I conclude, there is one piece of legislation that we would
like to discuss, that of disaster recovery. The Stafford Act provides
for 75/25 percent Federal/State cost hare in public assistance. The
President can waive that 25 percent.- Those costs, that 25 percent,
has a tendency to inhibit the use of resources that may be available
to us. There is a hesitancy to even request some Federal assets because of the unknown costs that are associated with it.
I don't know what it costs, for instance, to have Air Force aircraft
fly MREs in to feed people, but it is a very expensive proposition,
and I think Director Witt addressed that when he talked about the
proactive effort of FEMA to meet with the Governor of Oklahoma,
or instance, and talk about what is available and address costs
and what State shares would be.
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I would suggest that Congress look at eliminating that 25 percent share in the initial response activities. Put a time limit, put
a dollar limit on it, I don't care what kind of limit is put on it, but
maybe the first 72 hours, the first 7 days, just to remove that uncertainty from the governor if he knows that the money is not there
and is afraid, therefore, to ask for assistance. Whether or not that
impacted Governor Chiles in Florida or not, I don't know.
In summary, sir, we think the NAPA report specifically challenges the FEMA Director, OMB, and the Congress to assist in the
building of an institution that is needed. We think we know how
to build an effective, responsive system. We are not afraid to analyze our hazards, to negotiate agreements with FEMA, and to be
held accountable by our citizens and the Congress for what we negotiate, but we need the support and the resources to do it.
FEMA took a terrible bashing last year, and we in State and
local agencies suffered with them, by name associaton,
if nothing
else. They were not supported well in last year's budget, nor in the
previous decade, as a matter of fact, nor in the 1994 budget proposal released last month, which would cut them another four percent.
The new leadership in James Lee Witt will do well. I am sure
of that. But the current funding will not build the system that our
citizens and their representatives expect.
We are at the point, I think, of making some critical decisions
in the evolution of the emergency management profession in the
United States. Given the recent disaster experiences and the
weather predictions of the next decade, emergency management
should become a priority business of government at all levels.
While FEMA has received criticism following Hurricane Andrew,
the numerous audits and investigative studies have reached a common conclusion. Our Nation needs a single Federal agency with the
necessary leadership, authority and resources to coordinate this
country's emergency management programs. NEMA has confidence
that FEMA, with your support, can fill this role.
Thank you, sir.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you, Dale. Thank you very much.
Senator Roth had to go to the floor to speak on some of the nominees over there. He wanted to be here to introduce you in particular, Dr. Sylves. I know you are from Delaware. He asked that if he
was not able to get back I put his introductory remarks in the
record, which I am glad to do. We will have those remarks included
and look forward to your testimony.
Thank you.
INTRODUCTION OF DR. RICHARD SYLVES BY SENATOR ROTH
Mr. Chairman, I want to take a minute to introduce one of our witnesses todayDr. Richard Sylves of the University of Delaware, a serious student of emergency
management issues. Dr. Sylves is a full professor in the University's Department
of Political Science and also holds a joint appointment with the University's Marine
Studies College.
He is known nationally as a scholar whose research in a number of public policy
areas is widely respected. He is a prolific writer with extensive publications and is

a founder andeditor of the Emergency Management Dispatch, a newsletter of the
Section of Emergency Management of the American Society of Public Administration.

A number of my staff have studied with Dr. Selves. They all praise his abilities
as a teacher, noting his insights into a broad range of issues, his patience and his
accessibility and willingness to help his students.
A special feature of the University of Delaware is its commitment to developing
both scholars and analysts in the field of public policy. As I mentioned, we have a
College of Marine studies. The University also has a College of Urban Affairs and
Public Policy. These programs as well as the Department of Political Science work
hand-in-hand to study problems facing a State which has a highly urbanized metropolitan area as well as valuable but sensitive coastal and marine resources. Dr.
9ylves brings experience from each of these areas. He recently presented a paper
on "How the Exxon Valdez Accident Changed America's Oil Spill Emergency Preparedness;" and his book, "Cities and Disaster," highlights urban emergency preparedness. From his work in researching New York City's emergency preparedness
for his book, he had an immediate analysis of the lessons to be learned in the wake
of the Twin Tower disaster.
When we speak of an "all hazard" response capability for FEMA, we need input
from people with the unique perspective which Rick Sylves possesses. I am pleased
to have him testifyin before the Committee and want to publicly thank him for his
contributions to the field of emergency management.

TESTIMONY OF RICHARD T. SYLVES, PH.D.,1 PROFESSOR OF
POLITICAL SCIENCE, UNIVERSITY OF DELAWARE
Mr. SYLvEs. Mr. Chairman, I would like to thank you, Senator
Roth, and other Members of the Committee for the opportunity to
speak today.
I am a professor of political science at the University of Delaware
and a longtime disaster policy researcher. With me are two of my
students. Sitting directly behind me is Jason McNamara, who is an
urban affairs graduate student who has done extensive work for
the University's disaster research center. He was dispatched to
South Florida shortly after Hurricane Andrew to study the government's disaster response. Also here is Jennifer Harkin, an undergraduate international relations honor student who has taken my
disaster and politics course. She is an emergency medical technician.
Let me begin by saying that FEMA is the Federal organizational
embodiment of U.S. emergency management. If it were dismantled
or broken up into pieces, shuffled off to other executive agencies,
this would be a monumental setback to the continuing growth of
public and private disaster expertise. State and local emergency
management agencies might suffer a similar fate. FEMA needs reform, not dissolution.
Since its formation in 1979, FEMA has suffered from periods of
poor leadership, some embarrassing political appointee behavior,

and a poor public image stemming from slow, disorganzed, and

sometimes incompetent response to disaster. It has maintained a
military and civil defense preoccupation that has not served the
agency, the government, or the American public well.
Moreover, FEMA officials continue to evade any first responder
disaster role, claiming to be only a disaster recovery agency. FEMA
really needs to become a capable civilian Federal disaster agency
that can quickly marshall the resources to augment State and local
first responder operations. It does not have to become a Federal
911, but it must do more to help disaster victims in the response
stage. Otherwise, the public will never hold FEMA in high regard.
I The prepared statement of Mr. Sylves appears on page 106.
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FEMA needs genuine authority to direct the Federal disaster response and recovery operations, and it needs a presence on the civilian basis in the Executive Office of the President. It also needs
a director who is trusted by the President to assume a lead Federal
role in disasters, and I hope Administrator Witt has the trust of
President Clinton to lead the next Federal disaster, if one should
occur in President Clinton's term.
FEMA wouldn't be able to improve its image or competence unless it becomes user friendly. Let me make a suggestion. President
Clinton has proposed an ambitious program of national service
under which students seeking college funding may secure Federal
financial support in exchange for 1 or 2 years of voluntary service.
As this legislation is developed, I think lawmakers should include
a role for FEMA.
What I propose is that FEMA be given the capacity to train a
fraction of the pool of national service volunteers. Once they have
undergone training at FEMA's national emergency training center,
and perhaps back in their home State emergency agency, they
would be available to serve as post-disaster citizen advocates.
When a Presidential disaster declaration is issued, a group of
these national service people would be sent to the damaged area.
Each citizen advocate would be assigned to help perhaps no more
than five families or small businesses. Knowing the range of government disaster assistance programs and armed with FEMA
manuals, disaster assistance applications forms, relevant official
phone numbers, and other needed materials, these advocates would
be a new form of FEMA outreach after a disaster.
They would serve as an administrative expediter for the families
or small businesses to which they are assigned. Perhaps they could
accompany their assigned families or business people on visits to
a FEMA disaster assistance center.
Another way to make FEMA more effective and user friendly is
to demilitarize it. The agency's responsibilities for nuclear war/civil
defense preparedness, "Continuity of Government," civil defense
emergency communications give it the character of an intelligence
agency, not a public service organization.
Black box programs and budgets, security checks of visitors to
FEMA headquarters, security clearance requirements for FEMA
people who really should be working exclusively on civilian programs, purchases of expensive national security technologies all are
wrong or FEMA. Retaining these operations within FEMA keeps
the agency on the periphery of emergency management as it is conducted by modern professionals.
Part of demilitarization means ending the charade of dual use
emergency planning. A former FEMA official reportedly argued
that agency bosses pay lip service to dual preparedness but privateemphasize nuclear attack. My view is that FEMA should no longer
be forced under law to employ the dual use concept of reconciling
preparedness for nuclear war disasters and emergencies with civil
defense against nuclear attack.
The Umted States suffers the highest fire losses among industrialized nations, but FEMA has regularly cut back fire and training
funds. At the same time, relatively large sums of FEMA money are
directed to war-related national security operations.

I think FEMA's National Emergency Training Center performs
an outstanding public service in sponsoring workshops, training
sessions, and especially role-playing disaster simulations for State,
local, educational, and non-profit officials. This activity should be
continued and expanded.
Baltimore County Fire Captain Lee Kaufmann believes that
FEMA's Emergency Management Institute should be combined
with the National Fire Academy to form a National Emergency
Services Academy. This merger might improve FEMA's bumpy relations with the fire service community, but the Academy must respect the multi-professional world of emergency management.
FEMA gets high marks for promoting emergency planning but
modest to low grades for its participation in the exercises and drills
it induces State and local authorities to conduct. Too often, major
State and local drills for a disaster involve all key officials except
those at FEMA. If FEMA is there at all, one FEMA representative
might be present. If the modeled disaster were genuine, conceivably hundreds of FEMA people might show up, but State and local
officials have little idea what to expect from FEMA when the agency ignores test exercises.
More FEMA people and resources need to be devoted to presenting public education programs on disaster preparedness. FEMA
needs to better integrate academic and professional scholarship
into the training and education programs it provides its own people. By creating more academic advisory boards, FEMA may be
able to modernize its research and training capability at relatively
low cost.
For example, FEMA should be doing more research on risk reduction and risk management. This work would facilitate preparedness and draw the insurance industry closer to emergency managers.
Local emergency management people are a potentially powerful
support base for FEMA. Police, fire services, emergency medical
authorities, and a host of others should be cultivated by FEMA.
The profession of emergency manager continues to advance and can
furnish the local support base that could help local officials become
convinced of the need to commit more qualified people and resources to emergency management functions at their level of government.
Since FEMA is not a regulatory agency, it cannot expect to induce or encourage local emergency management reform unless it
rovides planning grants, federally subsidized training, and peraps demonstration projects. If FEMA funding continues to shrink,
so will any leverage FEMA has in its dealings with State and local
government.
At the State government level, FEMA should promote a model of
good emergency management organization through its Emergency
Management Assistance Funding program. This might encourage
more State-to-State uniformity in emergency management and
services. Also, money saved from ending war preparations/civil defense could flow through the program as a peace dividend aimed
at improving State and local emergency management.
FEMA needs to continue to form better pre-disaster agreements
with State authorities and emergency officials. Also, FEMA should

induce some States to demilitarize their own emergency management departments.
FEMA needs its regional offices strengthened, not weakened, cut
back, or consolidated into fewer numbers. FEMA region offices help
to build State emergency management authority. Moreover, FEMA
region offices should help distribute block grants rather than categorical grants to the States. FEMA region and headquarters people should monitor State emergency programs, not individual State
emergency managers, as it seems to be doing now in some of its
programs.
Regarding FEMA budgetary matters, it would be wise to consolidate FEMA's multiple appropriations sources in any contemplated
reorganization. This would simplify FEMA's budget management
and would give the agency fewer, instead of many, Congressional
oversight committees.
FEMA needs to reduce the number of its political appointees and
should encourage more professionalization in advancement of its
career staff.
As for, my conclusions, the weak institutional status of emergency
management agencies, especially at the National level, the fragmentation of disaster crisis responsibilities at each level of government, weak undercultivated political constituencies advocating improved emergency management, and severely constrained budgetary authority has weakened FEMA's ability to promote better
State and local emergency management.
FEMA needs a consolidation of its funding, an end to managerial
disarray, a termination of its now outdated civil defense/nuclear attack mission, and an overhaul of its research and training programs so that each better reflects state-of-the-art emergency management.
The agency should be given a role in the National service program, especially through use of post-disaster citizen advocates.
FEMA should promote more coherence in State and local emergency management authority and functions. It should continue to
promote integrated emergency management and the Incident Command System to State and local officials.
FEMA, like comedian Rodney Dangerfield, deserves more respect
but it must adapt in order to earn that respect.
Thank you.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you very much.
We are going to have to leave most of our questions to be sent
to you, we have gotten so late here today and we have a Democratic Conference and a Republican Conference that meets at 12:30
and I am already late for those, so we are going to have to go, but
I want to ask just a couple of questions before I leave.
Dr. Sylves, you indicated a complete separation of DOD from
most of this. Now you don't have any problem, though, with an
emergency where the military can come in and provide kitchens
and tents and things like that?
Mr. SYLvEs. None at all. I think that in my written statement
I had that point, that it should continue to provide mass care in
the aftermath of major disasters.

Chairman GLENN. Yes, it is just the COG functions, the Continuity of Government functions, you think should be turned over to
DOD? Is that mainly it?
Mr. SYLVES. Well, I believe that and I believe that civil defense
against nuclear attack functions, maybe some of the National Preparedness Directorate functions in that regard don't belong there
anymore and I think that has been corroborated in other testimony
you have heard today.
Chairman GLENN. Well, the COG was a major part of that, a
major budget part of it anyway.
Mr. SYLVES. I don't think it belongs there.
Chairman GLENN. Dale, in your testimony you say that mitigation is "the foundation of emergency management." However, State
and local governments find it difficult to implement and enforce
building codes, and land use regulations. We have heard talk earlier this morning, Dr. Sheets, about that, of course.
Is this something the Federal Government has to get into, or
should States and local communities do this on their own?
Mr. SHIPLEY. Personally, I believe it is a responsibility of State
and local governments to make wise choices and be willing to stand
up against the decisions and the zoning, etc., that they make. We
had an incident with a flash flood in Ross County, in Masseyville,
just last year, where the county commissioners were willing to
stand up after that flash flooding and preclude some rebuilding in
the floodway as a result of that, and it has worked a hardship on
a business owner there that is difficult to deal with, but tho,.e are
the type of tough decisions that, I think, have to be made and have
to be enforced at the local level.
I think it is beyond the capability of the Federal Government to
get into zoning and building codes. There are Federal standards for
building codes that are adopted or not adopted at the State and
local level already.
Chairman GLENN. In 1983, Ohio passed a law to allow Red
Cross-trained State employees some limited paid leave to help in
responding to disasters. How has that worked? Do you have any report for us on that, or could you give us a letter on that later
maybe that would give details?
Mr. SHIPLEY. We are proud of that. Those who are trained and
certified by the Red Cross, State employees I am talking about,
who are requested by the Red Cross to serve in a disaster, with the
permission of their supervisor, can serve for up to 30 days and continue to be paid by the State of Ohio while they serve the Red
Cross in a disaster function.
Chairman GLENN. Do many other States have that, do you know?
Mr. SHIPLEY. Sir, I do not know. I know that several State directors have asked me for copies of our Ohio Revised Code that addresses that, but I cannot tell you how many States may have that.
Chairman GLENN. Mr. Fosler, Mr. Shipley has pointed out that
most State emergency management agencies have been forced to
reduce programs in order to absorb State budget cuts. Do you believe the level of Federal funding given to States and localities for
disaster preparedness response is adequate? Should it go up, down,
whatever?

Mr. FOSLER. We are always looking for ways that we can do
things more efficiently, and that is obviously a big push under the
current administration through the National performance review.
We do have a concern, given the increasing responsibilities, the
changing conditions that we have heard a little bit about earlier in
the testimony, and also given the record of budgets for FEMA over
recent years, that given the transition we are in, the agency and
the State and local governments may not have the resources that
they currently need to meet immediate needs and to undertake this
transition.
We do think, however, that there is a substantial opportunity
over the long run, if we really do adopt these fundamentalichanges
in the system, that investments that we make at the present time
could lead to substantially lower costs for what we are able to
achieve in the emergency management system.
Chairman GLENN. Yes, just one other question. I would ask you
each to coximent on this. You all have watched this system through
the years, you have looked at it, you have worked in it, or been observers of it, one or the other. Is it gradually drifting into a 911
situation?
You heard my references earlier this morning to the snow removal, and maybe I overblew that, but I don't think I did. If we
are getting to that kind of a Federal agency where every time there
is a few thousand dollars over on some local budget, it is expected
to be replenished out of the Federal treasury. That was never the
intent of having something like FEMA.
Dale, you lead off on that. Has there been more of a tendency in
your view, not just in Ohio but across the administration of FEMA
in general, for people to say, well, maybe we can get some Federal
money there so we will put in for it, and too often they get it?
Mr. SHIPLEY. Sir, I think there is a tendency in that direction.
I think the Stafford Act, when Congress passed that, they very specifically said that there would not be an objective measure for kicking in the Presidential disaster declaration. It is a subjective thing.
I believe that it would be possible to develop through a formula,
and I don't know how you would ever get an agreement on it, but
based on budgets of the States and incomes of the States and the
tax base of States, I suspect that we could come up with a formula
that would say that any disaster up to a certain anmunt, State, you
are just going to have to suck it up and bear the cost. And beyond
some stage, the Federal Government will come in to help.
There has been talk of that being $10 a head. I suspect $10 in
West Virginia may be different from $10 in the State of Ohio as
far as tax base and ability to pay and State budgets. I don't know
that for a fact, but I think we ought to look at that.
In that snow emergency March 13th and 14th, the Governor in
Ohio declared 24 counties disasters because we had to go to some
extraordinary measures with the Department of Transportation.
We called up several National Guard resources to help the counties
respond to that.
There is room for me to be criticized for not going to the Federal
Government saying, "we want to jump on that same $34 million
bandwagon." I had-24 counties and why shouldn't I share in that?
And if you take the attitude as you read there in the article that

the program is there, you are not serving your citizens if you don't
apply, then there is a lot of pressure to apply. They will either pay
it or they will turn me down, but it is their decision, not "the governor's decision."
It puts me in a tough position, and I would support an objective
measure of when is it the Federal Government comes in and what
will I be expected to pay.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you.
Mr. Fosler.
Mr. FOSLER. The concern you raised, Mr. Chairman, is quite legitimate. There very clearly is a pattern of increasing requests
from the State and local level for Federal assistance. The figures
are very clear on that.
There may be some justification to the extent that we have not
done an adequate job of mitigation and that there are more potential disasters as a consequence of the failure to, in essence, keep
people out of potential harm's way.
By the same token, the system is very loose and there is a tendency to continually ratchet up the demands and to take advantage
of the situation when it arises. I think what we are proposing here
is the need to tighten up this system and to begin to very clearly
place the prime responsibility at the local and State level and only
have the Federal Government step in when there is a very clear
justification for it.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you.
Mr. Sylves.
Mr. SYLvEs. I just would like to add another point, that one of
the things that commonly happens after either major disasters or
relatively small ones is that legislators would like to be politically
responsive, and part of being politically responsive, including at the
Presidential level, is to issue and grant a Presidential disaster declaration.
Over the years, there have been studies as to whether all of
those declarations have been warranted or not. I understand in one
period the peach crop failed in Georgia and there was a Presidential disaster declaration issued for that back in the 1970s.
There are problems because of the need for legislators to be politically efficacious by forcing administrative agencies to be more
responsive in the aftermath of a disaster. What I am saying is we
have created a system in which it invites application for Federal
assistance at the State and local level, and I think continuing to
have a good number of political appointees, even at region-level offices, may actually encourage this request for Federal disaster
monies back through.
The problem is not the flow of monies necessarily, it is, and I am
sure you agree, whether it is absolutely needed or not, and a lot
of the problem rests in appropriate damage assessment, and much
property assessment could be done ahead of time. You could estimate the value of the property, the facilities that the State and
local government owns and use those estimates and try to come up
with some fairer burden sharing between what share of the cost
the State and local governments will pay, what share the national
government will pay.
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But I agree that there should be some concern about some exploitation of the Federal Government in these programs.
Chairman GLENN. Yes, I think it has gone too far.

Thank you all. You have been very patient. It has been a long
hearing this morning. We will have additional questions for you
and we hope you can respond early so we can include them in the
record. Thank you.
The hearing will stand in recess, subject to the call of the chair.
[Whereupon, at 1:05 p.m., the Committee adjourned subject to
the call of the chair.]

APPENDIX
PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR SASSER
Mr. Chairman, I'm pleased that we are here today to discuss the Federal Emergency Management Agency.
Because frankly, we have seen sovae very troubling problems at this agency.
Your work in this area, Senator Glenn, is very thorough-as usual, I might addand I support your efforts to look at FEMA and its operations in a comprehensive
manner.
I would like to focus my comments at this time on three specific areas. These
areas are, first, the proportion of FEMA's resources spent in preparation for nuclear
war; second, the need to prepare for a major disaster on the New Madrid fault; and
third, FEMA's ability to communicate with local officials before and during natural
disasters.
FEMA was established to respond to disasters of all kinds. We most commonly
hear about FEMA in the context of peace-time disasters, whether natural or artificial. For example, we are all familiar with FEMA's response to Hurricane Andrew,
and Hurricane Hugo, and even the Los Angeles riots.
Fewer people realize that a considerable portion of FEMA's staff and resources
are devoted to preparation for nuclear holocaust.
Public reports have estimated that FEMA spends well over one billion dollars on
activities that would take place only if this country is attacked with nuclear weapons. The precise dollar figure is classified but I think it is safe to say that FE
devotes a substantial amount of taxpayer dollars for this purpose.
I believe we have to ask ourselves a basic question: Is an expense of this magnitude necessary, now that the cold war has come to an end?
Frankly, I find it very difficult to believe we need to spend a billion dollars every
year to ensure continuity of government in the event of a major nuclear war.
It appears to me that this is yet another relic of the cold war and it's a major
expenditure that could be put to better use by addressing our domestic problems
here at home.
Even if we were to assume these preparations for nuclear war are necessary, and
I think we should always maintain some level of readiness, I believe we must make
every effort to ensure this taxpayer-funded program is used in the most efficient
possible manner. We should not spend a single dollar in this area that is not necessary for the maintenance of an adequate level of preparedness.
FEMA must make every effort to ensure its operations do not duplicate efforts of
the military to prepare for war, and its own war preparations must not duplicate
its own efforts to prepare for natural disasters and domestic problems.
If this means transferring some functions to defense, or declassifying some FEMA
operations for the sake of uniting them with other, non-classified functions, then so
be it.
My second line of comments deals with the New Madrid fault. This is the fault
that threatens to cause a major earthquake in the heartland of this country within
the next 50 years. I'm sure Mr. Witt, an Arkansan, is very familiar with the New
Madrid fault and the potential hazard to Arkansas, Missouri and Tennessee, as well
as other States.
If a major earthquake strikes on the New Madrid fault, the damage to the city
of Memphis as well as parts of Arkansas and Missouri and other States would be
devastating.
Fortunately, the city of Memphis has already begun preparing for this eventuality. Building codes enacted a few years ago, if fully implemented, would save literaily thousands of lives and billions of dollars in the event of a major earthquakeone which would register an eight on the Richter scale.
I applaud and support the city's efforts to prepare-but no one would seriously
argue that Memphis should face such a major earthquake on its own.
(71)
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Clearly, FEMA should be prepared to marshall all available Federal resources at
the first hint of danger.
I would inform those not familiar with the New Madrid fault that the idea of such
a major earthquake in West Tennessee is not as far-fetched as it might sound.
In 1811 and 1812, a series of earthquakes hit West Tennessee which registered
somewhere around an eight on the Richter scale. The evidence of this earthquake
is still visible today. These earthquakes opened a tremendous gorge directly adjacent to the Mississippi
River in what is now Lake County, Tennessee. According to contemporaneous reports and the folklore of the day, it took 3 days for the flow of water from the Mississippi River to fill this void. Vessels as far south as New Orleans were said to be
baffled by the reversal in the flow of the river caused by the rush of water into the
newly created crevice. The body of water created in upper West Tennessee during
these earthquakes is today known as Reelfoot Lake.
If an earthquake of this magnitude struck today, the loss of life and damage to
property in Memphis and other areas would be phenomenal. While Memphis has
taken some steps to prepare for such a disaster, the fact remains that this part of
the country is not equipped to deal with earthquakes like those in other States such
as California, where they have dealt with earthquakes in the more recent past.
I urge FEMA to remain vigilant in monitoring this situation and preparing for
a well-coordinated response to an earthquake along the New Madrid fault.
Finally, I would like to comment briefly on FEMA's ability to deal with local officials and provide assistance at the local level.
We have seen examples of how FEMA failed to communicate in a timely manner
with local officials, such as in Florida during the most recent major hurricane.
We have seen how FEMA is a reactive organization that waits for specific requests for assistance from State officials. State officials, in turn, often rely on local
officials for specific information in the event of a disaster.
Unfortunately, local officials are too busy heading for higher ground. They are in
no position to deal with bureaucrats in their own State capital or in the FEMA regional office.
Time and time again, we have seen FEMA sit back and wait while the Red Cross
and the military take the initiative to provide assistance before local officials find
time to pick u phone and call for help.
Clearly, FE
must make major improvements, and I would like to emphasize
two areas which I'm sure will arise at this hearing.
First, FEMA must take the initiative to help local victims, even before a formal
request, when the need for assistance is obvious. It must be prepared to go out and
get its own hands dirty, rather than sit by the phone and wait for a formal request.
Second, FEMA must streamline the different types of assistance that are available.
Presently, there are &rantsand loans. These grants and loans may be available
to certain individuals, depending on income. They may be available to businesses.
They may be available only to State and local governments, or charitable organizations, and they may be administered by one of a myriad of different Federal agencies.
In short, Federal disaster assistance is a perplexing, bureaucratic nightmare.
FEMA must simplify and streamline the disaster assistance process. Federal assistance should be more "user friendly."
Understandably, those who need Federal disaster assistance are under enough
strain as it is. They don't need unnecessary hassle and confusion to obtain the Federal assistance to which they are entitled. I hope FEMA will act to simplify this
process.
Thank you, Chairman Glenn. This concludes my remarks.
ADDITIONAL STATEMENT OF SENATOR SASSER
Mr. Witt, as you are here for the first time since your confirmation, I would first
like to offer my congratulations to you. Given your experience and skill, I believe
President Clinton has made a fine selection for Director of the Federal Emergency
Management Agency.
I believe your experience as head of the Arkansas equivalent to FEMA provides
you with unique qualifications to deal with one of the greatest problems FE& has
experienced throughout its existence-a lack of full coordination and communication
with State and local officials.
As Chairman of the Subcommittee here which oversees relations between the Federal Government and State and local governments, I can tell you that the disaster

management area has not been an ideal model of federalism at work. From your
experience in Arkansas, you undoubtedly know better than I many of the specific
shortcomings of our present system. Most notably, we have seen occasions where the
Federal Government was not as helpful as it could have been during major disasters, when State and local governments were overwhelmed.
Senator Glenn and our other witnesses are fully prepared to address the problems
at FEMA in geat detail, and at the present time I have full confidence in your ability to steerFEMA in the right direction and respond to the concerns we have at
this Committee, as well as those of our other witnesses here today.
I want to call particular attention, however, to a potential problem I'm sure you
already know well. I am particularly concerned about the possibility of a major
earthquake along the New Madrid fault.
A few years ago, there was a tremendous scare in Memphis and nearby areas because of predictions, subsequently proven errant, that the "big one" was coming
soon. In response to those concerns, Memphis upgraded its building codes to ensure
greater preparedness for earthquakes, and Federal officials also took a look at the
problem.
Those fears of an imminent earthquake have now subsided, but in reality the
threat of a major earthquake, one which could register eight or higher on the Richter scale, hasn t gone away.
As you know, an earthquake of that magnitude would overwhelm the area's residents. That part of the country, including your home State and mine as well, has
not had to deal with a disaster of that magnitude in recent memory. I am concerned
that, without experience as a guide, the destruction and loss will be even greater
than it need be.
Mr. Witt, I would appreciate your reviewing FEMA's plan to respond to an earthquake along the New Madrid fault and providing this Committee with a summary
of such a plan. I believe you, as an Arkansan, have a great deal at stake in this
matter personally, and for that reason I think your review of this matter would be
fruitful.
I would also be fully prepared to assist you in any way I can, given the importance of this matter to my home State. I trust you'll let me know if there is any
way I can be of assistance.
PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR LIEBERMAN
Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity presented in today'ri hearing to examine and explore elements of improving the Federal Emergency Management
Agency's responsiveness to major catastrophes and natural disasters. FEMA has an
incredibly important and publicly visible mission. It is never' more inmoerative that
government work well than following a disaster, when people most rely upon, and
need it, to do so.
Mr. Chairman we have witnessed the devrastation inflicted by Hu~ricanes Hugo
and Andrew, and the tragedy of the Loma Prieta earthquake in recent years. In December 1992, Connecticut faced the storms of the northeaster. These disasters could
not have made a clearer case for the crucial importance of effective lines of communication between Federal, State and local governments in the aftermath of natural
disasters. Effective communication is an important key to an effective crisis response.
But in order to enhance and improve upon the levels of responsiveness in time
of crisis, it is the state of day-to-day preparedness and overall emergency management operations which must receive thorough review. This review must either reveal the existence of well-defined procedural guidelines and strategies in place to
effectively address catastrophic disasters--or introduce comprehensive, before, during, and after, structural reform mechanisms which will insure these provisions.
In the wake of a catastrophic disaster, time is both precious and at a premium
to the victims left behind, anxious to resume their lives. Recommendations before
this Committee-such as the establishment of FEMA "strike teams" to perform
damage assessment immediately following a disaster and limited period waviers of
the cost share requirements for Federal assistance-serve to initiate a dialogue on
ways to significantly reduce the anxieties of these victims. I anticipate that testimony given today will provide a wealth of analyses from which constructive implementations can be offered, and serious consideration given.
Mr. Chairman, in this post-Cold War era, necessity dictates that new parameters
be set for many Federal agencies, tailoring the focal point of their overall mission
to reflect present and future challenges. However, many threats of the Cold War era
remain, and have been joined by new ones. The recent bombing of the World Trade
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Center serves to remind us that the Federal Government must be ready to address
and protect our population against the aftermath of acts of domestic terrorism, including potential chemical, nuclear or biological terrorist attacks.
As we re-evaluate the civil defense component of the Federal Emergency Management Agency, the reality of the World Trade Center bombing-and the reality of yet
to be resolved conflicts in the former Soviet Union and around the world-must generate an approach to restructuring which is mindful of this uncertainty.
Just as with our deliberations over downsizing the Department of Defense, we
must start with an assessment of the threats against which we must plan. Let us
proceed then, exercising required restraint by making these decisions on a case by
case basis, insuring availability of response contingencies befitting the circumstances presented.
Mr. Chairman, I want to welcome the members of the panels before us today. I
am especially encouraged by Mr. Witt's participation today and his assumption of
his new office. It is the first time in many ears that a true "hand on" emergency
management manager has represented the Federal Emergency Management Agency, having served at the State level for a number of years. His experience in disaster
management will be critical. Welcome.
PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR COHEN
Mr. Chairman, I want to commend you for holding this hearing today to look at
the performance record of the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) in
times of major disasters. The devastation left in the wake of Hurricanes Andrew
and Iniki are still fresh in our minds as are the criticisms that have been voiced
about FEMA's response time and effectiveness in responding to catastrophes of this
proportion.
FEMA is tasked with an extremely difficult mission as it is responsible for coordinating federal efforts among the many different federal agencies that may be called
upon to respond to major disasters or emergencies when needs exceed the available
resources of state andalocal governments. Mr. Chairman, my own state of Maine suffered three natural disasters in 1991 alone, causing substantial damage to public
roads and bridges and private property throughout the state.
Hurricane Andrew, one of the worst natural disasters in U.S. history, left many
people dead or injured and hundreds of thousands of others homeless in Florida and
Louisiana. Our sympathies went out to the residents of these areas as they struggled to deal with their losses and wondered whether their lives could ever be restored. Unfortunately, we were also frustrated as the victims stood amongst the
ruins of what had once been their homes and asked where was the federal assistance and why was it taking so long to reach the people who so desperately needed
it?
Criticism of FEMA's ability to respond to major disasters has certainly grown in
recent ears. The Agency has been plagued with internal management and organizational problems which have contributed to the delay in getting federal disaster assistance to people in need. The General Accounting Office (GAO), the FEMA Inspector General and the National Academy of Public Administration have made recommendations on ways to improve the federal government's response time and
make the Agency more effective and proactive. Others have called for the abolition
of FEMA. As you are well aware, Mr. Chairman, preparing_ for nuclear war and
other national security emergencies has been one of FEMA a top priorities in the
past. In light of the many changes that have occurred around the world in recent
years, any discussion of FEMA -eform will most certainly include evaluating what
FEMA's role should be now in the post Cold War era.
As the Ranking Minority Member on the Special Committee on Aging, Mr. Chairman, I am also very concerned about whiat efforts are made to help our nation's seniors during a major disaster such as Hurricane Andrew. Elderly citizens are certainly among the most vulnerable members of our population in times of disaster
and our efforts to assist them, particularly during evacuation procedures, must be
sensitive to their special needs. I was concerned by early reports during Hurricane
Andrew that evacuation efforts had not adequately targeted the senior population
in Florida" and believe that any reorganization of FEMA should pay specific attention to the needs of special populations within disaster areas.
I am pleased that the new Administration's FEMA Director, James Witt, is here
with us today. He has identified a number of his priorities including preparing to
effectively respond to any disaster, examining the Agency's mission and organization, and revitalizing the Agency. These are, indeed, difficult goals and I commend
the Director for the efforts he has already initiated in these areas.

Mr. Chairman, the number of natural disasters nationwide has increased in recent years and we will most assuredly face catastrophes of equal or greater magnitude to that of Hurricane Andrew in the future. Despite the varying recommendations that have been made to reform FEMA, I believe we all qhare a common goalto ensure that our federal disaster response policy provides efficient and expeditious
assistance to disaster victims. Mr. Chairman I look forward to hearing the testimony from today's witnesses and working with Director Witt toward achieving this
end.
PREPARED STATEMENT OF J. DEXTER PEACH
We appreciate the opportunity to be here to discuss our work on how the Nation
responds to disasters. Several recent catastrophes--especially Hurricane Andrew in
South Florida-have led to growing dissatisfaction with the Nation's system for responding to large disasters. As a result, you and a number of other congressional
leaders asked us to examine the adequacy of the Federal strategy for responding
to disasters and to develop solutions for improving it. My statement today summarizes our conclusions presented in earlier hearings, provides additional anal)ses and
conclusions on disaster management, and makes recommendations for fundamental
changes we believe are essential in the Federal response to disasters.l This testimony presents the final results of our work.
In summary, as we testified earlier, the Federal strategy for responding to catastrophic disasters is deficient because it lacks provisions for the Federal Government to (1) comprehensively assess damage and the corresponding needs of disaster
victims and (2) provide food, shelter, and other essential services when the needs
of disaster victims outstrip the resources of the private voluntary community. Moreover, the Federal strategy does not allow adequate preparedness when there is a
warning that a disaster will strike because preparatory activities are not clearly authorized until the President has issued a disaster declaration. To prepare for a disaster, the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) could make better use
both of its own resources as well as those it provides to State and local governments
to improve overall preparedness for catastrophic disasters. Finally, we found that
the person directing the Federal response to a catastrophic disaster must explicitly
and demonstrably have the authority of the President in managing the disaster.
As a result of these findings, I am making two recommendations today aimed at
ensuring that the Federal Government has both the capacity and the leadership to
effectively respond to future catastrophic disasters. First, FEMA should establish a
disaster unit to independently assess damage and estimate response needs following
a catastrophic disaster. Second, the President should designate a senior official in
the White House to oversee the initial Federal response to catastrophic disasters.
This official should also have ongoing responsibility for oversight of FEMA and
other Federal agencies' efforts to plan, prepare for, and respond to catastrophic disasters.
These recommendations go hand-in-hand with our earlier recommendations aimed
at improving the way the Federal Government (1) decides whether State and local
governments need assistance, (2) uses existing authority to effectively provide assistance, and (3) enhances State and local preparedness in order to minimize the
amount of Federal assistance needed.
BACKGROUND, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY
FEMA was established in 1979 during the Carter Administration to consolidate
Federal emergency preparedness, mitigation, and response activities. FEMA has a
number of responsibilities, including the coordination of civil defense and civil emergency planning and the coordination of Federal disaster relief. The disasters and
emergencies to which FEMA may respond include floods, hurricanes, earthquakes,
hazardous material accidents, nuclear accidents, and biological, chemical, and nuclear attacks.
The fundamental principles that guided FEMA's creation included implementing
the disaster priorities of the President; drawing, to the extent possible, on the resources and missions of existing Federal, State, and local agencies; and emphasizing
hazard mitigation and State and local preparedness-thereby minimizing the need
for Federal intervention. Consequently, FEMA's primary strategy for coping with
disasters has been to (1) enhance the capability of State and local governments to
iDisaster Management: Recent Disasters Demonstrate the Need to Improve the Nation's Response Strateay (GAOT-RCED-93-4, Jan. 27, 1993 and GAOIT-RCED-93-13, Mar. 2, 1993).
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respond to disasters, (2) coordinate with 26 other Federal agencies that provide resources to respond to disasters, (3) give Federal assistance directly to citizens recovering from disasters, (4) grant financial assistance to State and local governments,
and (5) provide leadership-through grants flood plain management, and other activities-for hazard mitigation. FEMAconducts its disaster response and civil defense activities primarily under the authorities of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster
Relief and Emergency Assistance Act and the Federal Civil Defense Act of 1950, as
amended.
The Federal Response Plan is FEMA's blueprint for responding to all disasters
and emergencies. The plan is a cooperative agreement signed by 26 Federal agencies
and the American Red Cross for providing services when there is a need for Federal
response assistance following any type of disaster or emergency. The present version
of the plan-developed following dissatisfaction with the response to Hurricane
Hugo in 1989-was completed in April 1992. Hurricane Andrew was the first time
the plan was fully used.
The plan outlines a functional approach to Federal response and groups the types
of Federal assistance that may be needed into 12 categories, such as food, health
and medical services, transportation, and communications. For each function, one
agency is charged with being the primary provider of the service, with several other
agencies responsible for supporting the primary agency. For the mass care functions
(such as foodand shelter), the primary agency is the American Red Cross.
In order for FEMA to activate the Federal Response Plan and for a State to receive life-sustaining and other services from the Federal Government, the Stafford
Act requires a governor to obtain a presidential declai-ation that a major disaster
or emergency exists. The governor's request must be based on a finding that the
scope of the disaster or emergency is beyond the State's ability to respond. After the
President declares a disaster, FEMA supplements the efforts and resources of State
and local governments and voluntary relief agencies, which are expected to be the
first responders when a disaster strikes. Over the past 10 years, presidents have
declared an average of about 35 disasters annually. FEMA officials stated that catastrophic disasters requiring life-sustaining services from the Federal Government
occur, at most, one to two times a year in the United States.
We reviewed the organizational structure and disaster response activities of
FEMA. We also reviewed the Federal, State, local, and volunteer response to Hurricane Andrew in Florida and Louisiana and Hurricane Iniki in Hawaii. Most of our
work focused on South Florida because of the tremendous amount of damage resulting from Hurricane Andrew. At each location we met with representatives from
State and local emergency management organizations. We also consulted with a
panel of experts who represented a cross section of views on disaster response.
These experts included a number of former Federal agency heads and other highlevel officials from the Department of Defense (DOD), FEMA, and FEMA's predecessor agencies; an emergency medical program director; State Emergency Management Directors; and members of academia specializing in intergovernmental relations during disaster response.
As you requested, we focused our review on the immediate response to catastrophic disasters. Therefore, we address neither long-term recovery activities for
catastrophic disasters nor any aspect of the response to less severe disasters. We
define catastrophic as any disaster that overwhelms the ability of State, local, and
volunteer agencies to adequately provide victims with such life-sustaining mass care
services as food, shelter, and medical assistance within the first 12 to 24 hours.
RESPONSE TO HURRICANE ANDREW IN SOUTH FLORIDA REVEALS INADEQUACIES
Our review of Hurricanes Andrew and Iniki uncovered several problems with the
response efforts, although virtually all of these were revealed in South Florida because of the magnitude of that disaster. Specifically, we found that the Federal Response Plan is inadequate for dealing with catastrophic disasters such as Hurricane
Andrew in South Florida because, among other things, it lacks provisions for a comprehensive assessment of damages and the corresponding needs of disaster victims.
In addition, the response in South Florida suffered from miscommunication and confusion at all levels of government-which slowed the delivery of services vital to disaster victims.
In contrast, we found the response to Hurricane Andrew in Louisiana and Hurricane Iniki in Hawaii to be more effective. But most of the improvement, such as
sending supplies to the island of Kauaiffi before local officials requested them, were
introduced in an ad hoc manner-rather than as part of an orderly, planned response to catastrophic disasters. We have provided a more detailed discussion of our
findings in the initial responses to Hurricanes Andrew and Iniki in appendix I.

IMPLICATIONS OF AN INADEQUATE FEDERAL RESPONSE STRATEGY FOR FUTURE
DISASTERS
In the long term, the Nation is likely to face far greater disasters than Hurricane
Andrew. Recent predictions indicate that future hurricanes will be more powerful
and destructive, in part because of changing weather patterns and increased development in vulnerable coastal areas. We also could face terrorist and nuclear hazards, biological disasters, and large earthquakes-all threats that government officials must take seriously. To illustrate, if another earthquake occurred near Memphis, Tennessee, similar to one that occurred there in the winter of 1811-12 on the
New Madrid fault and exceeded 8 on .the Richter scale, thousands of people could
be hurt and 60 percent of the natural gas supply to the Northeast could be disrupted.
Therefore, we believe the Federal Government needs to take three important actions to improve the National response system for catastrophic disasters. First, establishing a FEMA disaster unit would improve Federal decision making on providing help to State and local governments, both during actual disaster response and
during day-to-day .preparations for such disasters. Second increasing reliance on
DOD to provide mass care would strengthen the Federal role following a catastrophic disaster when there is a gap between what the private sector can provide
and what disaster victims need. Third, ensuring presidential involvement and leadership before and after catastrophic disasters strike would improve both Federal
preparedness and response.
Although my statement today highlights improvements we believe are necessary
in the Federal response to disasters, State and local governments are integral parts
of an effective national disaster response system. The success or failure of any
changes in the Federal role in that system will always be heavily affected by the
efforts of State and local responders. Because we believe State and local governments should remain to the extent possible the first responders to all disasters,
FEMA needs to enhance their level of preparedness and response capabilities so
that they are as effective as possible. FEMAalso needs to ensure that State and
local governments contribute their "fair share" to disaster response, commensurate
with their level of preparedness, so that the use of Federal resources is minimized.
In prior testimonies during this review, we have recommended ways FEMA can
make better use of State andlocal resources available to respond to catastrophic disasters. These include increasing the flexibility afforded States in the use of civil defense funds; providing training focused on catastrophic disaster response; and improving oversight of State and local readiness. However, FEMA should recognize
that factorsparticular to each State, such as the support of the governor and State
legislature or emergency management, perceived threat of a disaster, and the
State's fiscal ,oundness, also affect levels of preparedness. We have provided a more
detailed discussion of these issues in appendix II of my statement.
I would now like to discuss each of the three areas in which we suggest improvements in the Federal strategy for disaster preparedness and response.
ESTABLISHING A FEMA DISASTER UNIT WOULD IMPROVE FEDERAL DECISION MAKING
ON PROVIDING HELP
Given the shortcomings we saw primarily in South Florida, we believe FEMA
needs a disaster unit whose sole mission is planning for and responding to catastrophic disasters. This unit's mission would be twofold: (1) just before (when there
is warning) or immediately following a disaster, it would be charged with such duties as estimating the extent of damage and relief needs 2 and (2) when not actively
engaged in disaster response, it would have an ongoing responsibility to plan for
and predict the effects of a variety of catastrophic disasters. This unit would consist
of a core staff located in FEMA plus additional staff in participating Federal agencies (such as DOD and the Pubbhc Health Service) serving as permanent liaisons to
the unit.
In order to ensure the commitment of the entire Federal Government, both in
day-to-day preparation and during actual disasters, the unit should work closely
with a designated White House official. I will elaborate later in my statement on
the roles and responsibilities we believe the White House should have in disaster
preparedness and response.
2The Federal Government is explicitly authorized t-appraise the types of relief needed after
a disaster is declared. However, as we pointed out in an earlier report, DisasterAssistance: Federal, State, and Local Response to Natural Disasters Need Improvement (GAO/RCED-91-43,
Mar. 6, 1991), legislative action may be needed to deploy staff to a disaster area prior to a major
disaster declaration.

WHAT THE DISASTER UNIT WILL DO

In order to be better prepared for catastrophic disasters, FEMA needs a unit that
has responsibility for immediate action when a catastrophic disaster has happened
or is imminent, as well as day-to-day responsibilities for predicting and planning for
the effects of catastrophic disasters. Specifically, the disaster unit should be able to
quickly deploy FEMA and other Federal agency staff to the disaster area to conduct
comprehensive damage assessments. By doing so, the disaster unit would then
translate its damage assessments and any other relevant information about the disaster area into estimates of immediate response needs. These estimates should include the extent to which FEMA and the other Federal participants are needed to
meet those needs and how soon they could be met.
An integral component of this analysis would be FEMA's estimate of the State
and local governments' preparedness and capability to respond to the disaster. The
end result of all these assessments would be concrete recommendations to the governor of a State on the amount, type, and cost of Federal assistance that should be
provided.
The disaster unit should coordinate the initial response phase of the Federal role
until State and local capabilities have reconstituted themselves and normal recovery
operations can begin. As soon as State and local responders can resume their roles,
the disaster unit's role would end, and the transition to recovery would begin.
A rapid response requires day-to-day efforts to predict and plan for catastrophic
disasters. These include refining the capability to predict and analyze the impact
of a wide variety of disasters using such techniqu 3s as modeling, demographic analysis (including mapping), gaming, and other simulations. Using its predictions and
analysis, the disaster unit would help prepare FEMA and other Federal agencies
for a rapid response by leading exercises devoted to planning and executing the Federal response. In addition, the disaster unit would incorporate FEMA's assessments
of individual States' preparedness and vulnerability into both its plans and response
strategies. To do this, the unit would work with the FEMA staff who already review
individual State emergency operating plans on an annual basis. These staff look for
compliance with requirements for less-than-catastrophic disasters. This information,
coupled with the disaster unit's added analysis, would be incorporated into the
unit's day-to-day planning and immediate response strategies.
FEMA HAS THE CORE OF THE RESOURCES NEEDED FOR THE DISASTER UNIT

We believe that the core of the disaster unit should be housed within FEMA, combining existing staff who have disaster response experience with existing staff and
resources from FEMA's National Preparedness Directorate (NP). NP is currently assigned the mission of "maintaining the Federal Government's capability to deliver
effective emergency management during all phases of any national security emergency." The Directorate includes about 900 employees and has an annual appropriation of about $100 million-significant assets that could be used more effectively to
help guide the Federal Government's response to catastrophic natural disasters, especial ly in light of the changing nature of national security emergencies.
In general, the Directorate has many of the people and resources that could help
form the nucleus of the disaster unit I referred to earlier. Its current rapid response
mission places a premium on people with such skills as strategic and tactical planning, logistics, command and control, and communications. Its resources include
communications, transportation, life support, and sophisticated computer modeling
equipment. Through constant planning and exercising, the Directorate maintains a
high level of readiness and is, therefore, able to instantly deploy people and resources from a number of locations to anywhere in the United Stites.
REORGANIZING FEMA IS CRUCIAL TO THE DISASTER UNIT'S SUCCESS

In order to successfully develop the capabilities we envision for it, FEMA's disaster unit must permanently combine staff and resources. The two FEMA directorates
whose resources would form the disaster unit-National Preparedness and State
and Local Programs and Support-have historically not worked well together and
have pursued their missions in isolation from one another. As a result., we do not
believe anything short of a complete reorganization can overcome the institutional
and cultural barriers that have prevented effective cooperation between the two directorates.
OTHER FEDERAL AGENCIES ARE PART OF THE DISASTER UNIT

Although FEMA has the core of the resources needed for a disaster unit, other
Federal agencies also possess assets essential for the rapid Federal response such
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a unit should guide. Other Federal agencies should designate staff who, as part of
their day-to-day responsibilities, will serve as liaisons to FEMA's disaster unit. Like
the core FEMA members of the unit, other agencies' staff will have dual responsibilities: Planning and preparedness activities conducted when no disaster response is
ongoing and directing the resources of their respective agencies during actual responses to catastrophic disasters. The disaster unit will develop working agreements
and operational procedures with other Federal agencies to raw on their existing
resources and capabilities as needed.
We envision that each agency participating in this team would probably have to
designate just one to two staff to serve as liaison(s) to the disaster unit. These staff,
in this capacity, would serve two functions: (1) in the initial response to catastrophic
disasters, they would direct the resources of their respective agencies on the basis
of damage and needs assessments, analysis, and direction from the FEMA-based
disaster unit; and (2) periodically, they would participate with FEMA in the kinds
of planning exercises and simulations discussed earlier to improve their own preparedness and response capability. For this second function, all Federal agencies
with disaster response activities would help develop and participate in FEMA's exercises and simulations in order to better prepare them for the demands their liaisons
will be placing on them during an actual catastrophic disaster.
We have identified the folloWing resources and/or capabilities that already exist
in other Federal agencies.
TABLE 1-RESOURCES AND CAPABILITIES OF FEDERAL AGENCIES FOR DISASTER
RESPONSE
Resource. capability

Agency

Damage assessment; mass care (food. mobile kitchens, medical
facilities. shelter); transportion; debris removal; communications

Department of Defense ...........................................

Forest Service ..................................... Damage assessment: incident command teams; transportation:
National Aeronautics and Space Administration
(NASA).
Public Health Service .........................................

Department of Energy ..

................................

short-term food supplies (mobile feeding units); logistics suppod; debris removal (chain saw crews)
Aerial reconnaissance (for damage assessment)
Disaster Medical Assistance Teams

. Emergency power and fuel

FEMA WOULD ONLY MOBILIZE AND DEPLOY THE DISASTER UNIT FOR CATASTROPHIC
DISASTERS

The disaster unit's mobilization and deployment should begin when a disaster is
imminent or has happened. At this time, the unit would be actively collecting information about actual or likely damages and needs. When the disaster unit collects
enough information to determine that a disaster is truly catastrophic, it should function as an initial response management team. Unlike FEMA's normal response for
less-than-catastrophic disasters, mobilizing and deploying the disaster unit should
not be contingent on a presidential disaster declaration. Mobilization and deployment is most likely to precede such declarations, and in no case should the disaster
unit be constrained from 3initiating response activities where it sees or has identified
immediate unmet needs.
FEMA should mobilize and deploy the disaster unit-and thus decide that a catastrophic disaster is imminent or has happened-on the basis of two broad considerations: Past experience and predisaster planning, modeling, and vulnerability assesments.
FEMA already has significant experience in dealing with a variety of disasters for
which it can estimate beforehand the extent of damage and the immediate response
needs the affected areas will have. These kinds of disasters include some for which
there is advance warning, such as hurricanes, typhoons, and widespread flooding,
as well as unexpected disasters, such as tornadoes and earthquakes. This experience
has generated criteria for when a disaster unit would be used. These include the
expected magnitude of the disaster, accessibility of the affected area(s), potential for
loss of life and/or shelter, the capability of State and local governments to respond,
and the potential for State and local response capabilities to be destroyed.
FEMA faces a special challenge in planning how it will activate such a unit when
it is faced with a disaster with which it has little or no experience, such as radiological or hazardous material releases. In these cases, it is especially critical that this
3
However as we noted earlier, legislative action may be needed to authorize FEMA to deploy
staff to the disaster area prior to a major disaster declaration.

disaster unit conduct (as part of day-to-day operations) planning exercises, modeling, demographic analysis, mapping, and other simulation techniques so that the
unit can predict the impact of the kinds of disasters FEMA has not yet faced. Using
these analyses, FEMA could then develop and plan for additional criteria for activating its disaster unit and test these criteria in the exercises it conducts with other
Federal agencies.
INCREASING RELIANCE ON DOD TO PROVIDE MASS CARE COULD STRENGTHEN THE
FEDERAL RESPONSE TO CATASTROPHIC DISASTERS
The key to successfully resp6nding to a catastrophic disaster is rendering sufficient life-sustaining assistance, such as food, water, shelter, and medical care, and
dealing with mass psychological trauma within a short period of time. With the current disaster response system's reliance on State- and locally-identified needs,
FEMA cannot ensure a timely or adequate response. Furthermore, FEMA lacks procedures that specifically guide how the Federal Government will offer mass care
when State, local, and volunteer efforts fall short.
The responses to Hurricanes Andrew and Iniki demonstrated the effectiveness of
the military in providing a variety of supplies and services and in establishing the
infrastructure necessary to restore order and meet immediate needs of victims.
However, neither the responses to those storms nor the experts with whom we consulted indicated DOD should have overall management responsibility for disaster
relief and recovery.
Often, when a catastrophic disaster leaves a gap between what volunteers can
provide and the needs of disaster victims, DOD is the only organization capable of
providing, transporting, and distributing sufficient quantities of the items needed to
III thatga. For example:
-DOD has trained medical and engineering personnel, mobile medical units,
storehouses of food and temporary shelters, contingency planning skills, cornmand capability, and other requirements for mass care, as well as the transportation to deploy them. Building up response capability in other organizations,
such as FEMA, would be redundant.
-Catastrophic relief activities mirror some of DOD's wartime support missions.
Soldiers are trained for similar missions and catastrophic disaster relief provides soldiers with additional training.
-Catastrophic disaster responses, such as those for Hurricane Andrew, are smaller than many military operations and do not significantly affect DOD's military
readiness in the short term.
The American Red Cross currently is responsible for providing mass care as well
as for coordinating support for this function with DOD, the IU.S. Department of Agriculture, and other voluntary organizations. For all but the most severe catastrophic disasters, the Red Cross and its large network of volunteers may be well
suited to meet this responsibility. In fact, in Louisiana, the State and volunteer
agencies were able to provide almost all of the mass care services needed with relatively little Federal assistance.
However, for disasters as devastating as Hurricane Andrew in South Florida, the
needs of disaster victims are so overwhelming that there is a gap between those
needs and the level of reeources the Red Cross and other voluntary organizations
can provide. Although the Red Cross responded immediately to the needs of Hurricane Andrew's victims-sheltering those who evacuated South Florida and providing
some mass care after the storm-a gap between immediate need and available private voluntary resources was inevitable for a disaster of this magnitude. Only DOD
can quickly escalate the response if, as was the case with Hurricane Andrew, the
destruction and need for mass care is far greater than first anticipated.
USING FEMA'S DISASTER UNIT TO OBTAIN MASS CARE RELIEF FROM DOD

While we clearly see a major role for DOD in providing mass care, we do not advocate turning over the entire disaster response, relief, and recovery operations to the
military. If FEMA had the disaster unit we discussed earlier, that unit would be
in the best position to determine when to turn to the military to play a major role
in providing mass care to catastrophic disaster victims. Because the disaster unit
wil translate damage assessments into estimates of immediate response needs and
determine the extent to which FEMA and other Federal participants (including the
Red Cross) can meet those needs, the unit will be in the best position to determine
when mass care needs are outstripping the private sector's capacity to respond.
Therefore, the disaster unit should decide when to recommend to the State that increased military assistance be provided.
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RETAINING CIVILIAN CONTROL OVER ANY DOMESTIC DOD MISSION

DOD's role in disaster response needs to remain under the direction of a civilian
authority outside of the Department for two important reasons: (1) DOD's first and
foremost responsibility is to deal with those military matters affecting national security; a full-time DOD mission of managing disaster preparedness and relief could
detract from the Department's primary responsibility; and (2) DOD officials strongly
believe, and we agree, that assuming overall management responsibility could create the impression that the military is attempting to make or direct domestic policy
which runs contrary to principles that have guided the military's role in the United
States. Throughout our review, military officials repeatedly emphasized their willingness to work for and support a civilian-led disaster response.
PREPARING OTHER FEDERAL AGENCIES TO RESPOND WHEN DOD'S RESPONSE ROLE MUST
BE LIMITED

Any increased role that DOD might be assigned in disaster response must be accompanied by appropriate and sufficient backup capabilities elsewhere in the Federal Government in the event DOD is engaged in responding to world events at the
time. DOD officials noted that responding to a catastrophic disaster will not adversely affect short-term military readiness. However, if Hurricane Andrew had occurred during Operation Desert Storm, DOD would not have been able to provide
as much airlift to transport personnel, equipment, and relief supplies to the disaster
area. It also is questionable whether it could have provided the same number of personnel to assist in disaster relief efforts.
During such times, the Federal response strategy needs to be able to rely on another Federal agency, such as the Forest Service, to step in. Forest Service officials
told us that their resources directed to fighting forest fires could also lead an initial
response management team. Using the Incident Command System model,4 the Forest Service is able to deploy an incident command team quickly and activate prenegotiated contracts for support services such as transportation and mobile kitchens.
An additional factor affecting the response capability of DOD is the reduction in
its forces. To some extent, this limitation could be overcome through greater use of
the Reserves, which possess many of the ,skills and services that are needed for effective disaster relief operations. Under current law, however, the Reserves may be
asked to volunteer to perform disaster relief operations but may not be required to
do so.
IMPROVING PREPARATION BY ALl. FEDERAL AGENCIES

To respond more quickly, DOD and other Federal agencies also need to mobilize
resources and deploy personnel in anticipation of a catastrophe. Federal response
time could be reduced by encouraging agencies to do as much advance preparation
as possible prior to a disaster declaration-and even earlier for disasters, such as
hurricanes, where some warning exists. However, current law does not explicitly authorize such activities. Therefore, Federal agencies may fail to undertake advance
preparations because of uncertainty over whether costs incurred before a disaster
declaration will ultimately be reimbursed by FEMA. For example, DOD officials told
us that they take some actions to prepare for a disaster when there is warningsuch as identifying quantities, locations, and transportation requirements for mass
care supplies-but they take no additional measures because the Department might
have to pay for the expenses if FEMA ultimately does not request its assistance.
ENSURING PRESIDENTIAL INVOLVEMENT AND LEADERSHIP BEFORE AND AFTER
CATASTROPHIC DISASTERS STRIKE

Because the necessay Federal response to catastrophic disasters is so fundamentally different-bigger and more urgent-than to less severe events, the person or
organization directing the Federal response must explicitly and demonstrably have
the authority of the President in managing the disaster. The presence of presidential leadership creates a powerful, meaningful perception that the Federal Government recognizes an event is catastrophic, is in control, and is going to use every
means necessary to meet the immediate mass care needs of disaster victims. Further, presidential leadership during times when the Federal Government is not en4The Incident Command System is a management tool consisting of procedures for controlling
personnel, facilities, equipment, and communications at the scene of an emergency. Originally
developed for wildland settings, it has evolved into an 'all.risk" system appropriate for all types
of emergencies.

gaged in responding to a catastrophic disaster creates an ongoing sense of the importance of emergency management responsibilities that translates into a better
commitment to preparedness and response by all Federal agencies involved.
The best way to underscore the commitment of the President is to place responsibility for catastrophic disaster preparedness and response with a key official in the
White House. Doing so would institutionalize the direct presidential involvement
that has happened on an ad hoc basis in two recent disasters. Further, this organizational arrangement can be a tool by which emergency management responsibilities throughout the government continually receive heightened levels of attention,
not just in times of catastrophic disasters.
WHITE HOUSE LEADERSHIP FOR CATASTROPHIC DISASTERS

The Director of FEMA should work closely with a designated White House official,
both during a catastrophic disaster as well as during day-to-day operations to ensure that.FEMA and alHnvolved Federal agencies are meeting preparedness requirements for catastrophic disasters. When an event such as Hurricane Andrew
has happened or is imminent, the Director should notify the White House official
that (1) a catastrophic disaster has occurred or is likely to occur, (2) the stricken
area will almost surely require a great deal of immediate and long-term Federal assistance, and (3) in the Director's judgment the disaster unit should deploy to the
affected State(s), assess the situation, and, if necessary, direct the Federal resources
needed to meet the immediate mass care needs of disaster victims.
The designated White House official will then actively monitor all Federal response efforts to ensure that Federal responders treat the catastrophe as their immediate top priority and to determine when backup response capabilities, such as
we discussed in reference to the Forest Service, are required. In order to do so, this
designated official will rely extensively on the FEMADirector and the staff of the
disaster unit deployed to the affected area.
PROVIDING WHITE HOUSE LEADERSHIP FOR FEMA'S DAILY OPERATIONS

The designated White House official should not only monitor the initial Federal
response to catastrophic disasters but also have ongoing responsibility for oversight
of FEMA and other Federal agencies' efforts to plan, prepare for, and respond to
such disasters. This ongoing leadership would offer the disaster unit two key benefits:
-First, it would ensure on a continuing basis the commitment and cooperation
of other Federal agencies in FEMA's efforts to prepare all Federal responders
for catastrophic disasters. FEMA would no longer be forced to rely on its powers
of persuasion to get the commitment and cooperation it needs from other Federal agencies.
-- Second, it would familiarize the-White House official with the manner in which
the Federal Government plans for and responds to such disasters. This official
would then have a working knowledge of immediate response and recovery activities. In contrast to a cabinet secretary who is selected on an ad hoc basis
to manage the Federal response (as happened with Hurricane Andrew), the
White House official would probably have had ample time to learn and rehearse
this response role before actually facing a catastrophic disaster. This ongoing
responsibility would not be a full-time effort but should ensure commitment and
cooperation across the Federal Government to anticipate, prepare for, and respond to catastrophic disasters.
Ultimately, the choice for which official should have this responsibility is the prerogative of the President. However, we believe the primary criteria that must be
used in designating this official are twofold: (1) the official must have sufficient public recognition so that he or she is perceived as having the authority and attention
of the President in managing the disaster; and (2) the official must have access to
and the confidence of the President.
-

CONCLUSIONS

Mr. Chairman, we believe it is imperative that the actions we recommended in
our interim testimonies and those additional recommendations we make today receive prompt and deliberate attention in the Congress and the Executive Branch.
We have been fortunate so far-relatively few lives were lost in Hurricanes Hugo,
Andrew or Iniki. But we could easily face much worse disasters.
Specifically, we have already recommended that FEMA develop a catastrophic disaster response capability by (1) conducting independent and comprehensive damage
and needs assessments; (2) using its existing authority to aggressively respond to

catastrophic disasters, including actively advising State and local officials of identified needs and the Federal resources available to address them; (3) actively determining when DOD resources will be needed to supplement those of the Red Cross
in meeting mass care needs; and (4) enhancing the capacity of State and local governments to respond to catastrophic disasters by continuing to give them increasing
flexibility to match grant funding with individual response needs, upgrading training and exercises specifically geared towards catastrophic disaster response, and assessing each State's preparedness for catastrophic disaster response.
We also noted that the Congress should consider (1) giving FEMA and other Federal agencies explicit authority to take actions to prepare for catastrophic disasters
when there is warning and (2) removing statutory restrictions on DOD's authority
to activate reserve units for catastrophic disaster relief.
In responding to disasters, State, local, and volunteer agencies should do as much
as possible before turning to the Federal Government for help. However, it is essential to recognize that the magnitude of certain disasters, such as Hurricane Andrew,
will quickly outstrip the capacity of all but the Federal Government to respond. If
we do not recognize the extraordinary demands a catastrophic disaster places on all
levels of government and build that recognition into appropriate legislative authority planning exercises, operational procedures, and response strategies, we run the
risk of far greater loss of life than we saw in South Florida, Louisiana, and Hawaii.
We earlier noted that we found a consensus among a wide variety of officials that
the Federal Government must be prepared to rapidly respond when a disaster outstrips the resources of the State, local, and private voluntary components of our disaster response system. Unfortunately, the Federal Government is not yet prepared
to be a rapid responder. Therefore we believe the time is right for a fundamental
reexamination of the manner in which we provide Federal leadership to plan, prepare for, and respond to catastrophic disasters.
Tornadoes and hurricanes occur every summer and fall-just months away-while
other types of disasters could happen at any time. Beyond the problems experienced
by disaster victims, the response to Hurricane Andrew in South Florida is even
more troubling in light of the kinds of disasters with greater damage and loss of
life that we have not yet faced but that experts tell us may well happen. We could
experience -stronger hurricanes, earthquakes, radiological or hazardous material releases, or terrorist and nuclear attacks. This Committee's recent work to improve
government organization and performance, including, Mr. Chairman your statement that a unique opportunity for change is before us, is particularly crucial for
FEMA. The steps we have proposed represent a substantial improvement in and reassessment of the Federal response to catastrophic disasters and, we believe, should
be the foundation for changes that you and the Administration consider as we work
together to reconstitute FEMA.
RECOMMENDATIONS TO FEMA
The Federal Government needs to develop a catastrophic disaster response capability. Accordingly, FEMA should
-Establish a disasterunit headquartered in FEMA. This unit would be comprised
of a core of FEMA staff and would be augmented by resources and staff from
other key Federal agencies. The unit would-using analyses of State and local
governments' capability and preparedness to respond to catastrophic disasterspredict, plan for, and asses the damage resulting from catastrophic disasters.
The unit would also translate its damage assessments into estimates of immediate response needs, including the extent to which FEMA and the other Federal participants can meet those needs. On the basis of its assessments and
needs determinations, the unit would make concrete recommendations to the
governor of the affected State regarding the amount, type and cost of Federal
assistance that should be sought. The disaster unit should direct any needed
Federal relief effort.
RECOMMENDATION TO THE PRESIDENT
The President should:
-Designate a senior official in the White House to oversee Federal pre aredness
for and responses to catastrophic disasters. This official should not only monitor
the initial Federal response to catastrophic disasters but also have ongoing responsibility for oversight of FIEMA and other Federal agencies' efforts to plan,
prepare for and respond to such disasters.
Mr. Chairman, this concludes myprepared statement. I would be pleased to respond to any questions that you or Members of the Committee may have.

APPENDIX I
RESPONSE TO HURRICANE AINDREW IN SOUTH FLORIDA REVEALS INADEQUACIES
INADEQUACIES IN FEMA'S FEDERAL RESPONSE PLAN

Hurricane Andrew in South Florida showed that FEMA's response strategy, implemented through the Federal Response Plan, is not adequate for dealing with catastrophic disasters. The plan is based upon the premise that an increasing number
of the 12 functional response areas will be activated, depending on the gravity of
the disaster. Although all of the plan's 12 functional areas were activated for Hurricane Andrew, the response was neither immediate nor adequate. The key reasons
for theplan's failure included the absence of provisions for rapid assessment of the
disaster s magnitude and the lack of a specific functional responsibility for escalating the Federal response to meet the extraordinary requirements of a catastrophic
disaster.
The Federal response to Hurricane Hug in 1989 highlighted the fact that the
Federal Government may be the only entity capable of quickly providing the large
amounts of life-sustaining services needed immediately after a catastrophic disaster.
For example, FEMA's own internal evaluation of the lessons learned from Hurricane
Hugo noted that "it is quite clear that in an extraordinary or catastrophic event that8
overwhelms the State, the Federal Government may be the principal responder."
In addition, the report recommended that a plan be developed to address the need
for a Federal response to significant natural disasters.
The Federal Response Plan developed by FEMA after Hurricane Hugo, however,
does not have a support function for damage and needs assessments, even though
the plan itself recognizes that the magnitude of damage to structures and lifelines
will rapidly overwhelm the capacity of State and local governments to assess the
disaster and to identify and respond effectively to basic and emergency human
needs. In spite of this FEMA relies on State and local governments to identify services need from the F'ederal Government once they have determined that they cannot adequately meet their needs.
Conducting damage and needs assessments as soon as a disaster occurs would enable local, State, and Federal agencies to know what type and how much response
is needed within 12 to 24 hours. The lack of both a comprehensive damage assessment and the ability to translate that assessment into an overall estimate of the
services needed was one of the most glaring deficiencies in the response to Hurricane Andrew. Absent any provisions for FEMA to either oversee or conduct a comrehensive damage assessment that can be used to estimate the services needed by
isaster victims, it followed its normal procedures following the disaster declaration
in South Florida. These procedures are based on the assumption that State and
surveys and will then use that inforlocal governments already have conducted such
mation to request specific Federal assistance.6
Although FEMA headquarters officials realized that massive amounts of relief
would be needed from the Federal Government-and that Florida was not asking
for the aid it needed-FEMA's Director told us that FEMA is limited by the Stafford
Act to responding only to State requests for assistance. Therefore he said, FEMA
could not help the State unless it asked for assistance and specified how much it
needed.
We believe that FEMA is authorized to take much more aggrssive action than
it took in Hurricane Andrew. For example, once the Presidenthas declared a disaster FEMA has ample authority to conduct its own damage and needs assessment
anA then recommend to the State specific amounts of assistance that should be requested. Further, FEMA has the assets-in its National Preparedness Directoratethat could have been instrumental in such tasks as assessing damage, and establishing communication links betweenlocal, State, and Federal officials at the disaster site. However, they were not fully used to respond to Hurricane Andrew and
other recent disasters, in part, because the Federal Response Plan lacks procedures
for using the Directorate's assets to respond to natural disasters.
As illustrated by the response to Hurricanes Andrew in Louisiana and Iniki in
Hawaii, the Federal response worked better in disasters of less magnitude and impact. Because Hurricane Andrew was less severe when it hit Louisiana and because
s'Response to Hurricane Hugo and the Loma Prieta Earthquake: Evaluation and Lessons
Learned*FEMA, May 1991. Unpublished.
sCurrently, FEMA and officials from affected States conduct a preliminary damage assessment before the State requests a presidential disaster declaration. The info.'nation collected is

used by the State as a bsis for the Governor's request and by FEMA for the purpose of determining whether it will recommend to the President that the request be granted.

Hurricane Iniki hit a less populated area, a smaller Federal response was necessary.
For example, FEMA's funding authorizations for all agencies' response and recovery
million was for Florida,
missions totaled about $820.5 million. Of this total, $726.4
7
$83 million for Hawaii, and $11.1 million for Louisiana.
Although damage assessment procedures were similar in all three locations, there
was less confusion about needs in Louisiana and Hawaii. In Louisiana, FEMA
worked with State officials to develop a list of specific goods and services needed,
including food and water, prior to the presidential disaster declaration. In contrast,
in Florida, State and local governments were unable to specify needs because of the
overwhelming nature of Hurricane Andrew and the resultant confusion, causing
delays in the provision of services. In addition, FEMA appeared to be more proactive
in Louisiana and Hawaii than it had been in South Florida in working to accelerate
response activities. For example, in Hawaii, FEMA, in collaboration with DOD, arranged for the military to provide mass care and other assistance within 7 hours
of the presidential disaster declaration. In South Florida, the President decided to
call in the military 4 days following the disaster declaration. Federal troops were
not requested by Louisiana.
RESPONSE TO HURRICANE ANDREW IN SOUTH FLORIDA DID NOT MEET NEEDS
In South Florida, State, local, and volunteer agencies fell far short of providing
the amount of life-sustaining services needed in the immediate aftermath of Hurricane Andrew. For example, during the first 3 days after Hurricane Andrew, FEMA
reports indicate that the combined efforts of Federal, State, local, and volunteer
agencies provided enough meals to feed about 30,000 to 50,000 disaster victims a
day, although Andrew8 left about 160,000 to 250,000 people homeless and potentially
-in need of mass care.
A number of disaster victims in South Florida told us that the relief effort was
inadequate. They said that they survived by resorting to such actions as looting grocery stores to feed their families, drinking potentially contaminated water from
leaking faucets, and staving off looters by living in makeshift dwellings set up in
front of their homes.
In addition, local officials, who in many cases were victims of the storm, knew
that they were unable to meet their citizens' needs for life-sustaining services. However, they were having trouble communicating with one another and with the State,
and were unable to request specific quantities of assistance.
FEMA regional officials told us that they knew by the second day after the disaster that more resources beyond those of the American Red Cross would be needed
to meet the mass care needs of the disaster victims. These officials then offered to
provide the State with whatever assistance it requested. Howev, r, Florida did not
immediately request significant amounts of additional mass care because it had the
impression that the State/local/volunteer network was doing an adequate job. For
example, according to the State official who co-managed Florida's emergency operating center, the American Red Cross officials informed him that it had established
feeding centers in Homestead and Florida City. The Red Cross later learned that
some of the mobile feeding units it sent to the areiis were not able to reach these
cities because debris was still blocking the roadways. In fact, Homestead and Florida City-perhaps the two hardest-hit areas--did not get large scale f'eding operations until the military supplemented voluntary efforts with field kitchens there 5
days after the disaster.
By the second day after the disaster, FEMA headquarters officials said that they
had realized that a massive amount of relief would be needed from the Federal Government-and that Florida was not requesting it. To deal with this problem, concurrent with the designation of the Secretary of Transportation to oversee relief operations, the President also directed increased Federal assistance, particularly from
the military, to South Florida. At that point, significant amounts of relief supplies
began flowing into the region.
7Actual costs incurred could vary from the amount authorized. To illustrate, DOD's incurred
costs as of February 1993 totaled about $553 million of which $512 million was for Florida, $34
million for Hawaii, and $6.8 million for Louisiana.
5The figures provided should be viewed as rough indications only. GAO found rio accurate statistics to precisely measure the mass care shortfall. Reports on meals served during the first
3 to 4 days after landfall were often incomplete. However, State and local officials agreed that
there was a large gap between the amount of the mass care provided and the actual need.
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RESPONSE IN LOUISIANA AND HAWAII WAS ADEQUATE

We found that the response to Hurricane Andrew in Louisiana and Hurricane
Iniki in Hawaii was viewed as adequate by State and local officials, in contrast to
Florida. State and local officials we spoke with in Louisiana and in Hawaii told us
that overall the response was satisfactory. In fact in Louisiana, we were told that
offers of Federal assistance were more than adequate. State officials from Louisiana
and Hawaii told us that the response efforts were successful for a variety of reasons,
including a much smaller need for Federal assistance and close coordination among
all levels of government and volunteer organizations. Although some problems, such
as communications, were experienced, these did not delay the delivery of services.
Officials also told us that although no comprehensive damage assessment was
conducted in either State (as was the case in Florida), Louisiana and Hawaii were
generally able to identify their specific needs. In fact, FEMA assisted Louisiana officials in preparing a list of needed Federal provisions and services, which was incorporated into the request for a presidential disaster declaration.
APPENDIX II
MAKING BETTER USE OF STATE AND LOCAL RESOURCES AVAILABLE To RESPOND TO
CATASTROPHIC DISASTERS
IMPROVING USE OF CIVIL DEFENSE FUNDS

Approximately $100 million is provided annually under civil defense authorities
to develop State and local emergency response capabilities. Civil defense activities,
which include the construction of emergency operating centers and training for key
personnel, are carried out under the authority of the Civil Defense Act of 1950, as
amended. The 1950 act originally was intended to develop a civil defense capability
in the event of nuclear attack. However, a 1981 amendment to the act permits
States to spend these funds on an all-hazards approach. That is, States may use
civil defense funds to prepare for natural disasters to the extent that such use is
consistent with, contributes to, and does not detract from attack-related civil defense
preparedness.
Many State and local officials have told us that FEMA very closely controls what
types of activities qualify for civil defense funding. According to these officials, nuclear defense concerns still predominate. The State and local officials stated that
civil defense funding did not correspond to their areas' disaster response priorities
and they would like additional flexibility to use civil defense funds to meet their priorities.
FEMA officials are aware of the benefits that increased flexibility would provide
State and local entities and are considering merging the various programs into
broader categories to enable a more diversified use of the funds. Some civil defense
programs have been suspended for the current year while awaiting the results of
FEMA's study of civil defense requirements, which is nearing completion. This study
is intended to identify needs at the State and local level and establish appropriate
funding levels for civil defense activities.
BETTER TRAINING FOR STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTS

The amount of Federal resources needed to respond to a catastrophic disaster is
lessened if State and local government response capabilities are increased. We believe that FEMA could do more to ensure that State and local governments prepare
for catastrophic disaster response. Our review uncovered shortcomings both in the
way FEMA helps State and local governments train and conduct exercises in anticipation of catastrophic disasters and in the way it monitors State and local preparedness.
FEMA's own evaluation and our report on Hurricane Hugo recognized-a number
of training deficiencies. 9 These included the need to provide State and local governments with training specifically geared towards developing such necessary catastrophic disaster response skills as assessing damage and estimating the amount of
mass care needs. However, State and local officials have not received such training.
For example, Dade County's Emergency Management Director told us that instead
of training her in such skills as conducting damage and needs assessments, FEMA
typically offered generic management training designed to enhance skills such as
9DisasterAssistance: Federal, State, and Local Responses to Natural Disasters Need Improve.

ment (GAOIRCED-91-43, Mar. 6, 1991).
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keeping program budgets. One of the biggest problems with the response to Hurricane Andrew in South Florida was the inability of State and local officials to determine how bad the disaster was and to specify how much assistance was needed.
FEMA officials told us that its Emergency Management Institute (EMI) is developing courses to enhance State and local officials' ability to respond to catastrophic
disasters. However, EMI officials told us that they further delayed development of
many disaster response courses until the completion of the Federal Response Plan,
which was not finished until April 1992. Because such courses usually require about
2 years to develop, most were not available in time for Hurricane Andrew.
Most State officials believe that their State disaster exercises do not adequately
prepare them to respond to catastrophic disasters. These officials cite such problems
as too few exercises, low Federal participation, and failure to act on weaknesses
identified. To illustrate, Dade County conducted only one hurricane preparedness
exercise in the past 4 years. There were 144 participants for the 1991 exercise-and none were from the Federal Government.
In 1991, FEMA staged two major earthquake exercises, involving one along the
New Madrid fault (near Memphis, Tennessee) and one near Puget Sound, Washington to test the draft Federal Response Plan. The New Madrid exercise identified
such problems as (1) an individual Red Cross chapter's inability to handle a catastrophic disaster by itself, and (2) participants who had not had sufficient training
on their roles in the plan. The Puget Sound exercise identified problems such as (1)
inadequate State requests for assistance, (2) hesitation by Federal personnel that
could ave resulted in numerous delays in procuring essential supporting services,
and (3) communications system failures. These identified problems proved to be accurate, as shown by the events of Hurricane Andrew in South Florida. However,
these shortcomings have not yet been corrected.
IMPROVING OVERSIGHT OF STATE AND LOCAL READINESS
Greater preparedness and accountability for State and local governments is needed to ensure that they, as well as participating Federal agencies, make maximum
efforts to effectively respond to disasters. However, FEMA is neither organized for,
nor carries out, the type of oversight needed to ensure that deficiencies are identified and corrected.
FEMA headquarters sets policies and establishes training programs but does not
monitor State performance. Regional offices implement headquarters' initiatives and
interact directly with the States. However, regional offices report directly to the
FEMA Director, not to the policy-setting program offices in headquarters. Headquartera officials told us that, as a result, they do not have comprehensive knowledge of State readiness.
Regional officials told us that headquarters has neither established performance
standards nor developed a program for evaluating State and local preparedness for
catastrophic disaster response. Therefore, the regions have no uniform national
standards that can be used to judge State and local readiness. By creating performance standards and then evaluating how well State and local governments perform,
FEMA can increase the accountability for all participating agencies.
Accountability can also be increased by allowing the States greater flexibility to
channel FEMA funding to their own high-priority threats and by supporting this
added flexibility with increased FEMA outreach efforts. Allowing States to take on
a larger role in managing and addressing their greatest threats makes them more
of a stakeholder in the outcome. Increased outreach efforts would provide FEMA
with needed understanding of local strengths and weaknesses. This increased understanding would allow FEMA to work as a true partner with State and local governments-rather than to simply prescribe efforts from a Federal perspective.
In an effort to increase coordination and sharing of resources within and among
States, several States have formulated compacts or mutual aid agreements in order
to provide resources and assistance in the event of a disaster. For example, the
Southern Governors' Association has recently formed a steering committee to prepare a cooperative agreement that will set forth an executive plan and inventory.
The plan will outline the operations, resources, and activities that may be activated
when a disaster strikes a member State.
SUPPORT OF THE GOVERNOR AND STATE LEGISLATURE AND STATE'S FISCAL
SOUNDNESS AFFECT PREPAREDNESS
Factors unique to each State influence its level of preparedness. These factors include the commitment on the part of the governor and State legislature to emergency management, the reality of a perceived emergency threat, and the State's fiscal soundness.

Officials from State and local government organizations told us that support from
the governor and State legislature as well as the reality of a perceived threat have
the greatest influence on emergency management. These officials often cited the
State of California as a case in point. Even though California has been so financially
stressed that it ended fiscal year 1992 with a negative balance, it has a strong emergency management program that is based upon the reality of its earthquake threat.
In fact, California is considered to be one of the best prepared States in the Nation
and has its own specialized training institute that offers courses to State, local, and
other officials in responding to such problems as earthquakes, floods, and hazardous
materials spills. Officials also told us that other smaller States, such as Tennessee
and North Carolina, have strong emergency management programs because of the
strong su port by the governors and State legislatures, as well as the perceived
threat of disasters.
In contrast, some financially stressed States may believe that there is no real
threat of a disaster and adjust their funding decisions accordingly. For example, several years ago the State of Colorado scaled back its emergency management program because of (1) lack of a perceived threat and (2) budgetary constraints. Activities related to emergency management were placed in two separate State agencies.
Over the past 3 years, States have been under continuing fiscal pressures. in general, State and local governments are running a deficit in financing current operations, and ex enditures have been increasing faster than revenues. For example,
the State of Florida has experienced financial pressures that have had a negative
impact on its emergency management program. In a 1992 report, the State noted
that over the previous 3 fiscal years, general revenue funding for the program had
decreased 31 percent, while Federal and local funding increased. However, overall
funding to support the program had not kept pace with the State's population
grov'th. According to the report, the continuing decline in State general revenue
funds has "eroded the emergency response capabilities of the State and its political
subdivisions."
PREPARED STATEMENT OF CONGRESSMAN WELDON
INTRODUCTION
Thank you for the opportunity to testify at this morning's important hearing on
rebuilding the Federal Emergency Management Agcncy (FEMA). Before I begin my
substantive comments, I want to commend the Committee for focusing its attention
on the problem of immediate disaster relief. In particular, I commend the Committee's Chairman, Senator Glenn, for his long-standing leadership on fire and emergency service issues.
We are here because of the public outcry about the problems with our nation's
system for immediate response to large-scale disasters. As a result of perceived failures in the federal government's reaction to Hurricane Andrew, Congress required
the United States General Accounting Office (GAO) and the National Academy of
Public Administration (NAPA) to report on the effectiveness and organization of
FEMA. While many of the recommendations proposed by these two organizations
are excellent, I am concerned by the conspicuous absence of comments and suggestions from emergency responders. As a former fire fighter, I am absolutely convinced
that input from people who actually respond to natural and man-made disasters is
imperative if our Nation is to adequately prepare for the next disaster.
The question is not whether another natural disaster like Hurricane Andrew will
strike the United States, but when. It is inevitable. Improvements in our nation's
emergency response capabilities could one day prove to be the difference between
life and death. For this reason, I am pleased to participate in this review of our nation's disaster preparedness, mitigation, response, and recovery program and to provide a first responder perspective to this discussion.
BACKGROUND
As you may know, I have an intense personal and professional interest in fire and
emergency service issues. Following in the footsteps of my father and six brothers,
1 joined the Viscose Fire Company in Marcus Hook, Pennsylvania at the age of 18.
Over the course of many years as a volunteer with the fire company, I worked my
way up through the ranks to become President and Chief.
As a member of a volunteer fire company, I obtained an appreciation of the importance of adequate fire fighter education and training. Cons euently, I decided to attend Delaware County Community College at night, and in 1972, 1 received an
A.A.S. Degree in Fire Protection. In addition to this graduate degree in fire science,

I earned certification as a State Fire Instructor from the Pennsylvania State Fire
School and became the first Administrator of the Delaware County Fire Academy.
In this position, I managed training programs for 77 fire companies and directed
approximately 200 separate training courses.
Like many volunteer fire fighters, I have had to respond to major disasters. For
example, in 1975 I served as Assistant Chief followin the collision of an American
chemical cargo ship, the Edgar M. Queeny, and the Corinthos, a Liberian tanker,
at the Delaware River docks. The impact triggered a violent explosion and fire that
killed 29 people. In the aftermath of the accident, I wrote a technical assessment
of the incident, entitled "The Corinthos Disaster." This assessment report also focused on marine and refiner fire safety issues.
In January of 1977, I com ined careers and interests and joined INA Corporation,
now Cigna, as director of training and manpower development. As director, I was
responsible for the development of programs and activities in the area of risk management, which included fire protection, arson, hazardous and toxic waste handling,
industrial hygiene, and environmental liability.
Ironically, Iwas asked to testify before several Committees in the Congress prior
to my own election in 1986. In addition to appearing before various legislative bodies, I participated in numerous training seminars and spoke before many State and
National Fire Conventions.
Although I decided to run for a seat in Congress for other important policy reasons, I quickly became alarmed by the lack of attention to fire service issues. To
this end, I joined with several of my colleagues in both the House and Senate to
establish the Congressional Fire Services Caucus (CFSC). The CFSC, which is the
largest such organization on Capitol Hill, heightens awareness about the fire service
and advocates on its behalf.
FEDERAL DISASTER RESPONSE
As the brief description above of my background illustrates, a major portion of my
life has been devoted to fire protection and emergency response. Therefore, I believe
that I am qualified to address the subject matter of this hearing from the dual perspective of first responder as well as policy-maker.
For too many years, the views of fire fighters, ambulance drivers, disaster medics,
and other responders have been ignored or shoved to the side by civil defense experts and/or military personnel. In order to have a meaningful discussion about the
ate of FEMA and the federal disaster response plan, it is important to take the
time to evaluate carefully the views of my peers in the American Fire Service. This
is not happening. The NAPA study, for example, states that "emergency management has almost no natural constituency base until an emergency or disaster occurs."
This statement is ironic considering that on April 28 at the Washington Hilton
approximately 2,000 fire fighters from across the country attended the 5th Annual
Fire and Emergency Services Dinner. For a non-existent constituency, that's a pretty good turnout. While I do not necessarily disagree with the NAPA study conclusions about administrative and Congressional neglect of FEMA, poor coordination
between the various levels of government, and a lack of clear mission for FEMA,
the report neglects to solicit the views of a readily available constituency.
In preparation of its report, the GAO talked with the National Emergency Management Associations (NEMA), an outstanding organization that I have had the
pleasure to work with over the years. However, NEMA is only one of the many
groups that comprise the fire and emergency services community. Did anyone at
NAPA and the GAO talk with the International Association of Fire Chiefs, the
International Association of Fire Fighters, the National Volunteer Fire Council, or
the National Association of State Fire Marshals. These four groups alone represent
approximately 1.6 million first responders. Considering that these people risk their
lives on a daily basis responding to all sorts of emergencies, it would make some
sense to talk with them.
Following Hurricane Andrew, many in Congress began to call for the abolition of
FEMA and a complete overhaul of the federal disaster response plan. Prior to taking
any drastic action or hasty steps, we must review FEMA in the context of its history. It is easy to criticize FEA, and in my opinion, much of it is very well deserved. I have been outspoken on many occasions, but I also realize that our nation's shortcomings in immediate disaster response are not all FEMA's fault. It is
a complex problem that has many causes.
In the past FEMA has been a political dumping ground for retired generals and
civil defense bureaucrats who had little practical understanding of, or interest in,
emergency issues. The agency focused on fall-out shelters and civil defense, not on
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emergency response. It should come as no surprise, therefore, that FEMA has had
difficulty responding to natural disasters.
Aside from the problems with FEMA's policy orientation, the agency has only attempted in recent years to solicit the participation of emergency responders. Many
policy-makers have advocated transferring responsibility for immediate disaster response to the Department of Defense (DOD). Even the GAO supports an enhanced
role for our military in the disaster response and recovery program. While this
would presumably supply the military with a new funding justification in a post
Cold War world, it has many serious policy implications and fails to solve the issue
of involving local authorities and responders.
Speaking as a former local official, I think it is important to respect the Constitutional principle of federalism. State and local civil agencies know their resources
and response capabilities better than the federal government, and they should take
the lead role in assessing immediate damage. While the DOD played a critical role
in responding to the victims of Hurricane Andrew, the military's primary purpose
is to protect and defend the United States from armed threats. This mission is completely different from disaster relief, which is by necessity a State and local issue.
When I was Chairman of the CFSC, I had the opportunity to observe first-hand
the federal response to a number of natural and man-made disasters including: The
World Trade Center Bombing, Hurricane Andrew, the Loma Prieta Earthquake, the
Yellowstone Wildfire, and the Valdez Oil Spill. In these situations, the failure to
adequately plan and prepare at the local level caused significant problems. Metro
Dade's difficulties with the enforcement of building codes, for example, cannot be
blamed on FEMA, while Oakland's success in locating and extricating victims from
the collapsed highway cannot be credited to the federal government.
There is also the problem of Congressional oversight. Twenty subcommittees in
both chambers have jurisdiction over some part of FEMA. Obviously, this overlapping committee structure makes it difficult to review comprehensively FEMA's operations and has caused great confusion about its mission and mandate. According to
testimony of Deborah Hart, Assistant Inspector General for Inspection at FEMA,
many of the problems with immediate response are tied to a perceived lack of authority to act. FEMA officials, for example, thought they lacked authority to preposition equipment before Hurricane Andrew and to make preliminary damage assessments in its aftermath.
Even after former President Bush declared South Florida a federal disaster area,
FEMA officials waited to respond until Florida Governor Lawton Chiles requested
federal assistance. Due to outrage over the slow federal response, the Bush Administration appointed Transportation Secretary Andrew Card to the position of disaster
czar. As a result of DOD involvement, FEMA's statutory responsibility, and Secretary Card's new role, there were no clear lines of authority among the various federal responders. Confusion of this type can be clarified if Congress would better define FEMA's mission.
Many of FEMA's shortcomings, as detailed in the GAO and NAPA reports, have
already been well documented. In fact, FEMA conducted an exhaustive study of its
performance that uncovered weaknesses in its federal response plan. But, for whatever reason, FEMA failed to publish this study entitled, "Response to Hurricane
Hugo and the Loma Prieta Earthquake: Evaluation and Lessons Learned." Although
this document was circulated internally within FEMA, its recommendations were ignored- and the same mistakes, even well known ones, were sadly made again in response to Hurricane Andrew.
CONCLUSION
In short, it is unfair to blame FEMA completely for weaknesses with the federal
response to natural and man-made disasters. The failure of past administrations to
make disaster response a priority, the lack of clear, strong mandate from Congress,
and inattention to mitigation and preparedness by State and local governments
have also greatly contributed to the many shortcomings of FEMA.
FEMA does not need to be abolished. By making common sense adjustments to
FEMA's operations, our Nation can be sure that victims will be cared for in the
event of a catastrophic event. For example, the White House should appoint a pointperson to work with FEMA to help coordinate the response at all levels of government. FEMA should set-up workshops with State and local officials in different regions of the country that are prone to earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes, etc. to
discuss specific mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery programs.
As a former fire fighter, I would like to express my appreciation for the opportunity to appear before this Committee to address this issue. It is important that

responders have input in this review process, and I look forward to continuing this
dialogue.
PREPARED STATEMENT OF JAMES L. WITT
It is a pleasure to appear again before thin :mmittee.
President Clinton honored me when he nominated me for the position of Director
of the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). I am grateful to this Committee for the swift action you took on my confirmation.
In my confirmation hearing I made a number of commitments to this Committee.
This morning I would like to give you a progress report on my accomplishments.
And, then fo low that with comments on my vision and plans for the future direction
of FEMA.
But first, I would like to tell you about my trip to Dade County, Florida. I have
been to many disaster sites and have seen more than enough damage and suffering.
But, I have never seen anyhing like the results of Hurricane Andrew in South Florida. During that visit I identified several major problems severely affecting victims
and the rebuilding process.
I was most affected by the conditions of the people who at that time were living
in the St. Anne Tent City. These people lived in tents that were leaking, and they
had to evacuate several times because of storms. I hate to think of what their life
would have been like after the rainy season started.
Another problem that especially concerned me was debris removal. I saw houses
that had been rebuilt, but the occupants could not move back in because of p7ies
of debris around their houses, and it was demoralizing.
I was determined to help these victims. Since my return from Florida I have
taken the following actions to help these people:
1. We worked with Dade County to put more debris contractors to work--especially around the rebuilt homes.
2. The tent city has been closed and virtually all of the families have been provided FEMA trailers or vouchers for other housing.
3. We have extended the deadline for disaster assistance applications to provide
an opportunity for all victims to apply for the assistance for which they are
* eligible.
THE RENEWAL OF FEMA
One of the first things I did after being sworn-in as director was to review the
statements that I had made during the confirmation process, and then prepare a
checklist of actions to be taken on a priority basis. I would like to describe the major
activities because they provide a picture of where FEMA is going under my leadership. These activities are grouped according to the five priorities I set:
1. Preparing to effectively respond to any disaster.
2. Revitalizing the Agency and improving employee morale.
3. Creating a national emergency management partnership involving FEMA,
other Federal agencies, State and local governments, and private organizations.
4. Establishing mitigation as the foundation of the nation's emergency management system.
5. Examining FEMA's mission and organization.
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DISASTER RESPONSE

I am determined to be as prepared as possible for any major disasters that occur
during my administration.
One of my first activities was to review our response readiness, to determine what
our current capabilities are, and what we need to do to be well prepared. I have
met the representatives of other Federal agencies involved in the Federal Response
Plan, and have written to the State and territorial directors to begin the process
of improving coordination and working relationships. In addition ave asked the
FEMA Regional Directors to assign an employee to work with the Governor and
emergency management director at the State Emergency Operations Center immediately upon occurrence of a disaster warning or event. These assignments have
been made and this procedure has already been applied in a disaster situation. A
FEMA representative worked closely with the Oklahoma Governor and his staff as
they dealt with the recent flooding and tornadoes in that State. As a result, Governor Walters requested a personal meeting to thank FEMA for our support and
swift action.

We are currently examining options for prepositioning resources for an anticipated
disaster, and for establishing rapid deployment teams for use when the event does
occur. We are reviewing our authority to take more of these proactive actions than
we have in the past.
I am especially concerned about the on-coming hurricane season, and have taken
a number of steps to prepare for such an event. We have done a preliminary review
of the readiness of the 22 coastal states. In addition, I will be meeting with the
emergency management directors of the hurricane-prone states next week to discuss
their needs and how we can assist them should a hurricane occur.
ON EMPLOYEE MORALE

One of my first acts as Director was to greet each Headquarters FEMA employee
as they reported for work the next morning. I wanted to let them know, in the clearest possible way, that I will be listening to them and including them in the process
of rebuilding FEMA.Following those meetings I instituted an "Open Door" policy.
I have set aside time each week specifically for FEMA employees to talk with me
about their ideas on how we can improve emergency management in this country
and make FEMA an agency we can aln be proud of.
I have met with representatives of our union at Headquarters. I told them that
I want their ideas and support in making FEMA a better Agency and a better place
to work.
In addition, I have asked all employees to give me their ideas on how we can
make FEMA a better agency and meaningful place to work. In fact, since this request went out, we have been overwhelmed by the response. I want each employee
to share my excitement about what we can do to accomplish this while we build the
best emergency management system in the world.
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PARTNERSHIP

I have initiated the partnership with State and local agencies, private organizations, and other federal agencies through the following actions:
a. I have written to each State and territorial emergency management directct
to state my ideas for a risk-based all hazard emergency management system,
based on a foundation of mitigation. To further this partnership, I have invited these directors to meet with me at the Emergency Management Institute in June to help in the development of the partnership and associated
emergency management system.
b. I have met with the Catastrophic Disaster Response Group. This interagency
group is the focal point for FEMA coordination within the Federal government for planning and responding to a major disaster. In addition, I have had
extremely productive meetings with Secretary Cisneros, Secretary Pena, and
Acting Secretary of the Army Shannon to discuss our mutual responsibilities
in the event of a major disaster.
c. I have initiated the development of a draft Interstate Compact, and will encourage the States and territories to adopt it as a mutual aid agreement. Of
course, after the Compact is adopted it will have to be ratified by Congress.
d. We are preparing a draft model agreement that defines how FEKA and each
State and territory will work together in the event of a major disaster. These
agreements will then be individually negotiated with each State/territory. The
agreements will define how we will work together on major events--especially
during the initial period after the prediction or disaster.
e. Under the Federal Response Plan we have a special group addressing the
problem of initial damage and situation assessment. I have asked that any
new assessment process be designed with participation of appropriate State,
local, and private organizations. We know that damage and situation assessment has to be fast accurate, and complete. We can accomplish this by working together through the partnership.
f.I have initiated a review of the administrative load on State and local agencies receiving FEMA funds. I want to give States the flexibility to develop
their own programs and corresponding priorities without undue restrictions
from FEMA.Our requirements shoulbe
4rformance-based and focused on
program accomplishments. I have also initiated a project to see if we can reduce administrative reporting requirements on the States.
g. As a general practice, have asked Headquarters and Regional personnel to
spend as much time as possible working with State and local organizations.
is practice will enable FEMA personnel to become better acquainted with
their counterparts at the State and local level, and to better understand the
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emergency management organizations, policies and procedures used by these
agencies.
MITIGATION

I believe that mitigation must become a recognized national priority. While mitigation makes good sense, it often isn't a priority for communities. We will work to
change that mindset and provide solid cost-effective tools and incentives to encourage mitigation actions.
The entire nation needs to make the commitment now to invest in the long term
payoff of mitigation and I plan for FEMA to provide the leadership to accomplish
this effort.
To that end, in my letter to State and territorial directors, and to various constituency groups, I announced that mitigation would be the foundation for developing a
stronger emergency management system. I have also discussed this issue with members of my staff to begin the process of integrating mitigation into all of our programs. There are several programs at FEMA which currently emphasize mitigation-we need to build on these programs, especially at State and local levels. We
know that mitigation at all levels can help reduce disaster assistance costs-it
makes good economic sense.
FEMA MISSION AND ORGANIZATION
I have initiated a project to determine the need to revise FEMA's mission, organization and policies. This is being accomplished in two ways:
a. First, I am involving FE MA' employees in the process. A letter was sent to
all employees informing them of the project and inviting their participation.
In addition, we are using several existing ad hoc employee committees to develop ideas and recommendations. Thus, we are using an open approachFEMA's mission and organization will come from the people--the people who
are responsible for the Agency and the people served by the Agency.
b. We are reviewing all of the recent recommendations concerning FEMA that
have been made by various organizations and investigative teams. We will
analyze them and develop a plan for implementation. For example, I have recently met with National Academy of Public Administration (NAPA) officials
to discuss their recommendations and how they can support us as we go
through the review process.
In reviewing FEMA's mission and organization, I have two guiding principles: (1)
Nothing will be changed for the sake of change--but only to do what is necessary
to achieve our goals; (2) The ideas of State and local government representatives
as well as those of the volunteer community will be sought throughout the process.
CONCLUSION

In closing, I agin want to thanht thq Committee for the confidence it has. shown
in me, and for the opportunity to share with you my recent actions and plans for
the renewal of FEMA.
I have described my commitments to this Committee, the Congress, the Administration, the emergency management community and the American public.
However, I cannot meet these commitments alone. I must have the support of
FEMA personnel, state local, and private emergency management officials, and the
support of Congress. While I willingly make these commitments to you this morning, I challenge each of you to, in turn, make a commitment to support the renewed
FEMA, and the new emergency management partnership.
Thank you for your time and attention-I welcome any questions you may have.
PREPARED STATEMENT OF DR. ROBERT C. SHEETS
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee:
My name is Dr. Robert C. Sheets. I am Director of the National Hurricane Center
of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), U.S. Department
of Commerce.
Tropical cyclones are recognized as nature's most destructive phenomena due to
their frequency of occurrence and size. In 1900, a hurricane struck Galveston,
Texas, resulting in more than 6,000 deaths. This remains the largest natural disaster In the history of the United States. By comparison, the great San Francisco
earthquake resulted in 600 deaths. Nearly 2,000 deaths resulted from a hurricane
in 1893 in the offshore islands near Charleston, South Carolina. Nearly the same
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number of deaths resulted from the 1928 hurricane that emptied Lake Okeechobee
onto the surrounding communities of Florida. In 1926, a hurricane caused major
damage in southeast Florida with estimates of loss of life ranging from near 250
to 600. In 1935, a hurricane striking the Florida Keys killed more than 400 people.
A hurricane in 1947 produced wind gusts to 155 mph just south of Palm Beach
County in Florida and in 1969, Camille struck the Mississippi coast with winds estimated to be near 175 mph and gusts near 200 mph. This hurricane produced a
storm surge (dome of water accompanying the storm as it moved ashore) of 25 feet
above normal tides with waves on top of that. More recently, Hurricane Hugo moved
ashore in a relatively low population density area in South Carolina and produced
more than $7 billion in property losses. In 1991 Hurricane Bob moved up the east
coast and resulted in property damage of about $1.5 billion dollars.
Hurricane Iniki crossed the Island of Kauai, Hawaii in September of 1992. With
steady winds moving over 120 mph and localized steady winds over 150 mph, Iniki
touched about every structure on the Island. Estimates of the damage wrought by
Iniki total approximately $1.8 billion.
Hurricane Andrew in 1992 resulted in the largest economic loss from a natural
disaster in United States history. Total losses are estimated to be about $25 billion,
which is more than the total of the three previous most costly hurricanes, or the
two most costly hurricanes and the Loma Prieta earthquake. Insured losses now exceed $16.5 billion, which is more than four times the previous record payout which
occurred with Hurricane Hugo. State Farm Insurance had the record for a payout
by a single insurance company with nearly $500 million for Hurricane Hugo. A representative of the insurance industry recently reported at the National Hurricne
Conference that State Farm had now paid out more than $3.6 billion for losses that
occurred in Hurricane Andrew, more than seven times the previous record. Eight
insurance companies have failed and, as reported by Florida's Insurance Commissioner, major problems are ahead in the insurance situation for all coastal areas
subject to hurricanes. This in turn can have considerable impacts upon the economy.
An insurance representative from the Caribbean reported that re-insurance costs
have doubled and tripled in the past 2 to 3 years, resulting in major economic problems for many small countries in the region.
And yet, we were lucky. It is difficult for me to convince my neighbors, those of
us who live in the core region in South Dade County where Hurricane Andrew
struck of that fact. However, had Hurricane Andrew been displaced only 20 miles
north of its track over South Florida, two different studies show that losses would
have exceeded $60 billion in southeast Florida alone. A continuation of that same
track across Florida would have resulted in major losses in the Ft. Myers area and
would have resulted in our nightmare storm hitting New Orleans, putting that city
under 18 to 20 feet of water. Casualties in the southeast Florida area would have
been large because more than 30 percent of the eople did not evacuate the condominium complexes on Miami Beach, Hallandate and Hollywood. Casualties in
New Orleans could have been very large with people drowning because, as far as
I am aware, there is no plan of "Last Resort Refuge" in place anywhere in the United States except in the Florida Keys. Additionally, Andrew's inland impact could
have been much more severe. It is easy to imagine a slower-moving and much wetter decaying tropical system tracking up the Appalachian Mountains, resulting in
widespread devastation due to inland flooding and mudslides similar to what accompanied Hurricane Agnes in 1972 and Hurricane Camille in 1969. Such flooding
could add dozens fatalities and billions of dollars in damages to the loss list, let
alone add incredible stress to the emergency response and recovery efforts at all levels (local, State and Federal).
Those are certainly frightening numbers, both economically and related to the potential loss of life. Indeed, one of my major concerns in my responsibility for providing adequate warnings, is that the meteorological conditions that would create the
difference in these two courses of movement are essentially undetectable with our
resent observing systems. Certainly, our ability to forecast these differences 24
ours or more in advance with a high degree of confidence is very limited. Computer
models have advanced markedly, with great achievements and advancements at the
temperate latitudes, but much less success at the tropical and subtropical latitudes.
One major limitation is the availability of quantitative data. That is, the models
today are far better than the data we are putting into them. The quantitative data
availability in the tropical and subtropical regions in many ways is worse today
than it was one to two decades ago. Also, as Professor William Gray reported at the
recent National Hurricane Conference, support for Hurricane Research is far less
today, in a relative sense than it was in the 1960s and 1970s. Even in a preparedness and mitigation sense, we seem to have a large imbalance in resources being
directed toward solving our problems associated with hurricanes.

At the recent National Hurricane Conference, it was reported thet FEMA spends
nearly $50 on earthquake related programs for every one dollar it spends upon hurricane programs, excluding relief efforts. This does not mean that the earthquake
problem is any less important than it has been, but clearly the hurricane problem
has not received the attention that it needs. I was pleased by the remarks made
by the new Director of FEMA, Mr. James Witt, at the National Hurricane Conference 2 weeks ago. He stated that he recognized this imbalance of resources and
plans to address these problems as rapidly as possible.
In my opinion, the reason that we have arrived at this situation is that in some
ways we have been a victim of our own successes and the fortunate period of a very
limited number of major hurricane strikes on our coasts. That is, we have been
quite successful in our forecasts, warning and response systems with the recent
major hurricane strikes of Gilbert, Hugo, Bob and now Andrew. Loss of life has been
relatively small and people probably believe that we are better at forecasting and
responding to these events than we are. I wish that this situation continues into
the future, but the case seems unlikely.
Before Hugo and Andrew, fortunately, strong hurricanes striking the U.S. coastline had been infrequent events during the two to three previous decades. However,
recent research has indicated that we are likely to return some time in the near
future to a frequency of hurricanes similar to those experienced in the 1940s, 1950s
and 1960s. If those frequencies of hurricanes return, we will see multi-billion dollar
losses of property almost every year Und potentially large loss of life because of the
rapid coastal development.
The coastal county population from Texas to Maine now exceeds 44 million people.
A substantial portion of that population and associated property at high risk to the
elements of the hurricane reside on barrier islands. The rapid development on these
islands has frequently been supported by federal funds for the infrastructure of a
community such as highways, bridges, water and sewage systems, and shoreline reinforcements. Also, insurance encourages this development, either in the form of the
National Flood Insurance Program or forced "risk pool" wind insurance from the private sector. As I indicated earlier, this situation is about to change drastically for
private sector insurance. However, the success of any of the National Flood Insurance Program reform measures now pending in Congress cannot be assured. In any
case the coastal development programs of the past and present are counter-productive with respect to attempts to reduce the people and amount of property at risk
from hurricanes.
The most rapid growth of the permanent coastal county population for the Gulf
and East coasts has been in the "sunbelt," i e Texas through North Carolina with
extreme growth rates in Florida. Although sone of the mid-Atlantic and New England States have shown lower growth rates for permanent residents than for the
"sunbelt," their vacation and weekend population and property at risk growth rates
have been tremendous. A prime example of that situation is Ocean City, Maryland,
where the permanent population of Worcester County (contains Ocean City) was a
little over 35,000 in 1990, but an estimated 350,000 people were there on Memorial
Day weekend of 1991 with a total of some 3,791,339 visitors from that weekend
through Labor Day weekend in 1991 (source-Ocean City, Maryland Chamber of
Commerce). A similar phenomenon occurs at many other locations such as Padre Island, Texas; Gulf Shores, Alabama; Panama City, Florida; the outer banks of North
Carolina and northward through New England. When these weekend seasonal, and
holiday populations are considered, the number of people at risk on barrier islands
is much more than the permanent population statistics would indicate, increasing
by 10- to 100-fold or more in some areas.
A large portion of these same barrier islands with high population densities (either permanent or seasonal) is subject to inundation from the rapidly rising waters
known as the storm surge created by the winds of the hurricane driving the water
ashore. Historically, it has been these surge waters that have resulted in the large
loss of life and extreme property damage associated with hurricanes. Over the past
several years, the warning system has provided adequate time for the great majority
of the people on barrier islands and along the immediate coast to move inland when
hurricanes have threatened.
However, it is becoming more difficult each year to evacuate people from these
areas, due to roadway systems that have not kept pace with the rapid population
growth. That is, in most coastal regions, it now takes much longer to evacuate a
threatened area than it did a decade ago. Further, roads improved for evacuation
purposes usually act to encourage coastal population growth, since density and other
controls are not imposed to counter increased development pressures tat accompany improved access to the coast. This means that longer and longer lead times
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are required for safe evacuation from threatened areas. Unfortunately, in my opinion, these required longer range forecasts suffer from increased uncertainties.
Also, as I mentioned earlier to my knowledge, only the Florida Keys has a plan
of "last resort refuge" for resiAents who may be trapped by rising waters. That is,
when people are trapped on these barrier islands or, for example, in the city of New
Orleans when the levee system is about to be topped, thousands of people are simply on their own to seek some sort of refuge. The result will be countless loss of
life as it was in Galveston in 1900. Fortunately, the Florida Keys have blazed a trail
that hopefully others will follow. They now have a plan of "last resort refuge" in
place with phased evacuations. That plan was exercised during Hurricane Andrew
and worked quite smoothly. Many other areas need to emulate this plan. Hopefully,
FEMA can play a lead role in this activity.
One factor that had remarkably little widespread public or political awareness
prior to Hurricane Andrew was the potential economic losses due to direct destruction from a major hurricane. Had hurricane related losses continued to spiral upward in tandem with the coastal population growth during the past two decades as
they had during the previous three decades (Figure 1), average annual losses would
now exceed $3 -billion and would continue to escalate at a rapid rate. Such losses
likely would have spurred mitigation actions similar to actions resulting from the
repetitive losses in southeast Florida in the late 1940s and early 1950s. -opefully,
the losses from Hurricane Andrew will now spur such action.
A study in 1988 by the All-Industry Research Advisory Council (AIRAC) showed
trends in insured coastal property that are astonishing. The shocking numbers from
this AIRAC study-revel that "insured property exposures for the first tier of coastal
counties (Gulf and Atlantic coasts of U.S.) came to $1.86 trillion, an increase of 64
percent over the 1980 total..."Even with adjustments for inflation approximatelyy
9 percent), this is a phenomenal figure, and does not include national flood insurance! A close examination of these numbers shows that they reflect more than just
the permanent population trends, but also are a measure of major developments for
tourism and summer or vacation homes. One such example is Worcester County,
Maryland (includes Ocean City), where the insured property increased by 67 percent
(near 40 percent after an adjustment for inflation) from 1980 to 1988 while the permanent population increased by only a little over 11 percent from 1980 to 1990.
ropOne question which was often asked, is "what would be the loss of life and
in 1992"'
erty if a hurricane like the 1926 hurricane was to strike the Miami area
Hurricane Andrew has now answered some of those questions. It is impossible to
estimate the loss of life due -to the short-term actions that may or may not be taken
at the time of the storm. However, property damage estimates can be made, and
as reported at the recent National Hurricane Conference by Ms. Karen Clark, the
numbers are extremely large for any major metropolitan area such as the Galveston-Houston area ($80 billion), New Orleans ($52 billion), southeast Florida
($106 billion) Virginia-Maryland ($68 billion) and New England ($104 billion) all
not counting hood insurance.
With these figures, it is not difficult to envision a national economic catastrophe
for the future. If the frequency of major hurricane strikes on the continental .S.
returned to those of the 1940s through 1960s, multi-billion dollar losses would be
experienced nearly every year. A study by AIRAC (1986) indicated that two successive $7 billion dollar catastrophes (similar to Hugo), "would do severe damage to the
property-casualty insurance industry in the U.S. and abroad," which of course would
have major economic implications for the economy as a whole. Of course, Hurricane
Andrew has already shown what one hurricane can do and, indeed, it has severely
damaged the property-casualty insurance industry.
The present populations and property at risk to hurricanes in the United States
clearly present the potential for large loss of life and property for numerous possible
hurricane scenarios. We have been fortunate during the past two decades when
State
at local, major
we need action
major hurricane strikes were infrequent. However,potentially
more frequent
and Federal levels now to prepare for a return to
hurricane events in order to minimize life and property losses. Such a conservative
strategy may yield great dividends.
There are three primary types of direct losses from hurricanes. These are:
1. Loss of life.
2. Direct property destruction and associated loss of commerce.
3. Costs of "overwarninge for preparations and loss of commerce.
The protection of life is the highest priority goal of the hurricane forecast and
warning process and as such, is primary factor that determines the degree of "overwarning." As much as 30 hours or more is now required to evacuate people from
such vulnerable areas as Galveston Island, the Florida Keys, New Orleans, Ocean
City, Maryland. (See companion paper for evacuation times for selected coastal loca-

tions.) Such decisions for protection of life now must be based upon 36-hour or
longer range forecasts. The uncertainty in those forecasts, as discussed earlier, is
such that relatively large "over-warniri" is required in order to minimize the potential for large loss of life. Even with this "over-warning," there could be an unforeseen meteorological development such as a rapid change in course (Elena, 1985) or
rapid change in intensity which would not permit adequate warning time. Also,
there could be some hindrance to the evacuation process (accidents, barge taking out
a bridge, slow start of evacuation) which could also result in incomplete evacuations
with literally thousands of people trapped on barrier islands and roadway systems
as the life threatening elements (rising waters, increasing winds) of the hurricane
approach. Clearly, efforts must be made to address these problems.
Some mitigation activities that could be directed toward alleviating these problems are:
1. Reduce required evacuation times, This can be accomplished through improved community development and planning including improved roadway systems, limiting growth, minimizing the numbers of people that must be evacuated through use of better building practices including "setbacks," modern
building codes and enforcement, providing safe in-place sheltering for manufactured and mobile home communities, and local shelters for people who might
otherwise attempt to leave the area. That is, optimize the response process by
moving people 2 to 10 miles rather than 200 miles or more.
2. Provide last resort refuge. This, perhaps, would not be publicized so that
people would not delay their actions knowing a "last resort" shelter existed, but
would provide a means of minimizing potential loss of life when complete evacuations cannot be accomplished for whatever reason. It is always best to get people away from the problem to where services can be provided. That is especially
true where hurricanes are prolonged events. However, for the Mid-Atlantic
States, New York and New England where the hurricane is a short lived event
(Hurricane Bob was a 2-hour event in Massachusetts), it may be prudent to provide in-place safe refuge rather than go through a lengthy evacuation process
with several potential 'false alarms." Exceptions would be for regions such as
Fire Island New York, where massive destruction from the storm surge might
be ex ected and access cut off for days rather than a few hours. (Preparation
costs for a hurricane whether it actually strikes or not are estimated to be about
$176,000 per mile or more than $60 million per average warning. Of course,
these costs are higher for major metropolitan areas.)
3. Improve forecast accuracies. Forecast accuracies are improving, but unfortunately not nearly fast enough to offset the loss of accuracy associated with
required longer-range forecasts. However, computer models have improved
markedly during the past decade and research studies have shown that given
correct quantitative data in the hurricane and its near environment through the
depth of the troposphere, substantial improvements in forecasts of track and intensity are possible. Technology exists to provide that data, and NOAA recognizes the need to explore options for an improved aircraft reconnaissance system coupled with advancing satellite and conventional technology in order to realize these potential forecast improvements.
The final item of potential loss mentioned above is the direct destruction of property. Hurricane Andrew again has shown this impact, but as I mentioned earlier,
it could have been so much worse with a nearly undetectable change in the meteorological conditions. Clearly, the Nation as a whole pays for such losses through various means including insurance premiums, tax subsidized disaster relief funds, charitable contributions, higher prices for goods due to loss of productivity and natural
resources. For instance, more potential lumber volume was lost in Hurricane Hugo
than in the Mt. St. Helen's eruption and Yellowstone National Park fires combined.
Other agricultural losses are frequently large. Also, there are usually considerable
amounts of under-insured property that result in business failures, individuals not
being able to meet their financial obligations, etc., erosion of tax bases for a community that has been devastated, and the compounding effects of such losses. Reports
have indicated that more than 80,000 jobs were lost in South Dade County alone
due to Hurricane Andrew. Also, as mentioned earlier there is an enormous amount
of insured property at risk, where major losses could cause the failure of some fringe
insurance companies as they did in Hurricane Andrew.
Some mitigation activities that could be directed toward alleviating the direct destruction of property problem are:
1. Restrict development and redevelopment in high risk areas. Several programs including the Coastal Barrier Improvement Act of 1990 have been aimed
at accomplishing this goal. However, those programs have met with mixed success where massive losses have been experienced, such as after Hurricane

Hugo. That is, under public and political pressure, rules and laws are waived
or modified. State coastal zone management programs funded by NOAA and the
National Flood Insurance Program's hazard mitigation provisions should play
major roles in discouraging inappropriate development in the coastal zone.
2. Establish and enforce hurricane resistant building codes. There are at least
two or three proven codes for resisting damage due to wind and water at minimal increases in cost over conventional construction. People thought that the
southeast Florida code was adequate. However, some small changes in the code
and interpretation of the code had crept in which caused massive losses and
some loss of life. Even with these deficiencies, the code and building practices
in Dade County were far superior to most other hurricane prone areas. It often
is a problem of education rather than the small increase in cost required to
have a good code in place. For example massive losses occur even in exclusive
developments such as Debordieu Beach, South Carolina, where the small cost
of the application of hurricane resistant codes was not a factor. The developer
of that community and others in the South Carolina area expressed surprise at
the destruction from Hurricane Hugo and a lack of knowledge of existing hurricane resistant construction codes. Most people vowed to build back using such
codes but were confused about which code they should use.
Generally after each major loss, the affected community l6oks for some improvement in building practices. This frequently consists of developing some new code or
selected applications of parts of codes used in other areas. It seems that an adequate experience level exists today, at least from a technical standpoint, where an
effective, relatively low cost, uniform code, could be adopted and applied for each
type of structure along the coasts. Onc such code has been produced by the '-uthern Building Code Congress International (1990). However, the process of uniform
adaptation in the past has apparently been hampered by jurisdictional considerations. Unfortunately, such codes and enforcement practices are rare in most coastal
areas. Some areas have improved building practices (codes, enforcement setbacks)
in recent years, but with the exception of southeast Florida, almost all other coastal
areas remain under government enforced insurance "risk pool" situations for wind
damage insurance. Now after Hurricane Andrew, southeast Florida is under a similar situation. Policy holders outside of the "risk pool" areas are probably subsidizing
thepolicy costs for those in the pool situation.
The potential success of the mitigation efforts mentioned above is dependent upon
an informed public. Most educational programs to date have rightfully been directed
at protection of life. Certainly, those programs need to continue and at enhanced
levels due to the increased population at risk and the potential for more frequent,
strong hurricanes as mentioned earlier. However, it is past time to educate the public concerning the hurricane related economic factors described earlier, before catastrophic financial disasters occur, rather than afterward.
Such education, of course, will aid in the protection of life as well as possibly leading to mitigation efforts to avert financial disaster. Literature needs to be developed
for widespread distribution that points out that considerable protection from wind
damage can be obtained with minimal increases in construction costs. Simple illustrations of construction elements such as connections have proven quite effective in
demonstrating to the lay person that such protection is reasonable and "affordable."
The term "a ordable housing" has been used by some builders' associations as a
reason for opposing implementation of hurricane-resistant construction practices.
This literature should demonstrate that such arguments are based upon flawed reasoning. Preventative measures are usually cost effective in the long-run. I believe
that FEMA is making some progress in this area, but those efforts need to be enhanced. Showing what a hurricane resistant house looks like will hopefully influence buyers which will then influence the construction industry. As we learned from
Hurricane Andrew, a lot has to do with the "style" of the home along with connectors.
SUMMARY
There are now more than 44 million people living in hurricane-prone coastal counties from Texas to Maine with continued rapid growth rates, particularly in the
"sunbelt." The infrastructure of these rapidly growing coastal communities, particularly roadway systems for access to the mainland from many of the barrier island
communities has not kept pace with the population growth. However, any roadway
improvement must be accompanied by adequate controls on population density, to
prevent further development which will place even more people and property at risk
from hurricanes. The result is that longer and longer warning lead times are required in order to safely evacuate these areas in the event of a hurricane threat.
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Forecast skills are such that it is unlikely that warnings for all hurricane situations
will be sufficient for safe evacuation from the area. This means that residents could
be trapped on barrier islands and associated roadway systems while winds and waters are rising around them. Furthermore, only one or two communities have plans
in place for "last resort refuge" to deal with this situation, or one created by a failure in the evacuation system due to other reasons such as accidents.
In addition to the threat to life, considerable property is at risk. The value of insured property at risk in the same coastal counties mentioned above (not counting
national flood insurance) is now approaching $2 trillion. A return to continental
United States hurricane landfall frequencies of the 1940s through 1960s would
mean
frequent
multi-billion dollar loses havin& national impacts on the economy.
Coordinated
efforts
by the hurricane preparation and coastal hazards mitigation
programs of FEMA and NOAA could assist in minimizing losses, but these efforts
are needed now if they are to have significant effects.
Mr. Chairman, this concludes my testimony. I will be happy to answer any questions the Committee members may have.
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF R. SCOTT FOSLER
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee: My name is Scott Fosler, and I
am President of the National Academy of Public Administration. The Academy is
a private, non-profit and non-partisan organization chartered by Congress to improve the effectiveness of government at all levels-Federal, State and local. I am
leased to respond to your invitation to appear at this hearing on rebuilding the
ederal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and preparing for the next disaster.
The Academy, pursuant to a congressional mandate, recently completed a major
study of Federal, State, and local governments' capacities to respond romptly and
effectively to major natural disasters. Congress ordered the study in ight of widespread criticism of how FEMA, in particular, and the Federal Government, in general, responded to Hurricane Andrew last year. I respectfully request that the executive summary and list of panel recommendations from the Academy's report, Coping with Catastrophe,be inserted in the hearing record.
Given several current efforts to examine the government's performance in recent
major natural disasters, the Academy concluded that it could make a unique contribution by reviewing and analyzing the whole system of governmental organiza.
tions, private and non-profit organizations, and individuals involved in responding
to major disasters. Moreover, it concluded that it could not examine the response
to natural disasters in isolation from all emergency management functions: Mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery. In addition, the Academy believed that
an analysis of FEMA's roles and mission required an understanding of both the
agency's major functions and how these functions related to the programs and functions of other related government agencies.
Simply put, we found that FEMA was like a patient in triage. The President and
Congress must decide whether to treat it or let it die. The present time and circumstances provide a unique opportunity for change. A small independent agency
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could coordinate the Federal response to major natural disasters, but only under
certain conditions. Absent these conditions, the President and Congress should consider dismantling FEMA and assigning its various functions either separately to
other agencies or, all together, to a Cabinet department or major agency. Otherwise,
America's frustration with the timeliness and quality of the Federa response to
mor natural disasters very likely will continue.
ie1978 reorganization plan that created FEMA was adopted with several goals
in mind.
One goal was to make a single agency and a single official accountable for all Federal emergency preparedness, mitigation, response, and recovery activities, and to
create a single point of contact for State and local governments.
A second goal was to enhance the dual use of emergency preparedness and response resources at all levels of government.
A third was to integrate the functions of emergency management-mitigation,
preparation, response, and recovery.
And a fourth was to achieve significant economies through combining duplicate
regional structures and redundant data processing and policy analysis systems.
But to date, each goal has been only partially met, if at all. In essence, the institution envisioned by the 1978 plan has not yet been built.
Concerns about FEMA's record have prompted numerous calls to "let the military
do it" or to place FEMA in the Department of Defense. Such calls are certainly understandable in light of the military's laudable performance after Andrew. But close
examination reveals that such an approach is simplistic.
First, emergency management/disaster response must necessarily remain a secondary
mission for the military, whose primary commitment must be a war-fighting
capability.
Sec ond, there are problems, stemming from the posse comitatus law, in using the
Armed Forces to maintain law and order unless the President or a governor are
willing to declare an insurrection.
Third, given its commitments to prepare for war and other international crises,
the military should be rapidly called upon only when the civilian arms of government and private relief agencies are overwhelmed.
Unless the Nation is to abandon more than two centuries of federalism, it cannot
make the Federal Government the "911" first responder. Our constitutional structure is fundamentally "bottom-heavy." Most emergencies-and even most incidents
we call disasters-are met by private, voluntary groups and by local and State units
of government. Even in catastrophic situations, there are ways to improve the Federal disaster response without altering the traditions of federalism.
Federal/State/local relations are complex and often highly conflicted regarding
emergency preparedness, response and recovery. We believe that Congress needs to
clarify Federal State and local emergency management responsibilities by shifting
the emphasis ?rom nuclear attack preparedness to domestic emergencies and natural disasters. Even if the Federal Government strengthens its own response role in
catastrophic disasters, it still must help increase the capacity of State and local governments. That effort, however, should involve building capacity rather than increasing controls. Means of doing so include: (1) setting performance standards; (2)
monitoring State emergency management plans; (3) evaluating State plans and
States' efforts to help local governments create their own compatible plans and capabilities; and (4) making grants conditional on effective State performance. In addition, FEMA should encourage regional planning and preparedness efforts, such as
those for interstate earthquake or hurricane planning.
As for FEMA, we trade numerous recommendations designed to create a high-performance, high-reliability agency. They boil down to several conditions that must be
met:
1. Reduction of political appointees to a director and deputy director, development of a competent, professional career staff, and appointment of a
career executive director.
2. Access to and support of, the President through the creation of a Domestic Crisis Monitoring Unit in the White House.
3. Integration of FEMA's subunits into a cohesive institution through the
creation of a common mission, vision and values; an integrated development
program for career executives; and effective management systems.
4. Development of structure, strategy and management systems to give
agency leadership the means to direct the agency.
5.A new statutory charter centered on integrated mitigation, preparation, response, and recovery from emergencies and disasters of all types.
6. Joint assessment teams and a gradated response scale for more timely
and effective responses to disasters, including catastrophic.

101
7. Development of functional headquarters-field relationships.
Some additional funding in the near term may be required to meet these conditions, but we believe that the longer run result will be improved efficiency and program effectiveness that reduces costs. Given the current government-wide budget
stringencies, FEMA must do everything possible to economize and make the beat
use of any additional resources.
If after a reasonable period, most of those conditions are not met, the President
and Congress should consider and take action on more drastic options, such as those
I mentioned above.
Many of FEMA's problems with disaster response are traceable to a preoccupation
with national security emergency preparedness. We have recommended that the responsibility for the major national security functions be transferred to the Department of Defense and that FEMA's operations be declassified.
Congress plays a leading role in developing emergency management policy and
the Federal response to natural disasters. Its jurisdiction over these functions and
FEMA is so splintered, however, that no single authorizing committee has the ability or interest to examine either one in its totality. This splintered jurisdiction also
reinforces fragmentation within the agency and authorizations tied to specific kinds
of disasters, such as earthquakes or radiological hazards. In addition, FEMA's relations with Congress are needlessly time-consuming, complex and contentious.
One side effect of this splintered jurisdiction has been FEMA's reluctance to propose a restructuring of its authorizing statutes. Several laws apply to emergency
management programs. The two most prominent are the Stafford Act and the Federal Civil Defense Act of 1950 as amended. But certain emergency management
functions are governed by the National Security Act of 1947 and the Defense Production Act of 1950. Agriculture and small business loan programs are authorized
separately by committees with little or no interest in mainline emergency management programs. The result is a hodge-podge of statutory authorizations providing
sometimes conflicting and outdated guidance which, in our judgment, slows and materially complicates the Federal response to natural disasters.
Congress should enact a comprehensive emergency management charter by revising the Stafford Act to encompass emergencies and disasters of all types. Congress
also should designate a single committee in each chamber of Congress with jurisdiction over "emergency management" and the laws applying to FEMA. We have urged
the Joint Committee on the Organization of Congress to give this matter priority
attention.
Changes of the magnitude needed will require strong, sustained White House and
Congressional leadership attention and support. Given the nation's economic and social problems and foreign policy challenges likely to occupy the political leadership
we believe a galvanizing event may be needed before the Federal Government and
the States can reach a new compact on how the Nation will prepare for, and respond
to emergencies and who will pay for them. Such a galvanizing event might be a
White House or governors' conference on emergency management, a summit meeting between the President and the governors, or a national commission chartered
by Congress or appointed by the President.
We are encouraged by some actions that the new administration and FEMA have
already taken to respond to our recommendations. James Lee Witt, the new FEMA
director, is the first person to head the agency with a background and practical expe riene in emergency management. He also has ties to the President that should
facilitate the Federal response to future disasters and provide the necessary support
for building a high performance, high-reliability institution. We are also pleased
that he has begun a strategic goal-setting process involving FEMA managers and
rank-and-file employees.
In addition, FEMA has established a task force with other Federal agencies to act
on the lessons learned from last year's catastrophic storms. Hurricanes Andrew and
Iniki provided the first real test of the Federal Response Plan (FRP). Comments we
heard from persons at all levels of government were positive toward the FRP as an
important beginning. However, these individuals were unclear about when or under
what circumstances the FRP will be invoked. This creates confusion among participating agencies, leading to crucial delays. Revisions of the FRP should establish
clear guidance as to when and how it goes into effect.
Currently, the FRP is presently as much conceptual as operational. The FRP
should provide the basis for developing operational plans under each emergency response function which articulate with regional State and local operational plans.
The FRP is a promising start for Federal disaster response planning and coordination-but it is only a be ginning. To give the plan and FEMA's role in it additional
stature, we recommend that the FRP become the President'sresponse plan.
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As to the task of "reinventing FEMA," we strongly believe that this agency or
any successor, should become a professional, depoliticized organization capable of coordinating Federal State and local responses to disasters and meeting the needs of
disaster victims. There is no Republican or Democratic way to perform emergency
management. In Coping with Catastrophe, we made several recommendations designed to create a high-performance, high-reliability agency, thereby strengthening
the Federal emergency management function. Some of these recommendations are
summarized in the seven essential conditions outlined above.
The task of strengthening the nation's emergency management system has begun,
and we are hopeful that governments at all levels will be better prepared for the
next hurricane season. However, the nation's leaders must make a sustained effort
over several years to address all of the problems outlined in our report and those
of other organizations, such as the General Accounting Office. Difficult challenges
still lie ahead, such as reducing the number of political appointees; developing a
common vision, mission and values; and enacting a new statutory charter. We will
be working with FEMA over the next several months on implementing our recommendations.
Mr. Chairman, this concludes my prepared statement. I would be pleased to respond to any questions.
PREPARED STATEMENT OF DALE W. SHIPLEY
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, thank you for the opportunity to
appear before you today to discuss how to improve our nation's organization and
system for responding to and recovering from large disasters.
Let me begin by voicing NEMA's appreciation for your quick confirmation of
James L. Witt as Director of the Federal Emergency Management Agency. We are
extremely pleased that the President has selected an individual with an outstanding
record as a State Emergency Management Director. At this critical time our Country cannot afford the delays caused-by leaders who are uninformed and lack professional emergency management experience. We look forward to seeing other excellent
professionals appointed who understand the nature of our challenges and can lead
the revitalization of the emergency management system. There are urgent organizational, leadership and policy problems that should be immediately addressed by the
new Director and his staff.
We have an unprecedented opportunity to capitalize on the lessons from Hurricane Andrew; to develop a strong, resilient, victim-oriented Federal response capability that is community-based; and, to officially and formally establish that hazard
mitigation will be the foundation for our country's emergency management system.
AL-HAZARDS EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM

For many years there has been much debate and subsequent shifting of philosophy concerning whether FEMA should retain its civil defense focus, or redirect it
toward a true multi-hazard emergency management philosophy designed and organized to deal with the consequences of disaster regardless of cause. While some contend that a program which prepares the Nation for national security threats must
be separate from one which prepares the Nation for natural and technological hazards, we believe that since the same responders and emergency management infrastructure will respond to the disaster regardless of the cause, the time has come to
end this debate in favor of the multi-hazards philosophy.
We have an opportunity to establish an effective all-hazards emergency management system and organization to prepare for natural and technological hazards, as
well as national security threats. The "lessons learned" from recent major disasters
have provided emergency managers at all levels of government with a wealth of information not previously comprehended. Incorporation of the predictable consequence information into our planning activities, including infrastructure destruction (transportation, energy distribution, communications systems and other vital
services facilities) loss of housing, and cultural differences within our society (language barriers, ethnic food requirements, and awareness of cultural ways and traditions) will allow emergency planners to anticipate resource requirements and establish contingencies to meet the demands during the planning phase, rather than in
the throes of the actual respo. a.
PARTNERSHIP
There is a need to develop a new partnership in providing emergency management services. The White House, Congress, FEMA,State and local emergency management agencies, and private organizations, must establish a program wherein we
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are "partners" in planning and executing the nation's emergency management program. By incorporating the views of all parties, response and recovery activities can
be
coordinated through planning and exercises, thus building cooperative relationships.
W; new FEMA management must recognize the need for innovative national
leadership. It is essential that the new Director develop and implement FEMA programs, policies, and procedures in cooperation with all involved parties, including
federal agencies, State and local emergency management agencies, and private organizations involved in disaster mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery.
This partnership can also serve to provide a strong, immediate, and unified responseto future catastrophic disasters. If properly organized, staffed and resourced,
there exists among these entities the knowledge and commitment to effectively respond to the demands of future catastrophic disasters anywhere in the country.
FEMA
and coordination from the White
cooperation,
FEMA deserves strong support,
House and the Congress during disaster situations. Recently, FEMA's authority was
superseded in several situations by other Federal agencies that lacked its experience
in crisis management. These actions indicate a previous lack of confidence held by
I
the White House and other parties in the efficacy of FEMA.
An official role should be established for the White House in overseeing the coordination of response and recovery for catastrophic disasters. The perception of
Presidential control and involvement is critical to managing the first days or weeks
after a catastrophic disaster.
To strengthen the link to State and local governments during disasters, FEMA
should assign skilled personnel, as warranted, to each of the States and territories
to provide insight, guidance, and oversight in the enhancement of the State emergency management program, provide Federal coordination at the onset of disasters,
and assist in the development of minimum functional response capabilities.
FEMA must use available funds that support State and local emergency management agencies more wisely. Currently, Federal dollars are tied to largely uncoordinated objectives, particularly between traditional civil defense, hazardous materials,
as well as technological and natural hazards programs. This increases administrative costs and limits local and State capabilities to use available funds to accomplish
the broad objectives necessary to enhance capabilities for managing the consequences of major emergencies.
Most State organizations in recent years have been forced to absorb State budgets
cuts. Managing such budget reductions necessitates maximum flexibility in setting
priorities. Avaiable funds-State and Federal-must be used creatively to develop
integrated emergency management systems. Current FEMA program policies, and
the programs of other Federal agencies that administer hazardous materials funds,
make it difficult to use Federal dollars in a manner that enhances an overall emergency management system at the State and local level. It doesn't matter whether
a hazardous material spill is a caused by a train beck or an earthquake-we must
respond to the emergency. I recommend that the Congress approve funding flexible
enough to enhance capabilities at the local and State levels to focus on prioritized,
risk-based emergency management and mitigation programs.
ORGANIZATION OF

MITIGATION AS THE FOUNDATION OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT

The foundation of the emergency management program must be hazard mitigation, whose primary focus is to solve problems before they occur, and to do everything reasonably possible to eliminate or reduce the impact of hazards on communities. By establishing a strong coalition among all levels of government and the private sector, and by actively focusing on mitigation now (through structural and nonstructural methods) we can save lives, protect property, significantly reduce resource demands and disaster recovery costs in future disasters, and, contribute to
the economic well-being of our nation.
Section 409 of the Stafford Act is the impetus for involvement of State and local
governments to evaluate and mitigate natural hazards as a condition of receiving
Federal disaster assistance. While Section 409 has focused attention on the role of
mitigation and its importance, the program overall has had limited success. One explanation for this is the fact that the program is only implemented after a declared
disaster, and therefore remains a *reaction" to a problem versus solving the known
problem before it occurs. Additional problems such as delays in pro ect approval and
implementation, restrictions in the use of mitigation funds, and the o0 percent
match requirement, have added to the difficulty in sustaining program interest and
momentum.
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NATIONAL INTER-GOVERNMENTAL RESPONSE ENHANCEMENT

Our nation's approach to emergency management is based on the inter-governmental "system" in which each level-local, State and Federal-has a role. When
one link becomes weak or fails, the entire system breaks down, as evidenced in Florida following Hurricane Andrew. It would be unwise, however, to conclude that fundamental changes in the relationship between Federal, State ard local governments
are needed based on an event or experience that may not be representative of State
emergency management systems or capabilities.
FEMA should be adequately staffed, funded, organized and equipped to carry out
its role as our nation's focal point for coordinating the efficient use of Federal resources before, during and after a disaster. More specifically, a newly-reorganized,
re-invigorated FEMA should:
1. Place greater emphasis on Federal response planning to include the
utilization of resources in the National Preparedness Directorate.
2. Develop a 24-hour operative center located in Washington, D.C., capable of monitoring emergency situations and receiving requests for assistance from the States.
3. Work closely with State and local governments and the private sector
to develop a mutual-aid network and system to identify, inventory, organize
and utilize the specialized resources across the Nation required to meet demands anywhere in the country.
4. Utilize non-impacted State and local government emergency management personnel, specially trained in disaster response and recovery, as
members of Disaster Management Support Teams to assist and support
Federal, State and local efforts.
5. Be legislatively empowered to utilize all Federal resources to fulfill victim and community requirements and to meet the public's expectations.
PUTTING THE VICTIM FIRST
Action must be taken to ensure that State and Local governments have the resources and flexibility to develop and maintain a level of readiness and response capability that is commensurate with their exposure to natural and technological hazards. To accomplish this, more resources must be committed to conducting multijurisdictional exercises for catastrophic disaster response* and, performance standards (i.e., minimum functional response capabilities) should be established to assess
State and Local readiness capabilities.
Primarily through funding and support from the Federal Emergency Management
0 ency, American Red Cross and a number of other private sector organizations
eater Channel, National Coordination Councl on Emergency Management), various types of disaster preparedness training are delivered. For the most part, training is conducted through financial support provided through the FEMA-Emergency
Management Training (EMT) Program.
Building on the operational concept of the Federal Response Plan, there is a need
for development and delivery of additional training programs. Specifically, because
of the complexity of a disaster response which incorporates State and Federal assistance, additional training modules need to be developed which illustrate this integrated response. Topics for delivery include an explanation of what to expect during
the first 72 hours after a disaster, how to request State and Federal assistance, how
to conduct a damage assessment, and how to implement and administer the provisions of the Stafford Act.
The general public also deserves additional awareness and training. While FEMA
has supported this effort, little funding has been targeted toward supporting the delivery of family preparedness training. Specifically, adequate resources must be committed to support the delivery of family preparedness programs, with focus on training the general public on the consequences of disaster, therefore, reducing the demands on government for basic victim assistance in the early period after disaster
impact.

FEDERAL DISASTER RECOVERY LEGISLATION
We have an opportunity to correct a problem which now inhibits State and Local
governments from requesting Federal assistance during the response phase. The
Stafford Act authorizes FEMA to pay 76 percent of the costs of specified response
and recovery services provided by the Federal government after a Presidential Declaration of a "Major Disaster." The Act also permits the President to waive the remaining 25 percent State and Local contribution associated with the Public Assistance Program. Because we are initially expected to pay this portion, which may be
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significant depending on the magnitude and location of the resources request,
there is generally a hesitation to use these services prior to conducting budget analyses. Finances should not delay actions to protect lives and pro rty uring the initial throes of a disaster. A method must be found to alleviate this problem.
Congress should eliminate the requirement for a 25 percent State and local contribution during the initial emergency response phase. The current cost-sharing provision has the unintended consequence of delaying acceptance of needed Federal assistance because of potentially high costs involved.
DISAmTER RECOVERY PROGRAM VIcrIM ORIENTATION

While it is essential to have rules, regulations, and a structure in place to guide
disaster assistance, there is an inherent bureaucratic tendency to allow rules and
regulations to drive the mission, while the overriding concern should be to rapidly
provide for the needs of disaster victims, a delicate balance exists between what
seems rational and humanitarian at the time and that which is legal or authorized.
A critical review of the provisions of the Stafford Act should be guided by the following objectives:
1. The need to balance financial and legal accountability with needs and
expectations of disaster victims. A recent public opinion poll conducted in
North Carolina revealed that 64.8 percent of the generalpublic and 41.4
percent of the public officials, including members of Congress, expect victim
financial assistance to be delivered within 7 days. The current accountability required in administering the FEMA Individual Assistance Programs
virtually prohibits these expectations from being legally met.
2. The need to accommodate the immediate, post-disaster needs of a society that is increasingly diverse-ethnically, socially and culturally.
3. The need to streamline the programs to maximize efficiency, minimize
confusion, and accelerate the recovery process.
Under the current system of Federal disaster assistance, the burden is placed

upon the victim to understand, apply for, and comply with regulations regarding a
complex array of programs that often overlap. As a first step, FEMA and the Conpress should examine the feasibility of simplifying the application process for existing programs that provide for basic human needs during the first 60 days following
a disaster. Programs that should be examined include the Temporary Housing
Grant Program, Individual and Family Grant Program, and the Small Business Administration disaster loan programs. Again, the objectives are to:
1. Anticipate the range of problems and needs of disaster victims;
2. Simplify and streamline program delivery;
3. Provide for maximum flexibility in program administration; and,
4. Develop a system that rewards ingenuity and resourcefulness in meeting the needs of disaster victims under extraordinary circumstances.
INDEPENDENT REVIEWS
The National Academy of Public Administration (NAPA) General Accounting Office (GAO) and the FEMA Inspector General (IG) have all reviewed FEMA's performance since Hurricane Andrew and reported their recommendations. All have
done an excellent job of identifying shortcomings and articulating recommendations.
The NAPA report has been especially well received. The Academy has been true to
its Congressional charter "to improve governance at all levels-Federal, State and
local." We commend their recommendations to your serious consideration and action, as all contribute to that end. We concur with their discussion of FEMA leadership, the support role of the military, requirements for States and localities, the
need for reorganization of Congressional oversight of FEMA, continued development
of the Federal Response Plan, funding and legislation.
BUDGET
The NAPA report very gently states that "Notwithstanding the demands for deficit reduction, the President and Congress should provide the funding needed to
build an effective emergency management agency." It goes on to specifically challenge the new FEMA Director, OMB, and the Congress lor action "to assist in buildingthe institution needed for the alleviation of human suffering."
This is really the bottom line to the $400,000 study Congress directed NAPA conduct. We think we know how to build an effective, responsive system. We are not
afraid to analyze our hazards, negotiate agreements and be held accountable by our
citizens and the Congress. But we need the support and the resources to do it.
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FEMA took a terrible bashing last year, and we in State and local agencies, suf.
fered with them. They were not supported well in last year's budget, nor the previous decade, nor in the 1994 budget proposal released early this month which cuts
them another 4 percent. The new leadership will do well, but current funding will
not build the system our citizens and their representatives expect.
SUMMARY
In closing, we are at a critical crossroads in the evolution of the emergency management profession in the United States. Given the recent disaster experiences and
weather predictions for the next decade the time has arrived for emergency management to become a priority business 01 government at all levels. While FEMA has
received criticism following Hurricane Andrew, the numerous audits and investigative studies have reached a common conclusion-our Nation needs a single Federal
agency with the necessary leadership, authority and resources to direct and coordinate this country's emergency management programs. NEMA has confidence that
FEMA with your support, can fill this role.
PREPARED STATEMENT OF RICHARD T. SYLVES
INTRODUCTION
The U.S. Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) is a key component of
United States emergency management and disaster preparedness policy. Formed in
1979 after the Three Mile Island nuclear power incident, FEMA was to provide a
single point of contact for State and local governments and was to "optimize" the
use of emergency preparedness and response resources at all levels of government
by taking advantage of the similarities and response activities for both peacetime
and attack emergencies.' By creating FEMA, the national government hoped to replace a patchwork of disparate agencies, councils, laws, and executive orders with
a central, consolidated, and integrated emergency management agency.
Since 1979, FEMA has suffered from periods of poor leadership, some embarrassing political appointee behavior, and a poor public image stemming from weak, disorganized, slow, and sometimes incompetent response to disaster. It has maintained
a military and civil defense preoccupation that has not served the agency, the rovernment, or the American public well. Moreover, FEMA officials continue to eschew
"first responder" disaster roles claiming to only be a "disaster recovery" agency,
when what is actually needed is a capable civilian Federal disaster agency that can
quickly marshall the resources to augment State and local "first responder" operations.
Owing to frequent unflattering post-disaster news reports, many Americans think
FEMA is a remote, unsympathetic, ponderous organization of paper processors. This
assumption is not wholly valid, however people tend to believe it is true. Regrettably, many State and local emergency officia s harbor the same opinions of FEMA.
How can FEMA be rebuilt, reformed, and improved? What follows are a series of
recommendations. They consider "what's right and what's wrong with FEMA." Included are my suggestions and the proposals of several State and local emergency
officials of the American Society for Public Administration's Section on Emergency
Management.
FEMA is the Federal organizational embodiment of U.S. emergency management
and disaster policy. If it were dismantled or broken up into components shuffled off
to other executive agencies, this would represent a monumental setback to the continuing evolution of public and private disaster expertise. State and local emergency
management agencies might suffer a similar fate. FEMA needs reorganization and
improvement, not dissolution. There are ways it can be made to function better. It
needs genuine authority to direct Federal disaster response and recovery operations
and it needs a presence on a civilian basis in the Executive Office of the President.
DEMIUTARIZE FEMA
It is important to open FEMA up so that for the public it is more "user friendly."
This can best be advanced by demilitarizing FEMA. The agency's responsibilities for
nuclear war civil defense preparedness, continuity of government, and civil defense
emergency communications give it the feel of an "intelligence" agency, not a "public
service" organization. Black box programs and budgets, security checks of visitors
'David McLoughlin, "AFramework for Integrated Emergenc Management" Public Ainis.
tration Review, Vol. 45 Special Issue (January 1985), pp. 16P-172.
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to FEMA headquarters, security clearance requirements for FEMA people who really should be working exclusively on civilian programs, purchases of expensive national security technologies akin to those of NSA, all do not belong in FEMA.
If such intelligence and post-Cold War national security duties should be continued at all, they belong somewhere else, not in FEMA. Retaining these operations
within FEMA keeps the agency on the periphery of emergency management as it
is conducted by State, local, and private sector professionals. Part of demilitarization means ending the charade of "dual use" emergency planning. FEMA promotes
comprehensive emergency management. It is a winning organizing concept embedded in its Integrated Emergency Management System ( EMS] implementation strategy. Yet, because IEMS, as FEMA applies it, continues to give co-equal or paramount importance to emergency preparedness for nuclear attack, the concept is not
as widely embraced at the State and local level as it should be.
FEMA political appointees of President Reagan gave high priority to preparing for
nuclear attack. Some FEMA subordinates said "planning for such disasters as tornadoes and floods were all the worse off because of the agency's nuclear focus." One
former FEMA official argued that "agency bosses pay lip service to dual preparedness but privately emphasize nuclear attack." In many ways this is not good. For
example, the U.S. suffers the highest fire losses among industrialized nations, but
FEMA has regularly cut back fire and training funds. Former FEMA assistant associate director for civil defense, John McKay, refuted these allegations. He argued
that 85 percent of planning for nuclear attack applies to natural disaster too.2
FEMA should no longer be forced under law to employ the "dual use" concept of
reconciling preparedness for non-war disasters and emergencies with civil defense
against nuclear attack. As it is, the bulk of FEMA's budget authority and personnel
remain dedicated to outmoded civil defense responsibilities that are controversial,
dubious, and unnecessary given the end of the Cold War. These responsibilities were
no less controversial and dubious "during" the Cold War.
The military itself performs important "mass care" functions in major disasters,
like Hurricane Andrew, that should be continued under FEMA civilian supervision.
However, FEMA's civil defense against nuclear attack preoccupation did not serve
it well in the aftermath of Hurricane Andrew and is of little relevance now.
FEMA TRAINING AND EDUCATION AcTrmVTy
Through education training, and planning grant activities, FEMA has helped
build State, local andprivate awareness of disaster vulnerabilities and the need for
preparedness. I tkink FEMA's National Emergency Training Center (NETC) at Emmitsburg, Maryland, performs an outstanding public service in sponsoring workshops, training sessions, and especially role-laying disaster simulations for State,
local, educational, and non-profit officials. This activity should be continued and expanded. Baltimore County Fire-Rescue Academy Captain Lee J. Kaufmann believes
that FEMA's Emergency Management Institute should be combined with the National Fire Academy to form a "National Emergency Services Academy." This merger might improve FEMA's bumpy relations with the fire service community, but the
Academy must respect the multi-professional world of emergency management.
FEMA gets high marks for promoting emergency planning, but modest to low
s it induces State and local augrades for its participation inthe exercises and drill
thorities to conduct. Too often major State and local drills for a disaster incident,
such as a nuclear power plant accident, involve all key officials EXCEPT those of
FEMA. If FEMA is there at all, one FEMA representative might be present. If the
modeled disaster were genuine, conceivably hundreds of FEMA people might show
up, but State and local officials have little idea what to expect from FEMA when
the agency ignores test exercises. Ironically, FEMA invests consider effort to training others for disaster work, but it should draw together its own people and those
of other Federal disaster assistance programs to practice and simulate the interagency transactions that take place at the Federal level after a disaster. Perhaps
families that were victims of disaster could be introduced into these simulations.
More FEMA people and resources need to be devoted to presenting public education programs on disaster preparedness. For example, earthquake preparedness
education initiatives have been well received in California. The Federal Flood Insurance program has received high marks for its promotion of local flood mitigation activity and for making the public more aware of the need to build and renovate in
a way that minimizes flood vulnerability.
2Marsha Ginsberg and Dina Rasor, "Disaster Agency Has Crisis of Its Own," The Washington
Times, April 10, 1990, B-.
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Unfortunately, between disasters the average American knows of FEMA through
radio and television tests of the emergency warning broadcast system. Invariably
such tests convey a "1950s" civil defense against nuclear attack mentality. This does
not measurably advance civilian emergency preparedness for natural or non-war
human-caused disasters. Instead FEMA should support public information broadcasts aimed at better preparing the public for hurricanes, tornadoes earthquakes,
hazardous materials accidents, nuclear power plant incidents, etc. There have, indeed, been a few public service broadcasts sponsored by FEMA which address public
hurricane preparedness. These messages should be increased and nuclear attack
warning test broadcasts should be curtailed.
FEMA should be given credit for refining and promoting integrated emergency
management. It sought to "ensure that emergency preparedness actions at all levels
are as responsive as possible to major crises of all types." Besides comprehensive
emergency management, IEMS was based on intergovernmental agreements. For
much of the decade of the 1980s IEMS was not only the "rage" in FEMA,but was
a buzzword that diffused through the entire U.S. emergency management community. [EMS is still an operative implementation strategy for FEMA, but the profession of emergency management has moved on to embrace other managerial concepts
as well, the latest is the incident Command System.3
FEMA needs to better integrate academic and professional scholarship into the
training and education programs it provides its own workers. By empanelling academic advisory boards, FE
ma
e able to modernize its research and training
capability at relatively low cost. For example, FEMA should be doing much more
to research on risk reduction anid risk management. FEMA has a potential clientele
support base within the insurance industry. Through its sale and maintenance of
life, home, auto, business, and personal property policies, the insurance industry has
a colossal vested interest in disaster mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery. FEMA should seriously explore public-private insurance research projects that
may lead to better disaster mitigation with lower costs to government and to private
insurance firms. Also FEMA needs to educate its own people about the dynamics
of State and local government because so much FEMA work involves intergovernmental transactions. The agency should devote more resources to funding outside
evaluations of its own performance in disasters.
FEMA AND NATIONAL SERVICE
President Clinton plans to propose an ambitious program of "National Service"
under which students seeking college funding may secure Federal college financial
support in exchange for 1 or 2 years of "voluntary" service. As such legislation is
developed, I think FEMA should be included. FEMA has regularly been criticized
for inadequate and unsympathetic response to the plight of disaster victims. What
I propose is that FEMA be given the capacity to train a fraction of the pool of "National Service" volunteers. Once they have undergone training at FEMA's National
Emergency Training Center, and perhaps back in the., home State emergency agency, they would be available to serve as Post-Disaster Citizen Advocates.
Once a presidential disaster declaration is issued, a FEMA-selected group of these
National Service people would be dispatched to the damaged area. Each citizen advocate would be assigned to help perhaps no more than five families and/or small
businesses. Knowing the range of government disaster assistance programs and
armed with FEMA manuals, disaster-assistance application forms, relevant official
phone numbers, and other needed materials, these advocates would be an arm of
FEMA outreach after a disaster.
These advocates would individually meet with their assigned families or small
business people and help them secure the assistance they need from Federal-Statelocal agencies. They would not be asked to provide forms of mass relief, nor would
they be sent out as repair or rescue crews. They would serve as an administrative
expediter for the families or small businesses to which they are assigned. Perhaps
they could accompany their assigned families or business people on visits to a
FEMA Disaster Assistance Center.
The Post-Disaster Citizen Advocate (PDCA) would be subject to FEMA oversight
and could be removed or reassigned whenever FEMA officials determine that such
action is necessary. Also, FEMA would be responsible for providing temporary housing and services for the citizen advocates (perhaps at undamagec Federal facilities
or in emergency housing). It would be up to FEMA to decide when PDCA's have
finished their work. PDCA's would have no authority to personally approve victim
3
See "Taking a Look at the Incident Command System," in Hazard Monthly, Vol. X, No. 3
(March 1990): 8, 9, 12.
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applications or aid requests they would merely facilitate the request and application process for family or individual disaster victims.
Between disasters, some National Service volunteers could serve as disaster mitigation workers assigned to help State and local emergency managers.
FEMA's INTERGOVERNMENTAL WORLD
LOCA! ROLE

Emergency management in the United States is highly decentralized but not atomistic. Local governments are almost always the first responders to disaster. But
when local governments are devastated to the point that they cannot respond to,
or recover from, an emergency or disaster, other governments provide help. Even
the most cursory inspection of the U.S. Federal system of government presents a
labyrinth of constitutional requirements, laws, and regulations that mandate or require "incorporated" local governments to provide for the public health and safety.
Implicit is provision for disaster and emergency response. Less obvious are an array
of rules pertaining to disaster mitigation and disaster recovery.
Therefore, local governments have to develop and maintain a program of emergency management to meet their responsibilities. Local emergency agencies are expected to work with other departments of local government and the private sector
to develop "emergency plans and capabilities that can correspond to any natural or

man-made hazard which, threatens the community." Local emergency management
responsibility is typically placed either in an agency that reports to a mayor or city
manager, or in an existing department such as police, fire, or public safety. Local
emergency managers often are preoccupied with preparedness and response, giving
less attention to disaster mitigation and recovery. During an emergency they act in

a staff capacity to the highest local official with responsibility to assume coordina-

and non-governmental forces and among higher and adjation among governmental
4

cent governments.

Many complain that FEMA lacks strong clientele support. I believe that one
FEMA clientele base has always existed but has not been well served by the agency.
Local emergency masnaement people are a potentially powerful support base for

FEMA. Police, fire services, emergency medical authorities, public works, environ-

mental emergency response units, emergency human resources agencies, and a host
As the profession of emergency manager
of others should be cultivated b FE.
continues to advance in the Uo a local support base could be formed that could
convince local officials of the need to commit more qualified people and resources
to emergency and disaster preparedness, response, and mitigation. FEMA must become a civilian-only emergency management agency aimed at local capacity building
and continued local emergency manager professionalization.

Since FEMA is not a regulatory agency, it cannot expect to induce or encourage
local agency emergency management reform unless it provides planninggrants, federally subsidized training, and perhaps demonstration projects. If FE MA planning
grants continue to shrink, so will any leverage FEMA has in its dealings with State
and local government. One study shows that 45 percent of local emergency management agencies nationally surveyed received 50 percent or less of their budget from
the local government. This means that a great many local emergency management
organizations are heavily dependent on finds from FEMA and their State. Sadly,
localism, lack of standardizatior, unit diversity, and fragmentation characterize
many local emergency management agencies.6
STATE ROLE

State governments are not appendages of the national government. Thus, bargaining between national and State agencies is necessary. This is another dimension of
FEMA's intergovernmental world. There is not only wide variation among the 50
States, each with its own governor and legislature, but there are more than 19,000
cities, more than 3,000 counties, 16,700 townships, and almost 29,000 special district governments. 6 Consequently, one should expect variation from one jurisdiction
to another. However, FEMA funds and services passed to and through State emergency offices, can be used to promote more uniformity. For example, FEMA should
be tasked with promoting a model (or models) of good emergency management orga4McLoughlin, 1985 p 166
&Thomas E. Drabek, "lhe Professional Emergency Manager" (Boulder, Col.: Institute of Behavioral Science, Monograph No. 44, 1987, pp. 48-49.
eDeil S. Wright, Understanding Intergovernmental Relations, 3rd ed. (Pacific Grove, Calif.:
Brooks/Cole Publishing Company, 1988), p. 34.
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nization through its existing "Emergency Management Assistance Funding" (EMAF)
program. Money saved from the discontinuation of war-ireparation civil defense
could flow to EMAF as a "peace dividend" aimed at improving State, city, and county emergency management.
FEMA needs to develop and promote a standardized emergency management system based on the modular management of the Incident Command System, that
would allow State-to-State interchange in cases of major disaster. ICS would smooth
out FEMA multi-State interaction in disasters. As it is, many State officials fear
FEMA involvement in the wake of disaster because they do not know what to expect
from that agency. Just as worrisome is what neighboring States might do or not do
in helping out after a disaster.
Each of the 50 State governments has an emergency management agency of some
type. State emergency management agencies, like their local counterparts, must
have an effective organization, plus develop and maintain needed plans, facilities,
and equipment. On a day-to-day basis each State must manage a State emergency
management program that complements and nurtures local emergency management.
State officials are expected to gauge the emergency management needs of their
political subdivisions, assess their own and Federal Government resources, and aid
in the acquisition and application of these resources. State governments guide and
assist local jurisdictions in program development and channel Federal guidance and
sometimes funding to communities.7 Most States have a single agency that takes
"lead" responsibility for emergency preparedness and response activities. There are
five general types of State emergency management units: (1) a body within the executive office (of the governor), or emergency authority is delegated to (2) a civilian
department, (3) the adjutant general, (4) the State police, or (5) a council which
oversees departmental activities.S
FEMA needs to continue to form pre-disaster agreements with State authorities
and emergency officials. FEMA should circulate "model" emergency management organizing plans to encourage more State-to-State uniformity in emergency and disaster agency organization. Some States must "demilitarize" their emergency management departments and offices. Too often State-level military people dominate State
disaster organizations. If they have the foresight to abandon a nuclear attack preparedness mentality they may do a good job, however, many remain unreformed
Cold Warriors who put civil defense for war far above State non-war disaster preparedness. Again, demilitarizing FEMA may encourage similar transformations at
the State level if they are necessary.
NATIONAL IMPERATIVES
FEMA BUDGETARY ISSUES

The U.S. Federal Emergency Management Agency is the Federal Government's
smallest independent agency. Its budget authority is microscopic when compared
with other Federal departments and independent agencies. FE MA employs about
3,000 full-time workers, but has the capacity to mobilize an extensive network of
volunteers who can staff Disaster Assistance Centers in or around areas hit by disaster. In addition, FEMA administers some trust funds and can draw funds from
a Presidential Disaster Contingency Fund when a presidential declaration is issued.
It would be wise to consolidate FEMA's multiple appropriation sources in any contemplated reorganization. This would simplify FEMA's post-disaster budget management and would give the agency two, instead of many, congressional oversight
committees.
The bulk of FEMA's operating budget continues to be mortgaged to civil defense
against nuclear attack. Besides a civil defense category directly, much of the Federal
preparedness for domestic and national security emergencies category also goes to
civil defense. Unfortunately programs like (non-nuclear attack) emergency food and
shelter, flood insurance and mitigation administration, training and fire programs,
the Disaster Relief Administration, earthquake-hurricane-unsafe dam and other
hazard planning, and radiological and hazardous materials emergency preparedness, all receive very low funding and by inference low priority.
FEMA's operating budget has undergone dismal growth and frequent shrinkage
over the 1980-90s, and prospects look no better for the mid-1990s. Admittedly, Federal spending goes up when major disasters occur that win presidential disaster declarations, but itshould be remembered that these spending increases usually come
7McLoughlin, 1985, p. 165.
SMcLoughlin, 1985, p. 165.
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from emergency budget authority given the President and FEMA, moat of which is
money acquired from Federal borrowing. This is because too little money is held in
reserve for disaster relief, except in the National Flood Insurance Program which
has its own trust fund (in some years it too is exhausted).
For example, President Bush requested only $270 million for his FY91 Disaster
Relief Fund, from which he authorized Federal assistance to address Hurricane
Hugo and the San Francisco/Loma Prieta earthquake. This amount is grossly inadequate when one considers that damage from the 1989 San FranciscoLora Prieta
earthquake exceeded $5.6 billion. However, emergency contingency funds are high
profile targets when drastic spending reductions are required for national deficit
control. However, unrealistically low contingency funding only forces more deficit
spending because these monies are quickly exhausted in the aftermath of major disaster.
Severe FEMA budgetary limitations badly impede FEMA between-disaster operations, such as mitigation work, responder training, public education, preparation,
response exercises, demonstration projects, stockpiling of emergency resources, etc.
Ironically, the collective resources of the 50 State emergency management offices far
exceed the between-disaster resources of the national government's FEMA.
FEMA POLITICAL AND OPERATIONAL ISSUES

FEMA is handicapped by a relatively small budget and staff, as well as by weak
disasters. One
and undercultivated clientele groups and a low public profile between
9
news story referred to FEMA as "the stepchild" of government.
During the Reagan Administration several FEMA appointees, including its top administrator, resigned under suspicious circumstances. At least one congressional inquiry unearthed damaging mismanagement by politically appointed FEMA officials.
Such public "black eyes" have hurt its reputation and its employee morale. Reduce
the number of FEMA political appointees and encourage more professionalization
and advancement of FEMA's career staff. As FEMA converts to a full civilian disaster agency, numerous position reclassifications will be necessary.
FEMA needs its regional offices strengthened, not weakened, cut back, or consolidated into fewer numbers. FEMA region offices help to build State emergency management authority. Moreover FEU region offices should help distribute "block"
grants rather than categoricaf grants to the States. FEMA region and headquarters
people should monitor State emergency programs, not individual State emergency
workers. At least one FEMA monitoring program (CARL) requires excessive and unnecessary document reportage.
FEMA needs a better shelter management system. Replace nuclear attack shelter
management training with "refugee/evacuee housing and shelter training and preparation." Hurricane Andrew proved that the Red Cross is not capable of shelter establishment and management in major disaster. This should be FEMA's job, perhaps assisted by the military. FEMA needs to gear up to get post-disaster temporary shelter up quickly and effectively.
Finally, FMa needs a director who is trusted by the president to assume a lead
Federal role in disasters. That leader needs the political and managerial clout to
compel other Federal agencies to respond to the emergency. No longer should disaster-inexperienced cabinet secretaries (like several former Department of Transportation Secretaries) be charged with leading Federal disaster response. Whether the
trend to tap cabinet officials instead of the FEMA administrator continues, will only
be determined by what the president decides in the next major disaster.
CONCLUSIONS

U.S. intergovernmental relations, the weak institutional status of emergency management agencies (especially at the national level), the fragmentation of disaster/crisis responsibilities at each level of government, weak undercultivated political constituencies advocating improved emergency management, and severely constrained
budgetary authority has weakened FEM's ability to promote better State and local
emergency management.
FEMA needs a consolidation of its funding, an end to managerial disarray, a termination of its now out-dated civil defense/nuclear attack mission, and an overhaul
of its research and training programs so that each better reflects state-of-the-art
emergency management as it is being advanced by forward thinking emergency
managers, academics, and business people. The agency should be given a role in the
proposed National Service program, especially through use of Post-Disaster Citizen
'Ginsberg and Rasor, 1990, B-5.
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Advocates. FEMA should promote more coherence in State and local emergency
management authority and functions. It should continue to promote IEMS and the
Incident Command System to State and local governments. FEMA,like comedian
Rodney Dangerfield, deserves more respect but it must adapt in order to earn that
respect.
LETTER FROM CARLOTTA WOOLCOCK ON BEHALF OF LETA ANTHONY,
EARTHSHOCK '89-'93 COMMITTEE

SAW-A CRUZ, CA,
Hon. JoHN GLENN, Chairman,

June 3, 1993.

GovernmentalAffairs Committee,
U.S. Senate,
340 Dirksen Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.
HONORABLE CHAI
N: In all circles of authority, even among your fellow Senators, whose States have suffered disaster, it has been proclaimed that FEMA has
been-"turned into a tool of political ambition" whereby the policies of an opportunistic reactionary segment is couched within a collection of equally reactionary bureaucracies and funneled through to those politicians who obtain and gain through
a tax base, operating under the political persiflage of an organization of humanist
concern and obligation, a role in which they add to reaction the very worst element
of liberal incoherency.
Those in operation of FEMA's apparatus have moved away from the objectivity
any concern with the needs the victims of disaster may manifest. FEMA has, instead, engaged in redistribution of the citizenry's tax contribution to disaster.
More than 44 States in the Nation have experienced increased taxation and cuts
in services. FEMA is being used to squarely affix the price of regional, State and
national emergencies directly upon those who suffer the most under the effects of
crisis inflicted by FEMA's policies.
When 10 counties in northern and central California suffered the Loma Prieta
Earthquake in 1989, it was reported that FEMA sent military detachments to minimize looting in higher income areas.
Critically needed food housing, medical care, and long term funding was almost
altogether absent, according to local observers.
The relief provided in any timely manner, has been provided by local organizations and associations. FEMA has consistently showed up late and short. This has
been repeated in the declarations and minutes of town councils and County boards
of disaster zones coast to coast.
Numerous local organizers in Florida, South Carolina, and Southern and Northern California have reported that official agencies under direction of the Office of
Emergency Services (OES) actually hindered and attempted to stop local relief efforts, claiming insufficiency of arrangements as opposed to supplying what was lacking, such as facilities, resources, or trained personnel.
In the course of relief efforts, rumor campaigns fueled in the press, accused low
income people of trying to get ahead in the situation, trying to accumulate more
than they had lost, reinforcing the tendency of government funded agencies to deny
low income people desperately needed assistance. Obviously, no disaster victim was
oing to accumulate wealth from a few extra cans of Dinty Moore stew and Campells Soup; yet a campaign lined up the hapless victims as the culprits.
In Santa Cruz County; in 1989, the local government-funded food bank, designated an official agency for disaster relief by OES, reportedly began selling food
items. Funded organizations began vying with each other for limited allocations and
imposed strict requirements upon those requesting food assistance, in the face of
having received tons of food donated specifically for the disaster.
The move to recognize only "official" disaster agencies reportedly resulted in
"strong arming" by the Highway Patrol of a caravan of some 40 trucks sent into
the area to assist local, independent efforts, redirecting the supplies to Red Cross
storage sites. Some of these resources were given out to those in need, but others
were simply warehoused. Four warehouses of-inventory that had been missing were
turned back over to the local organizations more than 3 months later by the storage
donor. Some organizations were harassed because of their tremendous relief work
until it became known they were not competing for Federal tax dollars.
FEMA allegedly encouraged discrimination against organizations that were not
officiall disaster relief
agencies." One airline, for example, was willing to donate
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passenger and freight space until they checked with FEMA, which discouraged the
airline because the organization was not on the list of "approved organizations."
Low income families and individuals reported being given one-way bus tickets out
of the earthquake affected areas and ending up in places like Stockton, San Diego,
Sacramento and Northern California, arriving with no place to go and no money,
dumped into areas out of the way of official disaster relief agencies.
The same thing happened after Hurricane Andrew, with areas as far north as the
Finger Lakes region of New York reporting a huge influx of migrant labor that the
local industry could not sustain, leaving thousands hungry, sick and without recourse.
Sixty percent of California homeowners and renters affected by the Loma Prieta
earthquake who applied to FEMA for aid were denied assistance. More than twothirds of the businesses were denied Small Business Administration (SBA) loans on
the basis of insufficient 'debt ration." Over 300 CALDAP applicants have still not
received any assistance.
The checks and balances within FEMA's manifest are clear and easy to read; yet
those in charge manage to find ways to leave out large sections of Congressionally
inspired direction with only one view in mind: to adopt the ancient political process
of gerrymandering-once used by machine politicians to pick and choose a favorable
constituency of voters for a manipulative candidate-into a scheme to inflict the
same policy into the tax question of a State or region.
In California, then Governor Deukmejian put in the first step of asking the President to declare the Earth shock region qualify for national Disaster Aid. Apparently
administrative forces under advisement of reactionary workhorses inside their demography complied, passing on Federal stipend of aid, which was supposed to be
passed out on an emergency basis to see the first wave of demoralized and impoverished victims of disaster through the first few weeks and months with funds for
rent, repairs, transportation and ability to feed themselves until the economy could
be stabilized to laissez-faire capitalization, corporate rebuilding and the second level
of FEMA's financial contribution.
To obtain that second level, Governor Wilson was supposed to appoint a board,
impartially selected, of inhabitants of the disaster area or those in the State familiar with it, who would ascertain the actual entrepreneurial need from which the
governor would forward a financial request to FEMA's Federal structure, and await
executive decision on how the government would react to the need of its suffering
citizens.
California's Governor could be demanding 1.87 billion dollars from FEMA by setting up an Economic Recovery Planning Council under the Stafford Act and the
Public Works and Economic Development Act to demand the Federal Government
come through with previously earmarked disaster monies. The law provides a tremendous flexibility and capacity to draw resources necessary to fuel recovery.
Neither Gov. Deukmejian nor Gov. Wilson (who took office less than months
after the Loma Prieta Earthquake) ever formed a board. The closest the Goveinor
came was to appoint a banker to the State Office of Emergency Services to the position, who could, if she decided to recommend it, see that a committee of that type
be established to report. At a time when Presidential promises not to raise Federal
taxes have been possible by placing an increasing burden for health and human
services previously carried by the Federal Government upon the backs of the States,
such a demand for more from the Federal Government certainly brings politics into
play.
Instead, the State of California reportedly used its Federal grants for the disaster
as loans to victims, instead of grants. FEMA agents throughout the State resorted
to an abstract methodology that did not exempt the literal duplicity of using the
emergency funds federally available as grants, for loans. In many cases it reportedly
went so far as signing the individuals first as a grant, and then, at the end of a
year to 18-month period, reclassifying them, without notification, as loans, under 9
percent interest and a 6 percent penalty, during the time bank interest was running
at only 4 to 5 percent.
Months after the disasters throughout the State of California from 1989 to the
present, FEMA sent in a new wave of workers who rechecked all emergency grants
apparently to recoup what FEMA had dispersed at the height of the emergency. Statistics indicate that they targeted low-income families. Where these FEM workers
found families who they now claimed didn't qualify for aid, they began threatening
prosecution. From all the information we've been able to collect, it would appear
that the requests were granted either through benign neglect or simply to get people
off the streets. Those threatened generally had no idea what was going on. They
were told assistance was available from FEMA; they applied; they received the
needed assistance, and then were told their grant had been turned into a loan.
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One mother of seven, who didn't speak English and who had used the State-pro.
vided monies to get new housing for her family, reported that she found the District
Attorney pressing charges against her, claiming that she did not really live where
she had claimed. She could not prove her residence because the trailer had been
completely demolished in the earthquake and the man she was living with had gone
back to his wife, who denied she ever existed. The woman was sentenced to a year
in jail. Those who were targeted often spoke no English and say they had been
taken for a ride by FEMA, which in turn characterized these victims as the obstacle
to FEMA monies fueling a recovery! Those who profited from the earthquake relief
gained a great deal more from it than those who received a few hundred dollars for
survival of emergency losses. The District Attorney appears to have targeted those
with minor records of transgressions and used their lack of understanding that got
them in a mess before to target their very requests for FEMA assistance.
The paper used for this transfer was provided with clauses that condemned those
in receipt to having repayment taken on their income tax returns, a process of guarantee which changed them into negotiable paper. When cities and counties began
to manifest the need for FEMA funds, personified by the actions of Mayors Art
Agnos of San Francisco, and Lionel Wilson of Oakland, the documentation for the
'loans nee grants" was allegedly sent out to thousands of those who had signed the
original documentation to receive the grants, notifying that a 9 percent stipulation
hadalready been added against them, along with the codicil including the IRS.
Whether or not the loans were made from the grants given to the cities and counties, or the loans were made from the above referenced paper is irrelevant to the
current purpose which is to point out that FEMA seems to have drained away repayment from the poorest of the poor, in some cases threatening and inflicting jail
time for incorrect information on the original application. The original application
was for a grant, as is evident in the language of the documentation, including that
records of expenditures should be saved and listed, to prove it went for grantable
expense. The next notification, termed it as a loan instead.
The very abstractness of actions such as these make it difficult to explain to those
with no education; yet it was one of the inexplicable changes Earthshock ran into
when attempting to serve a volunteer population by coordination of actual donations
to those who were impoverished furtherby the FEMA procedure than they were by
the original Earthquake.
We ask that a total hearing be held on FEMA leadership and methodology. We
will be submitting additional submissions further documenting FEMA's actions from
Florida and South Carolina to New York, New Jersey and California.
Documentation of sufficient irregularity exists to make the private allegations of
individuals something this Committee shouldn't miss.
Sincerely,
CARLOT1TA WOOLcocK,
ON BEHALF OF LETA ANTHONY.
Earthshock '89-'93 Committee.
LETTER FROM CARLOTTA WOOLCOCK ON BEHALF OF LETA ANTHONY,
EARTHSHOCK '89-'93 COMMITTEE
SANTA CRUZ, CA,
June 6, 1993.
Hon. JOHN GLENN, Chairman,
GovernmentalAffairs Committee,
U.S. Senate,
340 Dirksen Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.
MR. CHAIRMAN AND MEMBERS OF THE COMMm'EE: To address disaster relief, few
would disagree that the Federal Emergency Management Agency is currently unqualified. senator Hollings after Hurncane Hugo stated "FEMA is totally inadequate and shot through with politics."
We applaud this Committee's efforts to enumerate FEMA's shortcomings, lest
problems our people have endured be exacerbated by the proposed prescriptive itself.
We, Earthshock Committee '89-'93, represent an assortment of members within
a broad strata already affected by lack of assistance and by disasters themselves.
Our constituencies have paid for these disasters at least three times in taxes alone,
robbing participation of consumers.
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Some of Earthshock's member organizations have won awards from local police
departments and the statewide development corporation as the most valuable statewide organization for disaster relief. Many have provided disaster relief under conditions where FEMA did an inadequate job. The local Rotary Club, Kiwanis, Vets
Associations, Soroptomists, Girl Scouts, Boy Scouts, and other community organizations as well as, towns, cities and their volunteer associations, business, legal and
medical associations, fire and police departments, other civic and church associations joined the Earthshock effort early on.
Earthshock representatives in Santa Cruz, California participated in founding the
South County Community Disaster Relief Team (CDRT), along with the county and
city agencies responsible for disaster relief.
FEMA PERFORMANCE IMMEDIATELY AFTER DISASTERS

In South Carolina FEMA opened business a full week after Hurricane Hugo hit
landfall. FEMA then told applicants to come back in 2 weeks to fill out the forms,
according to disaster victim Faye Thompson of Charleston. Shannon Chevrier and
others were told it might be 2 months before they received any assistance. FEMA
promised 2,000 trailers for emergency housing, but the trailers had still not been
delivered a month after the hurricane, which destroyed 3,785 homes and 5,185 mobile homes while an additional 27,211 homes required major repairs. Households recovered only 45 percent of their losses by 1991.
Earthshock Committee stopped FEMA from shutting its office in Watsonville 2
months after the earthquake and thereafter by documenting hundreds of cases
pending or unprocessed.
One member of Earthshock, who did extensive advocacy for earthquake victims,
reported FEMA applying narrow causal tests for what constituted disaster-related
damage. Maria G. stated that her father had died when a water storage tank fell
on him during the earthquake where he worked. FEMA granted $2,000 a month
later, earmarked "for funeral services." The family received no other assistance and
her father was not counted in the disaster death statistics because he died in Monterey County, not considered part of the disaster zone.
In Florida following Hurricane Andrew, the United States military pulled down
the tent cities a month after the disaster, leaving at least 5,000 people homeless in
South Dade County. Hurricane Andrew destroyed some 85,000 homes. Eight weeks
after the hurricane, fewer than half the 154,000 people who sought FEMA aid had
received it, according to the Greater Miami Legal Aid Society.
FEMA inspectors, according to CVL of Watsonville, California spent 5 minutes inspecting her home which had suffered a cracked foundation sunken walls, split roof
rafters, loose support joists, a toilet torn away from the wall and other damage. She
was awarded a grant of $215 to fix her fireplace. Upon appeal, she was denied on
the basis she had not submitted her medical bills, although she was making no
claim for medical expenses.
In California after the 1989 earthquake, 60 percent of homeowners and renters
who applied were denied assistance. More than two-thirds of the businesses were
denied Small Business Administration (SBA) loans on the basis of insufficient "debt
ratio."
Similar stories were reported to local efforts organizing assistance in Humboldt
County following the 1991 Northern California earthquake. Even with contractor's
estimates and structural engineering reports, the hasty FEMA inspections have repeatedly led to awards a fraction of the costs of repair.
Local organizers in Florida, South Carolina, and Southern and Northern California reported official agencies under OES direction actually tried to shut down or
hinder local relief efforts, claiming insufficiency of arrangements as opposed to supplying what was lacking, such as facilities, resources, or trained personnel.
In 1989 in Santa Cruz County the move to recognize only official disaster agencies
was reported to have resulted i "strong arming' b the ighway Patrol of a caravan of some 40 trucks sent to assist local, independent efforts, redirecting the supplies to official agency storage sites. Some of these resources were given out to those
in need, but others were simply warehoused to be returned months later unused.
Some organizations were harassed because of' their extensive relief work until it became known they were not competing for Federal dollars.
In 1989, East Coast supporters attempting to get needed supplies to the California disaster areas, reported that one airline was willing to donate passenger and
freight space until they checked with FEMA, which discouraged the airline because
the organization destined to receive the aid was not on the list of "approved organizations."
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Mayor Joseph P. Riley, Jr. of Charleston criticized FEMA for asking for a written
assessment of need when they requested portable generators, even though everybody knew of widespread power outages.
In Homestead, Florida, -ard hit by Hurricane Andrew, 6 months later only 9,500
of Homestead's 16,000 pre-storm utility customers were receiving electricity.
FEMA PROTECTED THE STATUS QUO, WHICH IS BIASED AGAINST RECOVERY FOR LOW
INCOME VICTIMS

In California rumor campaigns fueled by the press accused low income people of
trying to get ahead in the situation to accumulate more than they had lost, reinforcing the tendency of government funded agencies to deny low income people desperately needed assistance, lining up the hapless victims as the culprits.
When FEMA finally offered its assistance, victims of the earthquake reported additional difficulties.
9 Advocates who assisted disaster victims in filing for assistance reported that
FEMA claimed onl one grant could be given per household. FEMA interpreted
the law to disqualify families forced to double up with others from receiving any
assistance.
@ Months later, FEMA sent in a new wave of workers who rechecked all emergency Wants to recoup what FEMA had dispersed at the height of the emergency. They targeted low-income families. For all the information we've been
able to collect, it would appear that the requests were granted either through
benign neglect or simply to get people off the streets. Those targeted generally
had no idea what was going on. They were told assistance was available from
FEMA; they applied; they received the needed assistance; and then were told
their grant had been turned into a loan, and they would have to pay it back.
9 One mother of seven in Watsonville who didn't speak English and who had
used the monies to get new housing for her family, found the District Attorney
pressing charges against her, claiming that she did not really live where she
ad claimed. She could not prove her residence because the trailer had been
completely demolished in the earthquake and the man she was living with had
gone back to his wife, who denied she ever existed. The woman was sentenced
year who
in jail.
o to
Of athose
received initial aid a year later, FEMA allegedly turned the grants
into loans and demanded to be paid back at 9 percent interest rate with a 6
percent penalty fee, threatening people with legal prosecution if they did not
pay the money back. As FEMA began squeezing money from victims, the government then used grants-turned-into-loans as negotiable paper, secured by involuntary collection through income tax refunds, guaranteeing their value
against future failure to repay. The government can now sell the paper, removing one step further the ability of the victims to gain recourse.
• A certain portion of the population was forced into involuntary surrender of its
right to borrow money under a penalization program when the prime rate is
down to 2.5 percent. If the earthquake victims approached a banker, they could
get a loan on the rear
market for less.
e FEMA reported collecting $500,000 from grant monies this way in South Carolina; with another 130 such letters outstanding. FEMA spokesman, Phil Cogan,
shortly after FEMA arrived in Florida last year announced they intended to follow the same policy in Florida.
Low income families
r
reported being given one-way bus tickets out of earthquake-affected areas and ending up in places like Stockton, San Diego, and Sacramento, arriving with no place to go and no money, dumped into areas out of
the way of official disaster relief agencies.
* The same thing happened after Hurricane Andrew, with areas as far north as
the Finger Lakes region of New York reporting a huge influx of migrant labor
that the local industry could not sustain, leaving thousands hungry, sick and
without recourse.
THE LONG TERM IMPACT OF DISASTERS I8 COMPOUNDED BY FEMA'S REFUSAL TO MEET
OBLIGATIONS

According to California Controller Gray Davis, the 1989 earthquake caused over
$5.9 billion in immediate damage, killing 63 people, injuring at east 13,757 more
destroying 1,018 homes and damaging 23,408 more, wiping out 366 businesses and
damaging 3,539.
Since then, Santa Cruz County has suffered the following.
* Watsonville lost 8 percent of the housing stock; 25 percent was for low-income
residents; 300 were red-tagged, designated unsafe to enter; 800 damaged; 50 de-
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molished. Rents skyrocketed, jumping by hundreds of dollars per unit, leading
to hundreds of families doubled and tripled up in housing. When the first "af.
fordable" housing units to be built with earthquake relief money finally became
available in December of 1992, over 1,500 qualified families applied. The desperate have found shelter in abandoned buildings and sheds, or renting garages
at $200 a month per family.
" Ninety-five commercial structures were destroyed in Watsonville. Over 1,500
small businesses in Watsonville and 205 businesses in Santa Cruz were lost.
The main recipients of SBA loans were businesses like Ford's Depaitment
Store, which received $40 million, the largest SBA loan ever given, while Western Auto next door went out of business.
" /Lriculture suffered $20 million in damage.
" At least 1,500 jobs were lost, with the closures of Simplot Frozen Foods in Salinas, Valley Pride, United Foods in Salinas, Monterey Mushrooms' cannery in
Santa Cruz, and Green Giant's relocation to Mexico, resulting in a decrease in
expendable income as other businesses are closing for lack of customers who can
afford their goods or services.
• The City of Watsonville reported a 30.6 percent unemployment rate a year after
the earthquake, with the median wage in Watsonville dropping $10,000 per
year below the County median and the welfare roll increasing by 35 percent in
2 ears.
In cakland, California 2 years after the earthquake, four-fifths of the 1,492 damaged buildings had not been fully repaired. Only seven of the 24 commercial structures closed by the earthquake reopened. Some West Oakland homeowners continued to live in their heavily damaged homes, despite broken walls and fallen foundations, because their fixed incomes left them with no alternative; they were denied
aid because their homes were "obviously habitable" since they were living there.
Since 1989 California has endured earthquakes of Federaldisaster level in Humboldt County and Southern California and fires in Calaveras, Alameda and Shasta
counties, destroying millions of dollars worth of property and timber resources. Los
Angeles endured physical and economic decimation of an entire community, also declared a Federal disaster at the time, With more than one million Californians out
of work, the population cannot afford to continue footing the bill.
In August 1992, over 330 homes were destroyed in Shasta County by fire, with
78 more suffering damage, and 37 businesses destroyed. Fountain Fire, one of the
most destructive fres this century, was allowed to get out of control. Ironically, subsequent California budget manipulations have caused repeated cuts in fire department budgets for personnel and equipment
LACK OF SUFFICIENT FEDERAL FUNDING CAUSES LONG-TERM DISLOCATION

In 1955 Northern California suffered such disastrous flooding, it was labeled a
"superflood." Everything north of Sacramento died in the State-17 canneries, including the entire fruit cocktail industry of Northern California, shut down.
The Federal Government did not provide the funding needed to revive industry.
Lacking reconstruction monies, local efforts switched to courting Federal Government favor through construction of air bases and other government installations,
which provided short term job assistance.
Thirty-six hundred independent farmers in three counties lost family holdings,
median of 80 acres of orchard dipping down to 40.
This changed the area's entire demography causing a one-third drop in community television outlets, a 25 percent drop in wholesale liquor distribution, a 50 percent drop in privately owned home appliance stores, a 25 percent drop in family
owned grocery chain outlets, a 90 percent drop in irrigation supply and drilling companies and a 60 percent drop in home-owned industrial equipment companies. The
local trucking facilities came to a virtual standstill.
Towns like Westgate and Northgate in Sacramento, Linda, Olivehurst, and Yuba
Richland and Sutter counties melted away into welfare populations and in the end
left Sacramento with one surviving industry, Proctor and Gamble. The market
dropped out of 1,000 housing starts, which canceled houses and 30-year loans on
$20,000 to $30,000 homes, and wiped out a booming building industry that furnished thousands of jobs. Economics in the entire area failed, never to revive.
We do not want to see this type long-term decimation of disaster ridden communities. Economic destruction by FEM's withholding of critical monies is not limited
to California. FEMA's performance in South Carolina after Hurricane Hugo was so
poor that residents reportedly threw rocks at them. The storm did $6 billion in damage; FEMA spent $500 million public assistance monies in the area.
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Despite President Bush's commitment of 100 percent reimbursement to Southern
Florida for public assistance following Hurricane Andrew, it has suffered the same
fate toward long term recovery as the California communities. While total losses
from Hurricane Andrew have been estimated at $25 billion, an Earthshock observer
in Miami said damages are undoubtedly higher due to the number of undocumented
workers caught in the hurricane and the fact that the damage figure does not include lost wages.
FEMA didn't foresee the extent of the disaster, even after it was over. Houses
built before regulations were passed setting minimum floor heights now can't meet
regulations. Meanwhile, nine insurance companies have gone out of business and
the rest are pulling out of Florida. Insurance will not be available at regular rates,
while FEMA makes clear that it counts upon private insurance coverage to limit its
own exposure.
CALIFORNIA'S FISCAL MEASURES TO OFFSET LACK OF FEDERAL SUPPORT HAS
DECIMATED OUR COMMUNITIES

Congress allocated $2.86 billion for Loins Prieta and Hurricane Hugo damages;
on October 16, 1992, California's Controller issued a press release stating that
FEMA had paid only 39 percent of committed disaster relief monies to State and
local agencies. The public assistance grants were to cover $517 million of the $690
million in damages out of the overall $6 billion in damage. To date, FEMA has only
paid $200.6 million. The Controller also requested waivers a year earlier for 100
percent Federal reimbursement, as was granted to Florida, Hawaii and South Carolina. A year later, FEMA still had not responded.
Faced with a $7 billion plus budget deficit in 1990 California and its counties instituted multiple taxes upon the victims themselves including a 13-month one-quarter-percent earthquake-relief sales tax, which brought the State $800 million.
Santa Cruz County passed a 6-year one-half-percent increase in its sales tax to
accrue $54 million in revenue directly rom those hardest hit by the earthquake.
In 1991 the State cut county monies and told them to replace it with "fees" to
the school districts and to charge cities and towns for county jail facility use and
processing arrests. They instituted a 7 percent utility tax upon users paying less
than $600 per month utility charges (i.e., individual residents and small businesses,
not large corporations with lobbying clout in Washington and Sacramento). This tax
scheme was hatched in a behind-the-scenes Senate Subcommittee meeting as a last
minute addition to Governor Wilson's budget package. It passed without notice to
State representatives, school district administrators, county leadership or the population at large. It raised the ire of the property tax payers and the Sc ool Districts,
who stood to lose millions in the larger districts. Ultimately they secured repeal of
the school tax, but suffered a doubling of State rental costs on mobile classrooms.
Earthshock Committee worked with School Districts and County Boards of Supervisors to procure a moratorium on collection of these taxes, using the right to the
taxes as collateral for loans or other financial arrangements to fund the immediate
shortfall while longer term solutions were sought. Four counties implemented the
moratorium; others considered it.
In 1992, the State faced a $10.7 billion deficit. To cover expenses, the State cut
the counties and local governments by $1.3 billion. The cuts were so controversial
that legislators failed to approve the budget until after the 1991 budget had expired,
leaving many, including attendant care workers, being paid in IOUs. It took a law.
suit to force the State to pay these domestic workers, who could ill afford to fund
the State budget shortfall.
Recently the State Assembly proposed seizing $2.6 billion from the county property tax base. Counties and cities statewide marched on the Capitol, demanding the
Senate not pass the bill. County boards are passing resolutions to block property
tax shifts. California now faces an $8.6 billion budget deficit.
Charleston, South Carolina approved a 14 percent property tax increase to make
up the deficit from hurricane losses. The reason for these emergency State measures
is the withdrawal of Federal funding upon which they previously relied.
The financial treatment under FEfA mirrors a definite overall Federal trend to
stop funding Federal programs at the State level, with the States taking money
from the counties, which comes out of public services. The Federal Government cuts
the money but not the mandate for the programs, and tells the States to work it
out. Most States are running in the red.
In 1974 then-governor Ronald Reagan implemented the Community Work Experience Program (CWEP) with the same notions later embodied in the Family Support
Act of 1988. Some members of Earthshock, who have fought on behalf of low income
workers for decades, pointed out in 1974 that the practical effect of so-called
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workfare programs is to compel a vulnerable and virtually captive, low-wage work
force to take jobs at low pay, in local government or private industry. That the program was not a step toward full employment and independence, but rather replaced
civil service and union workers previously paid a living wage to do the same work.
The resulting economic deterioration of both inner-city and rural areas has been
obvious. With less money in circulation, small businesses have fewer customers;
local sources of employment close down or are taken over by larger operations able
to utilize the taxpayer-financed subsidies of workfare, through the Job Training
Partnership Act, and enterprise zone programs. These objections to the Family SupDrt Act were submitted in June, 1988 to the Department of Health and Human
services.
That same year the Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors adopted the analysis
of a local grass roots drive to condemn the GAIN Program for its lack of results in
elevating the economic situation of those involved in the program. The program simply put businesses on welfare without assisting the low income workers, while
draining taxes. Over the past 3 years, the statewide GAIN Program averaged a cost
to the State of $42,000 per job that actually resulted in getting someone off welfare
for a year or more with the workers penalized by loss of other assistance.
The overall atmosphere in favor of cutting State stipends at the Federal level has
chilled even the willingness of State officials to resort to existing channels of recourse. What other rational could explain the California Governor's failure to demand 1.87 billion dollars in previously earmarked disaster monies from FEMA by
setting up an Economic Recovery Planning Council under the Stafford Act and the
Public Works and Economic Development Act?
The law provides the governor may appoint a Council from the financial community to investigate the veracity and depth of the tragedy, drawing upon local bodies'
knowledge of the needs, assessing damage from the earthquake, exacerbated by
FEMA's failure to comply with congressional mandate for provisions of aid. The
Council would file a demand in Washington for already Congressionally appropriated funds.
In California the Council was never appointed. The closest the Governor came
was to appoint a banker to the State Office of Emergency Services to decide whether
to recommend it, see that a Committee of that type be established to report.
No such Council has been appointed in Florida or South Carolina, either.
FEDERAL AID POLICIES DON'T MEET THEIR SUPPOSED OBJECTIVE

FEMA and FSA both exemplify how billions in tax-procured revenue have become
an inducement toward bureaucracies in general and welfare bureaucracies in specific. It would be more than timely for your Committee to embark up the kind of
direct review that programs of this nature should undergo. How can the Federal
Government justify a program in which $12 goes to "nuclear preparedness" for every
$1 that goes for disaster relief? Is this not similar to a program in which 85 percent
of welfare appropriations are spent on administration?
CONCLUSION

We ask Congress to look further in your investigation of the problems of disaster
relief and demand FEMA to fulfill its past responsibilities now to rebuild our communities, and to stop abandoning those responsibilities by shifting them onto the
cities, counties and States.
We ask that we be notified of future developments with regard to the investigation of FEMA and the progress of the bill restructuring FEMA. Please place us on
your mailing list for future announcements. We have information relating to numbers of categories where the effects of Federal policy were not in accord with what
Congress intended, information which the Committee could not get from any other
source.
We remain at the disposal of this Committee in the event that the Committee determines, as we have, that further testimony along these lines is necessary and desirable.
Sincerely,
CARLOTTA WOOLCOCK,
ON BEHALF OF LETA ANTHONY,

Earthshock '89-'93 Committee.
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ATTORNEY GENERAL LEE FISHER,
30 EAST BROAD STREmE, COLUMBUS, OHIO,
March 1, 1993.
Senator JOHN GLENN,
Chairman, Committee on Governmental Affairs,
U.S. Senate, Washington, DC

Attn: Paul Ellis
Re: Price-gouging bill
DEAR MR. ELLIS: We appreciate the opportunity to review and comment on your
draft bill which seeks to protect consumers from price-gouging when a disaster has
been declared.
The Consumer Protection Section of our office welcomes Senator Glenn's contirued interest in protecting consumers. Improving consumer protection during times
of disaster is a commendable goal, one that is generally shared in this office. We
would agree that unfairly taking advantage of a consumer in a disaster situation,
when the consumer may be particularly vulnerable, is reprehensible, and anyone engaging in such conduct is deserving of vigorous prosecution.
However despite sharing these views and interests, we have neither proposed nor
strongly advocated for either federal or state legislation of this sort, for several reasons:

1. The existing Ohio Consumer Protection Law (and the similar laws of most
states) afford fairly good legal enforcement tools to prohibit the activity and conduct covered by your Lill. Enclosed is a copy of the booklet we publish which
contains the relevant Ohio law, and I would direct your attention to Section
1345.03, particularly the circumstances described in part (B) of that section. In
our view, virtually all the activity to be prohibited by your proposed bill would
be deemed unconscionable in violation of these provisions. Even if the conduct
was not considered sufficiently serious to violate Section 1345.03 as unconscionable, the conduct might be considered unfair or deceptive in violation of Section
1345.02. We are fairly confident of our ability to prosecute a violation of these
provisions where a supplier has unfairly taken advantage of a consumer in a
disaster situation.
2. Our experience with consumer protection in disaster situations has suggested a different approach to the problem, one with which we have had reasonable success. Enclosed is some information about the Contractor Registration
Program the Ohio Attorney General offers to communities which have experienced a disaster. If you or Senator Glenn is interested, we would be pleased to
share additional information about this program and our experience. Among
other things, our approach under this program (and our immediate presence at
a disaster site) helps to avoid consumer problems entirely, rather than to be
faced with later prosecution of violators.
3. In our previous review of state and federal legislative proposals dealing
with this type of activity, we have found great difficulty in drafting appropriate
and specific language. As a result, we have generally been more comfortable
using the broad general definitions contained in our Consumer Sales Practices
Act, a law which may already provide adequate remedies and penalties, rather
than to draft language specific to disaster situations.
Within this general context, let me identify some of the specific features of your
current proposal which raise questions or concerns:
SECTION 1
(a) As written, the last phrase, "and any other goods, equipment or services essential during recovery and reconstruction efforts in the area following a national disaster", may be read to modify the entire definition, thereby significantly limiting the
scope of "consumer goods and services". Additionally, there is no definition of "essential", and without definition, this term is highly subjective. As written, does this definition allow excessive pricing for non-essential items?
(b) As defined, the term supplier" may include not only those engaged in the
business of selling etc. consumer goods and services, but a so those who engage in
casual sales.
Apparently this definition includes both those who deal directly with the
consumer and those who do not, anticipating that some of the excessive pricing may
be the result of increases further up the supply chain. However, some of those transactions may occur outside the area described in Section 2(a), which suggests that
only those who deal directly with the consumer within the disaster area are covered.
SEcrION 2
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(a) What about disasters declared by a Governor rather than by the President?
The discussion above in Section 1(b) raises the issue of price increases, some of
which may be excessive, that occur further up the supply chain. Some sellers will
merely pass these increased costs along to consumers, but this raises questions
about existing inventory (which may be inadequate to meet demand) versus goods
received at an increased cost. Additionally, how does a supplier factor in the additional costs which may be incurred in obtaining necessary goods and services, may
of which may be scarce or more difficult (and costly) to obtain? I'm not sure this
is entirely answered by Section 2. (bX3).
The standard of proving an "unconscionably excessive price", even with the benefit
of the prima facie evidence definition, may be fairly high, particularly in the context
of a criminal felony and the addition of proving a "knowing' violation. The result
might be a significant amount of unfair or "unknowing" activity and conduct by suppliers which is not covered by this proposed law. With these elements and standards, I would expect actual use of this proposed law to be minimal, particularly by
states, like Ohio, which can proceed with a civil prosecution under Consumer Sales
Practices Acts.
SECTION 3.(a)
While the requirement of a "knowing" violation may be necessary to create a new
federal felony, the element may be quite difficult to prove.
(cXd) Assuming these civil enforcement actions do not require proof of a "knowing"
violation, these provisions would be quite attractive to consumers, local government,
state attorneys general and others interested in taking action against violators.
Have you considered allowing these actions to be prosecuted in state courts of general jurisdiction, as well as in United States District Courts? Of course by providing
in Section 3.(e) that states would not be pre-empted, your bill, if enacted, would likely serve as the basis for corresponding state law allowing state prosecution and remedies.
These are items which are apparent on our preliminary evaluation of the proposed
bill. Thus far, our review has been limited to the staff of our Consumer Protection
Section, and Ohio Attorney Lee Fisher has neither reviewed nor approved these
comments.
If you have questions or require additional information, please let me know. We're
pleased you have provided an early opportunity for our participation in the discusthese issues.
sions of
Sincerely,
LEE FISHER,
Attorney General.
ERIC S. BROWN,
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL,
Assistant Chief, Consumer Protection Section.
ATTORNEY GENERAL LEE FISHER,
30 EAST BROAD STREET, COLUMBUS, OHIO.
CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION PROGRAM
I. HISTORY
The need for a contractor registration process/disaster relief program first made
itself apparent following the tornado that struck the city of Xenia in the mid-1970's.
Out-of-state and itinerate home improvement contractors flooded the area preying
on consumers that were still in a state of shock. Literally hundreds of contractors
received up-front monies for clean-up and repairs and then disappeared without performing the agreed work.
From an enforcement standpoint attempting to locate the culprits was a nightmare, With no paperwork generated by the transaction we were often left with only
general physical descriptions of the contractors, or, in one case, 'I think he was driving a white pickup truck." Needless to say, we were not very successful in pursuing
resolutions to the hundreds of consumer complaints that were filed.
When the tornado hit the village of Cardintn in the late 1970's the attorney
general's office proposed the first contractor registration program to be implemented
in Ohio. After the village fathers had issued a resolution requiring contractors to
register, the Consumer Protection Division administered the registration process on
behalf of the local government. Localized damage, the small size of the community,
and brief national media exposure may have been contributing factors, but the re-
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sult was very few rip-offs. Those complaints that did result were more readily handied due to our ability to identify the contractors involved.
In the late spring of 1985, a series of tornados struck a heavily populated area
of northeastern Ohio and Pennsylvania. The cities of Niles and Newton Falls as
well as the unincorporated area of Liberty Township sustained millions of dollars
worth of damage. Thousands of individual consumers were affected. The national
media ran with the story and within days hundreds of contractors from as far away
as Texas and Mississippi had poured into the area.
The attorney general sent his investigators to propose and assist in implementing
the registration procedure. The local officials, already aware of the need met our
proposal with open arms. Three separate registration centers were established within the 30 mile area and registration was started within 24 hours of our arrival.
In the ensuing two week period over 600 contractors were registered. It has been
estimated that at least that many more fled the area in Pennsylvania after learning
of the mandate to t-i registered.
The Consumer h'rotection Division received only two consumer complaints in the
months following the disaster. One of the complainants sued the contractor and won
a judgment for damages in the amount of $12,000.00.
Most recent were the tornados in Southwestern Ohio (Harrison and Fairfield) and
the flood in Shadyside. Investigators from the Consumer Protection Division were
on the scene within hours and stayed until local officials were able to assume control of the registration process. Consumer protection personnel provided assistance
with the verification process for weeks after departing the areas. Our attempts to
rerster contractors in the aftermath of disasters have been tremendously successII. PURPOSE AND GOALS

Our primary purpose is to assist local government and its citizens in what could
be their most difficult and demanding hour. We offer our expertise, manpower, and
resources in an attempt to protect the consumer from potential damage and free
local officials to tend to other matters.
A primary goal is to better educate the consumer so that they may be better able
to protect themselves.
This is accomplished by way of peppering the effected area with flyers that outline
consumer tips to be used when contracting for repairs, saturating the area with
media announcements, and making Consumer Protection personnel available to the
consumer at locations throughout the area.
Another goal is to make it inconvenient for the transient contractor to say in the
area. When he learns that he must register and wait for verification to be completed
it is our hope that the unscrupulous contractor will decide that it is not worth his
time or effort to stay.
If he does stay in the area, the registration will, hopefully, provide sufficient information so as to be able to locate the contractor in the event of a problem.
III. REQUIREMENTS

The attorney general does not have the authority to order contractor registration,
that power lies with local government.
In a situation where the disaster strikes a city we suggest that building codes already on the books be amended to require registration prior to work beginning. We
also suggest a criminal penalty for non-compliance, this will allow local law enforce ment to remove the non-compliant contractor off of the job and into custody.
In villages or unincorporated areas of the county we ask the commissioners to
pass emergency resolutions asking that contractors register. If they do not choose
to register we suggest that local law enforcement use 1345.21 to 1345.28 of the Revised-Code to arrest the transient contractor on a misdemeanor charge.
The Home Solicitation Sales Act (O.R.C. 1345.21) specifies that if the supplier approaches the consumer and contracts for work at a price greater than $2.00 there
must be a completed contract and a verbal and written three day right to cancel.
Work cannot bIgn in the three days unless the consumer provides a written, dated
statement specifying the emergency and expressly waiving his right to cancel. Violation of this section is a minor misdemeanor.
WHAT WE DO

At the request/mandate of local government we will administer the registration
procedure. We will provide the manpower forms, and resources need to verify the
information presented by the contractor. We will not approve or disapprove of any
contractor.
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For example, if a contractor discloses that he is from out of state, has been found
guilty of larceny by trick, and refuses to provide any other information, then, if his
assertions are true, we would consider his registration verified.
Once the contractor has submitted his Business' Registration Form we will take
it to Columbus and, when and if verified, return it to the disaster area. At this point
the local officials can use the information to decide whether or not to issue permits,
and consumers are urged to review the information before hiring the contractor.
WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM CHAIRMAN GLENN TO J. DEXTER PEACH AND
THE RESPONSES
Question I. You propose that FEMA improve its organization to provide a rapid
response capability and interpret the Stafford Act (the law which governs our response to natural disasters) to allow it to take advantage of the authority that it
has to respond to a disaster.
What kinds of activities are we talking about here, and do you think it would be
helpful to clarify existing pre-declaration statutory authority in this area? Would
this be enough to turn FEMA into a rapid responder for catastrophic disasters?
Response: The Federal Government should be more proactive in terms of using its
resources to determine the needs of disaster victims, actively consulting with a governor as to the type of Federa! qnsistance the State may need, and in providing the
assistance. In the case of a catastrophic disaster, this assistance would initially consist primarily of a visible, high level Federal presence of someone clearly representing and apeaing for the Presidont the disaster unit that FEMA would immediately
deploy to help identify victims' initial needs and guide the Federal response, and
the U.S. military providing supplies and other assistance needed to save and sustain
lives. This is not to say the Federal Government should be the "911" for all disasters. We agree with FEMA that the Federal Government's role in disasters is to
supplement, not supplant, State, local and volunteer resources. When Federal help
is needed, it should not be provided unilaterally, but rather in coordination with
State and local responders.
With regard to pre-declaration statutory authority, we believe legislative clarification is needed here. There is much that can be done by FEMA and other Federal
agencies prior to a disaster when there is advance warning. For example, personnel,
supplies, and e uipment could be made ready to deploy, perhaps relocated to a strategic location. But, there is no clear authority for FEA or other agencies to do
much prior to a Presidential disaster declaration, and agencies may be reluctant to
do so for the fear of not being reimbursed for any costs they incur. To illustrate
the ability of the U.S. military to respond would greatly be enhanced by additional
pre-declaration authority. Although the military has most of the resources needed
to respond to a Hurricane Andrew-type catastrophe it needs some time to organize
the materials, personnel, transport, and equipment to enable it to respond within
12 to 24 hours.
We believe Section 6 of Senator Mikulski's bill, which would add a new section
203 to the Stafford Act, is sufficient to provide the necessary pre-declaration author-

ity.

Question 2. Do you have any idea of the cost figures if we implemented your recommendations?
Response: Most of the recommendations can be accomplished by reorgadnu'ing existing personnel and resources already within the Federal Government. Two of our
recommendations, however, may lead to additional costs. Funding would be needed
to support enhanced preparation before a disaster when there is warning. Also, earlier intervention by the Federal Government in catastrophic disasters could increase
response costs by adding 3-4 days to the Federal activities. However our testimony
also contains several recommendations that would enable Federal, State, and local
responders to better utilize the resources and funding for national preparedness and
civil defense. These efficiencies could help offset any additional costs for a more
proactive Federal response.
In addition, any increased response costs could be minimized by having a disaster
unit accurately identify the resources needed to respond. For example, in the case
of Hurricane Andrew, there was a tendency to bring in too many resources beginning 4 or 5 days aftr the storm because Inadequate help had been provided in the
first 3 or 4 days and Federal officials were uncertain about the appropriate level
of response that was needed. Finally, the lives of disaster victims may hinge upon
the prompt response, and our recommendations would cost little when compared to
the total response and recovery costs of a catastrophic disaster.
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Question 3. Do you know if National Preparedness (NP) assets-those used pri
marily for planning for nuclear attacks--were used in response to Hurricane
Ndrew
Response: Yes. National Preparedness assets, most notably their deployable communications capability-known as MER.S (Mobile Emergency Response Support)
and MANS (Mobile Air Transportable Telecommunications System)-were used.
A total of 4 MERS detachments and one Mobile Air Transportable Telecommunications System vehicle were deployed to Florida to assist in the response to Hurricane Andrew. The first MERS detachment, from Thomasville, Georgia. arrived at
the Orlando staging area the afternoon of August 24, and was subsequently moved
to the Tamiami Park staging area south of Miami the next day to help establish
communications there. On August 26, the Thomasville MERS moved to Miami
International Airport to help establish communications at the Disaster Field Office
there. A second MERS from Mayard, Massachusetts and the MATTS unit from
Massachusetts were deployed toM iami on August 26 to help establish communications at the Disaster Field Office. By about 1 p.m. on August 26, these units had
provided 24 telephone lines via satellite for use by Federal responders. On August
25, two additional MERS detachments from Denver and Denton, Texas were deployed to Louisiana to support the pending response in that State. After several
ays, both MERS were redeployed to Florida to support response efforts there.
These mobile units provide broad communications, automated data processing,
and other capabilities, but they were not fully used during the response. During the
first 3 days the mobile communications units focused on establishing communications at the Federal Disaster Field Office at Miami International Airport. However,
they did not begin providing support to the State or such local governments as
Homestead and Florida City until 4 days after the storm. This would have provided
a FEMA presence in the most heavily damaged areas the day after the hurricane.
The Federal Response Plan provides no information on the use of National Preparedness communications assets, and FEMA's Inspector General reported I a general lack of knowledge among Federal responders regarding their capabilities, and
confusion over the tasking process. For example, National Communications System
(the primary Federal activity for communications in a disaster) personnel did not
understand the procedures for tasking the MERS and MAT7S units, and there was
confusion over who was in charge of the units. Consequently, the National Communications System often attempted to use other alternatives before requesting MERS/
MATTS support. Automatic data processing and other MERS/MA7TS capabilities
were also underused.
Question. What other NP assets do you believe could have been used and would
have helped our response?
Response: A major potential resource that we became aware of during our review
was NP's modelling capability for forecasting damage. The model was actually developed to estimate the damage occurring from a nuclear attack. The model which
relies upon locality-specific demographic data, estimates the amount of damage that
would be caused by such problems as high winds stemming from a nuclear detonation. As more of an unofficial exercise to see if the model had potential application
in natural disasters, National Preparedness personnel attempted to estimate the nu.
clear blast equivalent that Hurricane Andrew represented, and ran those data
through the model. Subsequent counts of damage and homelessness showed the
model to be very promising. At the time of completion of our work, FEMA was modifying the model to specifically tailor it to use in natural disasters.
Question 4. As a result of the diminished nuclear threat to the United States, do
you believe that civil defense resources and funding could be better used to support
the all-hazards disaster response?
Response: Yes. FEMA is making strong progress towards eliminating nuclear-attack-only aspect of the civil defense programs. As we stated in our testimony, State
and local officials told us that civil defense funding often did not correspond to their
areas' disaster response priorities, and that they would like more fRexibility on how
to spend these funds. FEMA has suspended some of this year's civil defense programs, particularly those with a nuclear emphasis while it studies its civil defense
requirements i its I94 budget, FEMA proposes a much more diversified use of
the funds by State and local government.
Question 6. Hurricane Andrew saw the first use of the new Federal Response
Plan, which governs how FEMA and other agencies coordinate activities in these
disasters. From your investigation of how it worked then-and lessons learned

I'"FEMA's Disaster Management Program: A Performance Audit After Hurricane Andrew,"
FEMA, January 1993.
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since-are we in any better position to respond should a major catastrophe hit us
tomorrow?
Response: We may not be in a significantly better position to respond in the next
disaster, but that is because it takes time to implement needed changes, not because
of a failure to ap
ply lessons learned from Hurrcane Andrew. The Federal Response
Plan needs modifcation to incorporate those activities unique to a catastrophic disaster, such as White House involvement, calling upon DOD to provide mass care
and recognition of the National Preparedness assets that can be employed; detailed
implementing procedures must be developed, many State and local plans should be
made compatible with the Federal Response Plan and State and local readiness
needs improvement in many cases. Also there have been several changes recommended by GAO, NAPA and the FEMA IG, some of which require legislation.
For example, we propose that the Congress conside," (1) giving FEMA and other
Federal agencies explicit authority to prepare for catastrophic disasters when there
is warning, and (2) removing statutory restrictions on DOD's authority to activate
reserve units for catastrophic disaster relief.
In the interim, we are hopeful that the response would be at least somewhat better should there be a maor catastrophe tomorrow. One could easily see a different
mindset evolving at FEMA, as Hurricane Andrew struck in Florida, then Louisiana,
followed by Hurricane Iniki in Hawaii. In each case, one could see a more agressive, proactive response. Also, there has since been a significant declassification of
National Preparedness resources-facilitating their further use in natural disasters.
Question 6. Do you think it's possible to draw distinctions between the current
threshold, cateo-rized as a "majo disaster, and the type we're talking about here"catastrophic disaster- which would trigger a hi her level of Federal response?
What kinds of criteria might we consider if we moved in that direction?
Response: Whether a disaster is catastrophic or not comes down to whether State
local, and volunteer resources are overwhelmed to the point that life, health, and
safety of the victims are at risk. It is for that reason that we recommend the rapid
deployment of a disaster unit that can very quickly determine the needs of the victims, match this against the response resources on the scene or readily available,
and from this make a determination as to whether the disaster is "catastrophic."
The kinds of criteria to be considered center on the magnitude of the disastere.g., Richter scale measurement of an earthquake, hurricane category etc, There are
also many other factors involved, such as adequacy of State and local preparedness,
degee of flooding accompanying a hurricane, population and population density,
stringency of building codes and their enforcement, climate, temperature, etc.
Question 7. One o( the areas !ou touch on is to set some performance standards
for State emergency management operations.
What kinds of standards should we look at?
Response: We believe that the results exercises--both table-top and on-locationare the most important standards as exercises in particular are the closest to the
"real thing.' If conducted realistically and intensively with all Federal State, and
local personnel interacting, they should provide the best basis for evaluating and
testing each component's readiness.
There are a number of other factors FEMA should also consider when it establishes performance standards. These include completeness of State and local emergency operations plans, currency of State and local plans number of personnel dedicated to preparedness and response, educational qualifcations of personnel, adequacy and survivability of communications, and presence of inter-area mutual aid
pacts.
Question. What do you think it will take on FEMA's part to ensure proper oversight so that any deficiencies found are identified and corrected?
.esponse: FEMA will need the necessary funds to visit the States and communities to assess their preparedness, and participate frequently in exercises. Another
thing FEMA will need is either a carrot or a stick to help ensure compliance. This
is a troublesome aspect, in at least one respect. If the Feeral Government assures
the Nation that it will always come in when needed and provide whatever is needed
at little or no cost to the affected State and local governments or populace, will this
serve as a disincentive to State and local preparedness efforts? Senator Mikuski's
bill attempts to enhance State and local preparednes by having them face reduced
recovery assistance from the Federal Government for not meetmg the performance
standards. In addition, we are recommending that to enhance State and local gvernments' capacity to respond to catastrophic disasters, FEMA should, in addition
to assessing States according to performance standards, (1) give State and local governments increasing flexibility to match Federal grant funding with their individual
threats; and (2) upgrade training and exercises specifically geared towards catastrophic disaster response.

68-273 0 - 94 - 5
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Question 8. I've pointed out that in recent years, the frequency of Presidentiai disaster declarations-and the costs associated with them--have risen. Not to mention
a host of different incidents which seem to have expanded the disaster definition.
What factors do you attribute this to? Do you think as some have contended, that
we're becoming a "Federal 911" responder?
Response: One need only look at recent disaster statisti to share your concern;
for example, the trend in Federal disaster declarations in recent years:
1988 .........................................................................................................................
17
1989 ..............................................................
29
1990 ..............................................................
35
199 1 ..............................................................
39
199 2 .........................................................................................................................
46
We have not examined this issue, and cannot speak with certainty to the cause.
It could reflect a natural increase with respect to hurricanes or other disasters, as
the frequency and severity of hurricanes apparently is cyclical; increased vulnerability of our society due to growth and development- changing criteria for the Federal declaration of a major disaster, or a reflection o? the financial difficulties many
of our State and local governments are in, which in turn could be affecting either
their readiness or their need to rely on Federal financial aid.
Question. If we continued in this direction, what kind of cost liabilities do you see
being borne by the Federal Goveriment?
Response: The cost potential is almost limitless, regardless of the cause. As FEMA
notes in its annual report "Principal Threats Facing Communities and Local Emergency Management Coordinators," disasters and eme-gencies with Federal participation are minute compared to the total number that occur. For example, FEMA
reports the average annual economic loss from flooding to be $2.2 billion, a national
average of 783 tornadoes per year at an annual cost of $590 million, and over
140,000 wildfires annually, just to mention three types of threats the Nation frequently faces.
WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM CHAIRMAN GLENN TO JAMES LEE WITT AND
THE RESPONSES
(A) FEMA-WHITE HOUSE COORDINATION (GAO RECOMMENDATIONS)
1. I understand President Clinton has already begun considering options to imrove the communications network so that he can immediately be informed of major
disaster through government channels. I understand he doesn't want to hear about
these things first from CNN. Have you met with President Clinton or Vice President
Gore to discuss these options? If so, what will your role and duties be? Does OMB
have any responsibilities in this effort?
Question: Have you met with President Clinton or Vice President Gore to discuss
these options?
Answer: President Clinton has requested discussion of the issues from FEMA
through the Office of Cabinet Affairs and the Office of Management and Budget.
question If so what will your role and duties be?
Answer: FEMA's role and duties will include the collection and analysis of data
relevant to potential and actual entergencies and the timely reporting of this data
to the President and Vice President. As director of FEMA, I will report this data
directly to the President and Vice President or though briefings and written reports
prepared for the Office of Cabinet Affairs. If an emergency results in a Governor's
request to the President for a major disaster or emergency declaration under the
Stafford Act, the request and FEMA analysis and recommendation will be communicated directly to the President and the Vice President through the Office of Cabinet Affairs. As an emergency unfolds, FEMA will maintain direct contact with the
White House in order to provide timely and up to the minute data on the status
of Federal response and recovery efforts and will prepare and deliver regular briefings to the President and Vice President. This liie of communication between
FEMA and the White House will be maintained for the duration of the emergency.
uestion: Does OMB have any responsibilities in this effort?
wer: OMB has been involved in the discusions of FEMA's and other department and agency roles in the information dissemination and notification process.
2. GAO has proposed the creation of an expert federal disaster unlt-a "rapid response" team--to quickly determine such thing as whether a Presidential disaster
declaration is warranted, whether state and local response is adequate, and what
kind of federal assistance can be provided, if necessary.
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Question: I note this is something that you are presently undertaking, for which
I commend you. Do you think FEMA has all the resources it needs to establish such
a teams and what assets from other federal agencies could be utilized?
Answer: FEMA does not currently have all the resources it needs to establish such
a team, nor is the authority as comprehensive as possible to facilitate the purchase
and/or stockpile the eqmupment and items necessary for effective teams. As demonstrated just recen .y in Exercise Response '93 (based on a simulated ma or earthquake on the Wasatch fault line in Utah), logistical problems associated with assessment and transportation of necessary assistance into affected areas remain a problem.
Each initial strike learn element of the Federal Response Plan Emergency Response Team would consist of 64 persons made up of permanent, full-time staff supported by 17 dedicated Disaster Assistance Employees, representatives of the primary agencies for the 12 Emergency Support Functions and Headquarters personnel. As envisioned, the Team would be divided into two groups:
(1) Personnel in the management, oversight or support functions would be
trained in emergency relief operations under very high stress survival conditions and would be well versed in logistics, interagency coordination and acquisition of essential items in emergency conditions.
(2) Field Teams (for reconnaissance/needs assessment), Operations Facility
Coordination and personnel in the Technical Specialist Teams would be trained
responders with specialized skills such as communications, structural engineering, logistics, hazardous materials, medical, search and rescue and feeding operations. Each team would be supported by necessary vehicles, communications
systems, temporary office/distribution center facilities, and commodities from
stockpile for distribution to disaster victims. For the most part, Technical Specialist Teams are self-sustaining and would not require support from affected
State or local governments.
The Federal Government already has extensive civilian strike team capabilitiesFEMA Urban Search & Rescue (US&R) teams, U.S. Forest Service Incident Management Teams, Hot Shot Crews, Prime Power Teams from the U.S. Army Corps
o Engineers for emergency electric power, Disaster Medical Assistance Teams from
the Department of Health and Human Services for critical medical services, Mobile
Emergency Response Support MERS Detachments and Mobile Air Transportable
Telecommunications System MATTS from FEMA, and feeding services from various
Federal and private relief organizations. The only things missing right now are: (1)
authority for a coordinated strike force capability to position needed personnel/material in before or immediately after an event; (2) necessary personnel strength to establish the initial strike team structure; and (3) authority for stockpiling and purchasing necessary material for use by the initial strike team.
Reviews of the Federal response to three major hurricanes and an earthquake in
just three years have clearly shown that the current ad hoc approach is neither effective nor in the best interests of disaster victims. The Federal Government is the
logical source of interim emergency assistance until full-scale disaster relief oper-

atiopis can begin. Yet unless the President moves in Federal troops, as was done in
South Florida but which both FEMA and the military agree is not the long-term

answer, the Federal Government has to rely on disaster relief processes that, of necessity, can take days to fully implement.
Once State and local resources can be reconstituted to begin identifying and assessing precise needs and the normal Federal recovery systems are in place, the initial strik,. teams can withdraw.
(B) NATIONAL PREPAREDNESS AND NUCLEAR AVrACKS VS. NATURAL DISASTERS
Many analysts have contended that the national preparedness (nuclear attack)
and civil defense side of FEMA has long predominated-in terms of funding, resources, and staff--over the natural disaster side. Indeed, while FEMA's civilian
emergency management side fought just to stay even during the early 1980's, or suffered cutbacks, FEMA's military-related programs were getting increased, due to
our defense buildup.
Question: Do you agree with this contention? Given the end of the Cold War, is
it time to shift the balance more toward civilian disasters? Where should FEMA's
priorities lie?
question: Do you agree with this contention?
Answer: What we refer to as the Civil Defense Program did not receive any significant increases during the defense buildup period of the early 1980's. For that
reason, we have been trying to make the case in recent years that the Civil Defense
Program should not be reduced along with many other defense-related programs.
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Some FEMA programs were increased during the defense buildup, but they were
within FEMAs Federal Preparedness activity. The Civil Defense program is a program designed to build and maintain State and local capability to prepare for and
respond to any hazard. Within the spectrum of capability development, there was
a requirement for State and local governments to prepare for nuclear attack. This
re urement has been removed.
.lueetion:Given the end of the Cold War, is it time to shift the balance toward
civilian disasters?
Answer: Yes, it is time, and the administrators of the Civil Defense Program
began shifting that emphasis even before the end of the Cold War (largely due to
lessons learned from Hugo and Loma Prieta). To their credit, many States well
ahead on moving their emphasis towpd natural disasters.
Question: Where should FEMA's priorities lie?
Answer: FEMA should be giving emphasis to better preparedness of States for response operations in major disasters. This can and is being addressed by providing
more funding, by developing additional detailed guidance for emergency operations
planning, by revising and designing new training that emphasizes response operations, and by supporting an exercise program that results in realistic, full-scale,
field exercises with heavy emphasis on testing capability and identifying defi.
ciencies. FEMA should also continue to build on the existing planning for Federal
response to major disasters in partnership with the States.
2. There were news reports in the wake of Hurricane Andrew that certain national preparedness (NP) resources--such as state-of-the-art telecommunications
equipment mobile field hospitals, and the like-were held back and not deployed
to south Florida. Are these reports true? Are there any assets in the National Prep aredness Directorate or for that matter, civil defense program, which cannot be uti.

izedfor civilian natural disasters-that do not have dual use capabilities?

question: Are these reports true?
nswer: The reports are not true that resources were "held back." FEMA does
have resources that were NOT deployed to south Florida but this was because they
were being used in other disaster areas (i.e., Louisiana, hawaii, and Guam) or they
were not needed. As in any disaster response, FEMA in conjunction with other Federal agencies and State officials, determine what support or capabilities are needed,
from where, and the most efficient way to provide them. FEMA has and will continue to use its assets as well as those of other Federal agencies to support disaster
response, based on the needs identified.
Question: Are there any assets in the National Preparedness Directorate or for
that matter, civil defense program, which cannot be utilized for civilian natural disasters-that do not have dual use capabilities?
Answer: All civil defense program resources are dual use for any disaster. Prior
to Hurricane Andrew and Typhoons Omar and Iniki, the assets of the National Preparedness Directorate were used only on a limited basis for res;)onse to natural disasters. FEMA now uses national security assets to the fullest extent possible to prepare for and respond to all hazards. Since FEMA has national security responsibil.
cities, certain capabilities must be maintained to ensure national interests are met.
To maintain capabilities, judicious application of resources may be required in certain circumstances. Further information about FEMA's national security responsibilities is classified, but may be provided to appropriate officials with necessary
security clearances.
(C) WHAT IS A "FEDERAL" DISASTER?
1. The definition we use for "natural disaster" seems to be getting less clear. In
the past couple of years, FEMA has been involved in "disasters" ranging from the
Chicago tunnel flood, the L.A. riots, and more recently the World Trade Center
bombing and the East Coast snow storm. And, as I noted earlier, we've seen an
overall increase in the number of disasters declared, plus some heavy duty costs,
mainly attributable to Hurricanes Andrew, Iniki, and Hugo, plus the Loma Prieta
earthquake.
Question: Is this a natural progression in FEMA's mission, or could it be that
States are getting bolder in terms of the kinds of event for which they will seek Federal money and assistance? Are we moving towards becoming the "Federal 911" first
responder option?
Answer: Each incident is evaluated with regard to its impact on the area. The
events described, while not clearly included in the definition of a "natural disaster",
did have serious impacts to the State and local governments. This must be considered a natural progression of the Agency's mission. I do not consider that we are
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becoming the 6911" responder, though the agency has taken a more active role with
the State immediately prior to and following an event.
Question: Are there other factors--besides the actual damage done in these disasters-which have also contributed to the rise in Federal costs?
Answer: For any event, the severity and magnitude of the incident must be beyond the capabilities of the State and local governments. Many factors are taken
into consideration, including.
" The response capabilities and activities of the State and local governments;
" The resources committed by the State and local governments to the recov-

ery effort;

* Imminent threats to public health and safety;
" Assistance available from other sources without a declaration;
* The insurance resources available;
" A sudden and intense impact on individuals or public services in a confined
geographic area; and,
The proportion of damage that impacts essential government services and
functions.
2. Question: Do you anticipate being asked by the President for your advice, as
FEMA Director, when he is considering a Governor's request for a Presidential disaster declaration?
Answer: As the Director of FEMA, I do make a recommendation to the President
regarding each request for a major disaster or emergency declaration.
Question: If so, what factors will you look at in makingyour recommendations and
under what circumstances would you advise that a Presidential disaster declaration
not be granted?
Answer: Each of the factors described in my response to question C-1 are taken
into consideration when making a recommendation to the President. The primary
basis for not declaring a disaster is that the recovery effort is not beyond the State
and local government capabilities. For example, adequate assistance may be available through other sources, such as insurance and voluntary organizations.
3. Each year, there are several (around 26 percent) "turndowns" of requests for
President disaster declarations. I'm interest in knowing what differentiates these
"turndowns" from the other declarations granted.
Question: Could you, for the record provide the rationale and/or recommendations
made by FEMA to the President for those such cases in the last five years?
Answer: As I described in question 2, the basic criterion set forth in the Stafford
Act is that the severity and magnitude of the event must be beyond the capabilities
of the State and local governments. The specific rationale for each turndown recommendation is not available; however, from fiscal year 1990 through 1993, approximately 194 requests for assistance have been processed. Of these 44 recommendations for turndown of the request were made.
(D) FEDERAL RESPONSE TO CATASTROPHIC DIRASTERs
1. You have indicated you're taking steps, such as pre-positioning of supplies, to
make FEMA more proactive when there is sufficient warning of a catastrophic disaster. There is some question, at least in GAO's mind, of whether existing authority
is adequate for FEMA and other agencies to effectively undertake these preparations. Do you think it would be helpful for us to clarify this authority and make
it more explicit?
question: Do you think it would be helpful for us to clarify this authority and
make it more explicit?
Answer: There is a recognized need, in some instances, for FEMA and the Federal
government to provide an immediate response capability in an area which is potentially or actually affected by a disaster prior to the receipt of a request for a major
disaster or emergency declaration by the Governor of the affected State. The scope
of response authorities under the Stafford Act needs to be clarified with respect to
activities carried in the Federal Response Plan. Of particular importance is the statutory basis for pre-declaration and pre-deployment activities. This authority would
allow %headvance deployment and positioning of teams, equipment and supplies
near or in the impacted area to supplement or replace the available resources of the
State and local governments in providing lifesaving and life-protecting assistance to
the impacted population. It would also provide for the immediate identification and
mobilization of Federal resources on a national basis to meet response requirements
and would facilitate the early coordination with the Stat., -egarding the development of a strategy for conducting joint response and recovery operations.
2. Nobody disputes the role played by DOD in providing, transporting, and distributing relief supplies in the immediate aftermath of a catastrophic disaster, particu-
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larly to help meet "mass care" needs. How do you see the militaT's role in thiswhen where and under what circumstances should they be called in-and how will
FUA coordinate those efforts with State and local governments, and with private
service organizations, like the Red Cross?
Question: How do you see the military's role in this-when, where, and under
what circumstances should they be called in-and how will FEMA coordinate those
efforts with State and local governments, and with private service organizations,
like the Red Cross?
Answer: The Department of Defense has a role as a primary or support agency
for all of the Emergeny Support Functions under the Federal Response Plan, including mass care. in the Plan, the American Red Cross is designated as the pri.
mary agency for the management of the mass care function. Under this arrangement, the Red Cross coordinates the provision of mass care by Federal departments
and agencies and other voluntary agencies, and is supported by 10 other Federal
agencies, including FEMA and the Department of Defense in carrying out the mass
care function. The Red Cross is working closely with the department of Defense to
identify how military resources will better be integrated into the overall mass care
function.
3. FEMA's Federal Response Plan (FRP) is a blueprint for how it and 26 other
federal agencies responds to all disasters and emergencies. Depending on the nature
of the disaster, FEMA could use one of several different response plans. For example, FEMA has responsibilities for radiological releases and environmental accidents
in addition to natural disasters.
question: Do you see potential for confusion and delay in the federal response if
a disaster should happen which involves jurisdiction of more than one plan? For instance if Hurricane Andrew had so seriously damaged the Turkey Point nuclear reactor tiat it caused a radioactive release?
Answer: The Federal Response Plan is based on the premise that a significant disaster may require a broad spectrum of Federal assistance immediately to support
State and local emergency response operations. It describes the basic mechanisms
by which the Federa[ government wilI mobilize resources and conduct activities to
augment State and local response efforts. To facilitate the provision of Federal assistance, the Plan uses a functional approach to group the types of Federal assistance which the State is most likely to need under 12 Emergency Support Functions
(ESFe) in rendering assistance to the affected area.
The Federal Response Plan is flexible enough to accommodate more incident-specific plans and procedures under the overall Federal response structure. In some
cases, existing incident-specific plans are being folded under the Federal Response
Plan framework. For instance, the existing Federal Radiologcal Emergency Response Plan is currently being rewritten as an ESF for radiological emergencies.
In Hurricane Andrew, the potential response for the Turkey Point plant was coordinated as part of the Federal Response Plan activities with the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.
4. Let me ask you about another distinction which is growing less clear-.that is,
between a natural disaster and a national security emergency.
Question: Since the National Security Council (NSC) has historically been very
protective of its jurisdiction in these matters, how will you resolve potential conflicts
when a disasterhas both domestic and national security implications?
Answer. FEMA receives policy guidance and oversight from both the national security and domestic arms of thr White House. The national security guidance generally concerns the Executive Branch. It directs provisions for national leadership,
emergency operating centers and policies and procedures to asst'we effective operations under emergency conditions. On the other hand, the domestic guidance generally concerns the relationships with State and local government in providing finds
and easing disaster situations. While certainly distinctive, the direction given has
never conflicted. And because emergencies are common at their core, they often
have benefited from the symbiotic relationship.
Operationally, FEMA deals with the consequences of Disasters, i.e., to save lives
and protect property, which is not predicated on the cause of the event but rather
the management of the consequences of the event (consequence management). In
addition, consequence management recognizes that regardless of the cause of an
emergency situation (natural, technological or national security), certain capabilities
are necessary to respond to any emergency (e.g., personnel, plans, operating facilities communications, equipment, training and exercises).
While Stafford Act definitions could be expanded to include any Incident having
a significant impact on the American public, there would be little problem for FEMA
in responding to a national security disaster since the functions involved would be
essentially the same as those required for natural or technological disaster response.
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(E) FEDERAL ISSUES: WHAT SHOULD STATEs BE DoING
You have indicated your desire, for which I fully agree, to make states more accountable for what they do-or in some cases don't do--in term of their own preparedness and response programs. You also have supported establishing performance standards under which FEMA can assess the resources and performance of
State emergency operations.
Question: How would you go about improving accountability, and what kinds of
criteria would you look atin setting State performance standards?
Answer: The primary method of Improving accountability will be through conduct
of realistic, full-scale feld exercises that are designed specifically to test capability,
and which result in identification of deficiencies and remedial action programs to
fix them. Another method of improving accountability is through the CCA process
itself,
wherein the States will be given a real partnership role with the FEMA Region during
negotiations, in determining what activities shall be funded based on
both Federal and State priorities.
Criteria that FEMA would be looking at in setting performance standards include:
compatible up-down-lateral communications, warning, evacuation management,
abihty of government to survive and manage the disaster (SCM), training/experience
of emergency managers, operational relevancy of emergency operations plans, and
prep areness for Interface with Federal response in major disasters.
Question: Should States be involved in setting these standards and, if so, how will
FEM" be able to evaluate and rank their capabilities?
Answer: FEMA would insist that States be involved in setting these standards,
much as the States have recently been intimately involved in the civil defense study
of State resource requirements for effective emergency management. FEMA would
also work out an evaluation procedure in consultation with the States.
FEMA is currently beginning to design an evaluation and assessment system,
which is intended to measure the capabilities of States against objectives and standards of emergency management preparedness. The States will be brought into the
detailed development of the system.
2. Question: How much flexibility should the states have for funds they receive
from the Federal government through the "CCA's", the Comprehensive Cooperative
Agreements? For example, during GAO's review, many State program directors indicated there was ".pressure" from FEMA to use these funds primarily for nuclear attack defense. Is this something you think should be addressed?
Question: How much flexibility should the states have for funds they receive from
the Federal government through the "CCA's", the Comprehensive Cooperative
Agreements?
Answer: The States should have great flexibility in making work assignments to
their qualified personnel for activities funded under the CCA's.
The States should also have a more active role in negotiating their Scope of Work
with the FEMA Region than they generally have had in the past. Unlike what has
been a frequent practice in the past, the State should be able to bring its own suggested activities to the negotiation table and have them seriously considered alon
with those brought by FEMA. Such a process has been adopted for FY 1994 for al
activities to be funded under Other State and Local Assistance.
Question: For example, during GAO's review, many State program directors indicated there was "pressure" from FEMA to use these funds primarily for nuclear attack defense. Is this something you think should be addressed?
Answer: We have taken serious issue with the GAO allegation that there was
"pressure" from FEMA to use these funds primarily for nuclear attack defense. Prior
to the Hugo and Loma Prieta events, FEMA did have a policy in place of giving first
priority to nuclear attack preparedness when using Civil Defense Program funds
but not to the exclusion of preparedness for other hazards. For the past several
years, our guidance in the CCA and for emergency operations planning has stressed
all-hazard, functionally oriented planning. The Administration's current Civil Defense policy emphasizes building capability that is common to responding to all hazards, plus nuclear attack.
In summary, FEMA headquarters has not for several years pressured States to
use Civil Defense funds for nuclear attack defense, beyond what is required by law.
The GAO report quoted claims that cannot possibly stand up against the documented guidance and policies in place for the past several years.
3. Question: Do you feel that asking states to pay a share (25%) of federal response costs provides an incentive to be better prepared? Or is a stumbling block
that makes states reluctant to request assistance?
Answer: The use of positive incentives in preparedness and mitigation needs to
be reviewed for creating a positive environment on enhancing these critical emer-
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ncy management functions before a disaster occurs. FEMA will be preparing regtxatlons this nscal 'ear which will address the cost-share issue for response costs.
The regulations will address cost share from the standpoint that it will not be
viewed as an impediment to asking for federal assistance that is needed in a catastrophic disaster response.
Currently, the cost sharing arrangements are negotiable under extreme circumstances, as experienced in the most recent large scale disasters in Florida and
the Pacific. For response assistance, the cost sharing mal have some effect in causing states to be reluctant to readily request Federal assistance. For example, even
10 percent of $4 billion is $400 million, so we do believe that the cost share must
have some impact, although there is no documented evidence of this.
(F) OTHER ISSUES
1. In 1983 a Red Cross volunteer in my home state of Ohio pushed to get legislation adopted which provides paid leave to trained State employees who may be
asked to assist in responding to disasters-I believe it's a 2 to 3 week commitment.
From all reports I've seen, this seems to be a program that works in providing additional trained experienced personnel. Several other States have recently followed
suit.
Question: Do you think this is something that we might want to consider on the
Federal level.
Answer: FEMA utilizes the services of other Federal agency personnel who volunteer for disaster duty using OPM as a clearing house for this activity. We should
consider formalizing the current ad hoc arrangements to identify a permanent roster
of reserve Federal employees who would serve in disaster operations.
2. As you know this Committee is the reauthorizing committee for FEMA's Emergency Food and Shelter Program (EFS). It is a program I feel that is extremely
worthwhile. As you know, the original budget proposal for this program was originally $129 million. However, after internal FEM review, the budget request was
reduced to $123 million.
Question: Can justify this discrepancy? What was the justification this sudden reduction?
Answer: I was not involved in the Fiscal Year 1994 budget process. From everything I have heard, this program is very important and cost effective. I will review
the budget cut, determine the consequences of the cut, identify my options, and take
ap ropnate action.
Question: In addition, proposals have been made in the past to place the program
under HUD. What is your impression of such a proposal?
Answer: FEMA and the National Board have shaped a program that distributes
funds rapidly, emphasizes local decision-making, and allows flexibility in approach
at the community level while maintaining strict accountability standards. Also,
FEMA's relationship with emergency services organizations such as the American
Red Cross, The Salvation Army, and Catholic Charities USA has added to its ability
to administer this program.
If consolidations are being actively considered we, both FEMA and our partner
National Board member organizations, would welcome the opportunity to be a part
of those discussions. The Emergency Food and Shelter Program Local Boards in
communities across the country are potentially valuable coalitions that should be
consulted on questions such as this. Emergency services are a part of the human
services continuum and should receive careful consideration when overall strategies
are implemented.
Question: A previous FEMA IG report on EFS cited several problems in the program, including lack of uniform criteria for assistance, duplicate payments, and flnancial compliance problems with some Local Recipient Organizations (LF.Os). What
is your impression of this report?
Answer: The report highlighted some areas that deserve attention and also cited
some problems that are really the heart of the program. For instance, the "lack of
uniform criteria" is not an oversight on the part of FEMA and the National Board.
It has always been our intent to supplement successful programs,. not re-write their
mission statements or their rules for client eligibility.
The I0 specifically cited some agencies that didn't target funds used for homelessness prevention. Rather than set down national criteria for the minority of agencies
that have not shown sound judgment, or have thought Federal funds must be distributed without the same screening process applied to private funds, we are compiling some recommended practices. For the coming year well be producing a Technical Assistance Manual that will highlight, but not mandate, successful practices
from agencies around the country. The important point is that there are many dif-
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ferent successful agencies. Rather than deny them their flexibility we would rather
share a myriad of approaches with lesser agencies so they can select one that best
suits their needs in their community.
The question of duplicate payments is a minor one. However, the solution is helpful in a number of unexpected ways. Our solution has been to insist that if a jurisdiction is going to fund more than one agency to provide rentimortgage assistance,
it must ensure that the agencies involved- establish a collaborative process that prevents duplicate payments. The bonus is that such a process not only prevents redundanicy but encourages cooperation on many levels among agencies within a commuWe financial compliance problems are also the exception. The EFS program insists that all new agencies, or agencies with recent audit problems, submit all of
their documentation (invoices, canceled checks, receipts) for review by the National
Board. And agencies with a perfect audit record still must submit all documentation
a minimum of once every three years (this is in addition to the submission of an
annual final report and with the stipulation that they must have an annual audit
performed). The problems noted by the 10 occurred where agencies served multiple
jurisdictions with varying records of audit compliance. In order to detect this prob.
1em, and as a precondition for the receipt of funds, all agencies now must have an
IRS number. This practice was fully implemented during FY 1993.
Question: You have had first-hand experience with earthquake hazards. I'm wonder ng what your views are as to the role of the federal government not only in this
area, but especially in terms of private properties & developments located on floodprone, and coastal erosion-prone, areas?
Answer: As Director of Emergency Services in Arkansas I did have the opportunity to work first-hand with the earthquake hazard, as well as with other hazards
which must be addressed by State and local jurisdictions. I have been able to formulate direct ideas about the role of the federal government, in particular FEMA, in
addressing areas prone to natural hazards. I would say that first, and foremost, a
framework of partnership is essential. In order to effectively deal with natural hazards, FEMA and the federal sector must closely collaborate with State and local jurisdictions and the private sector in defining mutually agreed to plans of operations
and conduct that are in effect both before and after natural hazards occur. Once a
partnership is established, there are as well other features that should be present
when dealing with natural hazards:
(1) comprehensive emergency management is the only strategy that will work.
Comprehensive emergency management in hazard prone areas means applying
appropriate mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery techniques;
(2) actions must be risk-based. In other words, we want to encourage emergency management actions that are equal to the actual risk faced by communities at the hazard prone area; and
(3) mitigation must be recognized and acted upon as the essential element of
comprehensive emergency management. Reducing our losses will lower the costs
of disasters in both human and economic terms. It is the federal government's
role to make available the adequate and proper incentives and resources to encourage the adoption of mitigation measures at the local, private and State levels
6. Your FY 94 budget calls for the complete elimination of the Individual Mobilie to state and
zation Augmentee (IMA) Program. As you know, FEMA provides [
local emergency management agencies at no cost to the agency. 'Te VMA's work
part-time at the agencies in exchange for points toward their retirement from the
military reserves. The coat of the IMA program was extremely cheap when cornp"red to the expertise and assistance that the program provided to the state and
local agencies.
Question: What is your impression of the IMA program? Do you agree with the
budget proposal to eliminate it? If so what would you recommend to states and local
emergency management agencies affected by the cut? How do they replace the manpower lost?
Answer: The IMA activity has proven to be very beneficial for both State and local
emergency management agencies. It provides to them experienced emergency planner who can and do enhance emergency operations plans, plan and manage exercises and in an emergency, volunteer to respond in active duty status. FEMA was directed to iduce its Defense account activities by $33 million In FY
94 and $18 million of the reduction was allocated to State and ocal Plannin& and
Response (formerly known as the Civil Doknmse program). Since over half o the
million) is use to fund
State and Local Planning and Response budget (ovei $
salaries and expenses of people in State and local emergency management agencies,
it is nearly Impossible to avoid cutting into that people support.
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Given the fact that the people program. must be reduced, then the problem is one
of prioritization. Nearly all people-supporting activities other than the IMA support
are funding full-time permanent personnel of the State and local emergency management agencies. The IMA activity only supports the 2-week annual training tour
of some 600 otherwise unpaid military reservists who work one day per month, plus
the 2-week training tour, for additional retirement points. FEMA decided that the
first priority for cutting people programs was to cut where salaries of full-time State
emergency management staffs would not be affected. The outstanding operational
planning and exercise support that has been provided by these IMA's will have to
be done-by the full-time staffs, but the loss of the IMA's will be less significant than
the loss of additional full-time State staff.
Our recommendation to States and local jurisdictions that are impacted by the
IMA cut is to seek a replacement for this part-time (one day per month) support
from within their own ranks, a person that may have the same military background
and skills we look for in prospective IMA's. The type of work that our IMA a do is
typically of great personal interest to them, and some put forth a large amount of
extra effort on a volunteer basis.
.question: As you will remember, at the hearing I cited the case of Herndon, Virginia's reimbursement for snow removal as an example of the trivialization of
FEMA. In your letter of May 21, 1993, you provided information on the reasoning
behind providing the states assistance for emergency work in conjunction with the
severe snow storms of March. In addition, you also provided information on the specific case of Herndon. I appreciate your prompt supply of this information. However,
I continue to have further questions about this matter. How much did each state
and locality request for snow removal?
Answer: At the time of the request, each state made an estimate of snow removal
costs for emergency access in all areas in the states but these costs were not broken
down by locality. The attached table shows actual cost to date.
question: How much were they reimbursed for their request?
Answer: On the attached table is a break down of the current estimates and the
amount obligated to date for reimbursement of snow removal activity by each state
where an emergency was declared. The Federal contribution is 75% of the total eligible costs. Our regional staff is still reviewing documentation of eligible costs for
some communities. Therefore the total amount obligated Is expected to increase.
Question: What was FEMA's justification for any denied or reduced reimbursements?
Answer: FEMA's policy for snow removal was limited to the minimal amount of
snow removal that was required to provide safe access for emergency vehicles. Communities incurred costs for removing snow that were not reimbursed by FEMA. For
example, FEMA did not pay for clearing more than one lane in each direction along
eligible roads or for salt and sand. In most cases, applicants did not request these
ineligible costs from FEMA because the applicants worked with FEMA and State
inspectors to prepare the applications.
Question: Finally what steps will FEMA be taking to ensure that federal money
is paid only when there is a justifiable need (unlike the case of Herndon)?
Answer: As a result of lessons learned from the snow emergency of 1993, FEMA
is contemplating some modifications in its rules and regulations which would address this issue. Ideas being considered include limiting snow removal reimbursement to costs of contractor assistance only and not reimbursing communities for the
costs of using their own personnel and equipment. Another possible idea would be
to require snow removal costs to reach some per capita threshold before reimbursement would begin. These ideas will be considered through the normal rule making
process.
PROJECTED FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS AND OBLIGATIONS FROM THE DISASTER RELIEF
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PROJECTED FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS AND OBLGATlONS FROM THE DISASTER RELIEF
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WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM CHAIRMAN GLENN TO DR ROBERT C.SHEETS
AND THE RESPONSES
Question I. What can the devastation of Hurricane Andrew be attributed to?
Answer. Andrew was the third most powerful hurricane to strike the United
States this century. It was also the first powerful hurricane in many decades to
strike a relatively highly populated area. The primary reasons for the large devastation in South Florida was due co a powerful hurricane and the large concentration
of people. Also, building practices had changed in several new developments during
the more than two decade period without major hurricanes in the area. These north.
ern style homes did not do nearly as well as the Florida style homes of the 1950's
through 1970s. It was not just a matter of when the home was built, but the prevalence of wood frame versus concrete and style. That is, new homes built in the con.
ventional Florida style also did well.
In spite of the incidents of "shoddy construction, the great majority of the damaged homes in South Florida were far stronger built than nearly all other homes
along the Gulf and East Coasts of the United States. Had the intense core of An.
drew struck essentially any other community in the United States, the damage per
building would almost assuredly been greater there than it was in South Forida!
question 2. Do severe hurricanes run in ccles?
Answer. Records of severe hurricanes indicate some ~clic nature. In the 1940's
there were 10 major (more than 110 mph winds) hurricanes striking the United
States with most of them striking Florida. In the 1950's, there were 8 primarily
up the East Coast. In the 1960'. there were 6 and they were on the 6ulf Coast
In the 1970's, there were 4 and all were on the Gulf Coast. fly the mid-1980's, there
seems to be a shift back to more stoms on the East Coast with Diana, Gloria, and
Hugo and in the 1990's so far, Bob and now Andrew. I believe that the 1970's and
1980's are the abnormal period as compared to the 1940's and 1950's. However, no
one can say with absolute certainty that this is an indicator of a retttrn to activity
similar to that experienced in the 1940's and 190's but that seems to be the trend.
Question 3. Can we expect more severe hurricanes in areas that have not experienced severe storms in many years?
Answer. If the trend discussed above continues and we return to activity similar
to that of the 1940's and 1950's, then indeed strikes will occur where millions of
people and associated property have been placed in harms way since previous maor
hurrcane strikes. The effects will be felt well inland which will include tornadoes
and flash floods over the Southern States, the Mid-West and along the eastern side
of the Appalachians as have occurred in the past. Many people are not aware that
nearly as many people were lost from flash floods in Virginia and Pennsylvania
from Hurricne amnlle as were lost on the Gulf Coast in Mississippi.
The only effects on the west coast and the southwestern States are likely to be
heavy rains from Eastern North Pacific hurricanes moving northward over Mexico.
Such rains have caused major damage over California, Arizona and New Mexico in
the past.
Question 4. What can we do better to minimize losses and better plan for these
events? Should the Federal Government take steps to control or limit the growth
of coastal communities?
Answer. In my opinion, the Federal Government could take many actions to minimize losses of property and reduce risks to lives along our coastal areas. One step
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isgto better manage oastal growth. That would include a coordinated program
where one Federal sector's actions such as funding for new sewage and water treatment plants, roadway systems, etc., does not run counter to other actions that may
be taken by other Federal components to minimize coastal risks. Today, asrequirefar as
I am aware, the primary influence for reducing coastal risks is through he
ments for participation in the Federal Flood insurance program and coastal zone
management. These programs have been only partially effective in reducing risks.
A more broad based coordinated program from the Federal side could be much more
effective and it would not necessarily mean major decreases in coastal development
activities. Such actions as including requirements for stiff building codes and practices including set backs from the water, strong wind resistant structures, sufficient
highway systems to evacuate people, and requirements for in-place sheltering of
people where horizontal evacuation may not be feasible for any type of Federal ffndIng could be quite effective. This carrot/stick approach could be used for all new developments, but also for existing communities.
With "Home Rule" principles in many States, it is difficult to get changes in building practices. However, I believe that if there was a total coordinated package from
the Federal side, we would be much more effective in getting desired changes In development and construction practices along our coasts.
Some examples of the type of progams that I feel should be initiated are: Before
Federal funds are given for maintaining, improving or adding new roads, bridges,
water treatment plants, sewage treatment plants, etc. that the local community
would be required to have some reasonable building codes for wind resistance. The
justification given here is because of the Increased population growth expected from
these funding actions. The code should not be left to the local community, but be
a proven code established at a national level for high wind areas. Also, the community should be required to have in-community structures that could be used as shelters or places of "last resort refuge" as discussed below. Those structures could be
government buildings such as schools or community buildings associated with particular developments built to an acceptable standard above potential flooding and
be wind resistant. For instance, every mobile home or manufactured home development across the country should be required to build a suitable community building
which could house their residents for hurricanes or tornadoes. The broad based carrot/stick approach from the Federal Government mentioned above could become effective in getting such action. This same concept could also be used at the State
level. That is, certain Federal funds to the State could be contingent upon some of
these improved development characteristics. The State would then be encouraged to
be in partnership with the Federal funding for local funding for over coming some
of the Home Rule" obstacles.
Question 5. What is the "Last Resort Refuge" plan and how was it used in the
Florida Keys during Hurricane Andrew?
Answer. We know that almost always, people are trapped in hihi vulnerable
areas such as the Florida Keys, New Orleans, Ocean City, Maryland the Outer
Banks of North Carolina, etc., when a hurricane threatens. This can be due to insufficient warning leadtime to effect a horizontal evacuation caused by an unexpected
change in strength, direction or speed of movement of a hurricane, traffic accidents,
bridges or roads closed for any number of reasons, delayed action by residents, etc.
The number of such people trapped when waters are rising can be quite large and
in fact had Hurricane Andrew been only slightly north of its actual west northwest
track into Louisiana the city of New Orleans would have been under 18 to 20 feet
of water with a likely large loss of life. To date, with the exception of the Florida
Keys and perhaps one or two isolated areas elsewhere, people trapped in such situations are on their own. That is, there is no plan to deal with this situation to minimize loss of life. Most communities do not deal with this problem because of its complex nature and possible legal implications where judgments have to be made by
officials where it becomes a trade off of a few possible lives being lost versus many.
"Last Resort Refuges" are designated structures on barrier islands and other locations which may be cut off by rising waters that are used by people trapped in such
locations. It is not as safe staying there as it might be in a shelter well inland, thus
the designation of "Last Resort Refuge." However, in the judgment of the local official, it is safer going there than being on the road when waters are rising and winds
increasing or being in other structures in the trapped community that may not be
as well built or above rising waters.
In the case of the Florida Keys, they divided the Keys into three sections- Lower
Keys Middle Keys, and Upper Keys. They looked at buildings in each section and
simply chose those that the felt were the most likely to stand up in a hurricane
(only certified through a Category 2 hurricane) and were above expected storm
surge levels. They also have been looking at ways of improving the structural integ-
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rity of the buildings such as adding storm shutters, etc. Next, they monitored the
highway system through Dade County to the designated shelters in Dade at Florida
International University. They then publicly announced to residents cut-off times at
the upper end of each o the three sections when they would no longer allow vehicles
to continue north on the lone road out of the Keys. In their judgnient, by a certain
time, people leaving the lower Keys would not be able to clear into the shelter area
in Dade County before strong winds and waters were affecting the roadway system.
One hour later the cut-off was made for the Middle Keys and then one hour later
for the Upper keys. The Sheriff's department then made one final pass over the
roadway system to make sure no one was trapped on the road. At each stag, when
the cut off occurred, residents were told that they must take shelter in their respective area and were told of the places of "Last Resort Refuge* that they could use.
One reason given by local officials who have not instituted such a dLast Resort
Refuge" plan is that they are afraid that if people know such a place exists, that
they will delay actions rather than going to a safer place out of the area. I think
that the key to avoiding this problem is education and the mandatory cut-off time
that people need to know about. At a recent public meeting in the Florida Keys, I
asked the nearly 200 participants whether or not knowing that there was a place
of "Last Resort Refugew with a mandatory cut-off time for evacuation would encourage or discourage them from moving early. All stated that knowing the mandatory
cut-off time would be in effect, even with a "Last Resort Refuge" would encourage
them to act earlier than they might normally do.
I believe that FEMA could help in this program by providing teams to investigate
each area and survey available buildings. They could also provide funds that could
be used to make public or private buildings that might be used in such situations
more safe. Legislation would likely be needed to protect officials in their subjective
decision making process as well as private building owners whose buildings might
be used as places of refuge. In my opinion, this is an extremely important issue that
must be dealt with or we will have large loss of life in the future where people are
trapped as water rises and no orderly plan exists to protect those people.
Question 6. If FEMA funding were increased for hurricanes where should it be
spent? Should such funds be used to improve forecasting technologies?
Answer. I have mentioned above, several specific areas that I believe that FEMA
should be involved in concerning where and how we build on the coasts and how
we protect lives. Specifically, FEMA should increase their activities in preparing
educational materials with *how-to" diagrams on home construction and protection
from hurricanes. They have some excellent materials recently produced in thee
areas. Such programs need to be expanded and then educational programs conducted on a community by community basis. Some of these activities could be done
in coordination with the insurance industry, to affect public opinion and local practices. Again, use the carrot/stick approach for many of the funding programs for
local developments.
There also needs to be increased funding for evacuation studies. Those studies
have been based upon storm surge model simulations done by the national Weather
Service with partial funding through FEMA. The national Weather Service is the
place to do these storm surge studies since they have the expertise as well as the
responsibility for providing adequate warnings. increased funding is needed here to
support these activities. Whether or not such funding comes through FEMA is a
matter of judgment. However, FEMA working with the national Weather Service
and the U.S. Army Corp of Engineers, needs to carry these model simulations
through the stage of traffic analyses and evacuation times. That area should continue to be funded directly by FEMA
In addition, as mentioned above, I think that it is past time to move into a new
assessment era of in-place sheltering and "Last Resort Refuge" concepts rather than
assuming people are going to be moved many miles away from the coastal areas.
That is, plan to move people 2 to 10 miles rather than 200 miles. FEMA programs
should support such studies and implementation plans.
Highly detailed measurements of wind, water and loading conditions on buildings
are needed to improve the understanding of the impacts of hrricanes on structures.
Perhaps FEMA should work with the national Weather Service and NOAA research
components to investigate such impacts. FEMA could help fund some of the required
instrumentation packages and some of the engineering studies while the NOAA
components would supply the meteorological and hydrolnogical component expertise.
A cooperative institute to look at all of tese problems in a coordinated way would
seem to be appropriate.
We have demonstrated that we can have significantly improved forecasts and
warnings with existing observation technology. We need to get on with implementing such a system as discussed in my testimony, but this is really not FEMA based
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well as some other areas both within the meteorological/hydrological disciplines or
within other natural-hazlrds areas such as earthquakes mentioned in my testimony. That does not mean that those other areas were not worthy of their level of
funding, but clearly, the fortunate lack of major Hurricane strikes on the United
States ?or nearly two decades resulted in a reduced emphasis upon meteorological
and hydrologica! research associated with hurricanes. I strongly believe that a renewed effort is needed in these areas if we are going to deal with the threat from
hurricanes over the next two decades. Perhaps you and your Committee could help
ingetting us on track in these areas.
[n summary, we presently have more than 40 million people and trillions of dollars of property at risk to hurricanes. Much of this risk could be reduced through
mitigation programs that a restructured FEMA could play a lead role in. My comments have all been directed at mitigation rather than the "recovery" aspect that
usually gets most of FEMA's attention. However, with good mitigation programs,
the payoff will be large and the "recovery" will be much easier.
WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM CHAIRMAN GLENN TO R. SCOTT FOSLER AND
THE RESPONSES
Question 1. Do you think it's possible for FEMA to evaluate State emergency management programs and their performance? What kinds of criteria should- be considered?
Answer. The answer to the first question is yes. The NAPA report is predicated
on the assumption that FEMA can and must evaluate State emergency management
programs and their performance, and that the States can and must do the same
with regard to local governments. Chapter 6 of the NAPA report sets forth the steps
necessary to this end.
As to the kinds of criteria that should be considered, the report does not set forth
a specific list of evaluation criteria, but a number ar implied and can easily be derived from the report for development. It is essential that these criteria address the
actual capability (ability to effectively operate in the event of a major disaster) of
States and that FEMA staff perform a qualitativeanalysis of each State's capability
as well as of the relative strengths and weaknesses of all the States and territories
with reference to a plan for a national emergency management system. To date,
most of FEMA's efforts to measure the use of distributed funds, or otherwise assess
the States, have been focussed on quantitative measures (number of training programs, how much equipment, etc.), with too little effort at evaluating or making determinations about effective capability to mitigate prepare, respond, and recover.
Some experienced regional staff members know the capabilities of the States in
their region and can anticipate how adequately State personnel will respond. But,
the national headquarters' staff of FEMA does not seem to have an accurate overview of State and territorial capabilities, nor has such information been used when
it has been available.
The report lists the factors which currently contribute to inadequate and variable
capacity among State and local governments. Actions designed to alter those factors
are obviously desirable and performance criteria can be developed for many of these.
The report also lays out the means for establishing a strategic plan for upgrading
the capacities of State and local governments: first upgrading to minimum national
standards; and second uprading to a functioning, integrated, emergency manapement system which is national in scope but which also has capacities to deal with
hazards specific to regions. The report recommends that FEMA use financial incentives to encourage the States to cooperate in fulfilling such a plan. Actions taken
to meet goals of-the strategic plan are thus considered desirable and performance
criteria can be developed for evaluating them.
There ar other implicit criteria suggested by the NAPA study more generally.
For example are there annual performance reviews of State emergency operations
plans have State emergency operations plans been developed and have States insisted on local governments doing the same? Have such plans been updated annually? Have States taken steps to ensure interoperability between Federal, State, and
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local emergency operations? Have States conducted realistic training and annual exercises with all appropriate entities including the National Guard? Have States engaged in and encouraged hazard mitigation?
questionn 2. You have also called for a 'Wite House Domestic Monitoring Unit,"
which would perform most of the same tasks as what GAO has recommended. How

would you characterize the similarities and differences between both of these approaches?
Answer. Both NAPA and the GAO have called for a direct link between FEMA
and the White House. The immediate need is to provide more and better real-time
information to the White House on the extent of a catastrophic event or on domestic
emergencies and disasters as they evolve. The President has this kind of information available as a matter of course in matters related to national security, but not
on matters that fall outside that rubric-events we tend to label "domestic." NAPA
also sees a longer-term need to establish the Domestic Crisis Monitoring Unit as
a means of having someone close to the President who has a vested interest in seehas the continuing attention and interest of the President, and
in.g to it that FE
when necessary, access to him.
The GAO recommendation might meet the immediate need through the designation of a senior official in the White House to oversee preparedness for, and responsa to catastrophic disasters. From the standpoint of the NAPA study however,
this would be a necessary but not a sufficient condition to accomplish the longerterm purpose. Catastrophes do not happen often; senior officials are very busy and
will inevitably have other duties; events in the White House are kaleidoscopic. Assigning the function to a senior official could subject the function to the risk to
which emergency management Is always subject-it tends to be driven to the bottom
of people's agenda because of its low probability of occurrence.
NAPA feels the function need not be assigned to a "senior official," but it does
need to be Institutionalized and the responsibility of someone with access to the
President. By "institutionalize," we mean that a formal unit should be statutorily
established as the National Security Council and its staff is. It should be staffed
with detailees and operated around the clock, with a constant flow of information
on emergencies and disasters that may become important to the President. And as
such events evolve, there should be formal stages of alert and entailed notifications,
required "standbys" on the part of key personnel, decisions and action. The unit
should monitor all types of events that are of a domestic emergency in nature regardless of whether or not they are those typically handled by FEMA. Thus it might
include such things as meteorological events, ecological disasters, and anything else
in the domestic realm that may require presidential attention.
This would not have to be a large operation, but the flow of information, statuses
of alert decisions and action are the lifeblood that institutionalize and sustain such
a unit. Much of the information relevant to the process is being received in the Situation Room under the auspices of national security but is not being put into a more
regularized process of domestic crisis monitoring. More such information would be
provided if NAPA's recommendation is adopted on the establishment of Joint Assessment Teams to determine the scale of disaster and recommend a level of response on a graduated scale.
Such a flow of information and decisions has been the basis for the staying power
of the national security process in the affairs of the White House, where the genetic
press of events and the change of administrations have led to the demise of units
without such 'life blood" and statutory base.
Most importantly from NAPA's perspective, it would mean that someone close to
the President would have long-term, ongoing responsibility for monitoring (not managing) domestic crises and have a vested interest in seeing to it that FEMA is effective and able to respond to the needs of the President and the Nation.
Regardless of the particular form taken for domestic crisis monitoring, NAPA believes that the FEMA director, through the designated Federal coordinating officer,
should continue to have line responsibility for coordinating preparation, damage and
needs assessments, and the Federal response for emergencies even those of a catastrophic nature. Only if it is clear that FEMA is not up to it should any presidential
agent--either cabinet officer or White House staff-assume direct control of the Federal response. This function cannot be managed from the White House or by someone who assumes responsibility de novo. This does not preclude, of course, the President, Vice President or their designers from visiting disaster sites, nor their involvement at whatever level the President deems appropriate to the circumstances.
Question 3. What is your initial opinion on Mr. Shipley's ideas to make FEMA
more client-friendly? How can we reduce the bureaucratic maze of service and recovery programs which are so daunting to already-shocked victims?
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Answer. Simplifying assistance to disaster victims will require more than making
FEMA user-friendly. FEMA is not the only dispenser of aid in a disaster. Many
other agencies are involved e g the Small Business Administration, the Department of Agriculture, and others.'There has been considerable effort on the part of
FEMA and some other agencies to streamline the process of requesting and receiving aid, but to'a shocked disaster victim, any paperwork is likely to seem too much.
Each agency has its own in-take procedures and requirements, most of them required by congressional mandate or regulations intended to meet congressional intent. FEMA and the other agencies have tried to use whatever latitude the law or
the regulations allow to meet the wide variety of unique circumstances that emerge
in each disaster, but they are acutely aware that they are disbursing public funds
and that there inevitably must be an accounting. As one official put it, "In the wake
of the disaster, everyone is yelling at us to dispense aid as quickly as possible and
to avoid being bureaucratic; some of the same people or agencies who are doing all
the yelling will be around in the post-disaster audit phase to criticize us for not
being careful and accountable enough in the dispensing of aid. We can't win."
NAPA believes that the system can assuredly be improved, but we must also remember that "one-man's system is another man's 'red tape'" (especially if the latter
is a disaster victim), and that Congress needs to examine its own role in the requirements it has built into the laws. FEMA has tried to establish procedures in
Disaster Assistance Centers which initially sort victims out according to what kind
of aid they are seeking or may be eligible to receive. They then try to direct them
immediately to the appropriate agency, thus avoiding a dreary wait only to be
passed on to several successive agencies. Inevitably, however, reducing the bureaucratic maze may be a job for the management side of the Office of Management and
Budget or other central agency which can take a multi-agency approach, working
with Congress, to better conform, automate and simplify the provision of services
and benefits to recovering victims.
Question 4. Do you think that, based on recent catastrophes, there are times when
the Red Cross cannot meet mass care needs? If so, how can we coordinate DOD and
Red Cross efforts, while preserving each organization's role and identity?
Answer. Notwithstanding their sincere and extensive efforts, it was clear from the
staff interviews and other information obtained in Florida that the Red Cross and
other private relief agencies were unable to meet the mass care needs of victims in
the first few days following Hurricane Andrew, and such needs were fully met only
upon arrival of the Armed Forces.
Our report recommended the establishment of disaster gradations, the most severe of which could trigger assumption of primary responsibility for mass care by
the military during the initial response phase. Given the high cost of deploying the
Armed Forces and their primary national defense mission, the implicit goal would
be to have voluntary agencies continue to provide food and shelter in disasters that
are not designated as catastrophes, and to assume responsibility for mass care as
soon as possible. The President and FEbA, based on the recommendations of the
joint assessment team (also recommended b3 the report), would make the determination on when the military would assume this role. In such cases the Red
Cross, under the Federal Response Plan, would play a support role to DOD until
conditions permit it to assume the primary role.
PRELIMINARY COMMENTS ON S. 998

We congratulate you and Senator Mikulski for developing and introducing this
legislation. We believe it would go a long way toward providing the comprehensive
statutory charter for emergency management recommended in our report. If enacted, this bill would put into law many of the key recommendations made in our
report, such as creating a presidential response plan and a Domestic Crisis Monitoring Unit in the White House. It also provides for damage and needs assessments,
targeted emergency grants, and reorganization of FEMA. Moreover, it would reduce
the number of presidential appointees to five the first essential condition our panel
believes needs to be met to make FEMA an elective organization.
The bill also would make changes that go beyond our report, such as transferring
responsibility for the National Disaster Medical System from the Department of
Health and Human Service to FEMA and making the Vice President the head of
the Domestic Crisis Monitoring Unit. As to the former, our panel and staff did not
evaluate the NDMS. As to the latter, we believe the President should have the flexibility to organize the White House staff to meet his needs as he sees them, and the
line responsibility for disaster response should flow through FEMA. The Vice President can play a visible and effective political role in the response phase if requested
to do so by the President.
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If invited, we would be pleased to provide additional views on S. 995 when you
schedule a hearing on the bill.
WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM CHAIRMAN GLENN TO RICHARD T. SYLVES
AND THE RESPONSES
Question 1. Senator Glenn asks, "In lour book, Cities and Disaster, one of the au.
thor, Allen K Settle, suggests establishing more precise criteria for the issuance
of a presidential disaster declaration. He believes that reform of this criteria would
encourage State and local governments to build up a reasonable financial commitment before disaster strikes and before a Federal declaration is souht Do you
agree with this approach and, if so, what kinds of criteria might be employed?"
Answer. This is a very tough question to answer. Settle article as you must
know from having read it documents a failed attempt by FEMA and keagan administration officials to install a sliding scale Federal post-disaster financial aid system.
Whether disaster-impacted States and communities receive more or less than the
75-25 match would -have been pre-determined by whether or not the States and
their localities had set aside a reserve emergencyy) fund. The fund itself, a major
object of contention, would have used population as the major variable determining
"how much" money had to be available. I won't review all the intricacies of Settle's
plan because it proved politically infeasible then, and I believe Is even more infeasible now. It smacks of expensive and controversial Federal mandating that State and
local officials have grown to detest. I serious doubt whether localities, and most
States, could afford to establish such funds and even if they tried, demands to meet
dire spending needs would tempt local (and possibly State) officials to expand the
definition of emergency so that these reserve funds would be gobbled up.
I do not wholly oppose Federal mandating, but requiring State and local reserve
funds as part o an eligibility criteria for Federal disaster aid is, in my view, not
a pood idea at this time. However, rather than use Federal mandating to force creation of State/local emergency reserve funds, I think a case can be made for using
Federal mandating to induce improvement in State and local disaster preparedness
and response. For example, why not enact a law that raises the Federal matching
share a State or locality is eligible to receive if before the disaster, FEMA certifies
that the unit of government had in place an operational Incident Command System.
Also, few States have established in law individual and family disaster assistance
programs. Those that have might be rewarded with a higher Federal match as well.
State disaster victim assistance programs help backstop FEMA. In some cases,
these State programs could help meet victim needs when a presidential disaster declaration has not been approved and FEMA victim assistance is therefore unavailable.
The increased Federal match approach has multiple benefits. First, it encourages
emergency management professionalization at the State and local level. Because
ICS embodies mitigation as well as preparedness, response, and recovery, governments will be made conscious of the need to reduce their disaster vulnerabilities
and so disaster devastation might be less (thus holding down Federal, State and
local response/recovery costs). Second, such an approach precludes the need to force
State and local governments into creating reserve funds that at this time may be
well beyond the fiscal means of these governments. Third, by shifting to an 80
(or some higher multiple of) Federal match for governments FEMA determines to
have made ICS and other emergency management improvements, Federal post-disaster costs will not be excessively greater than they would be on the 75/26 scale.
For the extra 5 percent Federal commitment (which may never have to be paid if
no presidential declared disaster befalls the qualifying government), the Feral
Government gains improvement in State and local emergency management and disaster preparedness. These improvements may yield Federal dollar savings which exceed the added 5 percent commitment. Fourth, by "increasing" the match as a reward for improvement in emergency management capacity, no State or local government can cry foul. In other words, they are not being punished for failing to reform
(as happened in the Settle case), but only rewarded for making positive reforms.
Such an approach would move the country toward a more standardized emergency
management system, which helps answer Question 2. Right now a variety of approaches are used by the States. If FEMA used the post-disaster Federal match incentive to get all States to use the Incident Command System, this would harmonized FEMA-State interaction and would enable more State-to-State coordinated
interaction in the aftermath of disasters. It would also improve inter-local and
State-local disaster response and recovery.
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I had the opportunity to talk with Prof. Allen K Settle on June 21. Settle is not
only closely affiliated with FEMA and the emergency management community, but
is also elected Vice-Mayor of San Luis Obispo, California. He told me that various
cities within certain California counties are establishing Joint Powers Insurance
Agreements (JPIAs). This initiative comes from the California League of Cities, not
the State or Federal Government. A JPIA is a method by which these local government's purchase disaster insurance in combination with other cities in their county.
This has several advantages. By creating a larger pool they are able to secure a
lower bond rate than if each city paid for its own disaster insurance independently.
The real value of JPIA's comes into play when some disaster incident occurs and
the localities petition for a Federal disaster declaration, and the petition is rejected
at the State/Federal level. Some thought might be given to promoting this innovation to cities on a national basis.
While we are on this topic, I want to alert you to House Bill H.R. 993 I believe,
which proposes a system of a national disaster insurance program. Embedded in the
measure is a 10 percent of property value deductible that must be paid before Federal funding is made available. IMow little about the measure and do not have
a copy. If this bill has a Senate counterpart, or when the House bill is routed to
the Senate, you and your staff may want to examine whether it can be used as a
vehicle In changing the criteria for presidential disaster declarations. I would be
happy to assist you in this research. On a related matter, I am told FEMA has a
threshold for determining when it will contribute to a State's forest fire respnse.
Apparently, if fire damage does not exceed $2 million per/fire in California, EMA
wil not provide aid. I am told that FEMA's threshold varies from State-to-State and
that some States face no minimum cost-damage threshold at all. Again, I have not
done my homework on this one, but it seems to stand as evidence that FEMA already is using some cost-criteria on determining aid eligibility.
Question 2. You also suggest that FEMA develop and promote a standardized
emergency management system which would allow State-to-State interchange in
cases of major disaster. You say many State officials are worried about "what neighboring States might do or not do in helping out after a disaster." Can you elaborate
on these worries? How can better interaction between States improve States' responses to emergency?
Answer. Referring to the paragraph preceding this question, I believe that one
State's officials will be much less worried about what their neighboring State(s)
might do after a disaster if each State used the incident -ommand system. he modular components of ICS would allow people from different States to be plugged into
the disaster response of other States with minimum difficulties. How much any one
State wants to contribute of its own public resources to a neighboring disasterstricken State probably can only be determined at the time of the disaster, however,
inter-State memorandums of understanding mutual aid agreements, and inter-state
compacts developed between disasters would go a long way toward resolving difficulties. It was interesting observing mutual aid assistance New Jersey State and local
authorities provided New York City (and State) in the aftermath of the February
1993 Twin Towers bombing. Metropolitan interdependence has promoted emergency
management professionalization and diffusion of I-S in the New York area.
Senator, it is important to recognize that significant improvement in State-toState emergency management helps relieve the burden FEMA and other Federal
agencies must shoulder in disaster response. Often it is wasteful and ridiculous to
force a full Federal mobilization of resources to aid a devastated area, when well
managed help might be obtained from neighboring States at less cost and with
fewer logistical problems. Perhaps FEMA could provide some form of reimbursement
to undamaged States that move some of their emergency personnel and resources
into neighb-oring disaster-impacted States (that request it).
Such State-to-State interchanges, based on a uniform system like ICS, would promote multi-agency coordination. At your May 18 hearing Administrator Witt said
he would like to move toward "performance based evaluation" of what State and
local authorities are doing, rather than maintain the existing onerous system of administrative paperwork oversight. My proposal is consistent with Witt's aim. Promoting more uniformity in each State's system of emergency management, particularly through advocating ICS, would be a very sensible tool for performance based
evaluation. My elevated Federal match incentive discussed in answer one could be
used by Mr. Witt and his agency to reward State emergency management reform.
question 3. You state in your testimony that programs, like the Emergency Food
and Shelter Program, receive very low funding and by inference low priority. Do you
think FEMA should give these programs, such as the Emergency Food and Shelter
Program, which I have direct experience with, more funding? Is it possible to give
such programs more priority without significant funding increases?
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Answer. My contacts in the field tell me that this program needs better organiza.
tion and faster mobilization. It would be sad if the Hurricane Andrew experience
has conditioned everyone to automatically expect that only the military can do this
job. Hurricane Andrew did p rove that you cannot turn this job over to the major
charities. What FEMA should do is plan out food assistance with the U.S. De artment of Agriculture and work to expedite delivery. On the housing side, FEMA
should work with HUD and State/local governments to determine avai ability of unoccupied housing be/bre a disaster strikes. Get out of the business of catalogin
bomb shelters and instead locate habitable houses and other structures. F
should try to arrange emergency contracts with the mobile home building industry
and with the prefabricated home industry, to ratchet up production to meet postdisaster housing needs. Much of the emergency housing/shelter program is con.
founded by the need to house not only disaster-homeless people but chronically
homeless peo le as well. This was evident in the wake of the 989 San Francisco
earthquake. The U.S. did a better job providing emergency housing in the 1940s
than it does in the 1990s. FEMA should improve and practice its ability (perhaps
in conjunction with HUD) to get temporary housing in place after a disaster. The
system needs to adapt to the circumstances victims actually face.
The Red Cross and Salvation Army, to name a few, are fine organizations. However, they are nonprofits in the business of competition with each other and they
depend on private contributions. Variable income streams and counterproductive
competition, combined with catastrophic scale disasters, have proven the shortcomings of these organizations. Both in the case of Hurricane Andrew and Hurricane Iniki, these organizations proved inadequate. FEMA must be prepared to rapidly draw in the resources of USDA and HUD. I do not think the military should
be tasked to routinely handle emergency food and sheltering unless as a last resort.
Once tents go up they tend to stay up too long. Tent cities spawn crime, disease
and frustration when people are forced to live in them for more than a short period
of time. Also, the public loses sympathy for disaster victims the longer they remain
dependent and homeless.
A final observation on the emergency food program; in the past FEMA and USDA
have been slow to make the right amount of the right kinds of food available to victims of presidentially declared disasters. In one case, a Hispanic community of resident (not migratory) farmers in California suffered a crop failure which left them
destitute and hungry until the end of the next growing season a year later. Not only
did FEMA/USDA food aid come in too slowly, but it was withdrawn too soon and
much of it provided foods inappropriate for the culture of the people consuming it.
CLOSING

I hope my answers to your questions are satisfactory. I still owe you an evaluation
of your S. 995 bill. I will be happy to work with you on a continuing basis. I thank
you for your excellent questions and I applaud your effort to make the reforms
FEMA needs to improve its service to the American public.
WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR GLENN TO DALE W. SHIPLEY AND
THE RESPONSES
Question 1. States vary on the level, emphasis, and priority given to disaster preparedness and response. Why is that, and what can FEMA do to ensure that states
and local governments are fully prepared in this response capabilities? Is it possible
to establish some performance standards in this area?
Answer. The variation in capability, in my opinion, is a function of leadership,
staffing, training, regulatory and financial support to the emergency management
organizations at all three levels--federal state and local. All of the above are areas
on which we must continue to work. FEMA is already working toward improving
its own response capability and is moving toward development of minimum standards for state program implementation. FEMA is ctently preparing, for instance,
a Requirements Study which will be submitted to the Congress before September
30. The major challenge, however, is not to identify program shortfalls but to influence the budget process to overcame recognized deficiencies in needed capabilities.
Question 2. Do you believe that state and local governments and private relief
agencies, can be expected to handle all needs in every disaster? Should DOD be the
one to come in and fill the gap? What role or relationship would a state government
like to have with the military in such situations?
Answer. Most states have had disasters for which federal resource assistance has
been needed. Most common, in my experience, has been DOD, USDA, USEPA,
USDOT, DHHS-PHS and USDOE. All of these federal resources, including DOD,
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are available to respond as needed and coordinated by FEMA to support the states.
DOD isa key player in this system and is certainly critical in response to cata.
smphic disasters such as Hurricane Andrew and Iniki. The military relationship
to the state in these situations is one of support to state and local governments and
is normally coordinated by the Federal Coordinating Officer and State Coordinating
Officer. Tis is not unlike the relationship erqoyed by state •mergency tnanagement
organizations (State Coordinating Officer) which must frequently coordinate the use
of the state's national guard to augment other local and state resources. I believe
the structure and authorities are already In place, for the most part, for this military support to civil authorities. NEMA believes that the senior elected official at
the state and local government level must be in charge and held responsible for the
proper functioning of the system within their jurisdictions.
Question 3. In your testimony, you offer several ideas on making FEMA more "client friendly" by reducing the bureaucratic maze of service and recovery programs
which are so daunting to already-shocked victims. What other specific actions would
you suggest FEMA take? Also what about visibility and presence in the aftermath
of these disasters-what can ?EMA do better to show that the federal government
is *on the scene" to help?
Answer. The line between minimum administrative demands on victims and minimum accountability demands of taxpayers is very fine. We must be willing to accept
during response operations, the meeting of basic survival needs of food, shelter and

clothing with rinfral standards of accountability and maximum speed in providing

whatever sources available. Recover operations would be expected to require greater accountability and with that will come increased administrative requirements.
We should do a -better job of defining reasonable expectations on the part of victims
and on the part of auditors assigned to protect the taxpayer.
Much of our effort as emergency managers is to coordinate organizations and resources, already existing for other routine purposes, to help people in critical need.
Our goal should be to develop the multiple agencies, in all layers of government
into a team capable of responding to whatever extent required. No one element ot
government nor single agency should shine above any other. This accomplishment
may be visible to the executives we work for, but only seldom to citizens we serve.
Question 4. You also suggest that FEMA develop and promote a standardized
emergency management system which would allow state-to-state interchange in
cases of major disaster. You say that many state officials are worried about 'what
neighboring states might do or not do in helping out after a disaster".
Can you elaborate on these worries? How can better interaction between states
improve states' responses to emergency?
Answer. Resources available in the several states surrounding any disaster area
are considerable au-d should be included in the total arsenal of resources available
to respond to catastrophic disasters. Since mutual aid compacts among states must
be approved by Congress, I recommend FEMA and Congress take the lead in developing such an agreement and offering it to the states for ratification. Our concept
is that once ratified, the states would provide assistance as requested and available,
on a reimbursable basis.
The most significant improvement in disaster response capabilities would be real.
ized in the following:
(1) Trained personnel to augment emergency management organizations
(2) Routine response planning across state lines which may include a common
hazard
(3) Regional planning in coordination with FEMA where certain specialty assets may be available in other states more readily than from federal resources
inresponse to a given hazard
(4) Exercises to practice implementation of these agreements which will result
in improved response when disasters occur.
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disas, you might mention
fasked to name
a recent
Hurricane
Andrew.
Or the
Ca1ioniaBll
earthquake.
Cliton's And
first 100

-xobbb

days.
W(Me did Waco! Here in
the White House, I knew
nothing!)
And I you happen to visit Jeff
Del =tagne's house in
Herndon, hell take you to his
office and point to the huge
photograph of his old
neighborhood InPittsburgh, the
one with the steel mills and
lifestyle now deceased.
"ltaa disaster "
Dem tagne ays.
He says snow i not a
disaster. Not even a lot.
Why not?
Do mogne seems
confused. Am I jerking his
chain? Isn't this obvious?
"Because,' he shrugs, it's
snow.'

Just... snow.
Gentle .. snow.
Maybe discombobulating
snow. but eventually melted
snow, every time.
So when Delmontagne, 31, a
landscaper who is also a
Herndon Town Council
member, saw Item 11 on the
agenda for the April 6
meeting-Request for
Disaster Relief Funds'-snow
didn't come to mind Oil did.
Delmontagne assumed Herndon
was applying for federal money
to cover its share of the cleanup
of the big March spill in
Sugarland Run in Fairfax
County.
This was dead solid wrong.
Snow was the disaster.

2

. uiht remember the
After the lake festival of
March 13-14, the Federal
Emergecy Management
Aeocy declared 17 states,
eligible for relief money.
Including Virginia and
Maryland. plus the District.
Now ordinarily, FEMA
doesn't do snow. It does
hurricanes, quakes, floods,
fires, pestilence, bad haircuts,
setbacks you might not if you
showed up In the areas on
vacate.
If you vacation in Herndon
this summer-and who
won'ot?not notice it
Dennis
snowe. &ut will
Kwiatkowski, FEMA's assistant
associate director for disaster
assistance
programs (speaking
of disasters, isn't his title
eligible for some relief?), says
the agency decided the March
storm was so unusually nasty
that local officials up and down
the East Coast needed help with
their plowing costs. It didn't, in
fairness, declare the storm a
disaster. More like abudget
emergency.

Indeed, Herndon had rung up
extra costs. Diane MacPherson,
administrative assistant in the
Department of Public Works,
says it looks like the storm cost
Herndon $43.392.92 in
overtime, salt and other items,
of which $24,763.09 might be
reimbursable under FEMA's
program.
What follows is a miracle y .u
can tell your grandchildren
about.
Three of the seven Herndon
See IWOMEY, B4. CoL I
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Profiting From Disaster
mauagmt.... AN of ow.
coud meabs--

Destp

ksNr Downer

H tahi-nnounc"d at the

April 6,neeft that they

Con't see inie the town's
hand into someone
else tito
-VA out someb 1 .e'
absolotel,
free
cub
Gover a
os stemmin from to
mow.

Snow appens.
Some years it doesn't Mow

Delmnta says Some years

it nows a lot and the town
pays, Delmontane says. It all
even out. It's no big deal.
bcafer want winters, so
why should anybody take
federal
money after a harsh
one?
Snow is't some unheard of.
e experience
once-nailike Andrew. It shows up pretty
regularly.And look around:
Even after a foot of white stuff.
Herndon looks the same. No
desou
homeal Still the
Gateway to Dues!
It Just seemed RSe life went
on. Delmootagne ays.
Something about this Just
doesn't feel right." Downer
reportedly said as the meeting.
"Wedidn't have s disaster in
Hetndon. We just had a lot of

snow!

I felt, Connie Hutchinson
says. witwas a misappropriation
of federal funds."
Mayor Thomas Rust and the
three other council members.
however, voted to take the
Cash.
Because Herndon needed it?
Absolutely not.
'Tht's the irony of it.
Rust
The town would suv
without FEMA's largesse, he
sys In the days after the
storm, he ws't worried at au
about how Herndon would make
up the extra cos. it just
would. It would hunker down.
As Hutchinson says, I don't
think there was ever a question
in anyooe's mind... (that) the
cost could be absorbed because
o very good fiscal

"It would have been
trresponsile
of mnorito have
take It,"Rust says meang.
voters would have looked

asksa

at passng up painles

revenue. Rust adds that if
Herndon didn't get it, another
iton would. (That turns
out not to be true, a state
official uy Money not sought
is moey uved.)
No doubt many Herndon
taxp e would have been
rad. 9U"=mo was so

-cnficted she abstained no

wanting to take silly money but
not wanting to deny it to her
coeaakue s
But Delmontagne nd .
Richard Downer voted no, Says
Delmontne: This episode is
whit's wronSg with America.

Everybodys go his palm out.

People take when they have no

need. when they could get by

Without Nobody think beyond
self-interest. Turning down a
few thousand bucks wouldn't
even prick the federal deficit,
he says, but it would be a stand
for fiscal restraint and unity.
It wasjust snow.
OWhen you read ... about
the criminal who had to be
released because they didn't
have room or a tutor who had
to be removed, that's real
need,' Dlmontagne says. "The
bottom line isthere isn't

enough money [in Americal

because we spend iL"
The man is a hero. So is
Richard Downer. And give
Connie Hutchinson at least a
hand.
I'm sure some communities
couldn't get by without the
money. But I'm sure many
ul. And baed on FEMA
estimates, the feds could wind
up bandim out 34 million
nationwide for Big Snow
removal.
Now that would be a disaster.
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APPENDIX A -FEDERAL DISASTER RELIEF PROGRAMS
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Federal Emergency Management Agency
Washingon. D.C. 20472

May 21, 1993
The Honorable John Glenn
Chair,
Committee on Governmental Affairs
United States Senate
20510
Washington, D.C.
Dear Mr. Chairman:
Thank you for the opportunity to testify before your Committee on
May i.
As you and I have discussed, we are at a critical
juncture
During this Congress,
in the evolution of emergency management.
there is opportunity for collaboration between the Executive and
the Legislative Branches to refine an emergency management system
to better serve the American people. As such, it is important for
us to clearly communicate with each other.
r an concerned that some
looking back at the hearing,
In
I am concerned that you feel the
misperceptions were left.
level. While we do need
disaster process has resorted to a trivial
to improve the system by incorporating so..e objective factors to
President, I feel the
to
the
recommendation
form a basis for our
need to explain to you the process and professional judgement that
is currently in place.
I have asked the staff to pull together comments on what we look at
in making a recommendation to the President on a declaration
request. The enclosed fact sheet entitled "Disaster Declaration
Rationale makes those points. I have also asked them to provide
information on the reasoning behind providing the States assistance
for emergency work in conjunction with the severe snow storms of
March.
I hope you will be able to find the time to look at these comments,
and would be pleased to discuss it with you further. I appreciate
your interest in the agency and emergency management.
icerely,

ires ( e
.)Dire,-tor

Enclosures
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Disaster Declaration Rationale

Bach disaster Incident Is evaluated individually on its own merits.
Criteria set forth in the Stafford Act for evaluation aret
(1) the severity and magnitude of the incident; (2) the impact of
the event; and (3) whether the incident is beyond the cpabilities
of the State and local governments.
The process and criteria are purposely subjective to some extent to
allow the President discretion to address a wide range of events
and circumstances.
Each incident is evaluated by reviewing a damage or situation
assessment to determine the nature of the disaster or emergency,
i.e., the kind of incident tornado, flash flood, hurricane, slow
rising flood, etc. The response capabilities and activities of the
State and local governments are then evaluated: did the Governor
declare a State of Emergency; did the Governor and local
governments commit resources necessary to alleviate the impact of
the event or to recover from it; what insurance resources are
available; could the impact of the event be addressed through the
efforts of voluntary agencies; are other community resources
including the resources of individuals and families sufficient to
meet the needs (e.g., the damage is widespread but minor); and what
are the unmet needs? What would happen if the disaster were not
declared a major disaster or emergency by the President? Could
other federal programs
address the unmet needs without a
declaration?
What is the recent disaster history of the area?
What mitigation measures did the State take for this event or from
previous events in the same area to preclude repetitive damage?
Each incident is evaluated with regard to its impact on the area:
were there many deaths or injuries; how large an area was impacted
i.e., one county or several; was the event a sudden and intense
impact confined to a small geographic area; were critical
facilities that provide essential public services affected? what is
the financial impact or burden as a result of the event on the
State and local governments?
The criteria in the Stafford Act while specific are open to
interpretation. FDIA will endeavor to establish some objective
evaluators that could be used in the declaration process that would
augment the criteria currently used. Such objective evaluators
would give States a basis on which to base preliminary judgements
as what level of event they should be prepared to handle on their
own and what level of event they should seek federal assistance.
However, the evaluation factors eventually used cannot be the sole
criteria. They must be used in addition to the criteria set forth
above to allow flexibility in the President's response to unique
events.
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Following the severe winter storms of March 13 and 14, 1993,
President Clinton declared emergencies for 17 States and the
District of Columbia.- The purpose of these declarations vas to
provide assistance to States and affected local governments to
ensure that the lack of financial resources was not an obstacle to
re-establishmt of access on routes required for emergency
vehicles. In particular, the declarations were strictly limited to
assistance required to open one lane in each direction, for access
by energency vehicles, on major and minor arterial and collector
To be eligible for reimbursement, the- work had to be
streets.
performed within five days following the storm.
The rationale
following:

for

these

emergency
-

-

declarations

includes

the

-

1. This storm adversely affected the largest geographic area ever
impacted by a single event in the history of the Disaster Relief
Act. More people died as a result of this storm (200) than as a
result of Hurricane Andrew in Florida and Louisiana. Millions of
people were stranded or immobilized, and many of these were without
power, creating overwhelming demands upon local and state emergency
and rescue resources. National economic indicators for the month
of March were measurably affected by the loss of commerce and
Major transportation routes,
business caused by these storms.
airports and local and State governmental operations were disrupted
Several States or portions of states were
for many days.
immobilized by snowfall which rarely ever experience snowfall in
any measurable quantities. The entire eastern United States was
paralyzed by this storm.
2. FDIA personnel, deployed to Emergency Operations Centers in
each of the affected states during the storm, reported these
emergency situations existing on a widespread basis. Within each
state, thousands of individuals were stranded, requiring special
air-drops of food, water and medicine, and the evacuation of
individuals with medical problems.
3. Assistance was intended to allow States and local governments
to augment and supplement existing resources by adding additional
equipment and personnel to open emergency access for emergency
The knowledge that financial assistance would be
vehicles.
available to supplement these efforts allowed state ard local
authorities to employ all the resources necessary to accomplish the
opening of access in the most expeditious manner. This is one of
the basic underlying purposes of federal disaster relief.
4.

Six states requested major disaster declarations rather than
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the limited emergency declarations. A major disaster declaration
would have made a broader range of assistance available for the
repair and replacement of storm damaged public facilities
and
utilities,
and would have significantly increased costs.
All of
these major disaster requests have been denied, since our primary
concern was with alleviating the emergency conditions caused by the
storm.
5.
The declaration was made to address emergency conditions in the
states. Obviously, the impacts of this storm varied considerable
depending upon what part of a state, or even what part of a county
is being considered. For those areas of a state which did not have
emergency access problems due to the accumulation of snow, the
state should not be requesting, and FDIA will not be approving
claims.
Once a geographic area is declared, all locales within
that area have equal access to the assistance. The Stafford Act
does not require us to means test a jurisdiction as a condition of
receiving public assistance. To do so would considerably slow down
the delivery of assistance and add a large administrative burden.
NlDRMON,

VXRGIfl

The city of Herndon, Virginia has submitted a claim for, and been
reimbursed, $17,797.24 for eligible snow removal costs pursuant to
this emergency declaration.
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LOSSES FROM HURRICANES IN THE UNITED STATES BY DECADES.
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B-3. Upper left - Costliest United States Hurricanes adjusted to 1990 dollars. Note that the loses from Hurricane Andrew are greater
than the sum of the three worst previous hurricanes; upper right - the strongest 15 hurricanes to strike the United States this century.
Note that only two have been stronger than Andrew; lower left - satellite picture of Andrew when It was located south of New Orleans;
lower right - inundation in the greater New Orleans area that would have taken place if Andrew had been only slightly displaced to the
north as It moved Inland on Its west northwest track.
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HURRICANE ANDREW DAMAGE
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C-1. Upper left - Country Walk development; upper right - Concrete-Block-Stucco (CBS) homes in the foreground and Dadeland
Mobile home park in the background; lower left - two different CBS home developments; lower right -CBS community showing
differences in construction and damage. Notice that wood frame structures with multiple roof lines and large gabled ends failed
while CBS structures with steel reinforced poured concrete tie beams withstood the full force of the winds. Failures here were
windows. doors, and roofing materials. Notice total failure of mobile hoares.
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C-4. Upper left - Mobilp home" parrk %itli wsil1t bolt CB~S cottrnity building~ when-'7 people rode out the hurricane across from
f! .vnior cilizeri housing in background of picture to the left ni firi.r,'4; upper ;,§ht - Keup
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C-5. Upper left - CBS first floor, wood frame second floor; upper right - neighboring CBS both floors with concrete tie beam
and tie columns - no failures of waUs, but window and door failures; lower left - rebuild - replacing former wood frame second
floor with CBS; lower right -new construction in Garden City. South Cerolina. It should be noted that despite some "shoddy
construction" in South Dade county, the great majority of the houses that were heavily damaged were still better built far better
than the great majority of the homes along the Gulf of Mexico and Atlantic coasts from Texas through Maine.
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Other mid- to high- rise engineered buildings which suffered external and internal damage.

C-8. Upper left - two cars in a rooness garage upside down. The cars were parked outside of the garage before the hurricane;
upper right - plywood through a palm tree; lower left - concrete on an automobile; low-r right - boet on a house. These pictures
illustrate the force of the wind and why we must not have people trapped on the highways In their vehicles when the hurricane
moves over the area.
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FOREWORD

Last September, Congress mandated that the National Academy conduct acomprehensive
and objective study of governmental capacity to respond effectively to major natural disasters.
Over an intensive four-month period, an Academy panel and project staff have examined five

major Issues, Including the capabilities and performance of the Federal Emergency Management

Agency (EMA) in reent major disasters, especially Hurricane Andrew. They found that major
changes are needed-in the White House, in Congress, in FEMA, in other federal agencies, and
in the states and ocalities-if the United States is to have an effective and responsive emergency
management system.
Under its congressional charter, the Academy is charged with advancing the effectiveness
of government at all levels-fedeal, state and local. This report highlights the challenges, in a
system of divided powers, of developing an effective emergency management system that
involves all three levels of government as well as the private sector. To summarize, we believe
such a national system does not now exist, but can be created.
The study also addressed the challenging relationship between preparedness for national
security emergencies and domestic civil emergency preparedness and response. In a rapidly
changing but still uncertain world, old imperatives about the need to project national security in
established ways are being chalked by presing domestic needs. The panel has recommended
modifications to eitng methods for addressing national security emergency preparedness, as
well as their funding sources.
By looking at the whole system for emergency management, rather than just a single
agency or specific actions taken after Hurricane Andrew, the panel developed a comprehensive
set of recommendations to address the causes of the nation's inadequate response to recent
catastrophic events. This approach is needed to achieve real progress in emergency
management. It is also applicable to other functions of government.
The Academy appreciates the opportunity provided by the Congress to undertake this
work. We also thank the many people in and outside of government who were so helpful along
the way.

<F9esoider

President
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
On August 24, 1992, Hurricmne Andrew made landfall in southern Dade

County, Florida. While the country's initial reaction was a sense of relief --

Greater Miami's most populated areas had been spared the full brunt of the storm
- officials eventually realized that an area encompassing about 250,000 people
had suffered a major disaster.

After crossing Florida, Hurricane Andrew made landfall again, wreaking
havoc in southwestern Loui.ana. When the storm subsided, it was clear that
Andrew would prove to be the nation's most costly natural disas-. It also
became increasingly evident that the governmental response, particularly in South

Florida, had fallen short. The immediate needs of the disaster victims, as well

as the general public's need for a competent presence in the midst of such
destruction, went largely unmet.
mandate, a panel of the Natior!J Academy
In response to a congress
of Public Administration has conducted this study of capacities of the federal,
state and local governments to respond promptly and effectively to major natural

disasters occurring in the United States.
The panel judged that it could make a unique contribution by reviewing

and analyzing the entire structure of the disaster response system. This includes
all levels of government -- federal, state and local - as well as private and nonprofit organizations and individuals. Moreover, the panel determined that it could
not examine the response to natural disasters in isolation from all emergency

management function: mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery. This
report presents the panel's observations, conclusions and recommendations.
ENDURING PROBLEMS OF EMERGENCY MANAG2IENT
There are some problems associated with emergency management that are
unique intheir intensity and in their enduring nture. They endure because they
are rooted in humm nature, American attitudes toward long-range planning, the
dynamics of power Inthe Executive Branch, and the short-term perspective of the
American political process. Emergencies and disasters are easily dismissed as
something that is unlikely to homppen, going to happen to someone else, or going
to happen on *someone else's watch.'
American have never seemed to value long-range planning and training.
Although they have come to acept the necessity of thse thins in the military
cities from threats ftom abroad, they have not yet developed
in ter to pt
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an appreciation for their need in protecting ciazens from hazards that can befall
them 'at home.' As a result, emergency management agencies are generally
underfunded for planning, training and excises eve though these activities are
every bit as essential for their effectiveness as they arm for military organizations.
Emergency management requbts coordination of a wide range of
organizations and activities, public and private. Everyone acknowledges the need
for such coordination in an emergency, but in fact no one wants to be
"coordinated,* nor is it clear what the term means in practice. Statutory authority
is not readily transformed into legitimate political authority, and emergency
management agencies are very seldom given anything but statutory authority to
coordinate in the event of an emergency or disaster that everyone prefers to
believe is unlikely. Statutory power is a necessary but insufficient condition for
real power to coordinate.
Finally, emergency management has almost no natural constituency base
until an emergency or disaster occurs. Except for those persons and agencies
with responsibilities in emergency management, which are modest in number and
influence, the function has no generally attentive, supportive set of constituents
or clients, which is so important to the survival and effectiveness of public
agencies.
NEED FOR AN FFECTWE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
Every year the United States is hit by numerous disasters, both large and
small. The nation needs mwell-organkd, effectve emergency management
system; she panelfound it does not have one. All levels of government as well
as private, non-profit and business organizations are involved. In the aftermath
of Hurricane Andrew, few of the parties involved, whether public or private,
could claim a flawless performance. The blame for the extensive dislocation and
misery the victims experienced following the storm must be widely shared.
Strengthening the Federal Role
At the national level, the President and numerous federal agencies are
responsible for providing assistance to disaster victims. For crises overseas, the
National Security Council coordinates policy for the President. No counterpart
exists on the domestic side. The President should have a Domestic Crs
Monltori Unit to assu that the federal responses to camstrophc events are
time, effectve and well coordinated.
The Federal Emricy Management Agency (FEMA) was created in
1979 to provide a new, integrated approach to emergency management.
However, the panel found that few of the goah set for that organization 14 years
ago have been realized.
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Currently, FEMA is like a piatient in triage. The President and Congress
must decide whether to treat it or let it die. And though the tendency is to focus
principally on FEMA, the present time and circumstances provide a unique
opportunity to improve the way afl those involved in emergency management
respond to disasters and catasuopic events.

The panel has concluded that a small independent agency could coordinate
the federal response to m4jor natural disasters, as well as integrate other
emergency management functions, but only (f the white House and Congress
take significant steps to make Ita Atble tnsWtution. FEMA has been ill-served
by congressional and White House neglect, a fragmented statutory charter,
irregular funding, and the uneven quality of its political executives appointed by
past presidents. In short, the agency remains an institution not yet built.
The Prtsident, Congress and strong, competent FEMA leadership could
create the conditions necessary to build FEMA or a successor into a highly
respected agency that coordinates --and thus leads --other federal agencies as
well as state and local governments. These essential conditions are:
1.

Reduction of political appointees to a .,rector and deputy director,
development of a competent, professional career staff and appointment of
a career executive director.

2.

Access to, and support of, the President through the creation of a
Domestic Crisis Monitoring Unit in the White House.

3.

Integration of FEMA's subunits into a cohesive institution through the
development of a common mission, vision and values; an integrated
development program for career executives; and effective management
systems.

4.

Development of structure, strategy and management systems to give
agency leadership the means to direct the agency.

5.

A new statutory charter centered on integrated mitigation, preparation,

response, and recovery from emergencies and disasters of all types.
6.

loint assesunent teams and a gradated response 'cale for more timely and
effective responses to disasters, including catasaophic.

7.

Development of functional headquarters-field relationships.

Regarding item 3, FEMA has experienced widespread and persistent
problems with internal communications and coordination which were intensified
by clsificaton restrictions on its national security emergency txpredifts

188
COPING WMI CATAS7TOPH

Page x

programs under the National Preparedness Directorate. These problems could be
mitigated by (I) reducing the number of security clearances and the impact of
classification, (2) transferring cetain program responsibilities and limited
program staff to DOD. (3) improving the integration of NP assets into domestic
emergency response, and (4) reevaluating the placement of some FEMA programs
under the national security budget function.
stear term ma, be reqidi to meet these
Some ad&doxal fundin
conditions, but the panel believes that the longer run result will be Improved
efficiency and program effectiveness that also reduce costs. Given the current
govemment-wide budget stringencies, PEMA must do everythi g possible to
economize and make best use of existing resources.
kis ca theme changes are beyond reach,
If, other a reamonabli pesiod4 It
the Pflent shoaud coradr and take acdon on a mare droMk opidon, such as
(1) abolishing FEMA and returning its component parts to their agencies of origin
or placing them elsewhere, or (2) trafarringmost functions intact to an existing
federal department.

If FEMA were abolished, a small office in the Executive Office of the
Presidet would be needed to coordinate the federal response. Because this was
the unfortunate condition which cas FFMA to be created in the first plo, this
is a usefu option only If no other is available. No other department or agency
provides an ideal home for the emergency management fusion and all have
other priorities and problems. Because changes in law would be required,
Congress ulso would have to act.
Role o the Miltry
nd the Federa Government as first Responder
The panel does no recommend that the disster response functon be
transfMed to the Defense DerMNL M w ho mu eo AP the essphasAr

isv. national security to doef neargeneyp

anagmut uuiogan aDhtvi

approach. Making this function a routine part of the defense mission would
further complicat lrgr Imes of the Arend Form' peacetime roles. Their
primary mission is to epre for war and to fight if neessary.

The pinel recognizes that the Armed Forces have repeatedly demonstrated
valuable capabilities in responding to major disasters, including Andrew, but it
holds that they should be tasked by civil authority - promptly when necessary in the case of a domestic catastrophe. The problem should be addressed by
improving procedures that enable civilian authorities to call upon the capabitbes
of the Armed Forces In a timely fashion in those relatively rare circumstanes that

require

pone capbWties of Am*ie only they can prvde
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te fadtml goevmtmet become te nadiox' 911I fmr
Nor c
reiponder. The nation's constitutional msucture, rooted in the values of
federalism, is fundamentally "bottom-heavy." Although the federal role has
expand over two centuries, covering in America generally orui within the
broad, germal "police pow reserve: to the sata by the Constitutio and
dekgated, in turn, to local governments. There am ten of thousands of
emergeneW each year. Most emergencies - even most duaster - ar met by
state and local governments. Ths layerd system of disaster response can be
improved without altering federalism.
Joint federal-state-local emergency response teams, which include relevant
military and civilian agencies, should be trained to enter a disaster site
immediately to assess damages as well as life support needs. They would issue
recommendations to the governors of affected states and the Presdent. Team
member should tain and conduct regular exercises together and draw upon the
unique mobile communications that FEMA has available. Joint decision making
by government leaders, plus full cost coverage by the federal government during
the iratial response period following a cauaphe, would facilitate prompt and
sufficient action to meet victims' life support needs.
Me Role o Stat and Loak

.i-

State and local governments WtMfbe able to sucessuly mange small and
medium sized disasters on their own. and they must be able to function
effectively as part of an intergovernmental team when an event warrants a
pesintial disaster declaration and feral intervention. At the state and local
levels, emergency management suffer from:
1.

A lk of dear and measbe obJectiv.r, akquwe raum,
concern and of#dal COe w,es.

2.

Low ebt opfblicWonern and noppnfor ewi

pabic

of low pobaby bu

potenually hl~A bnpacr.
3.

Local sensWviy sunowbWi b"Md~ code veir(wen and Land-we
npau
$annt, both e.uetapt elemensiad

bi

g mfipdon

measure and proemlniv In recovery dbmr.
4.

dedsion makM ad saiWWln rniwmn al relao. For
Fraqm
example, prior to Hrmica Andrew, relations between the independent
dts in Dade County and the county government were poor, as wee
those between the county and the stat of Florida. After the disaster,
these relations did not imprv, which impeded response and revery
dnefus.

68-273 0 - 94 - 7
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5.

Inow~wnc offedroi sWpon and

6.

A kWaof nohwdge and comipewce In emergency maagement.

7.

A kWh of cmmim to andfundligfor aergency managemnl.

Wlme.

noe feral gemew e to do more to h*e4x ace On ackijv
axd coxsean of emerecy management iform at he Sia and loc imla,
eapeckagly a ara=vaudebe to ctasophicmnt. Possible measures include:
targeting upgrades of state and local government capacity; using financial
incentves tategically to reward effort and competet perfomance; improving
training and education; Increasing rM h and its application; and fostering peer
exchanges and mutual aid agreements.

Congr.' Roe and Rsponsbty
Congress plays a leading role in developing policies for emergency
management and the federal response to natural disasters. Jurisdiction over these
functions and FEMA is so splntered, however, that no single authorizing
committee has the ability or inters to examine either one In their totality. This
spl ,l jurisdiction also reinforces fragmentation within the agency, as well as
programmai authoriztons tied to specific kinds of disasters, such as
eartNquakes or radiological hazards. In addition, FEMA's relations with Congress
are needlessly time-onsundng, complex and contentious.
As a result, FEMA has been reluctant t0 Propose a restructuring of its
authorizing statutes. Several laws Apply to emergency management programs,
some with competing objectives and overlapping p
ons. The result is a
hodge-podge of sttutory authorizations providing sometimes conflicting and
outdated guidance, which, in the panel's judgment, hampers the integration of
emergency management ftutons and slows, as well as mterially complicates,
the fedend response to nature disasters.
Emueren
aa
conressonal COMM s

mt ad FEMA are orenw by teo mamy
no"s of whkh hao * er tel
res or a

comprehensie overviw of &We
topi to aware &Wcohern fiderl policy is
delped ad *NpkxenA"
A preo=catimwith constituent interests, while
laudable in times of great need following disasters, makes It very difficult to
achieve a balance between cost and service.
The panel believes that Congress' attention ought to shift from a
Preocpa
with shrtoigs Inthe federal rsons to support for Improved
management of FM and for the development of a national emergncy
managamt system based on Intergovemnwtal coopertn. FEA or a

successorey needsec sre c0oeen lqSuatfr cwW, greAer fundAn
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THE NEED FOR A GALVANIZING EVENT
Th panel is making numerous roommendations to strengthen the nation's
emergency management system. Changes of the magnitude outlined in this report
will require strong, sustained White House and congressional attention and
support. Given the nation's economic and social problems, and the foreign policy

challenges likely to occupy its political leadership, the panel believes a
galvanizing event may be needed before the states can reach a new agreement
with the federal government on how the nation will prepare for and respond to
emergencies, and who will pay the cost.
Such an event could be a White House or governors' conference on
emergency management, a summit meeting between the President and the
governors, or a national commission chartered by Congress or appointed by the
President. Without bold actdln Amedc4'hft ati with the "melanand
quaft of the govemnmeaWl rponre to natural disurn will vry likly
continue.
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LIST OF PANEL RECOMMENDATIONS
This list provides in one place all of the recommendations made throughout the report.
Recommendations are contained in Chapters Three through Six as follows:
CHAPTER THREE. THE FEDERAL RESPONSIBILITY AND
THE PRESIDENTS ROLE IN EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
Retain the current mission and role of the Armed Forces In emergency management and
disaster response. Make certain that processes and procedures exist for promptly
triggering their capabilities in major disasters or catastrophes.
Set in motion a review by DoD of the role of the National Guard withg regard to emergency
management/disaster response.
Establish a Domestic Cris' "Monltoring Unit In the White House Office as a responsibility
of an assistant to the Pre.;c, it. Develop a small! staff of detallees to work out of the White
House situation room.
Amend the Federal Response Plan to include FEMA-led Joint assessment teams (federal,
state, local, and military). Members should be professionals who train together, are able
to operate in adverse environments, and would be supported with FEMA's unique
communications assets.
Mal:e the Federal Response Plan the President's Response Plan.
Modify the Federal Response Plan based on lessons learned to date.
Initiate a long-term effort to develop operational plans for each Emergency Support
Function of the Federal Response Plan and develop operational plans that link with the
federal plans and with those at al levels of government.
Develop a gradated disaster scale keyed to damage, life support needs, and casualties. Joint
assessment teams should recommend designation of a disaster on that scale, which would

establish a common base of assumptions for response and recovery actions on the part of all
participating agencies and organizations.
Relate the FRP and operational plans for each ESF to the gradations of the disaster scale.
Types of people and material mobilized, pre-positioned and dispatched for a disaster should be
related to gradations of the disaster scale.
If the President designates a cabinet officer or White House staffer as his representative In
a disaster, provide that individual appropriate orientation and staff support.
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CHAPTER FOUR. FEMA: AN INSITUTION NOT YET BUILT
VISION AND MISSION: Create a coherent sense of mission centered on the vision of a
hgh-perfonnance, high-reliability agency of government capable of integrating and
coordinating the federal government's emergency management functions. The primary
emphasis would be on domestic civil emergencies and disasters - and on all four functions of
emergency management: mitigation, preparation, response and recovery. Three major actions
to accomplish this are:
-

Develop an agency legislative charter (see Chapter Five) that makes it clear that the
primary purpose of the agency is domestic civil emergencies and disasters -- and that it
will deal with all four phases of emergency management.

-

Declassify virtually all positions. Transfer certain classified program responsibilities
(but not all staff and assets) to DoD, transfer the defense mobilization functions to
DoD or GSA. Form a new all-hazard preparedness and response unit utilizing
FEMA's unique communications and other asssets.

-

Seek clarification from Congress of FEMA's responslb~litles for tb social and major
public works Issues facing the agency following recent disaster declarations.

STRATEGY: Develop a strategic policy statement outlining the several broad emergency
management policy goals (about four to eight such goals) to be achieved during President
Clinton's first term. For example, one such goal could be enactment of a unified statutory

charter for emergency management.
VALUES: Work with agency employees to articulate a set of values centered on:
-

Minimizing loss from emergencies and disasters.

-

Helping victims to survive, recover and restore their lives.

-

Integrating more effectively the four main functions of emergency management

(mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery).
--

Establishing a service-oriented approach to dealing with the "customers" of the agency,
including those customers of diverse racial and ethnic backgrounds.

-

Maintaining control of costs to the federal treasury.

WHITE HOUSE COMMUNICATIONS: Build a continuing relationship with the senior
White House officials responsible for domestic policy, domestic crisis monitoring and
processing of disaster declarations. Have a solid understanding of how these White House
functions operate.
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LEADERSHIP:--Provide a framework for Improving leadership by:
-

~Imiting the number of presidential appointments (other than the Inspector general)
to two - director and deputy director - and helping to assure that future leaders are
qualified and trained for their jobs.

-

Converting all other executive positions to career status and filling them with the most
qualified candidates from within the agency, throughout the federal government, state and
local government or the private sector.

-

Building a first-rate executive development program to assure a pool of talent for
future leadership within the agency.

-

Creating a career-reserved position of executive director with responsibility for all
internal management systems and functions except budget and financial management.
(The Chief Financial Officer Act of 1990 requires that the CFO report directly to the
agency head. There should be a close working relationship between the CFO and the
executive director on common management issues).

PREPARING FOR THE NEXT CATASTROPHE: Give priority to assuring the agency is
as prepared as possible for the next catastrophe, i.e., position the agency to "manage the hell
out of moments of truth.' (See also recommendations in Chapter Three.)
ORGANIZATION: Realize the goal of building a single, coherent organization by:
-

Restructuring the agency around a comprehensive emergency management concept
with pima
my emphasis on mitigation of, planning and preparing for, responding to, and
recovery from civil emergencies and natural or human-generated disasters.

-

Addressing the problem of agency subcultures by giving all components an allhazards objective, with the only difference between components being the functions
they perform toward this end - preparation, response, recovery, and mitigation.

-

Better integrating - or spinning off - the now relatively separate functions of the
Fire Administration and other agency operations which prove incompatible with the
new mission and vision.
Considering strengthening the mitigation function by building on the mitigation
responsibilities of the National Earthquake Hazards Reduction Program and the National
Flood Insurance Program, especially with new all-hazards insurance and mitigation
programs being considered by Congress.
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--

Setting n management philosophy for delegating responsibilities to the field,
consistent with the mission and the roles the field offices are expected to play. Establish
management systems consistent with this philosophy and which also will provide
guidance for consistent application of statutes and policies nationwide. Establish
management systems consistent with this philosophy and which also will provide
guidance for consistent application of statutes and policies nationwide. In this
connection, make it clear that headquarters is responsible for policy and centralized
management systems while the field is responsible for implementation of policy within
the context of systems needed to respond to regional circumstances.

-

Considering consolidation of the field structure into fewer regions - such as the
four-region structure used by the Continental U.S. Army - to assure its
responsiveness to emergency requirements based on the frequency of disasters and
opportunities for coordination both with the states and the military.

-

Developing any needed legislative proposals for reorganization. Depending on the
exact composition of the proposal, some legislation - including FEMA-specific
reorganization authority -- may be necessary.

EXTERNAL AFFAIRS: Build a strong external affairs unit of career personnel capable
of effectively handling media relations in moments of crisis. Public Affairs should include
promptly informing disaster victims of where and how help can be obtained. Congressional
Affairs staff should emphasize building good relations with Congress. Additionally, the unit
should establish good bridges to cognizant interest groups, such as the National Governors
Association, the National Emergency Management Association and others.
PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT: Continuously measure performance against goals by:
-

Creating a customer-oriented or citizens' needs approach to assist in defining goals and
performance standards and units of work.

-

Developing the performance indicators and measurement systems to make this possible.

--

Creating a system for relating staff and other resource requirements to workload and
performance.

MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS: Establish the central management systems "glue" to bind the
agency together by:
--

Strengthening the budget structure and process, making it a tool for FEMA leadership
to implement its mission and strategy through the establishment of a centralized decisionmaking process and a central funds control and allocation mechanism. Allow for
flexibility in fund allocation through the use of a new activity structure combined with
a responsive reprogramming process.
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-

Establishing an operational planning system to convert the strategic goals into
achievable objectives for each organization unit. A streamlined, mission-oriented, lowpaperwork regional planning and reporting system, designed to secure consistent regional
operations, also should be developed and maintained.

-

Converting the Personnel Office Into a modern human resources management
function centered on building a ffrut-class workforce. Priority initiatives include
creating executive training, succession and development programs; improving employee
training; developing a culturally diverse work force (including the disaster reserve work
force) that more closely matches the clientele of the agency; and providing organizational
rotation to help break down the walls between agency units. To the extent practicable,
provide for employee exchanges between headquarters and the field.

-

Creating a competent career planning, program analysis and evaluation staff of
analysts reporting to the executive director which can provide agency leaders with timely
planning, analysis and recommendations for change in policies, procedures, and
programs.

-

Encouraging the Office of the Inspector General to carry out more program
evaluations, as mandated by the Inspector General Act.

F

COMMUNICATIONS AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY: Establish a modem
communications and information resources management system by:
-

Creating a separate, central Information resources management office under the
executive director from the staff now in the NP directorate, but including representation
from other offices, to undertake an aggressive, unified agency program to exploit
communications and information technology, to streamline agency operations and make
them more efficient, to ensure that information is a by-product of systems designed to
do the work of the agency to develop needed data bases and to create a forum in the
agency to develop a meaningful agency-wide plan. This office also should work with
other departments and agencies, state and local governments, and non-profits (such as the
Red Cross) to create consistent, compatible information processing across programs.

-

Ensuring that the IRM office is an integral part of an agency strategic planning
process, exercising leadership in converting *cold war* IRM assets and capabilities to
today's and tomorrow's needs for domestic, civil emergencies.

-

Reinstituting the Information Resources Board but with strengthened functions,
including budget development and oversight over major information projects and
acquisitions.

RESOURCES: Notwithstanding the demands for deficit reduction, the President and
Congress should provide the funding needed to build an effective emergency management
agency.

I
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-

Action by the Administration.
Recognizing that the implementation of these
recommendations will take more funding for program administration than is currently
available to FEMA, the new director of FEMA should establish a ta4 force to develop
a funding proposal. The proposal should take into consideration possible offsets from
such things as lower regional overhead and lower security staff requirements, and from
fewer 'small disasters being federalized, as recommended in Chapter Three. OW and
the administration should look upon such proposals as priority considerations to assist in
building the institution needed for the alleviation of human suffering.

-

Action by Congress.

The Appropriations committees should support the new

administration and the new FEMA director by providing needed funds and program

flexibility.
-

Congress should consider legiation to allow the speeding of Disaster Relief funds.
One possibility may be to appropriate in advance -- perhaps with language denoting their
availability only for use in the event of a major catastrophe, using the gradated scale
recommended in Chapter Three. Recognizing, however, that this might prove
impractical, the panel has suggested in Chapter Five that authority be provided for

FEMA to make commitments to other federal agencies in advance of a supplemental
appropriation.
CHAPrMR FIVE. THE FEDERAL RESPONSIBILITY - THE ROLE OF CONGRESS
Recommendations to the Executive Branch
Draft a new legislative charter, building on existing authorities In the Stafford Act, and
formally trnmt it to Congress as soon as possible to enable action in the 103rd Congress.
Incorporate In the draft charter (1) language to reduce FEMA's presidential appointee
positions to two, the director and deputy director (excluding the Inspector general), and (2)
any authority required by the President to make needed organizational changes.
Recommendations to Congress
Enact legislation that will (1) provide a comprehensive emergency management charter
through amendments to the Stafford Act to encompass emergencies and disasters of all
types other than those administered outside the current body of laws applying to FEMA
and (2) reduce or eliminate FEMA's presidential appointee positions.
Diedgnate a single committee In each house of Congress with Jurisdiction over 'emergency
m
g
m and the laws applying to FEMA. The Joint Committee on the Organization
of Congre should give this matter priority attention.
Designate a single committee In the Senate to confirm all FEMA appointees nominated by
the President and requiring confirnatlon.

own
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Remove some of the funding restrictions on FEMA's programs, Including the earmarking
of funds for specific projects, commensurate with Initiatives taken and planned by FEMA
to build a high-performance, high-reliability Institution for emergency management.
CHAPTER SIX.
STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONAL
CAPABILIY AND COORDINATION WIT THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT
FEMA should develop a strategy for Improving capacity and consistency of state and
local governments for emergency management. lis strategy should take into account each
state's vulnerability, population, and Investment in emergency management.
Ile panel recommends the following means to augment capacity:
-

Revising the mission and vision of the State and Local Program Support
directorate to reflect this new strategic approach.

-

Assessing existing capabilities of states, territories, and trusts
in order to gain baseline Information for future actions.

-

Setting performance and other standards for CCA program funding and
other special programs and projects.

-

Monitoring and evaluating state and local efforts with respect to meeting
those standards, and if need be, withhold funding to gain compliance.

-

Using financial Incentives to reward effort and performance toward meeting
objectives, not only for pre-disaster funding but for post-disaster assistance.

-

Streamlining many of the post-disaster processes and procedures for a
presidential declaration, damage assessment, and reimbursement of state and
local governments.

-

Improving FEMA training and education programs, both in quality and
quantity, for federal, state, and local officials responsible for emergency
management

-

Developing a plan to use research and research applications more effectively
for decisions regarding operations, programs, and training and research.

-

Encouraging (by funding, If necessary,) peer exchanges and mutual aid
agreements among all levels of government to share good examples of
promising or successful practices.

-

Encouraging regional planning and preparedness efforts, such as those for
inter-state earthquake or hurricane planning.
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Chief Financial Officer
Capability and Hazard Identification Program for Local Governments
Cable News Network

DAC
DCPA
DCMU
DEFCONS
DFO
DoD
DoJ
DOMS
DoT

Disaster Appication Center
Defense Civil Preparedness Agency
Domestic Crisis Monitoring Unit
Defense Conditions- stages of preparedness in defense mobilization
Disaster Field Office
Department of Defense
Department of Justice
Director of Military Support, U.S. Army
Department of Transportation

EMA
EMI
EPA
EOC
EOP
ESF

Emergency Management Assistance
Emergency Management Institute
Environmental Protection Agency
Emergency Operations Center
Executive Office of the President
Emergency Support Function

FBI
FCO
FDAA
FEMA
FIA
FRP

Federal
Federal
Federal
Federal
Federal
Federal

GAO
GSA

General Accounting Office
General Services Administration

HHS
HUD

Department of Health and Human Services
Department of Housing and Urban Development

ICMA
IFG

International City/County Management Association
Individual and Family Grant Program

Bureau of Investigation
Coordinating Officer
Disaster Assistance Administration
Emergency Management Agency
Insurance Administration
Response Plan
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IRM

Information Resources Management

LEMA

Local Emergency Management Agency

MSCA

Military Support to Civilian Authorities

NACO
NAPA
NCCEM
NEHRP
NEMA
NErC
NFA
NFIP
NGA
NIST
NOAA
NP
NSC
NSEP
NSF

National Association of Counties
National Academy of Public Administration
National Coordinating Council on Emergency Management
National Earthquake Hazard Reduction Program
National Emergency Management Association
National Emergency Training Center
National Fire Academy
National Flood Insurance Program
National Governors' Association
National Institute of Standards and Technology
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
National Preparedness, Directorate in FEMA
National Security Council
National Security Emergency Preparedness
National Science Foundation

OEP
OES
OMB

Office of Emergency Preparedness
Office of Emergency Services (at state level)
Office of Management and Budget

PA
PRP

Public Assistance Program
President's Reorganization Project

SBA
SLPS
SOPs

Small Business Administration
State and Local Program Support Directorate in FEMA
Standard Operating Procedures

USFA

U.S. Fire Administration

USGS

U.S. Geological Survey

VA

Veterans Administration
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CHAPERONE
INTRODUCTION
On August 24, 1992, Hurricane Andrew made landfall in southern Dade County, Florida.
While the country's initial reaction was a sense of relief - because the most populated areas of
Greater Miami had been spared the full brunt of the storm - officials eventually realized that
an area encompassing about 250,000 people had suffered major damage and destruction.
After crossing Florida, Hurricane Andrew made landfall again, wreaking havoc in
southwestern Louisiana. When the storm subsided, it was clear that Andrew would prove to be
the nation's most costly natural disaster. It also became increasingly evident that the
governmental response, particularly in South Florida, had fallen short. The immediate needs
of the disaster victims, as well as the general public's need for a competent presence in the midst
of such destruction, went largely unmet.
Once the extent of the damage became clear, the President and Congress were quick to
act, but unfortunately government at all levels was slow to comprehend the scope of the disaster.
Immediately before and after the storm, various federal agencies responded in a somewhat
uneven fashion, as the full extent of the damage was not appreciated by state and local officials.
As political and public pressures mounted, the federal government began a massive effort to aid
disaster victims. This became fully operational five days after Hurricane Andrew struck.
Federal troops were on location to provide shelter, food, and other assistance to the victims.
The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) steadily augmented its presence on the
scene. A new Federal Response Plan, prepared for such disasters, received its first severe test.
Congress provided $2.9 billion in supplemental funding for the Disaster Relief Fund.
Altogether, federal, state and local governments, as well as private and non-profit organizations,
applied unprecedented levels of resources to aid in the recovery, which continues as this report
is written.
Assessments of the federal government's performance varied widely. The experience
with Hurricane Andrew and Hurricane Inild, which devastated the Hawaiian island of Kauai a
few weeks later, renewed concerns about the adequacy of the federal role and response to major
natural disasters. In one of the more pointed expressions of this concern, Senator Barbara
Mikulski, chair of the Appropriations subcommittee responsible for FEMA's funding., wrote to
Comptroller General Charles A. Bowsher:
I am outraged by the federal government's pathetically sluggish and ill-planned
response to the devastating disaster wrought by Hurricane Andrew in Florida and
Louisiana, which has left many lives in shambles. Time and again, the federal
government has failed to respond quickly and effectively to major disasters, and

_.
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no lessons have been learned from post mistakes.'
In addition to Senator Mikulski's request for a General Accounting Office (GAO) review,
the conferees on the HUD, VA and Independent Offices appropriations bill included language
in their report (see box on page 7) requiring FEMA to contract with the National Academy of
Public Administration (NAPA) for a *comprehensive and objective study of the federal, state
and local governments' capacities to respond promptly and effectively to major natural disasters
occurring in the United States.* The Academy was pleased to respond to this request, and this
report Is the final product of its panel study.
THE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT CONTEXT FOR THIS STUDY
People naturally focus attention on disaster response in the wake of a catastrophe like
Hurricane Andrew. But disaster response is only one aspect of a much broader subject:
emergency management.
Responding to people's needs in disaster leads inevitably to considerations of longer term
recovery after the immediate emergency has passed. When emergency medical teams, National
Guard troops, the Red Cross, the Army Corps of Engineers and others have departed, other less
exciting but equally critical matters come to the fore: disaster recovery assistance for those
whose jobs were lost, loans for businesses destroyed and grants for public buildings destroyed
or damaged.
The recovery process inevitably leads to questions about mitigation. Should buildings
be restored or submit to new standards that would prevent a recurrence of losses the community
has just suffered. Who will pay the difference if new and higher standards are set? What
building codes, building standards, land use and zoning requirements, and insurance should be
used to prevent a recurrence?
Mitigation spills over into preparation. What can be done to prepare for the next disaster
and thus save lives and property? Can a population be evacuated? Can emergency food and
water be prepositioned? Can mobile communications be set in motion before the next disaster?
How can communications and decision making be improved?
One of the fundamental problems with discussing emergency management in America is
that so many relevant actors are involved, so many systems and subsystems exist. Emergency
management at the local level involves many actors, mostly in local fire and police departments.
There are tens of thousands of 'first responder' organizations. Individual citizens also play
important roles in responding to their own needs and in helping others.
When emergencies go beyond the capabilities of these local units, the county emergency

'Request letter for aGAO audit to the Comptroler Genral from the Senate Appropriations Subcommittee on
VA, HUD and Independe t Agencies, dated September 3, 1992.

. _
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management organizations become involved. When these are overwhelmed, state emergency
management offices become involved, often including state police, state National Guard units,
and many other state agencies and private organizations as well.
There is no single system of emergency management. Petrochemical industries, federal
military bases, U.S. Forest Service, utility companies, nuclear power plants, the oil shipping
industry, the U.S. Coast Guard, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), and the
Army Corps of Engineers all have their own emergency management systems, or are part of
emergency management systems originating in particular statutory authorities and involving the
primary responsibility of some agency other than FEMA or local and state emergency
management offices.
Obviously, the costs of responding to and recovering from events like Hurricane Andrew
are high. All participants in the system, including private and government insurers, share these
costs. Mitigation and preparedness are also costly. The questions are: Who should bear these
burdens and in what proportion? How can the costs of future disasters be minimized? How
much should be invested in mitigation and preparedness versus response and recovery? These
issues face all of the levels of government involved.
A table depicting the emergency management system and the various participants involved
is provided on page 4.
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HOW THIS STUDY WAS CONDUCTED

Given the simultaneous several efforts to examine the federal government's performance
in recent major natural disasters, the Academy judged it could make a unique contribution by
reviewing and analyzing the whole system of public and private, non-profit organizations and
individuals involved in responding to major disasters. Moreover, it concluded that response to
natural disasters could not be examined in isolation from other emergency management
functions, such as mitigation, preparedness and recovery. In addition, analysis of FEMA's role
and mission required an understanding of all major functions performed by the agency, as well
as other government agencies with related programs and functions.
The Academy convened a project panel of nine experts in emergency management,
national defense, government organization and operations, and political affairs under the
leadership of Philip Odeen, President and CEO of BDM International, Inc. Odeen is a former
senior official in the Department of Defense familiar with national security and emergency
management issues. This panel was supported by a senior project staff with backgrounds
relevant to the study charter.
Arrangements were made for staff briefings by the FEMA director and other executives.
Extensive interviews were conducted with, and relevant documentation was obtained from,
officials in federal, state and local governments and the private non-profit sector. The staff also
consulted with selected congressional committees and key White House staff in the Office of
Cabinet Affairs and the National Security Council, as well as Secretary of Transportation
Andrew Card. The staff visited disaster sites in Florida, Louisiana and Hawaii, and made field
visits to FEMA and other government offices in California, Florida, Iowa, Louisiana, Missouri,
Texas and Virginia. Appendix A provides a complete list of the persons interviewed or
contacted during the study.
To enable a full understanding of FEMA's organization, programs and responsibilities
and their relevance to natural disaster response, FEMA provided two project staff members with
the security clearances needed to obtain information on the national preparedness and civil
defense programs in FEMA and DoD. This information was factored into the panel
deliberations and their conclusions and recommendations.
FEMA and other governmental officials cooperated fully with the project team, and they
provided all information requested. The project panel met four times during the study to be
briefed on the government's emergency management programs, consider the project plan
prepared by the staff, formulate conclusions and recommendations, and approve the final report.
As required by the Academy's contract with FEMA, a copy of the draft report was
provided to the agency on February 16, and comments from senior officials are incorporated,
when appropriate, in the text.
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PRELIMINARY VIEWS
Both the panel and the project staff believe it is important to start with the recognition
that few "quick fixes' can be found for the problems of emergency management in general, or
disaster response in particular. This report will examine the circumstances, organizations,
policies and procedures, and will prescribe changes which could, if implemented, improve the
capacity of governments to protect and respond to citizens' needs in disasters. There is,
however, no single, simple solution because there is no single, simple problem. While solutions
have always been at hand for the numerous problems of emergency management, the difficulties
lie in implementing- them.
The panel and project staff also believe there must be recognition that fault-finding in the
wake of a disaster is an exercise of rapidly diminishing returns. The responsibility for the
problems, or the failure to implement past "solutions," does not lie with a single branch of
government, institution, organization or person. It is distributed across all of government, its
leadership, and the public.
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PROJECT CHARTER
The National Academy of Public Administration shall conduct a
comnprelhave ad objective study of the Federal, state, and local
Sovamlms' eapad e to reqpnd promptly and effedively to majo
nlwal disates ocurring In the United States.
The Academy, Inconducting the study, is to address the following:
1.

Federal executive branch coordination and contingewy planning,
including leadership exercised by the Executive Office of the
President,

2.

state and local government organizational capability and coordination
with the Federal government,

3.

the Federal Emergency Management Agency's role, mission,
planning, resources and leadership capability,

4.

congressional legislative and oversight practices involving disaster
assstance and their impact on the government's respm capability,

5.

governmental coordination with private relief agencies and business
and citizen initiatives to provide assistance, and

6.

the effectiveness of governmental responses to major disasters prior
to establishment of the Federal Emergency Management Agency and
lemons applicable to figure disasters.

The Academy report on this study shall be completed in final form
no later thiiFeiFwuy 28, 1993, ad such report shall be trnsmitted upon
receipt and without revision by the Director to the Committees on
Appropriations of the House of Representatives and the Seeate ThmAcademy
shall, from time to time, provide oral proge report on the study to the
Director and the Committees on Appropriations.
-

U.S. House of Representatives
Conference Report on H.R. 5679
September 24, 1992 (Report 102-9)
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CHAPTER TWO
THE EVOLUTION OF THE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

Disasters, threats of war, and civil disorder are fundamental aspects of human existence,
and throughout recorded history societies have sought ways to cope with them. More recently,
however, people have come to feel that they are capable of doing more than merely coping. An
Austrian official responsible for emergency management notes that:
catastrophes... were always regarded as punishment inflicted by God but hand
in hand with scientific progress the principles of cause and effect were gradually
understood and it was also realized that measures had to be undertaken to prevent
2
and remedy disasters of all kinds.
An American scholar has observed that: "The fatalistic assumption that natural disasters
will happen and all we can do is cope is slowly being altered, leading to increased reliance on
government action. "
Despite the historic persistence of these problems in human affairs, and the recent
recognition that something can and should be done about them, Americans have never settled
questions concerning the role of the federal government in such incidents. Although the federal
government has long played a role in these matters, it is the specific form of the federal
involvement that remains at issue.
CIVIL DISORDER
The presidential declaration of a disaster in the wake of the 1992 Los Angeles riots may
have been the first instance where the federal government has treated a civil disorder as a
disaster under the Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act. It is by no means the first
involvement of the federal government in response to civil disorder. In a sense, this nation was
born out of governmental failure to respond effectively to civil disorder. The inept response of
the American government under the Articles of Confederation to Shay's Rebellion in 1786
convinced many of the founders that the entire structure of the republic needed overhauling.

The Constitutional Convention followed and the present Constitution emerged as a result. A few
years later, President Washington called out federal troops to suppress the Whiskey Rebellion
in western Pennsylvania in 1792. In 1863, New York City erupted in three days of bloody riots
in response to the implementation of a military draft. The state's response of 10 regiments of

2 Letter introducing his program from I. Col. Norbert Furstenhofer, Commading Officer, Austrian Armed
Forme. Diater Relief Unit.

Manarement: Principles and
ad. p.Emernencv
GerardICMA,
Hoetmer,
Drbek and D.C.:
Cgiar,
in MTomm(Wahingtoa,
1991).
313.
PlucticeB.for
Locl cited
Govemment.
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militia was quickly overwhelmed, and 10,000 infantrymen and three batteries of artillery had
to be shed to the city from the front lines at Gettysburg to restore order. And in 1894, the
Pullman Strike in Chicago became so serious that the Attorney General sent 3,600 federal
marshals and deputies, who were followed by 2,500 federal troops.
In fact, the Constitution provides an explicit federal role for suppressing civil disorder.
Article I, Section 8 states that "Congress Shall have Power to... provide for calling forth the
Militia to execute the Laws of the Union, Suppress Insurrections, and repel invasions.' This
power is delegated to the President, in his capacity as Commander-in-Chief, in Title 10 of the
U.S. Code, ecs. 332-334.' Civil disorder seems destined to remain a matter that involves
emergency management.
The Los Angeles riots of 1992 resulted in an unprecedented disaster declaration and
heavy involvement not only of the military but FEMA and a wide array of federal agencies. In
the recovery phase, FEMA is engaged in some complex issues revolving around which victims
receive benefits and which do not.
DISASTER RESPONSE
Unlike the long-standing federal responsibility to respond to civil disorder, the federal
role in disaster response has been ambiguous. Nonetheless, it began as early as 1803 when
Congress made federal resources available to Portsmouth, New Hampshire, after a devastating
fire. This, however, was only the first of many such federal responses. Between 1803 and
1950, federal resources were used in response or recovery in the wake of more than 100
disasters - floods, tornadoes, earthquakes and fires'.
The American Red Cross was chartered by Congress in 1905 as the coordinating agent
for a national response to disastersA This new responsibility was severely tested in the San
Francisco Earthquake of 1906, which is estimated as 8.3 on the Richter scale, killing 478 people
and leaving more than 250,000 homeless. President Theodore Roosevelt announced that all
federal aid was to be channeled thorough the Red Cross, and he sent federal troops into the city
4 Section 333 states tha:

Whenever the President counders that unawful olbasctions, combinations, or assemblages, or
the authority of the United States, make it impracticable to enforce the laws of
rebellion aindst
the United Stages in may state or territory by the ordinary course ofjudicial proceedings, he may
call into federal service such of the militia of any stag, and use such of the armed forces, as he
consid necessary to enforce tose laws or to mppress the nellion.
DoD's interpretaon of its responsibilities inthe event of civil disorder ae outlined in DoD Directive 3025.12
'Emplcy~azt of Military Resources in the Event of CivilDiurbances 'August 19, 1971.
s Dnbek and Hoetmer, Q2. a.

pp. 6-7.

The Red Cros hed originally been chartered in 1900, but the 1905 rechartering gave it a broader role in
responding to disasters.
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7
Jack London described the event: "Government tents had
with instructions to shoot looters.
been set up, supper was being cooked, and the refugees were lining up for free meals."I This
was the most massive federal response to a natural disaster, but the response was still reactive
and disaster specific.

The Great Depression resulted in a more proactive role by the federal government in
many aspects of citizens' lives, and coping with disasters was among them. Congress gave
continuous authority to provide grants for the repair of federal highways and bridges damaged
by natural disasters to the Bureau of Public Roads. Similarly, Congress gave the Army Corps
of Engineers broad authority to mitigate flood hazards by building extensive flood control
systems. In 1950, the many specific and temporary acts passed since 1803 were replaced by the
Civil Defense Act of 1950, the first permanent and general legislation pertaining to federal
involvement in disaster relief.'
At the same time as the federal role in disaster response became broader and more
proactive, various presidents emphasized that the federal government's role was simply one of
supplementing, not replacing, the state and local governments. President Truman sounded this
theme in 1952, when he issued Executive Order 10427, which emphasized the supplemental
nature of federal assistance set out in federal law. The order stated specifically that: "Federal
aid was not a substitute for disaster assistance efforts of state and local government and private
°
President Nixon's message transmitting a 1973 report, New Approaches to
agencies.01
Federal Disaster Prenaredness and Assistance, also emphasized that "federal disaster assistance
is intended to supplement individual, local and state resources -- a policy clearly enunciated in
"
PL 91-606. 11 Interestingly, one of the administration's objectives in transmitting the report
was to 'reverse the trend of an expanding federal role in the management of disaster relief
operations through a greater reliance on states, localities and private relief organizations.'

Doris Muscatine. Old San Francisco: From Early Days to the Earthouake. (New York: Putnam and Sons,
1975). p. 428. See also Roy S. Popkin. 'The History andPolitics of Disster Management in the United States.*
in Andrew Kirby ed. Nothing to Fear Risks and Hazards inAmerican Society. (rucson: University of Arizona
Pres, 1990).
* Jack Lmdo, in Collie', Weeky, May 5, 1906.
SDrabek and Hoetmer, m gk. p.7.
e Office of Emergency Planint , Executive Office of the President.
D.C.:OEP, January, 1972), p.168.

Disar.

(Wash.,

" Message from the President of the United States transmittinS a report on 'New Approaches to Federal
Disaster Preprednessand Assstanc,' May 14, 1973.
i

bid.
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CIVIL DEFENSE
The history of federal involvement in civil preparation for war or defense is not as
lengthy as in disasters and civil disorders. Nonetheless, as early as 1916, Congress passed the
first legislation pertaining to a federal role in civil defense. The U.S. Army Appropriation Act
established a Council of National Defense, which in turn established a War Industries Board and
encouraged the formation of state councils of defense.
This pattern of organization for civil defense lasted until the early years of World War
II, when general war emergency planning and coordination was placed under the Office of
Emergency Management and more specific activities associated with civil defense were placed
in the Office of Civil Defense. The former organization died without its authorizing statute ever
expiring. The latter was abolished with the end of the war, but the rising threat of nuclear war
led to an organizational reincarnation by 1948. In 1950 Congress enacted the Federal Civil
Defense Act providing the federal government with authority to initiate planning and to provide
state and local governments with "guidance, coordination, assistance, training and matching
grants for the procurement of supplies and equipment."
As intercontinental missiles and thermonuclear warheads escalated the threat to civil
populations, increasing attention was given to civil defense. Throughout the 1950s and into the
late 1960s, concerns for the continuity of government and civil defense were the driving forces
behind emergency management efforts at the national, state and local levels. During the
Eisenhower administration, no fewer than three major reports (Gaither, Rockefeller and Rand)
were issued calling for civilian shelter programs as pan of the nation's overall defense strategy.
The confrontation that resulted in the Cuban Missile Crisis of 1962 led President Kennedy to
emphasize civil defense even further. Although events surrounding the Civil Rights Movement,
the Vietnam War and urban riots would soon eclipse concern for civil defense, several matters
of lasting importance emerged from evolving efforts in both disaster response and civil defense.
CONVERGING APPROACHES BUT GROWING FRUSTRATION
In the late 1960s and the 1970s, a series of disasters and some easing of Cold War
tensions awakened demands for disaster assistance. Social scientists began to give more attention
to the subject of disasters. One developed a definition that received considerable currency:
Disasters are accidental or uncontrollable events, actual or threatened, that are
'concentrated in time and space, in which a society, or a relatively self-sufficient
subdivision of a society, undergoes severe danger, and incurs such losses to its

members and physical appurtenances that the social structure is disrupted and the

"
fuillment of all or some of the essential functions of the society is prevented. "'

Dabe, T1mm, Hunun Syem &emmto Dikster. (New York: Springer-Ved,
n

1986), p.7. Dmbek

is dmwinS upon Frit, Cha" E., "Diasm ." in Coetaoraiv Social Prblenm. Rober K. M to, and Robot
A. Nisbet (ed) (New York, HRrcowt, 1961), pp. 651-94.
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In addition, emergency management began to emerge as a field of study, a body of
knowledge, a set of skills and a nascent profession. As this process began, practitioners and
academics struggled with developing a definition of emergency management. The ICMA's text
on emergency management defines it as:
the discipline and profession of applying science, technology, planning and
management to deal with extreme events that can injure or kill large numbers of
people, do extensive damage to property and disrupt community life.U
Persons in this emerging field, and some outside it, became increasingly concerned about
the inadequacies of programs to protect citizens against the age-old threat of natural disasters and
the 20th-century threat of nuclear war. The inadequacies of governments in dealing with
disasters were made painfully clear in a series of disasters: the Alaskan Earthquake (1964),
Hurricane Betsy (1965), Hurricane Camille (1969), the San Fernando Earthquake (1971) and
Hurricane Agnes (1972). Legislation meant to be corrective was passed in the wake of these
disasters. These well-intentioned efforts resulted, however, in the further fragmentation and
proliferation of programs. Organizations were created, moved, divided and reorganized. Since
1950, a half dozen approaches to emergency management have been tried. These varying
approaches are illustrated in the following table":
U1.. D4ERGENCY MANAGOM47T ORGANIZATIONS
o

Sums

Peiod

LeadFederalAey

Pre-19508

No leadfederalagency

1951-1953

Hlouq andHomeFiame Admoitaioa ONHFA)

hidependew Aency; limitedgoprovimos of 1950Act

1953-1958

FederalCMi DefenseAdminieatioo

Independent Agency:reaponasileforcivil defenseand
diser elkf Preparation

195-!

OfficeofCirl DefenseMobilizatioa (OCDM)

Reconogited agencywitdi theWhikeHouse; responsible
for Adamer relief, civil defren anddefeonmobilWaioa

161-1973

Offce of EntesgeacyPlainog (OE1 0Reoamed
Office
of Emergency
Preparednes in 1968)

Roeieamied agencywithinhe WhAeHos; reqsoosle
for disaster relifcand pimng of cli defense;
opeeado of latter shifted to DoD

1973-1979

FederalDisas. AssistanceMmistratio (FDAA)

Waln Depanimeu,of HoesinS and Uran Developmen
respomaaleonly for distet relief;civil deflee and
to eher agenc
ies
preparedness almifted

179-peseat

FederalEmereny Maamme

ldependec Agency;resonile for (imse t relief,civil
def-ae ad peparedwes,

Agcy (FEdA)

1' Dabek and Hoeimer, oe-a, p.xvii.
is Peter I. May. Rcoveaine From pissstm Federal Disaster Reief PolicX and Politics. (Westport, Conn.:
Oreenwood Press, 19M, p. S0.
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THE LANDMARK NATIONAL GOVERNORS' ASSOCIATION REPORT
By the late 1970s, concerns about natural disasters and led to calls for 'dual use' of
infrastructure and resources originally intended for civil defense. These trends, combined with
the beginnings of professionalization of emergency management, created a pattern of
simultaneous convergence of concerns and frustration with the fragmented way in which the

federal government dealt with emergency management. Reflecting this the National Governors'
Association took up the subject of emergency management in 1977. The NGA report issued in
1978 described "the governors' increasing concern about 'the lack of a comprehensive national
emergency policy, as well as the dispersion of federal responsibilities among numerous federal
The report called
agencies, which has hampered states' ability to manage disaster situations.'
for equal partnership of federal, state and local governments, for a comprehensive approach to
emergency management (CEM), creation of a federal agency encompassing the CEM functions
(mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery), and development of corresponding state
agencies.
THE CREATION OF FEMA
The same year, 1978, the President's Reorganization Project (PRP) of the Carter
administration was committed to carrying out the President's promise to examine governmental

operations and organization and make them more effective, efficient and economical. Thus PRP
responded to the complaints of state and local government officials, and over the objections of

several federal agencies, asked Congress to approve a reorganization plan that brought together
several disparate programs related to emergency management. The reorganization was designed,
according to a White House press release, to achieve the following:
-

make a single agency, and a single official, accountable for all federal emergency,
preparedness, mitigation and response activities;

-

create a single point of contact for state and local governments;
enhance the dual use of emergency preparedness and response resources at all levels of
government;
provide an improved basis for determining the relative benefits -- and cost effectiveness - of spending for hazard mitigation, preparedness planning, relief operations and recovery
assistance;

--

provide significant economies through combining duplicate regional structures and
redundant data processing and policy analysis systems; and

"I National Governors' Association. '1978 Emergecy Preparedness Project; Fir Report.' (Wash., D.C.:
NGA, 1978), p.ui.
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provide greater visibility and coherence for preparedness functions.' 7

-

President Carter's subsequent references to the reorganization plan gave attention to the
mitigation element. Carter stated 'We want to bring together for the first time programs aimed
at preventing and mitigating the effects of potential national disasters, such as floods and fire,
with those designated to deal with these disasters once they occur." Additionally, he noted that
... Federal hazard mitigation activities should be closely linked with emergency
preparedness and response functions. This reorganization would permit more rational
decisions on the relative costs and benefits of alternative approaches to disasters ... 1
In an indirect way, the possibility of reducing the federal expenditure for disaster losses was
noted.
The reorganization brought together several organizations listed in the table below.
ORGANIZATIONS ANDFUNCTIONS TRANSFERRED TO F7E1sA
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cootedimioe. sd FederalEmergency
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In addition to the important rationale of "one agency/one official/one point of contact,'
an important justification for reorganization was the idea of comprehensive emergency
management with its interrelated functions. As one person involved in the early days of FEMA
put it, "It was assumed that all these programs were related, not at their cores, but at their
margins; and that their relations at the margins could create an important synergism."
In other
words, lessons learned in response and recovery (e.g., homes in hurricane-prone areas were not
11White House Fact Sheet 6/19fls, and Memo for the President. 525/78.
3 From 'RAmks Annomicing Reorganizaion Plan No. 3 of 1978,' June 19, 1978; and "Message to the
Congress TranmttinSg Reorgnizatioe Plan No. 3 of 1978,' June 19, 1978. in Public Papers of the Presidents.
1978, Vol. I, pp. 1128-1131.
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built to sufficient standards of wind resistance) could be used in mitigation efforts (e.g., model

building codes).
Despite the expectations surrounding FEMA's creation, it was plagued with problems
from the outset. Developing a comprehensive statute as a foundation for the agency seemed a
hopelessly difficult task to a PRP that was running out of time and presidential interest. The
only feasible vehicle for change was the Rmorganization Plan Authority, which was a simplified
reorganization-enabling mechanism designed to bypass the political battles that would ensue
when the interests surrounding each program were mobilized to oppose change. To further allay
opposition, the plan called for the transfer of each program's political executive positions,
including the incumbents, to FEMA. As one participant in the reorganization process
commented, 'It was like trying to make a cake by mixing the milk still in the bottle, with the
flour still in the sack, with the eggs still in their carton..."
THE PATTERN AND THE LESSONS OF HISTORY
As the history of constant reorganization efforts in emergency managen,t demonstrates,
dissatisfaction with federal response to disasters, civil disorder and civil defense is not new.
Congressman Chet Holifield's comments at a 1974 hearing might well have been spoken today:
How to organize the Federal agencies effectively and how to mobilize
governmental efforts for both manmade and natural disasters are continuing
problems. There has been much experimentation, many reorganizations, and still
much public dissatisfaction with the manner in which resources are deployed and
responses made when disaster strikes with fury.
The currency of Holifield's quote despite the passage of nearly 20 years ought to serve
as a reminder that a solution for the problems of emergency management is not likely to be
found by proposing one more rearrangement of lines and boxes on an organizational chart. It
will be found only by a reexamination of the responsibilities of both the executive and legislative
branches, and those of all levels of government with regard to certain enduring problems of
emergency management. And finally, it will require building an institution at the federal level
that can play a leading role in developing the emergency management capabilities of all levels
of government.
ENDURING PROBLEMS OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
The generic problems of emergency management endure because they are rooted in
human nature, American attitudes toward long-range planning, the dynamics of power in the
Executive Branch, and the short-term perspective of the American political process.
Emergencies and disasters are easily dismissed as something that is unlikely to happen, going
to happen to someone else, or going to happen on *someone else's watch." One student of the
subject captured this very human perspective on emergencies and disasters in a chapter title of
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her dissertation on emergency management: "There is no interest in baseball in December."
Thus, an agency at any level of government given the assignment of emergency management
has, in many respects, been given a 'mission impossible." It is of low priority for all but the
agency with fe designated responsibility.
Americans have never seemed to value long-range planning and training. Although they

have come to accept the necessity of these things in the military in order to protect citizens from
threats from abroad, they have not yet developed an appreciation for their need in protecting

citizens from hazards that can befall them "at home." As a result, emergency management
agencies are generally underfunded for planning, training and exercises even though these
activities are every bit as essential for their effectiveness as they are for military organizations.
Emergency management requires coordination of a wide range of organizations and
activities, public and private. Everyone acknowledges the need for such coordination in an
emergency, but in fat nO one wants to be "coordinated," nor is it cleat what the term means
in practice. Statutory authority is not readily transformed into legitimate political authority, and
emergency management agencies are very seldom given anything but statutory authority to
'coordinate' in the event of an emergency or disaster that everyone prefers to believe is
unlikely. Statutory power is a necessary but insufficient condition for real power to coordinate.
Transforming mere statutory authority into legitimate political authority in crisis circumstances
is difficult to say the least."
A seemingly inescapable problem in emergency management is that irrespective of
preparation, emergencies entail a certain amount of mistakes, learning and ad bo orga'tizing.
Organizations are the means of collective human action, but they are, as one expert put it, 'blunt
2
This means that a certain amount of criticism of emergency management
instruments. '
agencies is unavoidable. As one discouraged manager said, "No matter how hard you try,
sometimes you can't get a better grade than C+.'
Without excusing any shortcomings of
emergency management agencies in this country, the project study team believes that both the
public, and sometimes the practitioners, should lower their expectations of what can be
accomplished in emergencies and disasters. Emergency management organizations must plan
and train in obscurity and neglect with few resources. Then, in one brief moment, in full glare
of media and public scrutiny, they are expected to perform flawlessly like a goalie in hockey or
soccer, or a conversion kicker in football. It is a merciless context for a mission that is difficult
at best.

0 Melisa M. Howard. Ornization and Reorganization As Manifestations of Public Policy: National Security
Emerev Maneumm Unpublished doctoral dissertation. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University,
Blacksburg, VA: Center for Public Administration and Policy, February 1992.)
30 Norton E. Long, "Power and Administration" in Public Administration Review, Vol. 9 (Autumn 1949);
pp. 257-264.
a Graham T. Allison, 'Conceptual Models of the Cuban Missile Crisis," inAmerican Political Science Review,
Vol. 63, No. 3, Sept. 1969; p. 7 03 .
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Finally, an enduring problem of emergency management is the fact that it has almost no
natural constituency base until an emergency or disaster occurs. Except for those persons and
agencies with responsibilities in emergency management, which are modest in number and
influence, it has no generally attentive, supportive set of constituents or clients which is so
important to the survival and effectiveness of public agencies.
THE CHANGING CONTEXT: A WINDOW OF OPPORTUNITY
One of the most important contextual changes for emergency management is the end of
the Cold War and the dissolution of the Soviet Union. While many uncertainties remain about
the disposition of thermonuclear weapons formerly under the control of the now-defunct
U.S.S.R., public perceptions of threat have been significantly reduced. The 'new world order*
substantially alters the context of emergency management. For example, the term "civil
defense" is applied to some programs that are relevant to all hazards. However, it has become
so identified with preparedness for attack, that the term now makes a program with such a label
much more difficult to justify in terms of size and resources.
At the same time that the perceived threat of nuclear war has diminished, lower profile
threats such as terrorism, and the proliferation of nuclear, chemical and biological weapms are
growing. The chances of such deadly weapons falling into the hands of unstable or fan ical
leaders has increased many fold, but absent a galvanizing event, the awareness of the general
public, and indeed of many leaders, remains very low. This makes some of the national security
emergency preparedness programs that have underpinned emergency management very difficult
to justify when perceptions of threat have diminished, available revenues have declined and
demands for attention to domestic problems have increased.
One of the most dramatic contextual changes for emergency management is the greater
intrusiveness and influence of news media. Disasters and emergencies provide dramatic news
and the appetites of news media, particularly television; are insatiable. This means that
emergency management agencies will have to perform under intense media scrutiny. It also
means that few emergencies and disasters will remain local - most will now be "nationalized"
and politicized as a result of media coverage. This presents particular problems for maintaining
emergency management's SOP's and th tradition that local and state governments are the
governments with primary responsibility, while the federal government merely supplements their
efforts. The media pressures reluctant local and state leaders to "ask for federal help,"
presidents to dispatch such help, and representatives and senators to demand it on behalf of
constituents. This 'CNN Syndrome' or "camcorder policy process' disrupts and distorts normal
procedures and response patterns. The best laid plans and procedures are now vulnerable to
disruption, indeed destruction, by one dramatic *sound bite' that the media turns into political
shock waves.
Finally, the public expects more from government nowadays of all levels of government,
but particularly the federal. The reasons for this are not clear. They may stem from the general
'nationalization" of the political system that has come with population mobility and the
'nationalization" of news media. It may be that general erosion of community, mutual aid and__
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self-help is resulting in people turning directly to government with greater expectations for
help.f Much of this increase in expectations has fallen upon the presidency as the only official
elected by a national constituency and as the chief executive and commander-in-chief. (See
Chapter Three.) It may simply be that the President is the most visible symbol of our
government, and for people whose lives have been disrupted or who are in shock, symbols of
competent caring on the part of their government are extremely important.
These changes in the context of emergency management present unprecedented challenges
and opportunities. With memories of several disasters still fiesh, a change of administration,
and renewed attention on this nation's domestic problems, government has the greatest
opportunity in more than a decade to address and ameliorate the enduring problems of
emergency management.

U

Bedah, Robed N., e ae. LHaitsofthea

. (Berkeley: University of Cslifomia Press, 1985).
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CHAPTER THREE
THE FEDERAL RESPONSIBILITY AND
THE PRESIDENT'S ROLE IN EMERGENCY MANAGER
The charter for this study directs NAPA to address "federal executive branch
coordination and contingency planning, including leadership exercised by the Executive Office
of the President." The relationship of emergency management to the President, or more broadly
the institutional presidency,2 is crucial and has been so throughout history. A line from a Mmw

York Times editorial put it bluntly: "The President gets the kind of FEMA he deserves.'
The institutional presidency has always paid more attention to the national security
aspects of FEMA's mission (civil defense, continuity of government, etc.) than to those dealing
with natural disasters. During the long decades of the Cold War, the former matters seemed
unrelentingly urgent, while the latter seemed relatively episodic and unimportant except in times
of catastrophe. Such attention as emergency management received from the institutional
presidency came in the wake of a disaster, or was related to matters of civil defense or
continuity of government - matters closely related to the President's commander-in-chief
responsibilities. Moreover, the high drama and low quotient of partisanship attached to national
security and the role of commander-in-chief has naturally pointed-attention of the institutional
presidency in those directions. This has been especially true of those on White House staffs
concerned with building and maintaining a presidential image, a matter that has become so
important in the media-shaped world of today.
Another reason for episodic attention to emergency management is that the processes and
procedures for formulating and implementing national security at the level of the White House
were statutorily established decades ago and are well developed. They also have a continuity,
a low quotient of partisanship, and a high degree of professionalism. Efforts at establishing such
processes and procedures in the realm of domestic policy have been less successful. Domestic
policy encompasses virtually all the concerns and issues of society , it lacks the focus and
specificity of national security policy and partisanship predominates.
The panel believes that emergency management generally, and domestic crisis monitoring
more 6peciflcally, have sufficient specificity, urgency, and a low enough quotient of partisanship
23 B ts, JoM P. "U lnstitutioW Prsidwt (BUtimom Johns Hopkins Univenity Prms, 1992), p.3 7.
The inetitatim ptmidwey inchd : the Presidet, tbe Offi of the White Hou, the Executive Office of t e
Prridemt (MMI'. Tre EOP hou wide variety of orgSnzstiom within it, som more permmmt or enduring than
othr mo s md ia satie, and oths placed the by Executive Order. Amos tde mor qvtat arm the
National Serity Comcil, the Coincil of Economic Mviwrs, the Office of tM U.S. Trade Rpeemstmive*, the
Office of Scimm md Technology, the Offie of Administation, ad the Offie of the Vice Premidmt*.
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to make a closer relationship to the White House possible without involving it in excessive
detail. The panel thus believes a 'right' relationship between the President and emergency
management can be found, and the remainder of this chapter addresses that task.
AN ALWAYS PROBLEMATIC RELATIONSHIP
Beyond the traditional predominance of national security policy and processes in the
institutional presidency, other reasons for the President's problematic relationship to emergency
management include:
1.

emergency management is a matter of potentially high impact but low probability; the
demands of our political process force attention away from such matters;

2.

an emergency management agency has difficulty, in normal times, developing the kind
of legitimate authority it needs to get other parts of government to prepare for disaster
and to accept coordination in a disaster's aftermath;

3.

emergency management at the federal level only comes to the President's attention when
an event has a catastrophic impact on a area or when federal officials badly mismanage
the response or recovery. An emergency management agency needs attention and
support from the presidency to bolster its authority;

4.

infrequent or low probability events invariably have low salience and get little attention
from those involved in the institutional presidency.

5.

when a disaster or catastrophe is of sufficient magnitude or occurs at a time of political
sensitivity emergency management becomes of overwhelming importance to the
institutional presidency and, specifically, the President.

6.

the President, as head of government and of state, is a figure of gjat symbolic
significance, and in times of trauma the psychological need for reassuance on the part
of citizens may be as great as any physical and material need;

7.

Presidents thus want to be closely involved, if they can provide psychological reassure
and support, but not so closely involved that they cannot distance themselves from
fumbling and mistakes of subordina carrying out emergency management functions.

Therefore, the location and relationship of an emergency management agency to the
institutional presidency and the President have always been variable and problematic. When
dsters or the threats of the Cold War spotlighted the need for presidential backing and
attention, emergency management agencies moved closer to the White House. On the other
hand, when emergency management seemed less urgent, emergency management agencies or
programs moved outward and away from the presidency."
35

Meim Howwa.ML. pp. 127-9.
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The PRP's 1978 proposal to create FEMA, whether intended or not, created new
conditions in the struggle to find the right relationship between emergency management and the
presidency. It did so by aggregating a number of emergency managementprograms that were
scattered about the government and placing them in a single agency. The agency thus created
came closer to having the size and substance needed to successfully stand outside the institutional
presidency and to be of sufficient importance to warrant the attention and support of the
presidency when needed. So far, however, the creation of FEMA has not solved the special
legitimacy and authority problems of a small independent agency with the task of coordinating
much larger agencies. Nor has the relationship of the institutional presidency to emergency
management or disaster response developed as fully around the President's role as chief
executive as it has his role as commander-in-chief. One positive outcome of Hurricane Andrew
is that it set in motion forces that allow policy makers to examine that relationship and try again
to find the right one.
RISING EXPECTATIONS AND THE ROLE OF THE MILITARY
Just as the end of the Cold War makes it necessary to reexamine the relationship of the
institutional presidency to emergency management, it also highlights the need to reexamine the
role of the military in emergency management and disaster response. Coincidentally, the
performance of the Armed Forces ikthe wake of Hurricane Andrew has led many to say "let
the military do it" or others to call for transferring FEMA to the DoD.
Given the dramatic nature of deploying federal troops and the insatiability of the media
for drama, the military's potential in disaster response received great attention. The general
reputation of the Armed Forces is now relatively high, and it is widely agreed that they
responded swiftly and effectively when called upon. Therefore, the call to "give them the
disaster response function" is certainly understandable. Close examination, however, reveals
that things are not that simple.
It is true that the end of the Cold War means cutbacks in our Armed Forces, though
differences still abound over what constitutes a "safe" or "sufficient" level of support. In such
a context there is considerable attention being given to broadening the definition of national
security to encompass the well-being of Americans more generally. The military %likely to
develop new roles, or put new emphasis on long dormant roles. Missions that are primarily
humanitarian in nature, such as Restore Hope in Somalia and the U.N.'s peacekeeping forces
in Bosnia, have focused attention on the potential for new military roles that are less directly
related to the functions of preparing for and waging war, and more akin to what one expert
called "constabulary" functions.' The Clinton administration has shown interest in these new
ways of looking at national security and the military roles and functions, and the Office of
Secretary of Defense has been reorganized to reflect those interests.
The panel notes this changing context and takes no stance on the issues involved. It
wishes to address the following points and questions regarding the military's use in emergency
36Morris, Jmowitz, Th Prof

Soldier. (New York: Free Press, 1957), p.
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management and disaster response:
Should FEA be trnsferred to the DoD? No, this would simply transfer
of FEMA to DoD; it would not eliminate them. Emergency management
broad and diverse functions. An emergency management agency must try
a wide range of civilian agencies. That would place military organizations

the problems
encompasses
to coordinate
very close to

directing civilian agencies, something neither the military nor the civilians would
appreciate.
Should parts of FEMA be transferred to DoD? Yes, the responsibilities (but not most
of the people or assets) for national security emergency planning should be transferred.
(See Chapter Four.)
Should the Armed Forces haw a largerrole in disaster response? No, their role as
presently defined is appropriate. They are ready for, have performed well in, and should
be called upon only in the unique circumstances when their capabilities are needed, i.e.,
a major disaster or catastrophe. DoD has always had such a role throughout U.S. history
and has always had sufficient capability. It has recently taken steps to improve its
response capability even further.
Should the Armed Forces haw the role of coordinating emergency management and
disasterresponse? No, it is the most fundamental precept of military professionalism in
a democracy that armed forces must receive their missions and direction from civilian
authorities."
The Armed Forces have capabilities that are useful, but not unique in character. What
is unique to the military is e magnitude and the speed with which they can be brought to bear.
Their capacity is needed only in major disasters or catastrophes in which large numbers of
victims and responders must be provided shelter and life support under adverse conditions for
sustained periods of time. The Armed Forces can do this on a greater scale than any other
institution, and they have the logistical capability to put operations in place more quickly than
any other entity. The same can be said about the ability to provide force in support of law and
order. It is needed only when law enforcement agencies are overwhelmed. It is incumbent upon
the civilian government to decide when those capabilities are needed, to call upon them in a
timely fashion, and (upon recommendation of the military) to determine the configuration of
the response.
On the other hand, greater involvement of the Armed Forces in emergency management,
except in the extraordinary conditions of a major disaster or catastrophe, entails some definite
problems. First, emergency management/disaster response must necessarily remain a secondary
mission for the military. The primary commitment of the Armed Forces must be to maintain
a war-fighting capability. If the demands for response to Hurricane Andrew or a second
11
Jamowitz, gii
of Harvod, 19S7.)

pesim ; Samuel Huntingtoe, The Soldier and the State. (Cambridge, Man. Belknap PreM
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catastrophe had occurred at the time of the Desert Storm operation, there is little doubt that DoD
could have met the demands, but at some point competing needs would begin to complicate
matters.
Second, there is more than a passing concern within the military establishment that
increasing involvement of the Armed Forces in civil matters such as emergency management or
drug interdiction will increasingly involve them in politics and detract from their war-fighting
capabilities Others feel that response to such civil needs is compatible with and enhances
the Armed Forces' primary mission. This is not a matter that can be resolved except through
experience, but the concerns, nonetheless, warrant attention and consideration.
Third, using the Armed Forces for purposes of maintaining law and order unless the
President or a governor is prepared to treat it as an insurrection presents some very real
problems." This results from the existence of the posse comitaru law, which was passed as
part of the agreement to end the post-Civil War Reconstruction in the former Confederate states.
The law is as follows:
Whoever except in cases and circumstances expressly authorized under the
Constitution or act-of Congress, willfully uses a part of the Army or the Air
Force as a posse comitatus or otherwise to execute the laws shall be fined not
more. than ten thousand dollars or imprisoned not more than two years or both.3 °
Another problem involving the use of the military is cost. Many people assume that
somehow the Armed Forces are a 'free good," or that their deployment is covered by funds
DoD had budgeted for training since deployment in disaster response is often said to be good
training. But however beneficial it may be with regard to training, it is not true that expenses
are covered by training dollars. The costs to the U.S. Treasury for response by the Department
of Defense, the Army Corps of Engineers, and the National Guard to Hurricanes Andrew and
Iniki ran to $654 million and could have run significantly higher had FEMA not negotiated a
better rate for calculating charges.

Chdarles J. Dunlop, "The Origins of the American Mility Coup of 2012" in Parameters (US Army War

College Quarterly, Vol XXII, No. 4; Winter 1992-93). See also. Huntington, qg 0., Vol. xii, Nov. 4. Winter
1992-93. pp. 2-20
31Tide 10 U.S.C., Ch. 15 Sec. 331-333.
3"18 U.S.C. 1385.
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The National Guard
Few people distinguish between the Armed Forces of the United States and the National
Guards of the states. They ar different, but are related in ways that create problems in looking
to the Guard for use in civil emergencies. Guard units are under the direction of governors
unless called into federal service. Under their governors, they can exercise police powers in
state declared emergencies. Therefore, it is natural to look to their playing a major role in
disaster response. In fact, in 15 states the state emergency management function is the
responsibility of the adjutant general who heads the National Guard for state. In the years after
the Vietnam War, however, the National Guard Association lobbied tirelessly to assure the
Guard a key role in the Total Force Structure of the DoD. The Guard complained that it felt
it had always been treated as second class, given less than "front-line" equipment, and assigned
less challenging missions.
Since the advent of an all-volunteer force in the mid-1970s, the DoD has been actively
incorporating reserve and National Guard units into the Total Force Structure. Thus, Reserve
and Guard units are structured, equipped and trained to meet the mission needs and force
structure requirements for the military as a whole, not the needs of individual states and
especially not emergency management agencies. Whatever the merits of this approach, the Total
Force Structure concept has made it more difficult for a governor to look to his/her state's
National Guard units for competence and capability in emergency management. Indeed, in the
drawdown of forces currently planned, some governors may find it even more difficult to find
units suitable for disaster response unless DoD makes changes in mission assignments.
A governor may turn to his or her state National Guard unit for use in an emergency only

to find something such as a fighter-bomber squadron that has little potential for cross application.
He or she may find that a useful construction battalion or signal unit is thousands of miles away
in another state. To acquire their assistance, the governor must work out an individual
agreement with his or her counterpart in the other state. Even the President cannot intervene
to move Guard units to other states without first calling them into federal service.
DoD, the state guard unit, and the governors must devote attention to the need for a more
extensive role for state guards in emergency management, particularly disaster response. Until
some new balance is struck between missions and capabilities keyed to DoD's Total Force
Structure and the emergency management needs of the states, the emergency management
capabilities of the states will be deficient. The pressure to call for federal troops in the event
of disasters oi civil disorder will continue, or even grow.
Current DoD Policy
Finally, current DoD policy makes moot many of the points raised in calls for greater
use of the military. The ylicy, expressed in DOD Directive 3025.1, issued January 15, 1993,
and titled *Military Suppoi, to Civilian Authority," says that:
-

all DoD resources are potentially available for Military Support to Civil
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Authorities (MSCA);

-

civil resources are applied first in meeting requirements of civil
authorities;

-

DoD resources are provided only when response or recovery requirements
are beyond the capabilities of civil authorities (as determined by FEMA
or another ead federal agency for emergency response);

-

military operations other than MSCA will have priority over MSCA,
unless otherwise directed by the Secretary of Defense;

-

DoD components shall not perform any function of civil government
unless absolutely necessary on a temporary basis under conditions of
immediate response;

-

imminently serious conditions resulting from any civil emergency or attack
may require immediate action by military commanders, or by responsible
officials of other DoD agencies, to save lives, prevent human suffering or
to mitigate great property damage. When such conditions exist and time
does not permit prior approval from higher headquarters, local military
commanders and responsible officials of other DoD components are
authorized to take necessary action to respond to requests of civil
authorities; and

-

FEMA is responsible for coordinating federal plans and programs for
response to civil emergencies at the national and regional levels, and for
federal assistance to the states in civil emergencies.

The directive is quoted at length because it answers several questions that have arisen

regarding the use of the Armed Forces in disaster response. First, the military already has some
capacity to respond to disasters immediately through local commanders without waiting for

higher authorities to authorize it, and they were prepared to do so in the case of Hurricane Iniki.
Second, it is clear that DoD intends to make its resources available, but its priority remains on
defense in response to threats arising from international relations. Third, DoD intends to
respond only when asked by appropriate civilian authorities or when civil authorities have been
overwhelmed.

In light of the above discussion, the panel concludes that the military must be a part of
the early assessment of disaster needs. Decisions about whether or not the
deployed and what their role should be must remain with a civilian agency.

military

should be

Given its commitments to prepare for war and other international crises, the military
cannot be considered a national "911" service for domestic disasters. Instead, the military
should be rapidly called upon to respond to natural disasters only when the civilian arms of
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government and private relief agencies are overwhelmed. In major disasters, therefore, the
military is a critical supplement to, not a replacement for, a professionalized civilian agency to
coordinate civilian disaster response and recovery. Whether FEMA can be that professionalized
civilian agency is the subject of the next chapter.
A 911 RESPONSE WITHOUT MAKING
THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT FIRST RESPONDER
Unless the nation is to abandon more than two centuries of values surrounding
federalism, it cannot make the federal government the '911 first responder.' Its constitutional
structure is fundamentally "bottom-heavy." The great bulk of the governing in America, and
the greater part of the interaction between citizens and government goes on within the broad,
"
general, "police ' powers reserved to the states by the 10th Amendment and statutorily
delegated to local governments. Most emergencies, and even most incidents called disasters are
At the same time, expectations of the federal
met by local and state governments."
government are increasing, spurred on by aggressive and dramatic coverage of disasters of the
news media. The panel, however, believes disaster response can be improved by all
governments without altering the traditions of federalism.
For the past several years, the federal response to some major and catastrophic events
has revealed a serious lack of intelligence, command and control. Intelligence is the key to
timely and appropriate response. Its absence in South Florida was a serious flaw in the efforts
of all the governments involved because a useful assessment of property damage, and more
important, life support needs was not made in a timely fashion. Without such an assessment it
was unclear what kind of command and control system would be appropriate as well as what
materials and personnel to mobilize. The perception of the local officials was that they needed
"everything," while the perplexed reaction of those at the. aderal and state levels was "we can't
send everything, can you please specify and prioritize?" This response sounded infuriatingly
bureaucratic to those directly involved, but it was largely valid. Everything could not be sent;
if it could, it could not all be sent at once. Absent intelligence, the crisis and suffering
worsened.
Another aspect of intelligence is the need for readily available information on what
personnel, skills and resources are available for response. As things stand, FEMA does not have
an inventory of federal resources, nor access to any similar data from state and local levels. It
would seem to be an essential need.
31 Police powers have been defined, since the 19th century, in terms of the states' broad regulatory powers,
not strictly in the sense of law enforcement.
32The Red Cross responds to more than 40,000 disasters a year. States declare at least twice as many disasters
a year as the federal government, which received 55 disaster requests in 1992 (an election year) and declared 46
of them. A more typical year is 1985, where the federal government received 32 requests and declared 19 of them.
In any case, the federal government responds to less than half as many disasters as state government and to only
one-tenth of I percent as many disasters as private organizations. The range of disasters, in this context, can be
everything from a flooded basement to a major, urban earthquake.
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Joint Assessment Teams
The SLPS directorate of FEMA has been considering the use of "strike teams' to make
quick reconnaissance and assessments of disasters. The idea is a good one. However, in the
form the NAPA project team saw it, the plan entailed units totally within SLPS, FEMA and the
federal government. Instead the panel believes there should be trained teams that go into a
disaster site immediately, "on-the-ground,* to make not only the requisite damage assessment
prefatory to a disaster declaration, but to assess casualties of life-support needs as well. The
teams should not be solely federal teams. They should be joint federal-state-local, include a
military representative, and be led by a FEMA official. Members should train and conduct
regular exercises together. FEMA should maintain a roster of trained and experienced people
from all agencies and private organizations taking part in the FRP, and persons from FEMA
regional offices, state offices and local governments.
Later in this chapter, a Domestic Crisis Monitoring Unit (DCMU) is proposed for the
White House, both as part of a better connection between FEMA and the White House and a
better way of bringing information on needs to the attention of the President. As intelligence
flowing to the FEMA director and the White House develops a picture of the nature of an
impending disaster, the FEMA director, in consultation with the head of DCMU should select,
alert and dispatch a Joint Assessment Team at the appropriate time. When conditions warrant,
a team would utilize the special communications assets now in FEMA's NP directorate. These
units are unique in their ability to interconnect communication nets and phone systems at all
levels of government. They are self-contained and can operate in austere environments with
their own life-support capabilities. Teams might also utilize satellite data from NASA or other
sources in making their assessments.
The level of alert, the selection of a team and the decision as to when to launch it would
be important judgment calls for the assistant to the President in charge of the DCMU and the
FEMA director. Teams should not be launched for emergencies or relatively minor disasters.
Decisions to dispatch them will often have to be made on the basis of intelligence that may not
always be adequate.
The essence of a team's operation must be its speed. A team would make its
recommendations quickly to the governors of affected states, the FEMA director and the
President. The recommendations would include a ranking of the disaster on the gradated scale
discussed below.
CURRENT MEANS OF COORDINATION: FEMA AND THE FRP
The SLPS directorate of FEMA has developed a Federal Response Plan (FRP) which
brings together 26 federal agencies and the American Red Cross for the first time in the
beginnings of an operational plan. (See charts on pages 31 and 32.) That it exists at all is a
credit to FEMA and to SLPS. The FRP is broken into 12 annexes or Emergency Support
Functions (ESFs), such as Food, Mass Care, or Medical Care. Each Annex is coordinated by
a lead agency, and supplemented by several support agencies. Comments from persons at all

ESFs
ESFE,

Primary Agency

1. Transportation

DOT

2. Communications
3. Public Works and Engineering
4. Firefighting
5. Information and Planning

NCS
DOD
USDA
FEMA

6. Mass Care
7. Resource Support

ARC
GSA

8. Health and Medicai|Services
9. Urban Search and Rescue
10. Hazardous Materials

DHHS
DOD

11. Food

USDA
DOE

12. Energy

EPA
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levels of government were positive toward the FRP as an important beginning.
The panel believes that elaboration of the FRP should go forward under FEMA
leadership with strong presidential support, and that it should be redesignated the President's
Response Plan. Work must begin in FEMA to make it the agency's product, noj a SLPS
product. All units of FEMA should take part in revising, extending and implementing the plan.
Currently it is not viewed as legitimate or consequential by all of FEMA; it is still seen by some
as a product built to meet the needs, some would say the ambitions, of the SLPS directorate.
Its symbolic power, and thus the authority of FEMA, could be enhanced by the relatively simple
change of name which would place it in the sphere of presidential power.
Each of the ESFs should become the basis for developing an operational plan involving
the various agencies and private organizations. Regional plans in support of the FRP, such as
tre one that FEMA region VI developed, should be created. State operational plans that
articulate with the federal and regional plans should also be developed, and states should work
to see that local governments in vulnerable or populous areas develop operational plans that
articulate with those of the state. The plans at all levels should be contingent upon the
designation of a disaster on the proposed gradated scale that would be used by the Joint
Assessment Teams.
A Gradated Scale Of Disasters
The panel believes a gradated disaster scale should be used by the joint assessment teams
in making their recommendation. That scale would also be a key determinant of local, state and
federal operational response plans that are either derived from the FRP or replace it (see below).
The scale should range from small disasters that can be handled by local emergency management
responders to catastrophic disasters. The latter would call for mobilization and response from
all levels of government, involve all ESF of the FRP, and possibly require federal response and
resources beyond those set forth in the FRP. The gradated disaster scale would indicate not only
the levels of damage and life support needs associated with a level of disaster, but the kinds of
agencies and capabilities, as well as the kinds and quantities of material and personnel, that will
be a part of the response to that particular level of disaster.

I
Federal Agencies Involved
* Dept. of Agriculture
• Agency for International Development I
Dept. of Commerce.Office of U.S. Foreign Disaster
Assistance
" Dept. of Defense
* American
Red
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e Cross
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" Dept.
Dept. of
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Environmental Protection Agency
* Dept. of Energy
* Federal Communications Commission
" Dept. of Health & Human * Federal Emergency Management
Agency
Services
* Dept of Housing & Urban , General Services Administration
Development
,
o Interstate Commerce Commission
•Dept of the Interior.
D National Aeronautics and Space
• Dept. of Justice
Administration
* Dept. of Labor
* National Communications System
* Dept of State
e Nuclear Regulatory Commission
* Dept. of Transportatior
-, Office of Personnel Management
• Dept. of the Treasury .
Tennessee Valley Authority
• Dept. of Veterans Affairs * U.S. Postal Service
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Suggested Improvements In the Federal Response Plan
The devu -,.ent of interlocking operational plans at all levels of government is ti key
to building a ooA.era,,-e, intergovernmental, national emergency management systems. Their
development must be- me a strategic goal of FEMA and will presumably take years to
complete. I
, !-it me, the FRP, which the panel considers to be something between a
conceptual and an operational plan has several weaknesses in its present form. Foremost among
them is the American Red Cross' designation as lead agency in the Mass Care Annex, ESF-6.
The Red Cross is a venerable institution with a unique position in the Washington policy
community. It is not a federal agency, however, and attempts to treat it as such can only create
confusion.
The issue of the Red Cross' role has two dimensions: the Red Cross' tasking federal
agencies and the Red Cross' tasking of other private organizations. As to the former, the Red
Cross is in a dubious legal position to ensure coordination with other federal agencies. Red
Cross representatives correctly point out that coordination is a difficult matter regardless of the
formal authority. The tradition of the Red Cross coordinating the federal response, as already
mentioned in this report, dates back to 1906. Indeed, project staff frequently heard that the Red
Cross does a commendable job responding to most disasters. Responding to catastrophic or near
catastrophic events, however, is quite another matter. Disasters on the scale of Hurricane
Andrew are going to overwhelm any private organization, and DoD resources will be required.
It is inappropriate to have the Red Cross as the titular coordinating agency in these special
circumstances.
Another important flaw in the Red Cross' lead role in ESF-6 is its assignment to
coordinate and task other volunteer organizations. Project staff interviews indicated that the Red
Cross and the Salvation Army have been at loggerheads over the Red Cross' role in the FRP.
Other volunteer organizations, the Salvation Army prominent among them, feel that the FRP has
cut off their access to FEMA by requiring them to channel their contacts with FEMA through
the Red Cross. Private organizations, by their very nature, are resistant to coordination by any
organization but are particularly resistant to tasking by other volunteer organizations. FEMA
is perhaps better positioned to coordinate volunteer organizations because it is not part of the
community and can act as a neutral coordinator. At the very least, ESF-6 should be reviewed,
with special attention to managing and utilizing a range of volunteer and private organizations
in addition to the American Red Cross.
Considerable confusion exists between ESF-6, Mass Care, and ESP-l 1, Food. Feeding
intuitively seems to belong as part of mass care, and a plethora of government and private
organizations are involved in feeding. They are coordinated by the Department of Agriculture,
which does no actual feeding of disaster victims but does supply some food. Revision of the
FRP might include a reexamination of the relationship between mass care and food, with an eye
towards combining them.
In the case of ESF-9, Urban Search and Rescue, DoD is designated as the lead agency,
but the project team could find little or no justification for that. Since 1990, FEMA has had a
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search and rescue capability consisting of teams that are virtually self-organized by enthusiastic
volunteers in several fire departments around the country. They have organized what amounts
to a national mutual aid network, developed fairly elaborate operational plans and persuaded
their home departments to add equipment to tl-.ir
inventories that may go beyond the locale's
need but meet the needs of the operational plans of the ESF. Moreover, some parts of the
network have extensive experience from responding to earthquakes in Armenia and Mexico.
FEMA should give this effort serious attention as an example of bottom-up elaboration of an
operational plan for an ESF. In the future, FEMA should be designated lead agency rather than
DoD.
The issue of security was prominent whenever the project team brought up the Federal
Response Plan in field interviews. The experience of interviewees in Hurricane Andrew in
Florida and Hurricane Hugo in the Virgin Islands convinced them that security should be
featured more prominently in the FRP, perhaps as an additional ESF. Because state and local
law enforcement officials may themselves be victims in major disasters, the potential need for
a federal role is clear. It would seem that the Department of Justice (DoJ) should be the lead
agency in an ESF devoted to security, but DoJ has signed the FRP in a supporting role in ESF's
that have nothing to do with security or maintenance of law and order. Project staff were told
that this position was taken even though DoJ representatives made it clear that they considered
the subject of security their responsibility.
Invoking the Federal Response Plan
It is not clear when or under what circumstances the FRP will be invoked. This creates
confusion among participating agencies and this uncertainty may lead to crucial delays. Revision
of the FRP should establish clear guidance as to when and how the FRP goes into effect.
The panel's greater concern with the FRP is that it is presently as much conceptual as
it is operational. It should provide the basis for development of operational plans under each
of the ESFs which articulate with regional state and local operational plans. The FRP is a
promising start for federal (or presidential) disaster response planning but it is only a beginning.
SEARCHING FOR THE RIGHT RELATIONSHIP TO THE PRESIDENCY
As noted in Chapter Two, the meaning of "coordination" and "sufficient power' varies.
There has been a recurring cycle of placing the coordinating agency closer to the presidency to
draw upon its authority, and then moving it away from the presidency. A centrietal pattern has
occurred when the Cold War intensified or there has been an effort to strengthen the authority
of an emergency management agency. A centrifugal pattern has dominated when other agencies
feel threatened by the interest of the President or those close to him in emergency management,
or when such interest wanes in the face of other demands on their time and attention. This
pulling and hauling has been the major reason for the episodic reorganizations of the emergency
management functions over the years. 33 The survival and effectiveness of an emergency
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management agency at any level of government is inherently dependent upon its relation to the
office of chief executive - President, governor, or mayor; a relationship based not merely upon
statutes, regulations or structural proximity, but upon access, interest and attention.
If the fate and effectiveness of an emergency management agency are dependent on its
relationship to a government's chief executive, what is the right relationship? Some propose to
elevate FEMA to cabinet status. Criteria have been discussed for giving an agency cabinet
It is
status, but no one can say with assurance what the effects of a status change are.'
unlikely that a proposal to give such a small agency cabinet status would receive any serious
consideration.
FEMA's legitimacy has always suffered when it has been perceived as
overreaching" or stretching its claim for authority 'too far.' Even a claim based on statutes
is ineffective if it is perceived as exaggerated or disproportionate to capability or reputation.
The panel believes that seeking cabinet status is not a sensible (or viable) option. This is far too
difficult a question to be dealt in this report.
Nor should FEMA be placed in the Executive Office of the President (EOP) unless it is
drastically reduced to a single function, such as disaster response coordination. As currently
constituted, FEMA is too large and would unacceptably swell the size of the EOP. In an era
of fiscal austerity, presidents have been very sensitive to charges that they are expanding the
"president's staff." Neither the press nor the public is likely to make fine distinctions between
the EOP and the White House Office, so enlarging EOP is unlikely to be well received. The
panel believes that the function would be lost in the larger EOP along with agencies such as the
National Critical Materials Council.
Some potential relationships are not implausible but are nonetheless problematic. For
example, it has often been suggested that someone on the White House staff be appointed

"emergency management czar." A person making this suggestion probably has in mind someone
to coordinate and direct diate r onse. That is a much more limited function with its own
set of problems. Emergency management, however, encompasses too many complex functions

and programs to be placed in the White House staff, regardless of the serious need for

coordinative power to carry out disaster response. No one can "manage" the emergency
management functions from 1600 Pennsylvania Avenue, even if a highly professionalized and
extraordinarily capable agency outside the White House awaits his or her necessarily intermittent
attention and involvement. Moreover, the history of White House czars has not been a happy
one.
Possibilities

The search for a 'right' relationship to the presidency coincides with the need, so
obvious in Hurricane Andrew, for more and better real-time information in the White House on
the extent of a catastrophic event. Given that emergency management cannot be "managed"
from the White House, would another form of relationship provide the institutional presidency
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with the needed data and, at the same time, give FEMA the continuing attention, interest of, and
when necessary, access to the President? The panel concludes that three possibilities exist - two
that have been tried, and one that has not -- for meeting these two interwoven needs.
One possibility is the Buslh administration model where a staffer was assigned
responsibility for cabinet affairs, and 'tracked things arising from the departments and
agencies'
The panel believes that a person monitoring potential crises should be 'tracking'
things from other sources in addition to the departments. Potential crises arising from the
structures and processes of administrative agencies tend to surface in "advanced" stages of
development with special "spins* on them that narrow response options. Furthermore, the crises
monitored should be expanded beyond those FEMA normally deals with to include any that may
be of interest to the president. Such incidents might include ecological emergencies (e.g., the
Exxon Valdez spill), climatological crises (e.g., a California drought), or other events (e.g., a
huhiger strike among Haitian refugees or a riot in Los Angeles).
A second possibility is FEMA's having a connection to the President by means of a
designated (possibly rotating) 'disaster response officer' of cabinet rank. How often this duty
would rotate is less important than the need for this person to have the confidence and trust of
th. President. Cabinet rank would likely contribute to his or her perceived authority as a highranking officer of the government as well as being a personal representative of the President.
This is very nearly the role played by former Secretary of Transportation Andrew Card in the
Bush administration in the aftermath of Hurricane Andrew. It was fortuitous that the Secretary
had some previous experience in dealing with emergenciei, state governments and FEMA, but
if this option is chosen such experience should not be left to chance.
It should be
institutionalized and extended by orientation and training if the role of "designated disaster
response officer" is developed. The panel believes, however, that this option is too much "afterthe-fact" and does not provide the institutional presidency with needed intelligence and
coordination until too late.
A third possible relationship is one that is compatible with or could be combined with
the previous option - and cure its deficiencies - when a President wished to do so. It would
entail creation of a small unit in the White House Office for domestic crisis monitoring
(DCMU). A small staff comprised largely of detailees would operate, when needed, around the
clock out of a situation room, or tb situation room, in the same manner that the national
security is handled. The White House staffer responsible for the operation would not be
expected to be in charge of the functions of emergency management or even of disasters.
Instead, his or her role would be domestic crisis monitoring.
One of the keys to institutionalizing domestic crisis monitoring in the White House is to
develop processes and procedures for decision making or policy making -- processes with paper
and decision-flow -- processes seen as important, even critical. If FEMA and the joint
assessment teams recommended above can develop and use a gradated scale for disaster
assessment, and if operational plans for response and recovery are tied to both, it could well

33Interview with assistant to the President for Cabinet affairs, December 8, 1992.
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provide the beginnings of a paper or decision flow with serious substance to it. Operational
plans, articulated to FEMA-eiens and state and local emergency agencies, could entail
decisions on mobilization, movement, assignment and pre-positioning of equipment and people.
A system of gradated alert statuses similar to the DEFCONs used in national security, might also
be utilized." The alert status might be a decision reached jointly by the FEMA director and
the assistant to the President in charge of the DCMU in the White House.
In the first stage, for example, relevant officials in various levels of government would
be alerted and briefed, and planned travel would be put on hold. In stage two, appropriate
officials in all agencies participating in the FRP would report to duty stations or be immediately
accessible; communications systems would be tested; briefings updated; vacations, travel, and
In stage three, all
leaves canceled; mobile units prepared for launch and so forth.
communications systems would be brought to full operation, some mobile response units would
be launched for prepositioning, all officials would report for duty, and equipment and supplies
pre-positioned if possible-or necessary. This pattern of gradated response would proceed to
stages four and five when it would intersect with the disaster. Such a DEFCON-like system
would be valuable in providing more of the critical substantive flow needed to institutionalize
a domestic crisis monitoring process, and more important it should cut response time of the
entire emergency management system appreciably.
Important intelligence should flow steadily through the DCMU. Much of the intelligence

is likely to be flowing through national security channels and into the situation room already.
Procedures need to be developed that would place it into channels that bring it before the
proposed DCMU. Satellite information from NASA, seismic data from the U.S. Geologic
Survey, and reports from NOAA are just some of the potentially important data sources.

Disaster operations could either be handled by the FEMA director or, in a catastrophe,
by a partnership of the director and the White House's designated disaster officer (who may or
may not be the head of the DCMU). As noted above, the White House Office must
institutionalize the expectation that any designated disaster officer will be provided with an
orientation and frequent briefings. FEMA for its part must institutionalize the assumption that
presidents will occasionally designate personal representatives in disasters when they involve
major political issues and sensitivities. As a former assistant to the President explained, "A
major disaster is a major political event; therefore, the president must get involved. Political
The agency, therefore, must
leadership is as essential as operational leadership.""
institutionalize a role of professional, operational host to a political officer capable of providing
certain kinds of legitimacy, influence and "cut-through' capacity -- qualities invaluable in major
disasters and difficult for even the most competent career officers-to muster in sufficient
quantities for crises.

' The project study team understands that the acronym CIVCON has been considered in national security
emergency plans in the past. Perhaps that or DISCON would serve the purpose described here.

3" NAPA staff interview with Dr. Ralph Bledsoe on January 11, 1993. 'Political" in this statement does not
refer to "partisan political.*
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A DCMU could be valuable to a President and his staff in efforts to foresee upcoming
events with policy and political import. Advance warning and knowledge are far better than
morning headlines, calls in the night or surprise questions at a news conference. Viewed from
another perspective, a DCMU could provide FEMA with access, attention and the concern of
a person in the White House whose fortunes would be tied to FEMA. The assistant to the
President in charge of the DCMU would thus become the White House Office official who
cannot afford to have anything less than a high-performance, high-reliability organization
responsible for emergency management. He or she would thus also be expected to (1) run
interference for FEMA with OMB, the White House Personnel Office and congressional
committees and (2) take steps when necessary to assure its high performance and reliability.
The panel believes that emergency management, and particularly disaster response, cannot
be managed" in the White House. For that reason it makes a clear distinction between gihs
monitoring which should be in the White House, and emergency management generally and
disaster ron
specifically both of which should be managed under an executive branch-wide
response plan coordinated by a vastly changed FEMA. The distinction is crucial, but so is an
effective interrelationship between the two functions and the two entities with primary
responsibility.
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENATIONS
FEMA currently has an unusual degree of public visibility and political attention. While
this attention has been largely negative, it can be turned to the agency's advantage as an
opportunity to establish and institutionalize the all-important relationship with the White House.
Because other federal agencies are sensitized to the problems in the Federal Response Plan, the
time is now to address deficiencies in the FRP and to initiate a sustained, long-term effort to
develop compatible, effective and interrelated operational plans at all levels of government.
With this in mind, the panel offers the following recommendations.
Recommendations
Retain the current mission and role of the Armed Forces in emergency management and
disaster response. Make certain that processes and procedures exist for promptly
triggering their capabilities in major disasters or catastrophes.
Set in motion a review by DoD of the role of the National Guard in emergency
management/disaster response.
Establish a Domestic Crisis Monitoring Unit in the White House Office as a responsibility
of an assistant to the President. Develop a small staff of detallees to work out of the White
House situation room.
Amend the Federal Response Plan to include FEMA-led joint assessment teams (federal,
state, local and military). Members should be professionals who train together, are able
to operate in adverse environments, and would be supported with FEMA's unique

!
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communications assets.
Make the Federal Response Plan the President's Response Plan.
Modify the Federal Response Plan based on lessons Pearned to date.
Initiate a long-term effort to develop operational plans for each Emergency Support
Function of the Federal Response Plan and develop operational plans linked at all levels of
government.
Develop a gradated disaster scale keyed to damage, life-support needs and casualties. Joint
assessment teams should recommend designation of a disaster on that scale, which would
establish a common base of assumptions for response and recovery actions on the part of all
participating agencies and organizations.
Relate the FRP and operational plans for each ESF to the gradations of the disaster scale.
Types of people and material mobilized, pre-positioned and dispatched for a disaster should be
related to gradations of the disaster scale.
If the President designates a cabinet officer or White House staffer as his representative In
a disaster, provide that individual appropriate orientation and staff support.
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CHAPFER FOUR
FTMA: AN INSTITrUTION NOT YET BUILT

FEMA was ctet'ed in 1979 to give the federal government, for the first time, an
integrated approach to engency management. The conceptual leap taken in creating FEMA
was something like that which gave birth to the FBI as the nation's federal law enforcement

agency in the 1920s. By the 1970s, the time had come for the federal government to have a
high-reliability organization charged with developing a comprehensive approach to protecting
citizens from the ravages of emergencies of all kinds: military attack, natural disasters, manmade disasters, civil disorders or fire. Unfortunately, the nation is still waiting for such an

organization.
This chapter responds to the portion of the panel's charter which asks for an examination
of FEMA's role, mission, planning, resources and leadership capacity. (For a general
description of FEMA, and its current organization chart, see Appendix D.) In summary, the
panel has found that FEMA has never succeeded in integrating the several functions of
emergency management into a meaningful mission from which agency goals would derive.
Further, it has no strategic planning process for developing a mission and goals for the agency
as a whole; FEMA is not certain of its role; it has no central, strategic planning process; it lacks
the basic management systems to function effectively; and it has not had the leadership to bring
the agency together. In addition, it lacks a continuing link to the White House and also an
internal executive development program. The organizational structure and operating practices
need major revision to create the high-performance, high-reliability agency the public and
Congress want and deserve. The panel makes a series of recommendations to help bring this
about.
NEED TO DEVELOP MISSION, VISION AND VALUES
The high-reiability organization envisioned in 1978 had not yet emerged by 1982 when
the General Accounting Office conducted an evaluation of FEMA's management. The GAO
found that the agency had not yet developed a "FEMA identity' and was little more than the sum
of the parts brought together from other agencies to create it." The GAO report chronicled
a variety of management problems with FEMA: lack of budgeting, information resources,
planning and other systems. More important, however, the GAO emphasized that FEMA had
not yet developed a unifying vision of its function as an agency, its mission and values for
achieving its mission. In short, an institution had not been built. Ten years later, the NAPA
staff found that little progress had been made in creating a unified sense of mission, and there
were neither systems nor strategy for moving in a desired direction. By 1993, an institution still

3 U.S. General Accounting Office. Maee&=t of theFederal Emergencv Manaeement Aeencv-A System
Still Bemi Developed. (Washington, D.C.: General Accounting Office) January 6, 1983 (GAO-GGD-9), pp. 12-

16.
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had not yet been built.
Institution building has been described as defining and articulating an organization's
special competence and its reason for existing as a public agency. An organization can
theoretically be a neutral instrument comprised of persons who contribute their efforts to some
overall purpose on contractual grounds. An institution, however, is based on more than
contractual relations." It is based on shared perceptions of its reason for existence - or shared
"vision.' Increasingly, experts on management in both the public and private sectors have

recognized the need to turn organizations into institutions. As one writer puts it: *Building
shared vision is actually only one piece of a larger activity: developing the 'governing ideas' for
the enterprise, its vision, mission and core values.' He further explains that a shared 'vision*
answers the question "Why do we exist?" "Mission' answers the question, 'What picture of the
future do we wish to create and work towards?" "Values' answers the question, "How do we
want to act, consistent with our mission, in working toward our achievement of our vision? "
The panel believes that FEMA must undertake a serious effort at institution building.
Given the diversity of its programs, this would be a serious challenge for any agency or private
corporation. Nonetheless, it can be done. FEMA's leadership must look to the rationale behind
its creation. As noted in Chapter Two, one of FEMA's senior executives involved in its
formation captured the intention of that effort as well as anyone interviewed by the project study
team. He stated that the reorganization brought together "various programs having to do with
emergency management which were not related at their cores, but rather at their margins. It
was intended, however, that those marginal relationships would create a synergistic effect.' In
other words, the functions of comprehensive emergency management -- mitigation, preparedness,
response and recovery were interrelated, and though the programs transferred to FEMA
emphasized different functions (e.g., USFA, mitigation; FDAA, recovery; etc.), there would
be a natural enhancement of each function as a consequence of experience and learning in the
others.
FEMA should build a shared vision, mission and values which capture the goals of those

who created it. The panel is reluctant to prescribe what the agency's vision should be, but
FEMA may want to incorporate in its vision (1) the integration and effective performance of all

emergency management functions, and (2) the creation of a high-performance, high-reliability,
professional organization that would play a leading role in developing the capacity of all levels
of government to perform the four functions of emergency management. As to mission or
purpose, the panel suggests something like the following:

Meet the needs of people facing natural or manmade emergencies and disasters
by playing a leading role in: (1) federal efforts to aid victims, (2) building the

Philip Seirnick, LeadershiR in Administration. (New York: Harper & Row, 1957.)
Peter M. Seaga, The Fifth Discipline: The Art and Practice of the Learnine Oreanization, (New York:
Doubleday/Curreacy, 1990) and Tom J. Peters and Robert H. Waterman, In Search of Excellence. (New York:
Harper and Row, 1982)
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emerency management capacity of state and local governments, and (3) the
general enhancement of emergency management by the synergistic integration of
its four functions - mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery.
FEMA leadership has never developed a unifying vision, from which it could develop
organizational values in support of this mission. Absent a compelling vision of the agency as
a coherent entity in pursuit of a shared mission, it is not surprising that the agency's component
parts have failed to coalesce.
Obstacles to a Unified Mission
Absent a unifying vision and mission, the variety of the agency's programs only serves
to foster internal subcultures (referred to as "stovepipes'). These subcultures increase barriers
to the kind of relationships between programs essential to making FEMA a viable institution with
a unified vision and mission. They are reinforced by the network each program has with
separate Congressional committees and subcommittees and concerned interests. (See Chapter
Five.) One interviewee described FEMA as 'a check-writing agency, an intelligence agency,
a social service agency and insurance agency, with a fire administration thrown in."
Consequently, the coalescence of these diverse functions into a comprehensive approach to
emergencies has not occurred. Instead, serious schisms within the agency have remained or
worsened.
Many federal agencies contain diverse programs which are seldom effectively integrated.
Why then must FEMA have better integration of its programs? The answer is that clients of
other agencies which fail to integrate are little effected, but the clients of an emergency
management organization may suffer dire consequences if its programs are not integrated and
optimally effective. Moreover, it has only a brief period of time to perform and very little
margin for error.
The most serious division is that between preparedness for nuclear attack (mostly a
classified function)4 ' and natural disaster response and recovery (an unclassified and essentially
peacetime mission).' But considerable diversity in, and division of, missions can be found even
within programs. SLPS, for example, is responsible for missions as diverse as ensuring dam
safety, participating in urban search and rescue, responding to radiological emergencies, and
administering emergency food and shelter assistance to needy individuals. In addition, the
national security-related "civil defense* function has not been fully reconciled with disaster
preparation and response (see Chapter Five) either in concept or in practice.
Not as serious, but still contributing to the lack of mission coherence and unity of vision
in FEMA, is the presence of two statutorily mandated *administrations" within FEMA -- the
Federal Insurance Administration (FIA) and the United States Fire Administration (USF,
' Located in the Natio

Preparednes Directorte (NP).

4 Located in the State and1Loc Programs Directome (SLPS).
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While good reasons exist for these organizations to be in FEMA, the fact of their separate nature
- accentuated in the case of the USPA by an 80-mile separation from FEMA's Washington
office - reinforces the "stovepipe mentality.
In the case of the FIA, the misconception exists in the agency that it is primarily an
insurance function while, in fact, it serves mainly as an integrated flood hazard identification
mitigation, and pre-funded insurance response and recovery function with insurance as the
incentive to obtain local government participation. It has an important role to play in FEMA - a role which might be expanded with the introduction in Congress of bills to create a new allhazards insurance program linked with mitigation requirements.
The programs of the Fire Administration (USFA) were constructed to meet the statutory
priority for reducing the incidence of residential fires. This limited USFA role appears only
marginally related 'to the FEMA disaster response and recovery mission. The Fire
Administration could play an important role in FEMA - a role which could include a stronger
FEMA connection with the million or more first responders in local fire departments who are
the Fire Administration's clientele -- if: (1) the functions of the Fire Administration could be
expanded to include urban conflagration' 3 -- a problem much more relevant to FEMA's mission
and (2) the geographic isolation of the Fire Administration could be ended by bringing more of
its operations into proximity with other FEMA components. While there have been some efforts
at integrating the USFA into FEMA, without further such changes, the Fire Administration could
play no substantial role in meeting FEMA's primary mission. If further changes cannot be made
USFA should probably be spun off.
Need to Clarify the Disaster Assistance Aspect of Mission
In addition to divided missions, the basic disaster assistance aspects of the agency's
mission are unclear. In recent years, earthquakes in major urban areas have thrust FEMA into
the role of provider of major urban public works rehabilitation projects -- a role for which it is
ill suited. Many of the negative impressions local officials have of FEMA result from disputes
between local officials and FEMA staff as to what to do with multi-million dollar public works
projects. Such projects included, for example, the earthquake-damaged city hall in San
Francisco, which local officials estimate will require $100 million to restore properly, but which
FEMA estimates will require only $20 million. These are not the kind of highly charged
political issues into which a small independent, coordinating agency should be drawn.
In addition, social service providers are looking to FEMA as a source of funding for
ongoing social programs such as feeding the permanently homeless after a disaster. In this case,
a disaster is viewed as an opportunity for both publicity and visibility for a need as well as a
source of funds. A press release issued by a local board of the Los Angeles Emergency Food
and Shelter Program boasted of receiving a "first time ever" grant of public assistance monies
for food and shelter efforts in the riots there. This is not to say that the monies are being
0
A coflagratioa" is to a fire wha a "calustrohe" is to a disaster. Webse's New Colet Di
defines a "cofiaSrioo"as a "lar'edisaus fire.*

248
COPMnG wr CATSROPB

Page 45

misused. However, FEMA has entered an ame of funding social services for which it is poorly
qualified. Another social problem FEMA faced after the Los Angeles riots relates to the
mortgage and rent payment program. With little guidance on this, FEMA is now paying very
large mortgages on homes that were heavily mortgaged in order to pay for small businesses
destroyed in the riot. One example related to NAPA staff involved payments to a homeowner
for his monthly mortgage of $19,000 a month!
FEMA is also having to make distinctions, which have been heavily criticized in the Los
Angeles media, between damage caused by fire and damage caused by riot. In part, this is a
problem of legislation, compounded by FEMA's uncertainty of its mission or its authority in this
situation.

THE NEED FOR STRATEGIC PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT
Because FEMA has no shared vision, mission or values, it also has no agency-wide
strategy for identifying the priorities of the agency and its programs. Individual directorates,
particularly National Preparedness, have developed operational and contingency plans, but
FEMA has neither a strategy nor a planning process, nor does it currently have the capability
-to create one.
A Government-Wide Strategy
The NAPA panel believes the new FEMA leadership, in cooperation with the White
House and others, should give immediate attention to developing a broad strategy for the federal
emergency management function. This strategy should apply to all federal agencies involved
in emergency management, as well as FEMA as an institution. The strategy should identify
several broad goals to be implemented during the first term of the Clinton administration. This
report has suggested several such goals, including creating a White House domestic crisis
monitoring unit, developing a new statutory charter for emergency management, establishing
joint assessment teams for early response to catastrophic disasters, and creating an integrated,

all-hazards approach to emergency management with primary emphasis on response to domestic
civil emergencies. These goals would be complemented by goals for restructuring and reforming
FEMA's internal operations.

Ultimately the federal government's strategic goals with regard to emergency
management and those of FEMA and other responsible agencies must become the bases for

operational planning around each of the Emergency Support Functions established in the FRP.
FEMA Strategy: Long- and Short-Term
In addition to its part in developing a govermment-wide strategy for emergency
management, the new FEMA leadership needs to put short-term emphasis on assuring that the
agency is as prepared as possible for future catastrophic disasters. An inter-agency task force
chaired by the deputy director would be one way to address this urgent need. The task force

should include representatives of all relevant FEMA directorates, its regional offices, cognizant
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White House and OMB representatives, officials of key federal departments and agencies, such
as DoD, SBA, and HHS, and possibly the American Red Cross.
Regarding the long-term strategy, FEMA could benefit by using a model similar to that
employed in the Department of Transportation during the past four years. In 1989, former
Secretary of Transportation Samuel K. Skinner appointed a special departmental task force with
appropriate contractor support to undertake a one-year effort to put together a national
transporton policy statement. Secretary Skinner and President Bush made this document
public in March 1990 at a joint news conference. Called Moving America: New DirectionsNew _rtunities, the statement set out six major policy themes (see box on page 47) as well
as strategies and actions to accomplish specific objectives spelled out in the document. Over
the next three years, this document served as the underpinning for successful DOT initiatives
to support enactment of major air and surface transportation laws. It also became the game plan
for follow-on initiatives to improve DOT's internal organization.
The panel believes that FEMA and the federal emergency management function also
would benefit from following a process similar to that used by DOT to develop its own broad
strategy document. Involving the emergency management community in other federal agencies
as well as state and local governments through an outreach effort, possibly including public
meetings in key locations susceptible to natural disasters, would help build communications with
other key actors and demonstrate FEMA leadership's willingness to include people beyond
FEMA borders in charting the future for federal emergency management. And using a task
force similar to the one outlined above for meeting short-term needs would help bring the
different parts of FEMA together to develop common goals.
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STRATEGIC PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT PROCESSES
INTHE DEPARTNT OF TRANSPORTATION
In Ma ch 190, Prdent George Bushjoine with Secretary
of Transpotation Samuel K. Sbaner in releasing Moving
the first statement of national transportation policy issued by the
federal government in over a decd. This 127-page document
provided a comrehesive fruwaok of policies for all aspects of
tanpotato and a strategy to carry those policies into action. Six
bro d thees wt oudined:
0
Maintain and expand the nation's transportation
system.
0

Foster a sounA financialbas for transportation.

"

Keep the transportation industry strong and
competitive.

"

Ensure that te transportation system supports
public safety and national security.

o

Protect the environment and the quality of Ufe.

"

Advance U.S.
expertise.

transportation technology and

The policy statement recognized the need for the federal
government to mtintsn mechanisms for integrating ideas from all
parts of the transportation comnmity and to establish a cootinuins
Straig& plmninScapahlty. ThU goal Was to *enuar that programs
and individual actions fit within a scwd overall national policy
framework sod that those program and actions remain sensitive to
the changing conditions and needs the tranqotaon system is
facing."
The NTP was the first element of an ongoing process.
Other elements included (1) an ssessment of DOT's internal
organization, beginning with the Office of the Secretary (OSI), to
improve its effectiveness in carrying out the policy and in meeting
future challenges, (2) developwm t ad adoption of legislation
reautorizin federal aviation Programs (completed in October 1990),
and (3) the development and enactment of surface transportation
authorizing legislation, the Intermodal Surface Transpraon
Efficiency Act of 1991.
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FEMA also needs to create a small office under the executive director (see section below
on FEMA leadership) to oversee and provide staff support for developing the agency's vision
and mission, its values, and the emergency management strategies. This office also could be
responsible for agency-wide performance measurement and program evaluation activities. In
addition, the office would provide a link between the executive director and the CFO on
financial management matters.
Even as these short- and long-term strategy initiatives are proceeding, action will be
needed on future-year kadgets. FEMA leadership should build into these budgets as much
flexibility as possible so as to incorporate these broad strategies, once developed, into the
agency's budgets.
Ideally, these strategies should be embraced by the President in a manner similar to the
DOT policy statement. This requires involvement and review by OMB and the Whitm House.
As discussed above, FEMA leadership should seek to get them actively involved. One
approach, discussed in Chapter Seven, would be to undertake a galvanizing event, such as a
White House conference, a meeting between the President and governors, or aWhite House task
force to forge a new compact between the federal government and the states on emergency
management. This would be linked to the strategy development process.
AGENCY LEADERSHIP
Strong agency leadership is needed at both the political and career levels as well as at
headquarters and in the field. The panel believes FEMA has had insufficient leadership at any
of these levels which would be necessary to create ahigh-performance, high-reliability institution
with unified mission, vision, and values.
Political Appointees
Political executives are indispensable to the functioning of government, and taken as a
whole they serve their country with distinction. This is probably as true of those who have
served at FEMA as it is for other parts of the government. Yet FEMA has had some special
problems that stem from its high proportion of political executives and the relatively low priority
that was afforded the agency by the White House personnel office.
The factionalism in the agency is only exacerbated by the large number of nearly
autonomous political appointees. For example, the project team was told that when a former
U.S. fire administrator was sworn in by the director and then asked if he knew what it meant
to take the oath of office, he was said to have told the director: "This means that you can't fire
me.' For such a small organization to have more than 30 political appointees has caused
substantial comment, both in congressional reports and within the agency. As indicated in
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Chapter Five, FEMA has eight presidential appointees requiring Senate confirmation.'
The high number of political appointees needing Senate approval makes it difficult, if not
impossible, for a director to establish any unifying vision, mission, values and goals. These
appointees are confirmed by five different Senate committees, each of which has particular
program interests. When an appointee's programmatic interests are threatened by the FEMA
director's attempt at program integration, some have not hesitated to protect their interests by
mobilizing interest groups, committee members or congressional staffs to intervene and thwart
the director's efforts. While any single intervention may seem small and even warranted, when
multiplied many times over, effective management becomes impossible.
The experience FEMA has had with essentially independent associate directors
demonstrates the need for the new FEMA director to form his or her own team -- whether it be
composed of political appointees or career executives. The most recent director of FEMA was
appointed after all the other political appointments had been made. This is an intolerable
situation for which the White House personnel office must bear responsibility. But as long as
a small independent agency like FEMA is seen as unimportant by the White House and has
political appointments available, the priorities of the White House personnel office will continue
to prevail over the effective management of FEMA. The panel believes that it is impossible for
any person to run an organization well if the key appointees of that organization have their own
sources of power.
In addition to considerations of executive competence, political appointees tend to be
chosen either as a reward for past service or for partisan loyalty. These two criteria make little
sense in an agency charged with responding to disasters; there is no Republican or Democratic
way to respond to a disaster. The lack of continuity of political leaders and the partisan
selection criteria are detrimental to building a high-reliability organization.
A few political appointees of EMA have engaged in behavior that has damaged the
agency's reputation. Some instances could be called ethically ambiguous behavior, some petty
corruption, and some imprudent management of a public agency. These incidents have given
the agency unfavorable media coverage and led to embarrassing appearances before
congressional committees. In short FEMA's reputation has been damaged, and reputation is a
hard-won asset in government. It is critical to an agency's authority and ability to accomplish
its mission. As one observer of FEMA's problems remarked, "Once an agency is on the ropes
in this town, it is really hard to recover.*
The problems caused by political appointments extend to the details of disaster
managementt. A lack of sufficient public information officers at the field level can degrade a
saster response substantially. Yet, as long as this function is dominated by political
.ppointees, it is doubtful Congress will provide the resources for important staff in the field

" The agency isautbtized nine presidential appointmets, butoe has never been filled. It also has 14noncareer SES(10 regional directors, I senior policy advisor inSLPS, the general counsel, the Fire Academy
superintendent, and the assistant associate director in External Affais).
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since it hesitates to fund positions which it perceives are primarily for ;uak rdatios rather
than Zkblic information.
Severd respected federal agencies - the FBI, the GAO, the Public Health Service and
the U.S. Forest Service" - have had traditions of non-partisan leadership in the pursuit of
critical functions of government. If the wise conservation of the nation's forestry resources can
be accepted as a non-partisan function of government, then surely the protection of citizens from
disasters can be as well.
Need to Develop FEMA's Career Executives
FEMA has 37 career senior executives. This is an impressive number for a small
agency. This group however, has not been cultivated as a leadership cadre essential in building
a professionalized, high-reliability organization. Political appointees, however capable or well
intentioned, generally lack the professional and institutional commitment as well as the continuity
Unfortunately,
needed to develop the long-term leadership FEMA needs so desperately."
FEMA has had a tradition of punishing career executives who fall out of favor with frequent
"
transfers to what one of them called 'administrative Elbas. I One career executive, the senior
career official in the agency, was rotated through five different posts during a whirlwind 18month exile.
It is encouraging to report that FEMA is making strides towards developing an executive
development program. A "skunk works" operation setup between Human Resources and the
FEMA Executive Resources Board has been developing profiles of what a FEMA executive
should and should not look like in the next century. Diversity will be a challenge; presently,
FEMA has only two female executives and one minority executive. Reversing a trend of hiring
senior executives from outside the agency will also present a challenge. Suggestions being
explored within FEMA involve creation of genuine individual development plans that serve as
informal contracts between the executive and the agency, and a reversal of the cookbook
mentality that has plagued FEMA's executive development program. FEMA has never been
accused of being a progressive organization, but it must cease to use alleged development
experiences as punishment and adopt an attitude of lifelong learning one that means executives
will not be 'too busy" to participate in individual development.
Most important, rotations of executives can be positive and should become routine. In
fact, much of the factionalism within the agency could be alleviated if senior officials were
4
The
l has not reviewed these agencies. Its citation of them does not endorse either their current police
or perfonance.

4 For example, President Clinton's selection for FEMA director will be the fifth agency head in 15 yearn.
There have been several periods of more than six months during which the position of director was vaOtnL
4 Elb was the island to which the allies banished Napoleon after his first abdication. (He returned, of course,
to launch the campaign of the 100 days and Waterloo.) Subsequently, the allies sent Napoleon to the extremely
remote island of St. Helena, where he died.
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rotated among the various program areas, between the national preparedness function and the
disaster assistance function for example. James Madison was right in prophesying that the
'interests of the man will become the interests of the place."
Developmental rotations, if
done voluntarily and as part of a sincere attempt to fulfill an individual's senior executive career
developnment plans, can serve to curb the parochialism that plagues the agency by giving its
senior careerists a stake in more than one program.
NEED FOR A WHITE HOUSE CONNECTION
The original plan for FEMA envisaged White House oversight and involvement with a
direct connection being made between the FEMA director and the White House. The FEMA
director, in fact, was to be the chair of a White House Emergency Management Committee
which included the assistant to the President for national security and was to advise the President
on ways to meet national emergencies.
According to recent research on organization and reorganization," the designers of the
1978 organization clearly understood that the appearance and reality of White House sponsorship
were important for agency credibility and performance. But the idea of a formalized White
House connection for emergency management never took root. In 1987, a "National System for
Emergency Coordination" was established in the White House which included the principle of
a "national coordinator" as a presidential representative with predetermined assignments to
cabinet and other officials - including the FEMA director - depending on the nature of the
emergency. However, the system was not implemented.
During the Bush administration, FEMA had the following channels to the White House:
1.

The Office of Cabinet Affairs which served as the entry point into the White House for
disaster declarations - essentially a liaison function similar to that for all other domestic
agencies;

2.

The National Security Council's Policy Coordinating Committee for Emergency
Preparedness, chaired by the FEMA director, which reviewed policy changes for civil
defense.

In the words of one interviewee, 'There is no one to carry FEMA's water on the
domestic side.' In effect, a solid White House connection did not exist, and its absence
undermined the confidence of other agencies and the general public in FEMA, as well as
FEMA's confidence in itself.
Further detail on the White House connection is provided in Chapter Three which also

Federalist 51,' in Jacob E. Cook, ed., The Federalist Pa(es. (Middleto. Conn., Wesleyan University
Pre. 1961.)
I Melissa M. Howard, 2atil
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makes the case for establishment of a Domestic Crisis Monitoring Unit headed by a White House
staffer who could provide a link between the FEMA director and the White House.
NEW CLIMATE FOR NATIONAL PREPAREDNESS
Preparing for nuclear war and other national security emergencies has been a critical
mission for FEMA since its founding, and it has been a key FEMA leadership responsibility
during much of its existence. The President has stated that: *national security is dependent
upon our ability to assure continuity of government, at every level, in any national security
emergency situation that might confront the Nation; and... effective national preparedness
planning to meet such an emergency, including a massive nuclear attack, is essential to our
national survival. " - -Under various laws and executive orders, FEMA now has major
responsibilities for responding to--Irequirements. The panel believes the future location and
source of funding for FEMA's "defense-related" activities will be key issues for the new
administration.
These responsibilities, excluding population protection and other programs elsewhere in
the agency, are among those carried out by FEMA's National Preparedness Directorate (NP),
which operates principally in a classified environment. Some change has resulted with the end
of the Cold War and additional changes are anticipated. In the fiscal year 1993, FEMA
Operating Plan, NP had about 38 percent of FEMA's total staffing and about 27 percent of its
budget (excluding the Disaster Relief Fund).
NP's Mission and Capabilities
NP defines its mission this way.- It "develops and coordinates policy and capabilities at
the Federal level to ensure continuity of essential executive branch activities during the full
spectrum of emergencies." In practice, this has meant preparation for national security
emergencies of all types, including all-out nuclear war. In briefings for the project staff, NP
officials described and discussed substantial resources which are available for national security
emergencies, and which they said have been made available for domestic emergencies and
disasters.
Its communications equipment networks, resources and people were deployed and used
in 1989 after Hurricane Hugo and again in Florida after Andrew. Its capabilities have been
developed and engineered to meet the unique needs of emergency managers at all levels involved
in field operations. In addition, this capability has been available for other events over a period
of 10 years, including the recent presidential inauguration. Assets in NP were helpful to FEMA
disaster response officials in setting up operations for responding to catastrophic events.
From 1983 until 1991, NP was responsible for planning, procedures, preparedness, team
rostering and orientation and federal agency coordination for responses under such hazardspecific plans as the Federal Radiological Emergency Response Plan (FRERP). NP people and
" Executive Order 12656, November 18, 1988, p. 1.
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resources were central in the many exercises and special events held during this period. NP
planners also supported FEMA's Disaster Assistance Program staff who were concurrently
developing the Catastrophic Earthquake Response Plan. This plan was later renamed the Federal
Response Plan and said to be appropriate for all emergencies under the Stafford Act. In 1991,
the FEMA director redelegated the response authorities from NP to SLPS and the agency's
response repertoire is now focussed almost solely on the FRP. NP has consistently supported
FRP exercises, planning and events throughout the period. However, NP's role in disaster
response planning under the Stafford Act has been limited to support planning.
It is clear that NP has very significant experience and capabilities in national-level
response planning and coordination. The project staff was impressed by what they saw in NP,
and it appears there are important opportunities not only to make better use of NP assets for
responding to non-national security-related domestic emergencies but also to take advantage of
the NP network in perfecting the FRP.
In testimony January 1993 before a Senate Appropriations subcommittee, the General
Accounting Office said:
... the Directorate maintains a high level of readiness and is, therefore, able
to instantly deploy people and resources from a number of locations to anywhere
in the United States. Although the Directorate's assets could have been
instrumental in such tasks as planning,assessing damage, and establishing
communications links between local, state, and Federal officials at the disaster
site, they were not fully used to respond to Hurricane Andrew and other recent
disasters. This occurred, in part, because the Federal Response Plan lacks
procedures for using the Directorate's assets to respond to natural disasters.
Security Classification and Communication Problems
The project staff has observed serious internal communications problems among
organizations within FEMA. The panel subscribes to the school of thought in FEMA which
attributes this in large part to the "wall of secrecy' created by the classified programs and the
restricted areas in which they are performed. Other FEMA staff attribute the apparent insularity
of FEMA programs to the 'dog-eat-dog" budgetary treatment of FEMA programs over the life
of the agency. In this view, congressional authorizing and appropriations committees have
tended to regard budget requests for less-favored programs as depriving more-favored programs
of their due within a zero-sum budget ceiling.
Recommendations in a November 1992 report of the FEMA Security Practices Board of
Review may correct the part of the internal communications problem which is caused by
classification." This Board was charged with reviewing the practices and operations of the
FEMA Security Office, as well as the number and types of clearances required to carry out
." Security Practices Review Board, Federal Emergency Management Agency, FinmAl Re
Recommagos, November 1992.

&a
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FEMA's missions. The Board recommended that the number of FEMA employees requiring
security clearances be reduced from almost 1,900 to approximately 300. While this precise
numerical goal has not yet been validated, FEMA is already reducing the number of clearances,
and the panel believes that additional reductions would benefit employee communications and
program integration. Reducing the intrusiveness of classification issues in FEMA's overall

operations is also underway, and the panel believes this will help. The Board also said a drastic
reduction of clearances "would go far.toward removing a culture that is all too common through

the government, e.g., that a security clearance is important to a successful career,' and its
attendant burden on FEMA staff whose duties are unrelated to national security issues.
-

Transfer National Preparedness Responsibilities to DoD
As to their future location, the panel has concluded that the needed shift in FEMA's
mission and management strategy to an all-hazards emergency management function centered
on domestic emergencies and disasters would be facilitated by transferring the principal national
preparedness program responsibilities to DoD. With the greatly reduced threat of massive
nuclear attack, the need to maintain these programs in a small, civilian federal agency has
diminished. The panel believes that DoD is quite capable of maintaining the needed capacity,
thus freeing FEMA's leadership and staff to concentrate on the agency's core mission.
Transfer of program responsibility usually entails transfer of program staff and facilities
as well. However, this is not essential here. In discussions with National Security Council
staff, the project staff was advised that many of NP's assets are declassified. This is consistent
with the Security Review Board's findings. If these assets can function in this manner, they can
be fully integrated with other FEMA operations, giving the agency significant capacity to send
a high-perfonmance emergency response team into almost any environment. FEMA would
maintain and operate designated portions of the assets on a contingency basis for DoD in order
to meet the transf'rred program responsibilities. This arrangement would enable the assets and
related staff capabilities to be available for all-hazard uses.
The alternative would be for DoD to assume responsibility for all transferred program
staff and assets, but make them available to FEMA, as needed, for disaster response. Because
these assets were designed so they had a dual capability and their primary use will be for
domestic emergencies, the panel believes this would reduce their availability for this purpose and
lower the potential synergism between the program staffs.

Funding Issue
The civil defense and federal preparedness programs have had applications in both civil
and national security emergency management, but have been funded from the national security
budget because of the part they play in the nation's deterrence strategy. The new administration

will need to consider whether this funding rationale will continue to be appropriate, and whether
the domestic side of the budget can support civil defense and federal preparedness programs of
the current size. The administration and Congress could agree to continue funding from the
national security budget for one additional year to allow time for (1) enactment of the new
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statutory charter recommended in Chapter Five and (2) further appraisal of the national security
requirements for which these assets are maintained. Arrangements then could be made for
funding from either the national security or domestic budgets -- or both - at appropriate levels.
Mobiization Planning and Preparedness
The NP directorate carries out certain other national security-related functions, such as
the Government Plans and Capabilities program which provides consolidated federal
preparedness planning, including policies and plans to use the nation's resources in national
emergencies, situation assessment and engineering support capabilities, and resource mobilization
policy. Mobilization preparedness, plans and authorities, mobilization assessment, and federal
readiness are program elements. If Hurricane Andrew had hit a more industrially-developed
area, these programs could have facilitated the speedy rebuilding of industries and facilities
categorized as defense-related. Application of a damage-estimating model developed in one of
these program elements was said to have estimated the damage suffered in South Florida
following Andrew to within 10 percent of the actual damage. Apparently, it was not used
because it was untested at that point, and no regularized procedures had been developed to make
such estimates available as part of disaster response.
FEMA's 1992 transition book states that 'greater emphasis is being placed on planning
for any occurrence, including natural disaster, technological emergencies, or other emergency,
that threatens the national security. " n The questions are whether these efforts should be better
integrated with the agency's planning for domestic emergencies or spun off, and whether their
utility in this context justifies their current funding.
Summary
The widespread and persistent FEMA problems with internal communications and
coordination appear to have been intensified by classification restrictions on NP programs. This
problem could be mitigated by (1) reducing the number of security clearances and the impact
of classification, (2) transferring certain program responsibilities and limited program staff to
DoD, (3) improving the integration of NP assets into domestic emergency response, and (4)
reevaluating 0a: budgetary placement of defense-related programs. The new FEMA director

may also want to take additional steps, such as fully integrating the remaining NP and other
directorate activities for responding to emergencies of all kinds in a new "response" office or
directorate and spinning off to DoD, Commerce, or possibly the General Services
Administration, NP's mobilization preparedness and assessment activities. These mobilization
activities are integral to the national-security emergency role of the agency, but relate less
directly to civil disaster management under the Stafford Act.
The panel believes further change in NP's mission and operations is inevitable. It is up
to the new administration, including FEMA's leadership, to determine whether such changes will

2 U.S. Federal Emerwey Manarmet Agency, I,9MTaibon Boo,
p. NP3.
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Washington, DC, December 1992,

24
COPING WMlB CATAsTMOPHE

Page 56

be driven internally or by outside sources.
NEED FOR MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS
Effective management systems - such as budgeting, accounting and information resource
management - are typically thought of as means of control, but they are even more important
in 'steering' an agency in line with its vision, mission and values. Control merely for the sake
of control is meaningless. As noted earlier, the inability of FEMA to become a more viable
institution during the first 15 years of its existence is due, in part, to its inability to (a) develop
a coherent mission, (b) derive from that strategic plans and goals, and (c) produce annual work
plans and meaningful performance measures. Management processes are the glue that holds a
purposeful enterprise together. It is not surprising then that FEMA is almost totally lacking in
any effective management systems that keep the agency together in pursuit of mission, goals and
objectives. At the same time, the lack of cohesion has itself simultaneously created and
exacerbated a number of agency-wide management problems. Specifically:
-

There are no effective, centralized units for program planning, evaluation or research.
Each directorate maintains its own capacity. Furthermore, the performance audits or
evaluations begun in the last few years by the FEMA Inspector General have rarely been
acted on by the agency.

-

There is no agency-wide approach to management support functions, e.g.
copying, graphics, physical security, space management, etc.

printing,

There is no centralized decision-making function for either budget formulation or budget
execution. In the case of budget execution, each directorate allocates its *own' funds
to the field.
-

There is no coherent or cohesive system for headquarters communication with the field.

-

There is no system to relate workload to staff and other resource requirements; no
systematic collection of workload data; no definition of units of work or performance
measures; and no system to relate performance to workload or resources.

Just as there was no one to "carry FEMA's water" in the White House, so the panel
believes there was no one in FEMA to "carry the water" on its internal management. With
independent directorates having a vested interest in maintaining control over their own systems
and activities, the agency has not had an advocate for strong central management. One problem
feeds upon another. With no organization in FEMA designated to give sound management
advice to the director, there has been no voice to offset that of the directorates on issues and tell
the director that 'there is another way." An office with continuity and expertise under a top
career executive, such as an executive director, could provide the much needed management
systems voice inside FEMA.
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NEED TO STRENGTHEN MANAGEMENT OF
COMMUNICATIONS AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
FEMA has been successful in implementing fixed and mobile information and
telecommunications capabilities for national preparedness and other functions. Tis success

derives, in part, from the capabilities of the NP Information Resources Management (IRM)
Division - the only office in FEMA with an IRM charter. NP's IRM division advised the
project staff that it provides 'a full range of information systems support through multiple media
This includes installation of a backbone
to FEMA headquarters and field offices."
communications network as well as secure and non-secure communications. Installation was said
to be in "mid-stream" at the time of this report.
While IRM has been successfully installing specialized information and communications
assets for NP, the rest of FEMA has had no coordinated information management support for
either day-to-day operations or disaster recovery. Each directorate and each region has been
largely on its own for satisfying mission-related information systems needs. Regions have been
provided with an array of uncoordinated and non-standard - almost random - systems with no
support infrastructure. This approach is contrary to requirements in the Paperwork Reduction
Act for the development of a strategic plan and for the establishment of a single point of contact
for IRM activities. The 'strategic plan" exists but it appears to have been an exercise to meet
the requirement. FEMA's "single point of contact' was a person who had little knowledge of
or responsibility for IRM and who headed a non-functioning IRM committee.
With no top-level organizational structure or process for developing information systems
requirements, uncoordinated and inefficient systems have developed. The teleregistration center
in Denton, Texas, that the project staff visited provides an example. Although in existence for
three years, it is a very rudimentary telephone answering service with a paper-intensive and
error-prone process. Banks of minimally trained personnel fill out multi-carbon papered, handwritten forms based on calls from distraught disaster victims. This paper then goes through
several more iterations of redundant sorting, collating, mailing and data entry both at the
teleregistration center and a central processing office across town. With the many bottlenecks
and inefficiencies involved, the ultimate customer of FEMA - the disaster victim - is not being
well served. No-one in FEMA has the ability to address the agency's basic information flows
and processes or marshal the necessary funding.
The deficiencies in FEMA's IRM technology and systems reflect the absence of a unified
FEMA mission, an agency-wide strategy, an agency-wide information systems approach and a
focus on the needs of citizens. In part, the IRM deficiencies exacerbate other problems such as
effective communications between headquarters and the regions.
The panel believes an effective information management strategy is essential to improved
disaster response and recovery operations. For example, as indicated in Chapter Three, FEMA
should have a data base of available resources for disaster response. The effective information
management strategy cannot be devised in isolation in a central office. Development of the
strategy must be an interactive process between the centralized offices' concerned with costs and
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conformity to overall mission and values on the one hand, and the work requirements of the
agency's program units on the other. In fact, the best information system is one which is either
by-product of an automated system for actual work processes, or one which provides the
program management with information needed to manage the program.
HEADQUARTERSF1EWD RELATIONSHIP AND ORGANIZATION
The relationship between field offices and headquarters is, to put it delicately, ambiguous.
The panel believes that the approach to field administration can either be centralized or
decentralized, but it cannot claim to be one thing and in fact be another if the system is to have
any credibility or meaning. Under the former FEMA director's approach to headquarters-field
relationships, the regional directors were to be 'in total charge of all operations within their
region.' However, each associate director in headquarters controls the money that goes to the
field. Every personnel action in the field must be cleared by the counterpart headquarters
directorate. The only money and staff that the regional director controls directly is the region's
small executive direction fund.
Project staff interviews with both headquarters and field officials indicated that the field
is basically on its own in matters of policy. In part, this is reflected by each region's making
its own decisions on problems which are new to FEMA, such as the issues raised by the Los
Angeles riots. It is also reflected in the manner in which each region responds to disaster needs.
The regional directors with whom the project team met had different views on just what they
were authorized to do, including whether or not they can legally begin to act before a
presidential disaster declaration.
The panel believes that many changes are necessary in the relationship between
headquarters and the regions. These include:
A clear understanding that headquarters is responsible for statutory interpretation and
nationwide policy. While regions must vary their responses to meet local conditions -both natural and political - they must do so within the bounds of clearly established
national policies;
At the same time, Regions must have the flexibility to respond appropriately and to
prepare for that response. This needs to involve the relinquishment by headquarters of
the detailed dollar and personnel control that headquarters now exercises over the trivia
of administration;
To bring this about in a rational and balanced manner, FEMA must adopt a new system
of regional work-planning which avoids the lists of tasks to be accomplished in the
current system and, instead, concentrates on the objectives to be achieved. An important
prerequisite for this is the development of performance evaluation criteria as well as
some standards to relate workload to staffing and other resource requirements.
The field organization also is of some concern.

When a field structure map is
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superimposed on a map showing frequency of disasters, the disconnection is obvious. Some
rationale exists for maintaining the current 10-region structure both for ease of communication
with other federal agencies that share structure, and to provide a "back-up* staff capacity for
shifting to other parts of the country to meet disasters. On the other hand, an argument can be
made for placing resources where the need is likely to be greatest. In addition, when the project
study team heard complaints about FEMA staff, the complaints were seldom about staff from
the complainant's region. The staff from the nearest regional office generally were perceived
as knowing the people and the area. Rather, the complaints were about the lack of knowledge
and sensitivity of staff from oLher regions who are brought in to handle surges in workload. The
panel notes that the four-region organization used by the Continental U.S. Army more closely
approximates the incidence of disasters and may represent a better way to restructure FEMA
with minimum disruption, especially since the military plays such an important role in
responding to major catastrophes. It would also provide a structure to facilitate the regional
approach recommended in Chapter Seven.
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FEMA staff who reviewed the comments of project staff have advised that what was
demonstrated over and over again in the most recent disasters is that each region develops its
own implementation procedures and there is very little consistency and standardization between
regions on how to conduct disaster business. They advise that, even if the number of regions
is reduced, unless there is consistency in how the disaster policies are implemented, staff from
the various regions will still hae problems serving as "back-up staff" for each other.
EMPLOYEE MORALE
Given the many divisive factors within the agency, it is not surprising that employee
morale should be a concern. In fact, one of the items mentioned in congressional reports on
FEMA is the declining morale of its employees. With such a highly subjective topic, little data
exists on which to base a judgment. A review of the records available at FEMA shows an
increase in the number of employee grievances filed - from 23 in 1988 to 66 in 1992.
Interviews at all levels revealed employees who are dedicated and enthusiastic about their duties
but who admit that they are bothered by criticisms of the agency, its dubious reputation and the
uneven quality of leadership it has experienced. Employees at various levels also indicated
unhappiness with what they perceived as the unwillingness of management to make decisions.
A morale problem also exists with many members of the NP directorate who see their old
mission disappearing, with no indication from FEMA leadership that their ability to respond to
natural disasters is recognized.
FUNDING PROBLEMS
FEMA has many problems managing its funds for so many separate programs. Funding
for each program is passed through from headquarters to the field offices and then to the states
with little flexibility allowed and no conscious decision making at the top on how the monies
should be used to meet goals. The need for financial flexibility was constantly stressed by
officials at all levels except FEMA headquarters.
The problem is usually blamed on congressional reprogramming restrictions. Such
restrictions, however, are a customary requirement by the Appropriation committees that they
be consulted by the agency about any shifts of funds over a certain level. With no strong central
budget and decision-making function in FEMA - and a lack of trust by congressional
Appropriations committees in FEMA management's judgment- reprogramming restrictions have
become a severe burden on FEMA, and the agency has chosen to leave most funding as it was
presented and approved. The result has been inflexibility throughout the system that limits the
ability of management to take actions that could yield a more effective use of funds. A new
activity structure approved by the Congress in the 1993 budget - but not yet implemented in
FEMA - could alleviate much of the problem; however, the flawed internal decision-making
process is not affected. A helpful step beyond the new budget structure might be a consolidated
grant program to incorporate funding for all the separate authorities and give FEMA
headquarters, the regions, and the states the flexibility to decide in what areas funding should
be concentrated.
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FEMA also has a problem responding to disasters due to low balances in the Disaster
Relief Fund. In recent years, the Disaster Relief Fund has not contained enough money to meet
major emergencies. For example, FEMA was criticized for not responding faster with money
to assist in Florida and Louisiana after Hurricane Andrew. The fact is that FEMA did not have
enough money with which to respond until the Congress passed a supplemental appropriation
law.
When FEMA is responsible for a major disaster such as Hurricane Andrew and does not
have surplus funds in the Disaster Relief Fund, it must pull back monies that have been allocated
for other disasters and hold off allocating money for new smaller ones. It is FEMA's practice
to cut back on the public assistance money - but never the individual and family grant money.
The consequences of this tardy funding are that FEMA cannot move funds quickly into a
catastrophic situation. This results in a lot of blame placed on FEMA, complaints about FEMA
to Congress and substantial staff time and energy diverted to responding to congressional
inquiries.
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
Few of the goals envisioned by the 1978 reorganization plan establishing FEMA have
become reality. FEMA as an institution has not yet been built.
The panel strongly believes that FEMA, or any successor, should become a professional,
depoliticized organization capable of coordinating federal, state and focal responses to disasters
-and meeting the needs of disaster victims. There is no Republican or Democratic way to
perform emergency management.

The panel presents below several recommendations designed to create a highperformance, high-reliability agency, thereby stmengthening the federal emergency management
function.
To meet these conditions, the agency may need more money in the near term. But the
panel believes that if the recommendations are adopted, they will improve FEMA's efficiency
and effectiveness and, in the long run, would reduce costs.
Absent sufficient action on these recommendations within a reasonable period, the
President and Congress should consider taking action on more drastic options as described in

Chapter Seven.
Recommendations
VISION AND MISSION: Create a coherent sense of mission centered on the vision of a
high-performance, hil-rellabillity agency of government capable of integrating and
coordinating the federal government's emergency management functions. The primary
emphasis would be on domestic civil emergencies and disasters - and on all four functions of
emergency management: mitigation, preparation, response and recovery. Three major actions
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to accomplish this are:
-

Develop an agency legislative charter (see Chapter Five) that makes it clear that the
primary purpose of the agency is domestic civil emergencies and disasters - and that it
will deal with all four phases of emergency management.

--

Declassify virtually all positions. Transfer certain classified program responsibilities
(but not all staff and assets) to DoD, transfer the defense mobilization functions to
DoD or GSA. Form a new all-hazard preparedness and response unit utilizing
FEMA's unique communications and other asssets.

--

Seek clarification from Congress of FEMA's responsibilities for the social and major
public works Issues facing the agency folIowing recent disaster declarations.

STRATEGY: Develop a strategic policy statement outlining the several broad emergency
management policy goals (about four to eight such goals) to be achieved during President
Clinton's first term. For example, one such goal could be enactment of a unified statutory
charter for emergency management.
VALUES: Work with agency employees to articulate a set of values centered on:
--

Minimizing losses from emergencies and disasters.

--

Helping victims to survive, recover and restore their lives.
Integrating more effectively the four main functions of emergency management
(mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery).

--

Establishing a service-oriented approach to dealing with the "customers" of the agency,
including those customers of diverse racial and ethnic backgrounds.

-

Maintaining control of costs to the federal treasury.

WHITE HOUSE COMMUNICATIONS: Build a continuing relationship with the senior
White House officials responsible for domestic policy, domestic crisis monitoring and
processing of disaster declarations. Have a solid understanding of how these White House
functions operate.
LEADERSHIP: Provide a framework for improving leadership by:
-

Limiting the number of presidential appointments (other than the Inspector general)
to two - director and deputy director - and helping to assure that future leaders are
qualified and trained for their jobs.

-

Converting all other executive positions to career status and filling them with the most
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qualified candidates from within the agency, throughout the federal government, state and
local government or the private sector.
-

Building a first-rate executive development program to assure a pool of talent for
future leadership within the agency.

-

Creating a career-reserved position of executive director with responsibility for all
internal management systems and functions except budget and financial management.
(The Chief Financial Officer Act of 1990 requires that the CFO report directly to the
agency head. There should be a close working relationship between the CFO and the
executive director on common management issues).

PREPARING FOR THE NEXT CATASTROPHE: Give priority to assuring the agency is
as prepared as possible for the next catastrophe, i.e., position the agency to "manage the hell
out of moments of truth. "" (See also recommendations in Chapter Three.)
ORGANIZATION: Realize the goal of building a single, coherent organization by:
Restructuring the agency around a comprehensive emergency management concept
with Upma emphasis on mitigation of, planning and preparing for, and responding to,
and recovery from civil emergencies and natural or human-generated disasters.
Addressing the problem of agency subcultures by giving all components an allhazards objective, with the only difference between components being the functions
they perform toward this end - preparation, response, recovery, and mitigation.
-

Better Integrating - or spinning off - the now relatively separate functions of the
Fire Administration and other agency operations which prove incompatible with the new
mission and vision.

-

Considering strengthening the mitigation function by building on the mitigation
responsibilities of the National Earthquake Hazards Reduction Program and the National
Flood Insurance Program, especially with new all-hazards insurance and mitigation
programs being considered by Congress.

-

Setting M management philosophy for delegating responsibilities to the field,
consistent with the mission and the roles the field offices are expected to play. Establish
management systems consistent with this philosophy and which also will provide
guidance for consistent application of statutes and policies nationwide. In this
connection, make it clear that headquarters is responsible for policy and centralized
management systems while the field is responsible for implementation of policy within
the context of systems needed to respond to regional circumstances.

n Academy Felow Thoms D. Larson auzibute this quote to Jan Cadssos.
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-

Considering consolidation of the field structure into fewer regions - such as the
four-region structure used by the Continental U.S. Army - to assure its
mesponsiveness to emergency requirements based on the frequency of disasters and
opportunities for coordination both with the states and the military.

-

Developing any needed legislative proposals for reorganization. Depending on the
exact composition of the proposal, some legislation - including FEMA-specific
reorganization authority - may be necessary.

EXTERNAL AFFAIRS: Build a strong external affairs unit of career personnel capable
of effectively handling media relations In moments of crisis. Public Affairs should include
promptly Informing disaster victim of where and how help can be obtained. Congressional
Affairs staff should emphasize building good relations with Congress. Additionally, the unit
should establish good bridges to cognizant interest groups, such as the National Governors'
Association, the National Emergency Management Association and others.
PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT: Continuously measure performance against goals by:
-

Creating a "customer-oriented or citizens' needs approach to assist in defining goals and
performance standards and units of works

-

Developing the performance indicators and measurement systems to make this possible.

-

Creating a system for relating staff and other resource requirements to workload and
performance.

MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS: Establish the central management systems "glue" to bind the
agency together by:
-

Strengthening the budget structure and process, making it a tool for FEMA leadership
to implement its mission and strategy through the establishment of a centralized decisionmaking process and a central funds control and allocation mechanism. Allow for
flexibility in fund allocation through the use of a new activity structure combined with
a responsive reprogramming process.

-

Establishing an operational planning system to convert the strategic goals into
achievable objectives for each organization unit. A streamlined, mission-oriented, lowpaperwork regional planning and reporting system, designed to secure consistent regional
operations, also should be developed and maintained.

, Much of the current management literature speaks of "customers' and a customer-oriented approach. While
th panel agrees with the thrust of the approach, it holds that there areimportant distinctions between a customer
and a citizm. 'Customers' only have individual wants; 'citizens have individual aad collective needs.
respomasbilities to one another, and rights.

265
COPING W*T7 CATASMhOPHE

Page 67

-

Converting the personnel office Into a modern human resources management
function centered on building a first-class work force. Priority initiatives include
creating executive training, succession and development programs; improving employee
training; developing a culturally diverse work force (including the disaster reserve work
force) that more closely matches the clientele of the agency; and providing organizational
rotation to help break down the walls between agency units. To the extent practicable,
provide for employee exchanges between headquarters and the field.

-

Creating a competent career planning, program analysis and evaluation staff of
analysts reporting to the executive director which can provide agency leaders with timely
planning, analysis and recommendations for change in policies, procedures, and programs
and which can use OIG program evaluations as input.

-

Encouraging the Office of the Inspector General to carry out more program
evaluations, as mandated by the Inspector General Act and requiring the agency to build
such evaluations into its new structure for program analysis and evaluation.

COMMUNICATIONS AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY: Establish a modern
communications and information resources management system by:
-

Creating a separate central information resources management office under the
executive director from the staff now in the NP directorate, but including representation
from other offices, to undertake an aggressive, unified agency program to exploit
communications and information technology, to streamline agency operations and make
them-more efficient, to ensure that information is a by-product of systems designed to
do the work of the agency to develop needed data bases and to create a forum in the
agency to develop a meaningful agency-wide plan. This office also should work with
other departments and agencies, state and local governments, and non-profits (such as the
Red Cross) to create consistent, compatible information processing across programs.

-

Ensuring that the IRM office Is an integral part of an agency strategic planning
process, exercising leadership in converting "eold War' IRM assets and capabilities to
today's and tomorrow's needs for domestic, civil emergencies.

-

Reinstituting the Information Resources Board with strengthened functions, including
budget development and oversight over major information projects and acquisitions.

RESOURCES: Notwithstanding the demands for deficit reduction, the President and
Congress should provide the funding needed to build an effective emergency management
agency.
Recognizing that the implementation of these
Action by the Administration.
recommendations will take more funding for program administration than is currently
available to FEMA, the new director of FEMA should establish a task force to develop
a funding proposal. The proposal should take into consideration possible offsets from
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such things as lower regional overhead and lower security staff requirements, and from
fewer 'small* disasters being federalized, as recommended in Chapter Thre. OMB and
the administration should look upon such proposals as priority considerations to assist in
building the institution needed for the alleviation of human suffering.
Action by Congress.
The Appropriations committees should support the new
administration and the new FEMA director by providing needed funds and program
flexibility.
-

Congress should consider legislation to allow the speeding of Disaster Relief funds.
One possibility may be to appropriate in advance - perhaps with language denoting their
availability only for use in the event of a major catastrophe, using the gradated scale
recommended in Chapter Three.
Recognizing, however, that this might prove
impractical, the panel has suggested in Chapter Five that authority be provided for
FEMA to make commitments to other federal agencies in advance of a supplemental

appropriation.
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CHAPTER FVE
THE FEDERAL RESPONSIBIITY - THE ROLE OF CONGRESS
The Congress of the United States plays a leading role in developing policies for
emergency management and the federal response to natural disasters. Jurisdiction over these
functions and FEMA is so splintered, however, that no single authorizing committee has the
ability or interest to examine either one in their totality. This splintered jurisdiction also
reinforces fragmentation within the agency, as well as programmatic authorizations tied to
specific kinds of disasters, such as earthquakes or radiological hazards. In addition, FEMA's
relations with Congress are needlessly time-consuming, complex and contentious.
One side effect of this splintered jurisdiction has been a reluctance by FEMA to propose
a restructuring of its authorizing statutes. Several laws apply to emergency management
programs. The two most prominent are the Stafford Act (Public Law 93-288, as amended) and
the Federal Civil Defense Act of 1950, as amended. However, certain emergency management
functions are also governed by the National Security Act of 1947 and the Defense Production
Act of 1950. Agriculture and small business loan programs are authorized by their own laws
under the jurisdiction of committees with little or no interest in mainline emergency management
programs. The result is a hodge-podge of statutory authorizations providing sometimes
conflicting and outdated guidance which, in the panel's judgment, hampers the integration of
emergency management functions and slows, as well as materially complicates, the federal
response to natural disasters.
This chapter addresses congressional legislative and oversight responsibilities and makes
the case for development and enactment of a new statutory base for federal emergency
management programs. The panel supports consolidation of authorizing committeejurisdictions.
The recent establishment of a Joint Committee on the Organization of Congress provides a
unique opportunity to encourage consolidation of jurisdiction around an emergency management
concept.
MANY CoMMrrTEES HAVE LEGISLATIVE RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
About 20 committees in the House and Senate have legislative jurisdiction over
Additional
emergency management programs and appropriations operated by FEMA.
committees, such as Agriculture and Forestry and Small Business, have jurisdiction over
programs administered by other federal agencies, such as the Farmers Home Administration and
the Small Business Administration, which provide assistance to disaster victims.
Splintered Legislative Jurisdiction Over Emergency Management
Numerous authorizing committees have jurisdiction over some aspect of emergency
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management; no single committee, however, has formal responsibility under the House or Senate
rules for this function. One FEMA document states that, in all, about two-thirds of the House
and Senate committees can get involved. Some programs have permanent authorizations, others
are reauthorized periodically, while still others are authorized annIally. The chart on page 71
shows the major programs for FEMA and the committees that have jurisdiction.
Even within committees, different parts of FEMA's programs are overseen by different
committee components.
For example, in the Senate Armed Services Committee, the
Subcommittee on Strategic Forces has jurisdiction over the Civil Defense Act while the full
Committee staff oversees the classified national security emergency preparedness programs. A
similar division is found within the House Armed Services Committee. None has an overall
perspective on where the individual programs fit within the broad framework of federal
emergency management.
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Preoccupation with Larger Topics
Except In Times of Crisis or Disaster
Emergency management programs get little attention except in times of crisis or disaster.
FEMA's budget is relatively small compared to those of other agencies included in its
appropriations law (e.g., the Department of Housing and Urban Development and the National
Aeronautics and Space Administration), and the civil defense component is a tiny fraction of the
national defense authorization law reported each year by the Armed Services committees.
The civil defense program is given perfunctory treatment in the Armed Services
committees with much of the attention being directed to whether there ought to be any national
defense funding devoted to preparedness for nuclear attack,' and to the needs of local civil
defense agencies which are partially supported by federal funding.
The Public Works committees have jurisdiction over the Stafford Act, but the cognizant
House subcommittee also has jurisdiction over many other, larger issues, including the Corps
of Engineers' water projects, water pollution, the Superfund (shared with the Energy and
Commerce Committee), and large water projects in the soil conservation program. According
to the staff, it has taken a passive approach to Stafford Act oversight, waiting for the Executive
Branch to recommend any needed changes. While oversight hearings have been held in another
subcommittee, no emergency management legislation was considered during the 102nd Congress,
and the staff was not expecting any to be introduced in the 103rd. The impetus for the 1988
amendments to the Act came from an informal group headed by a Pennsylvania congressman

not on the committee.
In response to a project staff question about the federalization of disasters, a committee
staffer noted the existence of a 'run on the feds" mentality: 'states want the federal funding but
no involvement from FEMA." The committee staff also mentioned that FEMA had tried to
develop a more objective, less political review of state-proposed disaster declarations. In doing
so, the agency lowered the amount of federal assistance being offered. Congress, upset over
such actions, however, modified the Stafford Act to allow more disaster assistance eligibility,
and disaster declarations proliferated.
A catastrophic disaster like Hurricane Andrew also gets a lot of congressional attention.
The $11 -billion supplemental appropriations law enacted after Hurricanes Andrew and Iniki was
a high-visibility political event involving the White House, the congressional leadership and the
congressional delegations of the affected states.
The storm generated numerous requests for reviews and investigations, including the
congressional mandate for this report. The General Accounting Office received about 10
requests from various committees in the House and Senate, and committee staffs have visited
the disaster sites on several occasions. In addition, the House and Senate conferees on the fiscal
1993 Defense Authorization Act, in the context of the need for a revised civil defense policy,
said that "serious consideration should be given to raising the stature of the . . . emergency
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management function-and enhancing its ability to respond to national emergencies rapidly,
including transferring or associating all or parts of the FEMA mission and cipabilities to or with
a major federal departmeL The President was directed to evaluate the issues and report to
Congress in early 1993.
Funding Flexibility Problems In
Authorization and Appropriations Laws
FEMA's appropriations are handled by one Appropriations subcommittee ineach House;
these are the only committees with comprehensivejurisdiction over the agency. Even so, FEMA
is in the same appropriations law with environmental, housing, space and veterans affairs
programs which tend to get a far greater share of the subcommittees' attention. Also, different
Appropriations subcommittees have jurisdiction over the small business and agriculture loan
programs available to disaster victims. Therefore, even the Appropriations subcommittees lack
a comprehensive overview of all federal emergency managenvot programs. Attention to the
programs they do oversee is limited by the demands of larger programs and agencies in other
fields.
Emergency management programs are authorized either permanently or for varying time
periods. Appropriations for civil defense funded out of the national defense account are
authorized annually. Other programs, such as fire prevention and control, and flood insurance,
are provided multi-year authorizations. All such authorizations are done in relative isolation
from other emergency management programs, thus perpetuating the programmatic subcultures
or "stovepipes" inside FEMA.
Because of concerns about FEMA's performance, the Appropriations committees have
held a relatively tight reign over FEMA (see also Chapter Four, page 62). Reprogramming
without committee review is limited to $250,000. The Appropriations committees' reports have
included specific directives for spending on individual projects, and funds for agency
administration have been reduced in response to allegations of improprieties.
FEMA is not unique among federal agencies in the specificity of direction it has received
on its appropriations. However, FEMA leadership will need additional flexibility in obtaining
and using funds for needed institution building or in redirecting funds to new uses in light of
changed circumstances. The additional funding flexibility provided by the committees in
response to a request in FEMA's fiscal year 1993 budget should help.
Congressional Oversight Responsibilities Are Also Fragmented
Five different Senate committees review FEMA's presidential appointees for confirmation
(see chart below). Therefore, none can take a comprehensive approach to determining the
fitness of appointees, their policy preferences, and how those preferences may affect the
integration of FEMA's mission and programs. One solution is to reduce the numbei of
appointees to two: the FEMA director and deputy director (see also Chapter Four
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recomnumdations.) s Both of these appointees are reviewed and confirmation recommendations
reported by the Senate Governmental Affairs Committee. This committee has legislative
jurisdiction over only the homeless programs authorized by the McKinney Act; therefore, it Is
not as familiar with the day-to-day problems of emergency management as some other
committees. Ideally, the Senate committee with jurisdiction over the emergency management
function should be the committee which confirms FEMA appointees.
FEMA'S RESIDENTIAL APPOINTEES AND COGNIZANT SENATE COMMITEES

Agency Position

Senate Committee Having Jurisdiction

Director
Executive Level II

Governmental Affairs

Deputy director
Executive Level IV

Governmental Affairs

FIA administrator
Executive Level IV

Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs

USFA administrator
Executive Level IV

Commerce, Science and Technology

Associate director, SLPS
Executive Level IV

Environment and Public Works

Associate director, NP
Executive Level IV.

Armed Services

Associate director, External Affairs

Governmental Affairs

PAS Level V
Inspector General

Governmental Affairs

Undetermined Position - Vacant
GS-18 (established in the enabling legislation but never filled).
Oversight hearings are held sporadically on emergency management programs, but most
of the action is stimulated by specific disasters or other major events. No committee has taken
a continuing interest in the effectiveness of these programs.

WTis does not include the FEMA Inspector General which would continue as a presidentially appointed,
Senate-onfimned postion as required by the Inspector General Act of 1978, as amended.
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FEMA has formally recognized the problem of fragmented jurisdiction. In his 1992
report on internal controls required by the Federal Managers Financial Integrity Act, the FEMA
director made this comment about the agency's legislative authorities:
FEMA's programs are authorized and directed by a myriad of enabling
legislation, appropriations acts, executive orders, and National Security
Directives. In addition, congressional oversight and jurisdiction involves some
16 congressional committees and 23 subcommittees. As a result, FEMA's
mission is continually altered and shaped in piecemeal fashion by diverse events,
the influence of various constituencies, and differing congressional interests. For
FEMA's management, appropriate integration of these various authorities into a
cohesive mission is difficult at best, especially given the fragmentation and
dynamics of legislative policy.
NEW STATUTORY CHARTER NEEDED
FOR EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
For a small agency, FEMA operates under an unusually large number of legal authorities
in different statutes, executive orders and formal interagency agreements. Some of these laws
authorize activities - general fire prevention and safety, crime insurance, funding and support
for grants to organizations helping the homeless - that are tangential to FEMA's primary roles
in emergency management and national preparedness. Even in carrying out these roles, FEMA
must operate under statutes that overlap in what they authorize and which encourage the
formation of separate "programs' and administrative structures to deal with common or closely
linked problems.
FEMA derives the core of its an
authority from the Robert T. Stafford Disaster
Relief and Emergency Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. 5121 et seq.). In general design and scope,
this statute provides a comprehensive vehicle for dealing with major disasters and emergencies,
covering within its borders federal preparedness, assistance to state and local preparedness,
coordination of federal actions when a catastrophic event is beyond state and local capabilities
or involves some preeminent federal concern, and helping communities cope with the immediate
effects of that event and begin work for recovery.
The Stafford Act reflects much of what the federal government has learned over decades
of trying to respond appropriately to many kinds of emergencies and disasters. The direct
history of the Act extends back to 1950, when Congress crafted a general law to authorize
federal disaster relief that before had been provided under a long series of individual statutes
enacted in response to particular disasters. Twenty years later, accumulated experience was
incorporated in another general act, the Disaster Relief Act of 1970.
Revisions in 1974 and 1988, for the most part, provided fine tuning to the federal
assistance programs and benefits to individuals and families, businesses, organizations and local
governments. They made substantial changes, however, in the way the federal response to an
incident is to be structured and the circumstances under which various kinds of assistance and
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These changes added flexibility and improved prospects for

coordination; but in other ways, efforts made to anticipate particular sittions have created
rigidities that are probably out of place in a law designed to deal with the exceptional and
unexpected. To some extent, FEMA has extended these rigidities by applying its authorities in
a cautious, conservative way.
Moreover, much of FEMA's legislation was designed during a period of continuing
national concern over the threat of international conflict potentially eoding in the ultimate
disaster of all-out nuclear war. Legislation designed primarily to deal with this threat,
particularly the Federal Civil Defense Act of 1950 (50 U.S.C. App. 2251, et seq.), is used also
to support preparation for non-war disasters. Thus, little incentive has existed for examining
the adequacy of the Stafford Act as a general preparedness authority. While the Stafford Act
is quite comprehensive and detailed as a basis for federal response to, and recovery from,
emergencies and disasters, it is relatively weak and general in its treatment of preparedness and
mitigation activities.
The Stafford Act should be broadened into a more flexible and comprehensive charter
for federal emergency management. All the basic elements are already there, in varying degrees
of completeness. These elements should be strengthened where they are inadequate, brought into
better balance, and established as an improved basis for coordinated planning, budgeting and
congressional oversight that extends across program and agency boundaries.
The Stafford Act authorities could be consolidated with those under the Federal Civil
Defense Act of 1950 and other statutes authorizing disaster response. However, this would be
a daunting task given the existing complexity and fragmentation. While the Civil Defense Act
is significant because of the administrative structures that have grown up under it, this Act today
adds little in the way of substantive legal powers to what is already within the scope of the
Stafford Act. It is, however, cited as a source of authority under national security directives
and, in this respect, may be considered as a possible support for national security emergency
preparedness and responses. Ideally, the Federal Civil Defense Act should be revised to reflect
this use or repealed, but such action is not essential if the Stafford Act is amended to provide
full authority for federal assistance to state and local governments. The Civil Defense Act's
authority could simply be put on standby.

In providing comprehensive authority for preparation and response to all types of
domestic emergencies and disasters, the Stafford Act should be available for use either as the
core authority around which programs authorized by other statutes will be organized, or, when
needed, as a supplement to these other laws. The Act's authority may not, in fact, be used for
responding to a particular event, such as a hazardous substance release. However, the use of
other authority'in such instances should not preclude invoking the Stafford Act where it
authorizes additional assistance that could not be provided without it.
Suggested Provisions
As part of any comprehensive revision of the law, several subjects related to
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recommendations made elsewhere in this report should be considered. The panel is not formally
recommending specific statutory amendments, only suggestions for consideration in creating the
new emergency management charter. They are:
1. EMaending the statute to catastrophicevents of national concern whether caused by
naturalfores, negligence or human action, including attack by an enemy nation or terrorist
group. As the likelihood of all-out nuclear war recedes, the possibility remains that a more
limited attack might someday be made on the United States, particularly if the proliferation of
nuclear weapons continues. Not only should the nation prepare for such an eventuality, but it
should also have the capability of responding to the damage caused and assisting the victims and
areas that may bear the brunt of devastation under the same authority and procedures that apply
to natural disasters.
As suggested above, national security-related preparedness planning would continue
outside of the common emergency management statutory authority, but that authority should
nevertheless cover a full range of hazards. It should not include provisions, like those now in
the Civil Defense Act, which establish fixed, separate structures or require fixed priorities in the
use of funds. These are matters that should be considered as a part of presidential discretion and
congressional oversight in the budgeting and appropriations processes.
2. ReAing the statute to require, not merely authorze, coordinatedfederal preparedness
planning. The kind of advance preparation reflected in the Federal Response Plan (see Chapter
Three) is the key to rapid, effective, coordinated action in a crisis situation. A specific statutory
requirement for planning would recognize its importance and help encourage budgeting and
oversight that covers the designated responsibilities of the various federal agencies involved.
Building on authority already available under the Anti-deficiency Act (51 U.S.C. 1515(b)(1)(B)),
the new charter could authorize the President, when necessary, to enable FEMA to obligate
funds for plan execution, including making commitments to other agencies, without waiting for
a supplemental appropriation to be enacted. In a major crisis, this would allow the federal
government to respond more quickly without penalizing other disaster recovery operations.
Subject to this planning requirement, the federal preparedness progi,:n provided for in
title 1I of the Act could also be expanded to specifically authorize federal acquisition and
prepositioning of necessary supplies and equipment as well as the formation of trained teams,
which can be quickly deployed, if necessary, in advance of a formal disaster declaration to
asses damage, determine available resources in the area and begin preparations for subsequent
response epft'ions.
3. &pwjding and strengthening the authority for helping states to prepare for disasters
and emergencies. The Stafford Act now provides one-time federal grants of up to $250,000,
followed by annual *improvement grants" of up to $50,000, to help a state to develop a
preparedness program. These provisions do not provide an adequate basis for encouraging states
to carry out needed preparedness programs for different kinds of emergencies and catastrophic
events. The statute could be amended to (1) incorporate requirements for state preparedness
efforts, taking into account the types and relative severity of risks to that state, and (2) direct
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attention to mitigation as well as to response and recovery measures. Consideration should also
be given to increasing the federal share of costs as an inducement to state program
improvements. Conversely, in the event that a disaster occurs, the statute could make the
relative scope and effectiveness of state and local preparedness a specific consideration in
determining the ratio of the state's match for federal assistance provided for public facilities.
4. Granting Increased authorityfor rapid, early federal action, even In advance of a
reques forapresdentadeclaralo The Stafford Act now authorizes only very limited federal
actions to anticipate an imminent disaster or emergency or to set machinery in motion before a
governor's request has been received and acted upon. This is true even though the need for
federal action is manifest and a request is known to be coming, or the devastation is such that
the governor or other state official cannot be found or is unable to act.- Too much depends
upon formalities that, in the actual event, may be difficult or impossible to observe.
The 1988 amendments recognized a new category of 'emergency" if the event affects a
subject area of 'primary' federal interest so that, in these cases, the federal government could
respond without a governor's request. This kind of authority could be made available in other
extraordinary situations.
The costs of response actions taken in advance of a governor's request would be wholly
covered by the federal government. Moreover, consideration should be given to making the
federal government responsible for all costs it incurs for the catastrophic event for an initial
period of several days, even when a disaster is declared in response to a governor's request (see
also Chapter Six). This would eliminate uncinties about relative costs that can cause delays
in assistance, while also allowing federal and state representatives to concentrate on how to
handle the major expenses typically associated with federal assistance after the initial period.
If properly admistere, this approach might help th federal government establish and negotiate
more favorable cost sharing arngements than those agreed to under the extreme pressures that
immediately follow a catastrophic event such as Hurricane Andrew.
5. Re mining the statuory concept of "mergn " and the din'ction between
emergencies and major disasters. The emergency category seems to have been added to the
original law to preserve federal capacity to act more rapidly than in a major disaster and also
to allow a limited federal response without authorizing the full range of disaster benefits. More
recently, a distinction has been drawn between the kinds of causal events that can give rise to
an emergency, as opposed to what the law recognizes as a "major disaster." Specifically,
emergency declarations are authorized for events caused by human actions which cannot be
"major disasters" unless they take the form of a fire, flood or explosion. Also, as already
mentioned, a new 'federal* category of emergency was created.
The rigid distinction between 'emergencies* and 'major disasters as a way of
detenoning what assistance and benefits can be provided has made the "emergency' a choice
Snadoe aft.m& ot Huimcam Hugo's mikiais
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to be avoided, if possible, because it reduces federal assistance flexibility. The statute should
appropriately recognize a range of disasters. But it should also allow the kinds of assistance and
benefits to be adjusted to the nature of any event beyond state and local capabilities without
regard to whether it fits in the 'emergency' or "major disaster" category.
The 1988 amendments authorizing "major disaster* assistance when a catastrophic event
is caused by human action resulting in "fire, flood or explosion" has apparently resulted in a
situation in which, after the 1992 Los Angeles riots, owners of adjacent properties were being
treated differently depending upon whether rioters had merely smashed things up or had also left
fires in their wake. The revised definition also exposes the federal government to the possibility
that it is planning and preparing for certain kinds of events - such as some potential nuclear
accidents or chemical releases - without having the necessary authority to act and assist those
affected should the event actually occur. Even such authorities as those dealing in crisis
counseling and legal services are by their terms limited to major disasters.
Congress may want to limit the potential use of disaster relief authority in connection
with catastrophes resulting from human action. If so, it may be better to require a special
presidential finding or justification than to try to anticipate circumstances by a definition that is
too likely to prove arbitrary in application. Sudden events, if large and overwhelming enough,
will produce enormous public and political pressures for federal help -- and ncither the media
nor the victims will have patience with legal distinctions about the specific causes of the distress.
The question is not whether federal assistance will be provided, but whether it should be
provided under an existing authority, supported by as much advance planning as is reasonably
possible. The alternative is special legislation enacted in the midst of a crisis that allows little
or no time for investigation and reflection.
Recovery Issues
Because the panel has concentrated on the federal rXW to disasters, it has not given
extensive consideration to authorities designed to help individuals and families, businesses and
communities recover from disasters. It is clear, however, that a review of the statutory
authorities for a variety of problems related to recovery would be desirable. For example, some
parts of the Stafford Act are plainly obsolete because they contemplate giving a "priority' to
disaster areas under federal public works assistance programs that are no longer in operation.
Of course, administration of all recovery authorities is probably beyond the bounds of
any single federal agency. But FEMA could well be a "one-stop" source of up-to-date, usable
information about all of the "disaster' and "emergency response" authorities -- probably 100 or
more - which are currently administered by different federal agencies. This information
function could be extended to cover other federal authorities which do not refer specifically to
disasters or emergencies but which may be particularly useful in helping states and localities plan
for long-term recovery.
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CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMMATIONS
The federal emergency management function and FEMA are overseen by too many
congressional committees, none of which has either the interest or a comprehensive overview
to assure that coherent federal policy is developed and implemented. A preoccupation with
constituent interests, while laudable in times great need following disasters, makes it very
difficult to achieve a balance between cost and service.
There also is a need to shift from an preoccupation with shortcomings in the federal
response to support for improved management of FEMA and emergency management programs.
FEMA or a successor agency needs a more coherent legislative charter, greater finding
flexibility and sustained support for the institutional infrastructure described in the previous

chapter.
Recommendations to the Executive Branch
Draft a new legislative charter, building on existing authorities In the Stafford Act, and
formally transmit it to Congress as soon as possible to enable action In the 103rd Congress.
Incorporate In the draft charter (1) language to reduce FEMA's presidential appointee
positions to two, the director and deputy director (excluding the inspector general), and (2)
any authority required by the President to make needed organizational changes.
Recommendations to Congress
Enact legislation that will (1) provide a comprehensive emergency management charter
through amendments to the Stafford Act to encompass emergencies and disasters of all
types other than those administered outside the current body of laws applying to FEMA
and (2) reduce to two FEMA's presidential appointee positons.
Designate a single committee in each house of Congress with Jurisdiction over "emergency
management" and the laws applying to FEMA. The Joint Committee on the Organization
of Congress should give this matter priority attention.
Designate a single committee In the Senate to confirm all FEMA appointees nominated by
the President and requiring confirmation.
Remove some of the funding restrictions on FFMA's programs, including the earmrking
of funds for specific projects, commensurate with initiatives taken and planned by FEMA,
to build a high-performance, high-reliability institution for emergency management.
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CHAPTER SIX

STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONAL CAPABILITY AND
COORDINATION WIT THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT
The interrelationships of federal, state and local governments regarding emergency
management are highly complicated and often fraught with conflicts. Regardless of the
organizational form or effectiveness offederi emergency management efforts, state and local
governments must deal effectively with disasters. State and local governments play vital roles
in all phases of emergency management.
State and local governments must be able not only to effectively
manage small and
medium disasters on their own but also to function effectively as part of an intergovernmental
team when an event warrants a presidential disaster declaration and federal intervention. FEMA
needs to do more to help build the capacity and consistency of emergency management efforts
of state and local governments.
Any federal system of government is complex, but the American system seems at times
to give new meaning to the word. In the emergency management field, a variety of organizational, economic and intergovernmental problems have been the subject of concern in recent
years." First, organizational problems stem from an unstable federal emergency management
structure. State and local officials concerned with emergency management are troubled by the
many changes in enabling legislation, regulations and reorganizations in FEMA that have taken
place in the last decade or so. Economic problems have grown, owing to the general fiscal
austerity and the large increases in disaster relief outlays (especially the greatly increased outlays
in fiscal years 1990-92) that have put pressure on the federal budget. Further, states and
localities are confused over federal priorities and future prospects for funding.
Finally, intergovernmental delivery problems sten from the facility (or lack thereof) with
which federal and state partnerships function in providing disaster assistance. Confrontations
between state and federal officials in the aftermath of disaster can severely hamper the delivery
of disaster assistance because states are critical conduits for local organizations' applications for
federal assistance. States differ markedly in their capacity to respond to disasters and to work
in partnership with federal agencies. These differences pose great dilemmas for the federal
government in deciding when and how much assistance is warranted.
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THE VIEW FROM THE STATES
From the states' vantage point, they are faced with applying for FEMA assistance, both
for (1) emergency management staffing and capacity building during normal times and (2)

emergency response and recovery for a major disaster covered by a presidential disaster
declaration.
During normal times, states apply for FEMA funding of functions such as staffing,
preparedness, education and training, and general capacity building. In this regard, the states
have to deal with both nuclear attack preparedness and natural hazards. The state offices of
emergency services apply for FEMA money which is delivered through the Comprehensive
Cooperative Agreement (CCA) mechanism.
In post-disaster circumstances, state and local officials have to deal with FEMA in a time
of extreme stress and hardship. The potential for conflicts and strain are enormous; and states
and localities that are only marginally prepared tend to fare poorly in the post-disaster
environment. Typically, those state emergency service organizations with small staffs and
limited knowledge and skills do not cope well with the influx of federal personnel and
requirements. In fact, they usually cannot hold up their end of the partnership needed for
effective response and recovery.
THE VIEW FROM LOCAL GOVERNMENT
In local government, emergency management is usually located at the county level
(except for major cities, which maintain some capability of their own). County emergency
management organizations, which usually are modestly staffed and funded, have to work with
all levels of government. In normal times, they deal mostly with state officials to receive their

funding (including pass-through money from FEMA to the states). Local officials receive most
of their training from their state office of emergency services. County emergency agencies also
deal with municipal officials within their boundaries to assist them with building their capacity
and with establishing coordinative mechanisms in the event of an emergency or disaster
response. Finally, they have some dealings with federal officials (usually FEMA) in connection
with planning and paperwork requirements for the pass-through funding they receive.
In the event of a major disaster, the local emergency management agency initialij may
have the coordinative role, but responsibility usually escalates up the chain of command and
elected officials at the county and state levels usually assume responsibility.
From the local perspective, emergency management organizations and officials generally
are at the mercy of the state and federal government for much of their budgets, planning and
reporting requirements, and staffing determinations. The mixed signals given out in recent years
by the federal government about dual use planning, "all-hazards planning," and nuclear attack
preparedness requirements have made it hard for both state and local organizations to plan and
function effectively.
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CURRENT RESPONSEBIUTIES OF STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT
Local Responsibilties and Organltion
For the great majority of emergencies and disasters, local government is the first and
only operational responder through a fire department, police department, or other agency. Local
capacity is highly variable. Variations occur for many reasons - because of local politics,
culture, political will and organizational capacity. Local governments are at the end of the line
for pass through of federal and state funding and training. This position results in more
variation, owing to the states' funding problems and vagaries in the quality and quantity of emergency management training each state can offer. As might be expected, large counties usually
fare better than small ones, and urban areas fare bettu than-rural ones.
The local emergency management organizations, whose officials have done the planning
and receive the training for emergency management functions, often are superseded by the chief
elected and appointed officials at the local level. Their advice and support is sometimes heeded,
but not always.
If an event is serious enough to warrant a presidential declaration, county officials will
usually s
the preparation of the request for the declaration, the damage assessment efforts
and other functions such as evacuating and securing affected neighborhoods.
It is important to bear in mind that some municipalities, and even some small counties,
are rendered non-functional by a large-scale disaster. In effect, the governments become victims
along with their citizens. This is especially true of those that depend heavily on part-time local
officials and have small professional staffs. Often, the local loss of public facilities, vehicles
and machinery leaves them disabled. In such situations, response and recovery must be managed
at a higher level of government, at least during the early days after a major disaster.
Like the states, local governments vary widely in their attention to and investment in
emergency management. Within the state of California, NAPA staff observed a wide range of
capacity at the local level. For example, both the city and the county of Los Angeles have made
substantial investments in emergency management. By contrast, in the San Francisco Bay area,
in the two neighboring cities of Oakland and San Francisco, the staff saw markedly different
patterns of interest and funding of emergency management. Oakland, with a population of less
than half that of San Francisco, has a greater number of people and a larger amount of funds
devoted to emergency management. These are local decisions over which state and federal
officials have little, if any, control.
Local Emergency Organizations
In the early 1980s, FEMA contracted for a replication of the studies done in the 1960s
to determine the status of local planning and managing of major community disasters after 20
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Somie findings from the final report are:
First, there is still tremendous diversity for the most part in the structure and
function of the local emergency management office or LEMA. The diversity
reflects local community conditions and this is a reality of life that cannot be
is no one
changed by the imposition of an artificial model from above ... 7e
single standardized model which is feasible and best for all communities....
Second, when measured against what existed in the past, there has been a very
noticeable increase in the disaster preparedness activities undertalen by local
emergency management agencies.
The third finding... is that generally better disaster preparedness has not and
does not automatically turn into a better disaster response. At the present time,
the management of actual disasters by local emergency management agencies
appears to be as plagued by the same kinds of problems that could be seen 20
years ago.-" Good disaster preparedness is a necessary but not a sufficient
condition for good management of a disaster.

State Responsibilities
The role of the state emergency management agency is similar in many ways to that of
the local agency. It must have an effective organization and develop and maintain necessary
plans, facilities and equipment. On a day-to-day basis, it must manage an active, ongoing
emergency management program at both the state and local levels.
Most states have a single agency that takes lead responsibility for emergency
preparedness and response activities. The nature of these agencies and their lines of authority
vary, but they fall into one of five general types of state organizations. Authority in all cases
is legislated to the governor but is operated in a variety of ways: (1) in the governor's office;
(2) delegated to a civilian department; (3) delegated to the adjutant general; (4) delegated to the

state police; or (5) delegated to a council, which oversees deparmental activities.
A state, however, has additional emergency responsibilities not shared by local
government. It is in a unique position to gauge the emergency management needs of more than
one of its political subdivisions, assess its own and to some extent the federal government's
resources, and facilitate the acquisition and application of these resources. State government
also can give direct guidance and assistance to local jurisdictions in program development and
M
LL QuarsnteUi, 'Local Eangecy MaagemmtAgmcies: Reseach Findingion the Progress and Problem
5
in the Last Two Decades. (Newtk, Del: University of Del, 1988); pp.4- .
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channel federal guidance and assistance to communities. In a major emergency, the state office
should ensure a coordinated response through the combined efforts of local, state and federal
agencies and private sector organizations. Like local jurisdictions, states also frequently have
limited their disaster roles to the preparedness and response phases of emergency management,
at the expense of mitigation and recovery.
States vary tremendously in their interest and investment in building and maintaining
emergency management capability. On the top end of the scale is California's Office of Emergency Services with a staff of about 300 people and an annual budget of about $416.6 million.
(Of that amount, about $8.7 million came from FEMA last fiscal year via the CCA funding
mechanism. The state also received $18.1 million in Emergency Food and Shelter funds and
$129 million in Disaster Relief payments from FEMA in fiscal year 1992.) At the lower end
is South Carolina where the state contributes relatively little (about 10 cents per capita) to the
amount of funding the state Office of Emergency Services receives from FEMA, which was $1.6
million in CCA funds in fiscal year 1992.
FEMA Support for State and Local Capacity
While the amount of FEMA funding available to states and localities is relatively small,
the investment currently being made by states and localities in their own emergency management
also is small. FEMA funds amount to about two-thirds of the Z=X~' total expenditure on
emergency management. The percentage of federal funds for loca emergency management is
estimated at 50 percent. Io
The current programs and mechanisms providing federal funding to states, which in turn
pass through money to local governments are as follows:
The CCA is the funding mechanism FEMA uses to fund state and local governments for
mutually agreed-upon objectives for emergency management each fiscal year. The CCA
includes monies for several programs:

Civil Defense Budget Activity
(i) Emergency Management Assistance (EMA). This program provides for up to 50
percent of the costs of personnel and administrative expenses for state and local
emergency management personnel. Two-thirds of the funds are passed through to the
local level. The actual match of expenses is probably between 35 and 40 percent.
(2) Other Assistance. This funding category is comprised of several items for funding
state personnel costs. Included are the Population Protection Planning program,

Drabek upos that 45 perc:t of the local emergecy
,eM MIuDeW.
In his book, Mhe Frofd
mageme t organizatioW he surveyed received 50 percot or la of their budget from the local government,
sugotng that gret ay local emerSency managent orgaiatios am heavily dependent on fiuds from
FEMA and their reqective date (As quoted in SyNa (1991).]
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Radiological Defense Planning, Radiological Defense Maintenance, and Survivable Crisis

Management.
This category also includes iznds for non-grant programs which support state and local
governments. An example is the Family Protection Program which provides for citizenoriented, self-help emergency preparedness.
(3) Facilities and Equipment. Includes former budget line-items including Emergency
Operating Centers (up to 50 percent match); Emergency Broadcast System (for radio
stations, up to 100 percent match), Electro-Magnetic Pulse (up to 100 percent match);
Maintenance and Services.
(4)

ining. Funds for state training officers (up to $38,500) and stipends to pay for

specified costs of travel and lodging for State and local students trained at the EMI.
Earthquake and Other Hazard Activity

(1) Earthouake

predpnm .

Funds are provided to selected

states for

preparedness and mitigation activities (50 percent match).
(2) Hazard Mitigation Assistance.
at up to 100 percent federal share.

Funds are provided to

special

projects

In addition, several post-disaster recovery and mitigation programs and projects are
provided for under the Stafford Act; most notable are those provided for by See. 404 and 406
programs for mitigation during recovery.
STATE AND LOCAL GOVFZNMFZ4T CAPACITY
FOR EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT IS UNEVEN
AND AT TIMES INADEQUATE
In a country as large as the United States, it is not surprising that the capacity for emergency management has been uneven and sometimes inadequate. The federal government has
applied resources to support and strengthen local funding through the CCA program, Fire
Academy training, National Flood Insurance Program, and the like. To date, this federal
support, coupled with local and state financing has fl been sufficient to assure the desired
capacity across thousands of local and state jurisdictions. No one can say with certainty what
the "desired capacity" of state and local government should be. It can be defined by its absence,
however, as seen in the response to events like Hurricane Andrew in Florida.
Federal/State/local relations are complex and often conflicting when it comes to the
components of emergency management: preparedness, response, recovery and mitigation. For
example, preparedness activities include warnings, awareness, and evacuation activities, which
focus on effective communications and planning. Communities with great ethnic, racial and
cultural diversity find these activities especially difficult. Mitigation measures usually affect land

285
COPING WMH CATASMhOPHE

Page 87

use controls as well as building and construction standards. Proposed changes in these areas
often involve the enactment of stricter building codes, increased code enforcement, and more
land-use controls - all of which are usually the responsibility of local government and are
politically-sensitive matters at the local level.
Catastrophic events, such as Hurricanes Andrew and Iniki, bring emergency management
problems into the national spotlight, but only briefly. As noted in Chapter Two, governments
often are reluctant to invest resources in p-eparing for high-cost, low-probability events,
although some localities are more inclined to do so than others. An ongoing problem is how
to sustain interest and maintain emergency management capability during normal times.
Factors Contributing To Unevenness and Variable Capacity
Researchers andpublic officials have been aware of the problems of state and local
capacity for many yeats. Many of these problems have been documented for nearly two
decades, and awareness of them has persisted through several federal reorganizations." At the
state and local levels emergency management suffers from:
I.

A lack ofclear and measurable objecives, adequate resources, public concern or official
comminemws.

2.

Low leves ofpublic concern and support for events of low probability but potentially
high impact.

3.

Locl sensitivity surrounding buying code enforcement and and-we planning - both
essential in planning and bnplementing mitigation measures, and prominent In recovery
effors. For example, even in the aftermath of 1989's Hurricane Hugo, South Carolina's
efforts to enact a state-wide building code failed.

4.

Fragmented decision making and strained intergovrmenta relations. For example,
interviewees informed the project staff that relation between the independent cities in
Dade County and the county government were poor prior to Hurricane Andrew, as were
those between the county and the state of Florida. After the dister, relations did not
improve, which impeded both response and recovery efforts.

5.

Inonsistency of federal s pport and involwment (e.g., for seismic s4fty, wetlands

management).
6.

A lack of knowledge and cownpetence in emergency management.

7.

A lack of comment to and fundingfor emergeny management.

So puMicsfiow by Pe.r May, William Watch Jr., and William Peak in doaibliogrhy.
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Recently, a special committee to the governor of Florida reviewed the state's funding for
emergency management and acknowledged its inadequacy." The report noted that the state
was spending about 68 cents per person for emergency preparedness and recovery programs
(total of $8.8 million). In the coming fiscal year, the committee recommended that the state
increase that amount to at least 87 cents per capita and create a Trust Fund for Emergency

Preparedness and Assistance.
WHAT FEMA SHOULD DO

-

The NAPA panel believes that the federal government needs to do far more to ensure that
states and local governments create and maintain adequate capability for all components of emergency management, especially in areas vulnerable to catastrcphic events. FEMA has emphasized
its role as 'supporter" of state and local governments' emergency management capacity and as
'responder of last resort.* But FEMA has provided little proactive, strategic leadership. Its
efforts have not recognized that those persons and entities involved in emergency management
are linked by mutual interdependence at all stages of an emergency or disaster, regardless of the
traditions and protocols of federalism. Cooperation is necessary to achieve effective emergency

management from the beginning to the end in any stage: preparedness, response, recovery, or
mitigation. The intergovernmental system as a whole is only as effective as its weakest part.
FEMA must strategically allocate resources to improve the system; where capacities are low they
need to be raised and where inconsistencies exist they need to be reduced. Inducements should
be used so that the interdependencies of the actors are recognized and cooperation and coordination are worked out in advance of a disaster.
FEMA needs to assume a greater leadership role in developing this cooperative
partnership or network. FEMA should begin to plan and act as though that network is a reality
and acknowledge that the state and local emergency management agencies that comprise it are
highly variable in organization, composition and capacity. These semi-autonomous actors must
be more closely linked together by cooperative efforts in order to meet future emergency
management needs.
States and localities can improve their emergency management capacities and
consistencies in a variety of ways. Some suggested tools to augment capacity include:
I.

creating a strategic plan for upgrading state and local government capacity for emergency
management, thereby contributing to the consistency and capacity of a defacto national
system;

2.

using financial incentives strategicpally,

to reward effort and competent

performance;
3.

improving training and education;

Governs Diase Plsawn sad Reqoasm Review Commitee.
of the Govenor of Flodda, Tallahase Fla. pp.79-80.

1i22 1. Jaury 15. 1993. Office
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4.

increasing research and its application; and

5.

fostering peer exchanges and mutual aid agreements.

6.

encouraging regional planning and preparedness efforts

Page 89

Many hazards reduction or disaster planning efforts could be carried out efficiently and
cost-effectively on a regional basis. Some of these regional efforts may be intra-state, as in the
case of river basin planning, while others may involve two or more states. There are a few
examples of successful inter-state compacts and other forms of cooperation regarding seismic
safety. Another hazard that has yet to receive regional attention, but deserves it is hurricane
planning.
Since two recent hurricanes in the Atlantic Ocean (Hurricanes Hugo and Andrew) have
had catastrophic effects, and more hurricanes are expected to track up the east coast of Florida
in the next decade a new focus on hurricane planning is needed in the Atlantic seaboard
states. One potential regional relationship has been discussed by academic researchers concerned
with the aftermath of Hurricane Andrew in Florida; their goal is to establish a network of
university-based researchers to work cooperatively to gain knowledge and share it regarding
hurricane response, recovery, mitigation, and preparedness.
Far more is needed in the way of planning and operational arrangements among states
and localities that experience a major hazard/disaster, such as severe coastal storms and
hurricanes. These arrangements would facilitate the sharing of knowledge, personnel, and other
resources.
FEMA headquarters and regional offices could play a critical role in fostering regional
cooperation that fulfills plans for a national emergency management system. Headquarters must
set overall strategic planning objectives. Each regional office should work cooperatively with
its states in (a) preparing the regional operational plans required in connection with
implementation of the FRP; and (b) determining the performance standards that are appropriate
as a condition of states receiving CCA funding.
Assessment and Capacity Building
For the various levels of government to function as semi-autonomous but mutually
interdependent entities in the event of a major disaster, the federal government needs to get more
involved in an assessment of their capabilities. If state and local governments do not have
adequate capability then the -federal government should make greater efforts to help improve
their capacities. FEMA needs to determine the level of capability in the states, territories and
trusts, and work more closely with those at the lower end of the capacity ladder. FEMA should
engage in more customized programs and specific projects and less in pass-through, formulabased funding. Programs and projects should be keyed to developing greater consistency and
NatioWa Huricane Center in Coral Gables, Fonda.
DAccoriag to the metologims at OAe
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capacty In the dekta network of emergency management.
Building on Preset Efforts

For fiscal year 1994, FE1M{A staff are changing the CCA guidance to the regions and the
states to better integrate nuclear attack preparedness and natural hazards emergency management

capability. According to the draft guidance, the program will emphasim developing emergency
management activities which contribute to an all-hazard preparedness and response capability at
the state and local levels." In addition, new emphasis will be given to planning for catastrophic
events, training exercises, and the recovery phase.
For the present CCA program, state and local governments submit quarterly information
about their efforts, staffing and training. Data from the submissions are entered into two computerized databases. State submissions of FEMA's required Capability Assessment and Multi-Year
Development Plan for States Governments are entered into a database called CARL. CARL is
used for all programs combined in the CCA; it provides quarterly work statements and quarterly
progress reports in a database form. Separate provisions are made for narrative comments from
the state, the regional office and from headquarters in a text file. A second database is
Capability and Hazard Identification Program for Local Government (CHIPS), which contains
similar information from local emergency management organizations.
Despite these two databases and informal knowledge about past performances on the part
of states and major cities, no effort is being made to use them systematically to develop a
comprehensive, national strategy to build needed state and local emergency management
capability. Nor is that information used to get a fix on the capabilities FEMA will meet when
one or more states is a signatory to a presidential declaration. FEMA should develop a strategic
planning and management capability vis-a-vis its governmental partners, which will include
periodic qualitative assessments of their capabilities.
More Systemtkc Assessment of Existing Capacity
FEMA already has some existing sources of information, such as the database CARL,
and many regional staff no doubt informally gather information that could aid in developing a
picture of nationwide capability. The next steps would be to draw up a list of priority actions,
programs and projects and to prepare a schedule for redressing the weaknesses of the states,
which are an essential part of the national network.
Strategic Use of Financial Icentives
Federal finding to states and localities should entail monitoring, evaluation or other
requirements, lest it become simply a form of revenue sharing. The majority of pe
interviewed at state and local government levels agreed that some sort of performance standards
should be met as a condition of receiving federal funds. This would help to bring the weakest
of the states and local governments up to at least minimum standards.
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In fact, the National Emergency Management Association (NEMA), which represents
state emergency services directors, rcently acknowledged this need. They said:
State and local government have a responsibility to mitigate, prepare for, respond
to and recover from disaster situations. Therefore, both a policy and financial
commitment to disaster programs is necessary. Furthermore, we believe that it
is a fair congressional expectation that state and local governments be prepared
for disasters within their available resources. Local and State government must
meet standards so as to be ready to accept expedited federal aid. Some
governments are clearly more ready today than others. All should be held to an
appropriate standard by FEMA."
To help state and local governments attain a higher level of capability and performance
in emergency management, FEMA should create or enhance incentives to maintain at least a
minimum level of readiness and capacity to manage the response and recovery at the state and
local levels. First, in the pre-event period there should be incentives for greater attention to and
investment by each level of government in preparedness, education and training, and general
capability. (An example would be a competitive application process for special funds earmarked
for a specific hazard, such as seismic safety code adoption for new construction.)
Strategic use of incentives means that funds should be allocated to states according to a
risk assessment process to be sure the greatest risks are addressed rather than just allocating
funds on the basis of prior levels of funding and on population. Further, the funding allocation
formula based on nuclear attack probabilities should be changed to meet the domestic hazard and
disaster needs. The thrust of these alternatives is to move from a pass-though or revenuesharing system to a strategic-negotiated funding approach that builds deao systemic capacity
and achieves specific projects, products and competency objectives.
Second, there should be changes in post-event funding as well. Presently, after issuing
a presidential declaration, the federal government often waives the 75-percent (federal) and 25percent (state) requirements of the Stafford Act. In those cases, FEMA usually agrees to pay 100
percent of the emergency response costs as well as 100 percent of the recovery and some
mitigation costs for the affected states and localities. For some states and localities that have
neglected to develop and maintain an adequate emergency management capacity, 100 perccnt
federal money is a windfall that can be seen as a reward for their neglect. The negligent
governments may receive as much money as those that made significant efforts at emergency
management prior to the disaster.
Although officials the project staff interviewed who were involved in disaster decision
making deny in retrospect that cost-sharing was a consideration, logic dictates that in times of
fiscal austerity this must have weighed heavily in the minds of the top elected officials at state
and local levels. The requaement that a state pay up to 25 percent of eriergency response costs
"'Tha Role of the Federal GovemmM in R om to a Causbrphic Disiter NEMA's perp
ier in NEMA News. Vol 2. No. 4, [date imbowa]
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may delay a request for a declaration on the par of state and local officials, who are unclear on
the extent of the disaster.
To rationalize the system and to betr reward those states that have made a serious
investment in emergency management, all states that can demonstrate need could be asked to pay
no match and receive 100 Per federal money for emagmc response and repair
immediately following a presidentially declared catastrophic disaster.
Additional incentives for states to develop at least minimal capacity could be used in the
post-disaste period. One approach could be to change the ratio of federal match from the 75/25
percent now provided after a declared disaster to 50/50 percent, with options to up the federal
match to 75/25 if the recipient state has met the minimum standards set by FEMA for
preparedness and mitigation efforts prior to the disaster. The NAPA panel believes that the law
should continue to allow for federal funding of up to 100 percent for cases of extreme need or
hardship following a catastrophic event. These discretionary actions should rectify the fact that
mitigation and preparedness traditionally have received secondary consideration to the more
immediate concerns of disaster response and recovery. A similar suggestion was made by the
FEMA Advisory Board in a recent report to the FEMA director. 0
In summary, the views of the panel, practitioners and the FEMA Advisory Board tend
to coincide - all agree that greater accountability should be built into the federal support for
state and lo"il emergency management. Some possible means of doing so are to:
develop minimum standards for personnel, training and organizational capacity

which must be applied when dispensing federal funds;
develop strategic programs to encourage adequate state and local emergency
management capability in those areas which are lacking, but are essential to a k
fa= national network of emergey management; and
d-velop and apply evaluation measures to state and local actions.

-

Simplify Post-Disaster Processes and Procedures
State and local officials in four states that had recently experienced major disasters
repeatedly told NAPA staff about the need for FEMA to streamline the requests and
documentation required in the post-disaster period. State and local officials would like to see

FEMA facilitate fedeal/state/local relations, from the presidential declaration process the
response phase. The actions they mentioned include:
clarify the declaration process, so that state and local offlcials can proceed more
quickly to pursue a declaration and can assume responsibility for Immediate
response needs;

-
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-

clarify which level of government should initiate what actions and activities in the
initial response period;

-

simplify the requirements for federal damage assessment;

-

streamline the documentation required from impacted areas, especially the public
assistance program requirements (most notably Damage Survey Reports);
streamline the funding and reimbursement processes for disaster-impacted
jurisdictions;
stress the benefits of mitigation and preparedness activities as a way to reduce
future payouts of disaster assistance and relief; and
increase the funding for and attention to hurricanes disasters, given the recent
history of two catastrophic hurricanes in the past three years along the Atlantic
cOst.

Training and Education Needs
FEMA has twu major training facilities located at the National Emergency Training
Center in Emmitsburg, Maryland: the Emergency Management Institute (EMI) and the National
Fire Academy (NFA). The NFA primarily provides management-level courses for persons
involved in fire prevention and control activities. The EMI is designed to provide intruction
in emergency management for state and local officials, emergency managers, members of
volunteer organizations and professionals in related fields. The USFA's Office of NETC
Operations and Support supports both NFA and EMI.
In the project staff's review of the literature, after-action reports and field interviews,
inadequate education and training for emergency management was a recurring theme at all levels
of government. There were numerous references to the lack of training of FEMA's regular staff
and of reservists. In interviews, the project team frequently heard the comment that state and
local officials were not familiar with either FEMA and its requirements and programs, or
emergency management activities.
Several of the officials the NAPA staff interviewed who had attended courses at EM!
cited a number of criticisms, the most severe of which related to the relevance of the courses
to the needs of state and local officials. Project staff determined that the problems and
deficiencies identified indicate some fundamental conceptual issues regarding EMI's role and
functions. Problem areas cited were (1) not enough input or feedback from state and local
government officials; (2) quality and experience of instructors - they often lacked field
experience and in-depth knowledge of subject matter, (3) a hiring process that always selects the
lowest-bidder for instructors; (4) a lengthy course development process; (5) too long a period
between course revisions (several are about five years old and seriously out-of-date) and (6) a
focus on *garden variety' disasters.
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Improving Training and Education

Clearly, a high-level commitment and provision of support for more education, training
and research activities will be necessary to provide the foundation for state and local
governments to prepare realistic plans. More important, it will be needed to engage periodically
in joint planning and field exercises for large-scale disasters. In addition, several officials
mentioned the need for training in connection with the Federal Response Plan.
To reinvigorate the education and training programs provided by EMI, it is proposed that
FEMA take several actions:
(1) Form a task force or study committee to review the missions. functions. and
activities now provided by EMI. Special attention should be given to the new
approaches for FEMA that are suggested in this report: i.e, more attention to
building up state and local emergency management capability, and more attention
to catastrophic events. In addition, special attention should be given to both the
rationale an-the means of selecting instructors.
(2) Strengthen the positive accomplishments of EMI. Courses that allow several
persons from one city or state to train together are well regarded by persons who
have taken them. More such courses should be made available. In addition,
courses offered chief administrative or chief executive officers of cities and states
also have been well received. Find the means to do mire outreach and more
training of these officials.
(3) Develop some regional training centers. Courses at regional facilities would
be more convenient and less expensive than is true of EMI. Regional centers also
could offer education and training programs that focus on hazards and disasters
specific to that region. The centers should be located on or near universities"
and draw upon the resources of the universities in course development and
training. To the extent some well-regarded emergency management training
facilities already exist, such as the California Specialized Training Institute, they
to EMI and the state
should be used. These centers should be used in addit
emergency management training now in place.
Additional steps that FEMA management should take to reinvigorate education and
training programs include: (1) seeking additional inputs of state and local officials on course
content and course revisions; (2) developing required courses for disaster reservists and other
agency representatives; (3) reviewing course content and development for relevance to current
issues and needs; (4) coordinating course content between EMI and NFA to ensure that the first
responders who attend the NFA are also exposed to broad emergency management principles;
and (5) contracting some training at all levels with colleges and universities.
" UniveMti, cofles,
and traiin pogmi.
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FEMA program staff and the EMI staff have not been very successful at attracting
significant numbers of top-level elected and appointed officials to participate in training sessions.
Among the reasons are: course content, the inconvenience of getting to EMI in Emmitsburg,
a lack of persistent recruitment or promotion efforts, and lack of funding for such efforts.
FEMA has worked with the National League of Cities and the International City/County
Management Association on programs that will appeal to mayors, city and county managers and
the like. To attract these decision makers, FEMA must come up with more creative courses,
in more convenient and attractive locations. Working with constituent groups through their
professional associations would be useful in this regard.
FEMA offers much of its training at EMI and has supported state emergency services
agencies in providing training for state and local officials. FEMA has not made use of existing
colleges and universities to provide ,mergency management education and training. Some
schools of public administration, engineering and the like are capable of providing training to
state and local officials. By opening new Uaining institutions, locations and approaches to
course development and delivery, training and education efforts would be more convenient,
diverse and appealing.
The panel recognizes that significant additional funding would be required to implement
some of these measures, but the risk of continuing the present course is an uninformed and
levels of government.
unprepared body of officials at all
Peer Exchange and Mutual Aid Agreements
Peer Exchange
One means of facilitating intergovernmental relationships is to improve FEMA's working
relationships with associations representing important constituent groups; namely, the National
Governors' Association, the National Emergency Management Association, the National
Coordinating Council of Emergency Managers, the National Association of Counties, the
International City/County Management Association and the National Coordinating Council of
Emergency Managers.
Various professional associations and organizations -- the fire chiefs and fire fighter
associations, the city and county officials associations, and the emergency management
associations - could help identify and promote exemplary cases of cooperation and assist ance.
In the past these groups have publicized and promoted peer exchanges for exemplary projects
and programs.
Encouraging Mutual Aid
The traditional forms of mutual aid include cooperation between counties (e.g., fire or
police departments), and between states (for exchange of public works, code enforcement
officials, national guard forces). Many informal mutual aid agreements exist, although the
number and nature of them is not known because they are verbal agreements. More mutual aid
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agreements should be put in place in advance of disasters, and many informal agreements should
be formalized.
FEMA should do more to encourage mutual aid agreements and promote the exemplary
ones. The first step is to identify some promising examples of cooperation and mutual aid
among states and localities and to build on them. The most common forms of mutual aid are
within a state and between states. Tbe proect staff learned that Louisiana officials had informal
ways of tapping other states' resources, based on existing relationships and past connections.
In addition, many states have worked out formal mutual aid agreements among cities and
counties within the state as well as with neighboring states. California's Office of Emergency
Services has a pre-established plan for providing mutual aid to communities affected by a
disaster.
In the event of a major earthquake affecting large urban areas, for example, interstate
cooperation may be essential to an effective response. In 1982, in the Mississippi Valley fault
zone banded together to prepare a multi-state earthquake preparedness capability. This organization, called the Central U.S. Earthquake Consortium (CUSEC), is based on interstate compacts
from each of its state members. Since 1983, FEMA has provided funding to CUSEC via a
cooperative agreement. In recent years, four adjacent states have joined the organization as
associate members. CUSEC is involved in all aspects of earthquake planning, but does not have
operational responsibilities. Thus far, CUSEC is a model for interstate cooperation for seismic
safety planning. Multi-state earthquake planning efforts exist in two other regions (in the far
Northwest and in New England), but they are not based on formal interstate compacts and are
not as large as CUSEC.
Presently, several interstate agreements are pending. For instance, Florida is planning
to develop a fQrmal agreement with North Carolina so the special air resources of the North
Carolina Air National Guard will be available in the event of a major evacuation of the Florida
Keys. After Hurricane Andrew, the North Carolina did provide mutual aid to Florida, but it
was acting on the verbal agreement of the two governors.
Also since Hurricane Andrew, the Southern Governors Association (SGA) passed a
resolution stating that the SGA *... in conjunction with the emergency management divisions
of the member states will develop a cooperative agreement which sets forth an executive plan
and inventory that will outline the operations and activities that can be coordinated and activated
when a disaster situation befalls one or more member states."
In the past two years, FEMA has created a new form of mutual aid at the national level,
in connection with providing urban search and rescue assistance, as noted in the Federal
Response Plan. Under this arrangement, FEMA can coordinate and deliver search and rescue
teams based in local governments throughout the United States. These local teams have
memoranda of understanding with FEMA and esmentially are federalizedd" when they are needed
in a location other than their home base - similar to federalizing" the National Guard from one
state when they are needed to respond to a disaster in another state. The teams were available
for use after Hurricane Andrew, although FEMA decided not to deploy them.
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Since 1990, FEMA has the lead role for coordinating urban search and rescue in the
event of a major or catastrophic disaster, although Emergency Support Function of the FRP still
lists DoD as the leader. FEMA has identified the search and rescue resources throughout the
United States and coordinates their use and arranges for their transportation to a disaster site.
Jr - .ticipation of their use for a declared disaster, training has been provided and standards set
L..: equipment and personal performance. This is an interesting model of federally coordination
of non-federal resources that should be considered for other elements of response in the event
of a catastrophic disaster.
FEMA'S Attitude Toward Sponsoring Research
And Using the Results
FEMA's attitude toward sponsoring applied research, using outside research, and
incorporating research results into operational, training and educational efforts ought to be
reviewed. FEMA has made little effort to use emergency management research results to
improve state and local capacities.
The agency as a whole does not have a research agenda, or an on-going working
relationship with most of the disaster research community. This lack of a long-term plan for
research and development as well as any sort of systematic plan for the inclusion of new
research results and findings into operational and training programs, are additional reasons why
the agency is not at the cutting edge of its mission.
A large portion of emergency management and disaster-related research is carried on in
three other federal agencies: the National Science Foundation, the U.S. Geological Survey and
the National Institute for Standards and Technology. The specific type and content of this
research (scientific, management, evaluations) is described in some detail in various annual
reports, such as the Annual Report to Congress of the National Earthquake Hazard Reduction
Program (NEHRP). Several FEMA programs produce some research of their own and they also
fund external researchers (e.g., FIA and the NEHRP). Both of those units have produced some
useful and timely research products. In the case of hurricanes, FEMA supplied states and
communities with computer-based programs for estimating coastal inundation levels and planning
evacuation. Those programs proved useful to both South Carolina in 1989 and Florida in 1992.
Of all four agencies, FEMA does the least research (in terms of number of projects and dollars
spent) even though it is the lead emergency management agency.
At FEMA, the various programs within the agency issue request for proposals (RFPs)
for specific pieces of applied research. Few sole source research contracts seem to be awarded,
although groups like the International City/County Management Association, the National
Association of Counties, and the National Governors' Association have received grants. The
agency does not appear to consider (or support) unsolicited research proposals.
FEMA does not incorporate new research findings and results into either operations, programs and processes or into education and training materials in a very direct or timely fashion.
This last point relates to state and local capacity in emergency management. Some knowledge
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about emergency management has been known to researchers for 10 years or more, yet is not
known to persons presently responsible for state or local emergency management functions. For
example, Professors E.L. Quarantelli and R. Dynes have studied and written about local civil
defense and local emergency management operations for more than 20 years. Yet, some of the
deficiencies in local emergency management which they have documented, often under FEMA
contracts, have yet to be acted upon by either FEMA or local government. In addition, the
information contained in some of the training courses offered at EMI and some of those
sponsored by FEMA and offered by state emergency services agencies contain information that
is at least five years out of date. Further, the procedures used for course development and
contracting at EMI do not allow for a ready update of training materials.
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
FEMA needs to do far more to ensure that states, and in turn, local governments, create
and maintain adequate capacity for all components of emergency management, especially in
areas vulnerable to catastrophic disasters. FEMA has been too passive in its role as the national
agency concerned with emergency management. It has emphasized its role as *supporter" of
state and local governments' emergency management capacity and as *responder of last resort."
The agency has provided funding to states and localities, but has not taken an active interest in
the resulting capacity or lack thereof. Presently, the emergency management capacity of states
is uneven and, in many instances, inadequate to deal with a major or catastrophic disaster.
FEMA must assume a greater leadership role in developing an effective and cooperative
emergency management partnership with state and local governments. It must not only
acknowledge that state and local emergency management agencies are highly variable in
organization, composition and capacity, but take corrective action. State and local governments
are semi-autonomous actors with varying levels of skill and knowledge. Each level of
government concerned with emergency management needs better education and training as well
as the means to work more closely and cooperatively in order to meet the emergency
management needs of the 21st century.
Recommendations
FEMA should develop a strategy for improving capacity and consistency of state and
local governments for emergency management. This strategy should take Into account each
state's vulnerability, population and Investment In emergency management.
The panel recommends the following means to augment capacity:
-

Revising the mission and vision of the State and Local Program Support

Directorate to reflect this Dew strategic approach.
-

Asemln

existing capabilities of states, territories and tnists
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hAorder to pin baseline Information for future actions.
-

Setting performance and other standards for CCA program funding and
other special propams and projects.

-

Monitoring and evaluating state and local efforts with respect to meeting
those standards and, If need be, withholding funds to gain compliance.

-

Using financial Incentives to reward effort and performance In meeting
objectives, not only for pre-disaster funding, but for post-disaster assistance.

-

Strmlning many of the 'post-disaster processes and procedures for a
presidential declaration, damage assessment and reimbursement of state and
local governments.

-

Improving FEMA training and education programs, both in quality and
quantity, for federal, state and local officials responsible for emergency
management.

-

Developing a plan to use research and research applications more effectively
for decisions regarding operations, programs, and training and research.

-

Encouraging (by funding, If necessary) peer exchanges and mutual aid
agreements among all levels of government to share examples of promising
or successful practices.

-

Encouraging regional planning and preparedness efforts, such as those for
Interstate earthquake or hurricane planning.
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CHAPTER SEVEN
THE BASIC ISSUE - IS THE CURRENT APPROACH
TO EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT VIABLE
OR IS RADICAL CHANGE THE ONLY ALTERNATIVE?

Previous chapters of this report have responded to the specific issues posed to the
Academy by Congress on the capacities of federal, state and local governments to respond
promptly and effectively to major natural disasters.
The panel has made numerous
recommendations to improve these capacities. However, in the panel's judgment, a basic
question remains, that is, whether the current approach to emergency management is really
viable, or whether radical change is the only alternative. This final chapter attempts to answer
that question.
THE TRED TOWARD NATIONALIZATION AND POLITICIZATION
OF EMERGENCIES AND DISASTERS
The trend toward nationalization and politicization of emergencies and disasters fueled
by the CNN syndrome seems irreversible. In the panel's judgment, however, the federal
government can never be the government of first response. The tasks and costs are too great.
The panel is concerned about this trend, which includes the "routine" disasters as well
as the larger ones which have been getting so much attention. A record 46 disaster declarations

were signed by the President in 1992, continuing the upward trend of recent years. The $11
billion made available to all federal agencies for recovery following Hurricane Andrew and Iniki
set a record. If predictions of more frequent hurricanes and earthquakes come to pass, this will
cause additional drain on the federal treasury at a time when the new President is committed to
budget reduction in the face of other pressing demands.
The chart on the following page shows the increase in disaster declarations over the past
several years.

DISASTER DECLARATION PROGRAM
(FY 83- FY 92)
60

50
0

OF REQUEST

50E# , DECLARED

50

.u.ooo.40

N# TURNED-DOWN

40......... .............
30.........

30

.......
220

20

v

10
0
# OF REQUEST
#DECLARED
# TURNED-DOWN

.10

83

84

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

35
20
15

48
35
13

32
19
13

38
30
8

32
24
8

27
17
10

41
29
12

43
3S
8

52
39
13

71

92

0

55
48
9

OAP-FM-*-4( 1203I152

-9Mb.iM
WW.ku_.on

800
COPAo Wrf C.4TASrhOPRE

Page 103

If Congress chooses to address the need for a new statutory charter for emergency
management, will it be able to resist adding further benefits for disaster victims or widening the
scope of circumstances under which a disaster or emergency can be declared? When other
disaster occur can both Congress and the President resist the temptation to press the definition
of a disaster to even lower levels? Or isdisaster relief destined to be, in the words of one
observer, "political catnip" for elected officials?
Can President Clinton forge an alliance with the governors that would reduce the federal
commitment to future disasters in return for building a stronger emergency management agency,
increasing support for state and local capacities, and responding aggressively when the next "big
one* strikes?
THE BASIC ISSUE
The basic issue before Congress and the President is whether the current approach to
emergency management is viable or is radical change the only alternative. One aspect of the
current approach is not amenable to radical change: the Constitution provides for a federal
system of government that is 'bottom-heavy," with basic police powers residing in state and
local government. However, other democratic federal systems such as Germany and Australia,
have found ways to build cooperative, intergovernmental emergency management systems.
Building an emergency management system, with its special demands for high
performance and high reliability of organizational elements, is difficult in any system of
government. This is especially true in a federal system with semi-autonomous levels of
government, all of which share powers. The national government must provide leadership
through carefully structured incentives but a system of shared governance also requires
cooperation and negotiation on the part of all governments to achieve jointly established strategic
objectives. This is the most difficult kind of administration or management. Few of those
presently conceded with emergency management seem to have taken sufficient cognizance of
these facts. Emergency management in a federal system is a daunting challenge. As a nation,
we must recognize and respond to the seriousness of that challenge in order to meet the needs
of citizens facing emergencies and disasters.
Another aspect we can do little to change is the high number of organizations involved.
No amount of consolidation of statutory authorities or program functions, across the federal
government or within FEMA, will result in a single federal agency to handle all types of
emergencies and disasters for which the federal government is responsible. State and local
governments will also continue to play their traditional roles, and the panel has not been
convinced that there should be a basic change in the order of response (except for national
security emergencies or those affecting federal installations). Local first, state second, and
federal third.
STEPS TOWARD IMPROVEMENT
In order to build a cooperative intergovernmental system that performs as an emergency

301
COPMO WM7 CATAS7OPHE

Page 104

management system should, the nation must change the way people deal with the myriad
of
organizations involved. As discussed in Chapter Three, the federal government can take the
lead
in conducting a joint assessment of disasters and responding more rapidly in catastrophic
disasters. But responses should still be authorized by local and state officials and funding
arrangements worked out in advance.
The establishment of a Domestic Crisis Monitoring Unit would make it possible for the
President and other key officials to stay better informed of developing crises, including
those
that fall outside the normal range of FEMA responsibilities. A DCMU would enable officials
to make crucial decisions in a timely fashion, and the federal coordinating agency,, FEMA,
would not only have access to top-level officials, but a reason for them to be concerned with
its
capabilities on a continuing basis.
The Federal Response Plan is a promising beginning. The rudiments of a cooperative
intergovernmental system of emergency management based on shared governance can begin
to
take shape if FEMA and the agencies involved proceed to derive operational plans for each
Emergency Support Function, if FEMA works with its regions and with state and
local
governments to build interlocking operational plans, and if those plans are contingent upon
a
gradated disaster scale used by the joint assessment teams.
Equally important to the emergence of that system is a strategic plan
FEMA for its relationships to states and local governments. It must build
intergovernmental emergency management system by prioritizing funding and
The strategic plan must be based upon building a minimal capacity nationwide,
more intensively on vulnerable areas.

on the part of
a cooperative,
building plans.
and then focus

Finally, a crucial element in the development of a national system is the agency at the
federal level which has responsibility for coordinating most emergencies and disasters
that
overwhelm the capacities of state and local governments. For the past 14 years, that agency
has
been FEMA.
GOALS OF 1978 REORGANIZATION NOT MET

Only mbiuscule progress has been made toward the goals outlined in the reorganization

plan creating FEMA. It has not become the "one-stop" federal agency for emergency
management; it is one address with the same number (or more stops) as existed in
1978.
Moreover, several other departments and agencies continue to operate their own programs
for
disaster response and recovery. FEMA's Federal Response Plan is a major step toward
assuming a coordinative role among federal agencies. And though it is no small achievement,
it must be seen as only a beginning.
A second unfilled goal of the reorganization was to achieve dual use of assets and
resources across national security and natural disaster response lines. A changing world
has
made reliance on a national defense underpinning for federal support of, and funding allocations
to, state and local emergency management of increasingly dubious value. Still, many in FEMA
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and in state and local governments cling to this because of concern about program vulnerability

in the domestic arena in both the White House and on Capitol Hill.
A third goal to provide an improved basis for determining the relative cost effectiveness
of allocating resources to various functions - mitigation, preparation, response and recovery has seen little progress. It requires better integration across the functions of management and
that has been thwarted for a variety of reasons described in previous chapters. Mitigation efforts
by the Federal Insurance Administration with the flood insurance program, and by the USFA
with its training and research efforts in fire protection have had some success. Still, precious
little knowledge from these programs has passed across program boundaries to enhance overall
emergency management efforts.
Finally, the reorganization was intended to link emergency management functions more
closely to the White House. This was achieved briefly in the early 1980s, partly through a
personal relationship between the FEMA director and a counselor to the President. FEMA,

however, has never succeeded in becoming a major player in the senior policy-making bodies
surrounding the President. During the Bush administration, only the National Security Council
considered policy issues relating to emergency management; FEMA played primarily a support
role. In fact, the NSC currently has the policy role on national security emergency matters
formerly the responsibility of FEMA.
Whether examined goal by goal or as a whole, the reorganization of 1978 has borne
meager fruit. The organizational design - which would bring together marginally related
programs in order to achieve a synergistic outcome that would enhance all the functions of
emergency management - was an imaginative one. It is a challenging proposition under any
conditions, and FEMA has had some of the ,vrst imaginable conditions. In the early 1980s,
the lion's share of political attention and large-scale funding went toward a build-up of civil
defense and continuity of government functions. In the early 1990s, it went to pass-through
funds to pay the bill for catastrophic disaster recovery.
FEMA has not had the visibility, leadership or political clout to bring about the

integration of programs or the investments in mitigation and preparedness. With the end of the
Cold War, FEMA's national security functions are uncertain. Meanwhile, public expectations
of FEMA in disaster response and recovery situations have grown by quantum leaps. After less
than stellar performances in meeting a series of major disaster response challenges - and before
it has a chance to learn from them - FEMA now finds itself in uncharted waters. Agency
officials are trg
to cope with the complexities of applying disaster-related programs and
funding mechanisms to events like last year's civil disturbance in Los Angeles and flooding
caused by a tunnel collapse under the streets of Chicago.
ACTIONS NEEDED FOR REFORM
The panel strongly believes that an effective coordinating agency is the linchpin in
building a cooperative, intergovernmental emergency management system in the U.S.
government of shared powers. It aiso believes that a small independent agency can fulfill that
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role. FEMA or a successor must, however, become a highly respected agency capable of
coordinating (and therefore leading) other federal agencies as well as state and local
governments. During FEMA's first 14 years, it has never had the essential conditions or
support from the White House and Congress that would enable it to reach this goal.
At several places in this report, the panel has made recommendations designed to create

a high-performanoe, high-reliability agency and otherwise strengthen the federal emergency
management function. Here, it summarizes what it believes are the essential conditions that the
President, Congress and strong, competent FEMA leadership must provide to reach the goal.
They are:
1.

Reduction or elimination of political appointees and ,development of a competent,
professional career staff as well as a career executive director.

2.

Access to, and support of, the President through the creation of a Domestic Crisis
Monitoring Unit in the White House.

3.

Integration of FEMA's subunits into a cohesive institution through the development of
a common mission, vision and values, and creation of an integrative career development
program.

4.

Development of structure, strategy and management systems to give agency leadership
the means to direct the agency.

5.

A new statutory charter centered on integrated mitigation, preparation, response and
recovery from emergencies and disasters of all tes.

6.

Joint assessment teams and a gradated response scale for more timely and effective

responses to catastrophic disaster.
7.

Development of functional headquarters-field relationships.

Additional funding in the near term will be required to meet these conditions, but the
panel believes that the result will be improved efficiency and program effectiveness that, in the
long run, would reduce costs. Given the current government-wide budget stringencies, FEMA
must do everything possible to economize and make best use of existing resources.
THE NEED FOR A GALVANIZING EVENT TO BRING ABOUT
CHANGES IN THE WAY AMERICA RESPONDS TO EMERGENCIES
Changes of the magnitude rgmmended by the panel will require strong and sustained
White House and congressiol attention and support. Given the nation's economic and social
problems and the foreign policy challenges likely to occupy the political leadership, the panel
believes a galvanizing event, such as a White House or governor's conference on emergency
managment, a summit meeting between the President and the governors, anational commission
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chartered by Congress, or a task force appointed by the President, will be needed to forge a new
compact between the states and the federal government on how the nation will prepare for and
respond to emergencies and who will pay the costs.

WITHOUT SIGNIFICANT PROGRESS ON CONDITIONS SPECIFIED ABOVE,
CONSIDERATION SHOULD BE GIVEN TO A MORE DRASTIC OPTION
If after a reasonable period, most of the essential conditions listed above cannot be met,
other alternatives should be examined. Time, however, has not permitted thorough study of
alternative options. If the time comes to consider them, an additional study would be required
to analyze the pros and cons of the more drastic actions outlined below.
One option might be to abolish FEMA and return its component parts to their agencies
of origin or place them elsewhere. For example, disaster assistance could be returned to HUD
and civil defense planning to DOD. A small office in the Executive Office of the President
would be needed to perform the coordination function under the FRP.
This, however, was the unfortunate condition which caused FEMA to be created in the
first place, and the panel sees this as a useful option only if no other is available.
A second, marginally better, option would be to transfer most FEMA functions intact to
an existing department or agency, such as Commerce, HUD or EPA. To retain its present grade
structure and some visibility, the director would need to be given deputy secretary status. No
other department or agency, however, provides an ideal home for the emergency management
function, and all have other priorities and problems.
In any event, the panel does not recommend that this function be transferred to DoD.
Many of FEMA's problems with disaster response can be traced to a preoccupation with national
security emergency preparedness. The panel believes the time has come to shift the emphasis
from national security to domestic civil emergency management using an all-hazards approach.
In addition, making this function a routine part of the defense mission would further complicate
larger issues of the Armed Forces' peacetime roles.
SUMMING UP
The rationale behind the creation of FEMA has not lived up to expectations. The
responsibility for that lies with both the executive and legislative branches, and with both the
public and its leaders. The panel believes it is possible for a small independent agency to
coordinate the federal response to major natural disasters, but certaLi essential conditions must
be met. If these condition are not met, then the President and Congress should consider a more
drastic option, such as transferring these functions to a Cabinet department or major independent
agency. Without bold action, America's frustration with the timeliness and quality of the federal
response is very likely to continue.
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APPENDIX B

INTERVIEWS CONDUCTED AND CONTACTS MADE DURING NAPA STUDY
CALIFORNIA
California State Government
Director, Office of Emergency Services
Dr. Richard Andrews
National Guard
Major Tony Palumbo
Col. Guido J. Portante, Jr. Deputy Chief of Staff, Opmations, National Guard
Executive Director, California Seismic Safety Commission
L. Thomas Tobin
Chief, Disaster Assistance Div., Office of Emergency Services
Charles Wynne
City of Los Angeles
Shirley Mattingly

Director, Office of Emergency Management

County of Los Angeles
Yvonne Brathwaite Burke
Robert Garrott
Michael Henry
IA.Ben Nottingham
Lt. Richard E.Odenthal
Thomas 0. Page
Constance Perett
Alvia A.Shaw, Jr.
William J. Zeason

Supervisor, Second District
County of Los Angeles, Emegency Management
County of Los Angeles, Emergency Management
County of Los Angele, Emergency Management
Emergency Operations Bureau, Sheriff Dept.
Battalion Chief, Office of Emergency Management
Assistant Manager, Office of Emergency Management
Chief, Administrative Office, Office of Emergency Management
Operations Chief Deputy, Fire Department

Henry Gardiner
Hon. Elihu Harris
Henry Renteria

City Manager
Mayor
Emergency Services Manager

City of San Francisco
Adm. John Bitoff (Ret.)

Director, Mayor's Office of Emergency Services, San Francisco
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FLORIDA

Tom Herndon

Frank Koutnik
Robert 0. Nave

Patrica Pepper
Ben Start
Rod Weatfall

Chief of Staff to Governor
Division of Emergency Management
Director, Division of Emergency Management
Director, Housing and Community Development Division
Executive Director, Governor's Commission on Hurricane Andrew
Division of Emergency Management

Cily of Homeste
Chris Benuld

Assistant City Manager

RafM Cans

Assistant City Manager

Kate Hak
Commissioner Hawkins
Andy Menendez
Patrick O'Connor

Director, County Office of Emergency Preparedness
County Commissioner
Director of Homeless Progms
Director, Audit and Management

HAWAII
Thomas 0. Batey
Roy C. Price, Sr.
Gen. . V.Rlchardson
icnne Yuklmura

Office of the Mayor, County of Kaa
Director, Vice Director of Civil Defens
Adjutant General and Director of Civil Defense
Mayor, County of Kaal

LOUISIANA

Brett Krieger
Burtram Madere

Deputy Director of LA Office of Emergency Preparedness

agency Director, St. John The Baptist Paish

Fomer President, New iber Parish
Gen. Ansel M. Stroud, Jr. Adjutant General_
DirectorofLA Offce of Emergency
Lt. Col. William Croft

Craig Romero

66-273 0 - 94 - 11

A
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CONGRESSIONAL STAFF
Carolyn BLApostolou

Professional Staff Member, Senate VA-HUD-Independent Offices

Keith Be&
Michele Burkett
Rob Connor

Congressional Research Service
House VA-HUD-IndependentOffices Appropriations subcommittee
Professional Staff Member, Senate Committee on Environment and
Public Works Subcommittee
Staff Director/Chief Clerk, Senate VA-HUD-Indepeldent Offices
Appropriations Subcommittee
Staff Assistant, House VA-HUD-Independent Offices

Kevin Kelly
Richard Malow

Appropriations Subcommittee

Appropriations Subcommittee
Thomas Kirk McConnell
Alma Moore
Frank Moore*
Cheri Roe
Errol L. Tyler
Jack Wells

Professional staff member, Senate Armed Services Committee
Staff of Senate Armed Services Committee, Military Installations
Subcommittee
Counsel, Subcommittee on Policy, Research and Insurance, House
Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs Committee
Professional staff member, House Committee on Public Works
Counsel, Subcommittee on Water Resources, House Committee on
Public Works
Staff of House Committee on Public Works and Transportation

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE
Maxwell Alston
L. Col. William Butler
]A. Gen. Johnnie Corns
Ut. Col. Wayne Lesak
Dr. Enrique Mendez, Jr.
U. Col. Phil Mugford

Office of the Secretary of Defense, Washington, D.C.
Operations Officer, Office of the Director of Military support,
U.S. Army, Washington, D.C.
Commander, U.S. Army Pacific Area, Fort Shafter, Honolulu, HI
U.S. Sixth Army HQ, San Francisco, CA
Assistant Secretary for Health Affairs, Office of the Secretary
of Defense
U.S. Sixth Army HQ, San Francisoo, CA

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Andrew H. Card, Jr.
John Porco

Secretary of Transportation
Deputy Director, Office of Emergency Transportation

EXECUIVE OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT
Daniel Casse
Edith B. Holiday
Patrick H. Linhares

Special Assistant to the President for Cabinet Affairs
Assistant to the President and Secretary to the Cabinet
Director of Emergency Preparde, National Security
Council
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FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY

David A. Cole
Thomas R. McQullan
Wa a B. Stickney
William C.'ldball
State and L

Senior Advisor to the Director for Management and
Administrati
Senior Policy Advisor
FEMA Director
Director of Human Resources Management and Acting Director

Proams and Su o Directorate

Laura I. Buchbinder
Bonnie Butler
Curtis Carleton
Gregg Chappell
Dennis R.DeWalt
Gary D. Johnson
Richard Krimm
Dennis Kwiatkowski
John McKay
Grant C. Peterson.
Stephen Sharro
Robert F. Shea, Jr.
Patricia Stahlschmidt
Robert H. Volland
Laurence Zensinger

Superintendent, EMI/Acting Regional Director, Reg. VII
Chief, E4 Emergency Management Division
Emergency Management Specialist, Disaster Assistance Programs
Assistant Associat Director, Disaster Assistare Programs
Chief, State and Local Support Division, Off. of Emergency Mgt
Assistant Associate Director, Earthquake and Natural Hazards W.
Deputy Associate Director, SLPS
Assistantso
Director,OfficeofTechnologicalHazards,SLPS
Assistant Asociaw Director, Office of Emergency Management,
Associate Director, SLPS

Deputy Superintendent, EMI
Chief, Office of Program Analysis and Coordination, SLPS
Chief, Hazard Mitigation Branch, Disaster Assistance Programs
Chief Individual Assistance Division,
Chief, Public Assistance Division

National ftDiectrat

Bruce J. Campbell
Gordon Fullerton
Homer V. Hervey
0. Clay Hollister
John D. Hwang
William F.W. Jones
James Kellett
Edward Kernan
Elaine S. Kramer
Antonio Lopez
Joseph A. Moreland
Nation
=-11w
William W. Donovan

Assistant Associate Director
Deputy for Information Resources Management
Assistant Associate Director
Deputy Assistant Associate Director, Acting Director,Reg. VI
Acting Assistant Associate Director
Deputy Associate Director
Acting Assistant Associate Director
Assistant Associate Director
Chief, Management Analysis Division
Associate Director
Assistant Associate Director
orinto Cne
Secure Informaticn systems Services
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Information Systems Support Center
National Network Operations Center
Mobile Air Transportable Telecommunications
Chief, NECC

Federal Insurance Administration
Francis V. Reilly
C.M. Schauerte
Frank Thomas

Deputy Administrator, FIA
Administrato, FIA
Assistant Administrator, FL4

U.S. Fire Administration
James F. Coyle
Ronald P. Face, Jr.
Albert C. Kirchner, Jr.
Roger Lanahan
Bernard Marshall
Edward M. Wall

Assistant Administrator for Fire Prevention and Arson Control
Director of USFA NBTC Operations and support
Superintendent, National Fire Academy
Assistant Administrator for Firefighter Health and Safety
Director, Office of Educational Technology
Deputy Administrator

Office of the General Counsel

William R. Cumming
Patricia M. Gormley
Michael B. Hirsch
H. Crane Miller
Kathryn L. Newman

General Attorney, Program Law Division
General Counsel
Associate General Counsel
Legislative and Regulatory Attorney

Deputy General Counsel

Office of the Inspector General
Deborah Hart
Paul J. U1l1is
William R. Partridge
Richard L. Skinner

Assistant IG/Inspections
Assistant IO/Investigations

Deputy Inspector General
Assistant Inspector General, Audits

Other FEMA HO Staff
W. Russell Asher
Leo V. Bosner
Col. P. F. Dabrowski, Jr.
Barbara Jacobik
Robert L. McFerren

Chief Financial Officer
Acting President, AFGE Local 4060
Military Support Liaison Officer
Budget Officer
Director, Office of Regional Liaison
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Frank Begley
Charles Biggs
Lee Cark
Bobby Blalock

Deputy Regional Director, Region VII

Mike Deoorum
Roy Gorup
R. Dedl Gree
Steve Harell
Bradley Harris
Edwin H. Harris, Jr.
Richard Klein
James LaGrote

Branch Chief, Region IV
Chief, Public Assistance Programs, Region IX
Chief, Emergency Management and NP, Region VI
Chief, Natural and Technological Hazards Division, Region VII
Region VI Director
Chief, Denton MERS unit

Bill Massey
M41or P. May

lames McClanahan
William Medigovich
Nicholas Nikas
Dale Peterson
Michael Polny
Warren Pugh
Tim Seidel
Richard H. Strome
Neal Voltz
Daryl Wait
Leland Wilson
Jim Yeager

Chie, Emergency Management Programs Division, Region VII
Region VII Telecommunications
Chief, Emergency Management and National Prepareperedness

Division, Region IV

Region VII Analyst
Chief, Natural and Technological Hazards Division, Region VI
Region IV staff - Hurricane Program Manager
Region IV Director
Deputy R onal Directo, Region VI

Region IX Director
Chief, Emergency Management and NP Programs Div., Reg IX
Pacific Area Office Director
Region IV, Individual and Family Grants
Chief, Disaster Assistance Program, Region VII
Region VII IRM staff
Region I Director
Administrative Officer, Region VII
Disaster Assistanoe Programs, Region IX
Acting Chief, Disaster Assistance Programs, Region VI

Disaster Assistance Program Network Manager, Region VII

GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE
Stanley Czerwinski
Judy A. England-Joseph
Cliff Fowler
Jeff Itell
Valerie Rogers

Assistant Director, Housing and Community Development Issues
Director, Housing and Community Development Issues
Deputy Director, Housing and Community Development Issues
Housing and Community Development Issues
Housing and Community Development Issues

OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET
Chris Heiser
Franklin S. Reeder

Kenneth Ryder

Examiner, FEMA programs
Assistant Director for General Management
Deputy Associate Director, Housing, Treasury and Finance
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OTHER FERAL AGENCIES
Kathy Kobers
Dave Nash
Leonard Mondrgac
Terry Tipple

Public Health Service Nurse Practitioner
SBA Field Office Rep. Region IV
Emergency Coordinator, USDA
U.S. Forest Service

FORMER !EDERAL OFFICIALS
George Bernstein*
Dr. Ralph Bledsoe
Tom Dunne
Gen. Andrew Goodpaster
Dwight Ink
Harold Seideman

Former FIA Administrator and Chairman of the National
Earthquake Hazards Reduction Advisory Commission
Executive Director, Ronald Reagan Library/Former Domestic
Advisor to the President (Reagan)
Former Administrator, Federal Disaster Assistance Administration
FEMA Advisory Board - Security Practices Committee
Institute of Public Admlnistration/Special Coordinator for 1964

askA Earthquake
Guest Scholar, Center for the Study of American Government,
Johns Hopkins University/Former Assistant Director, Bureau of

the Budget
NATIONAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATION

Martha Braddock
Harvey Ryland
Lacey Suiter
James Lee Witt

NEMA Legislative Representative
Executive Director, Central united states Earthquake Consortium
Director, Tennessee State Emergency Management Agency
Director, Arkansas Office of Emergency Services

NONPROFIT AGENCIES
Rev. Eugene Boutillier
Jennifer Dorn
Donald W. Jones
Susan Smith
Col. Walter C. French
William H. Reno

Administrator, Los Angeles Local Board, Emergency Food and

Shelter Program
Senior Vice President, Policy and Planning, American Red Cross
General Manager, Disaster Services, American Red Cross
Public Policy and Planning Associate, Red Cross
Head of Disaster Services, Salvation Army
Senior Vice President, National Operations, American Red Cross

ACADEMIC SOURCES
Dr. Fred Krimgold

VA Polytechnic Institute and State University/Member of FEMA

Advisory Board
Dr.Lty Lane
Dr. Elliott Mittler

Dept. of Public Administration, The American University
Anderson Graduate School of Management, UCLA
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Dr. Gilbert Whies

Director of Natural Hazards Research and Applicatios Information
Center, University of Colorado

OTAER
LAM LMon*
Mchael Tavillon

Executive Director, Association of Flood Plain Managers
Fairfax County VA Fire Depurtent

N(YTE: Tites of officials are as of the time interviewed.
* - conducted by telephone
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APPENDIX D
EX.TCUIVE DEVELOPMENT: A VITAL PART OF
BUILDING FYMA AS AN INSITIIION
References are made througout this report to the need for improved executive
development at FEMA. The agency should not interpret this identified need primarily as a
means to *fix' the shortcomings of the existing executive cadre, nor primarily as a method of
providing sdlls to the net generation of executives (e.g., today's GS14's & 1's). Well.
conceived executive development programs ar rarely based on a 'fix itapproach. Rather, the
executive development program at FEMA should be seen as a key leverage point for moving the
orpaiati toward the highly competent, professonalized institution prescribed in this
document. Itshould be viewed as one more powerful mechnism available to implement the
oa
change and direction articulated herein. To the extent It is viewed primarily as
training or skill building, it will miss the mark.
This report has made it clear that FEMA's orgizational design, requiring integration
of marginally related functions to achieve a synergistic payoff, is difficult to cary out. It
requires a minimization of turf battles and maximization of cooperation if it is to succeed.
The agenda for institution-building to effectuate that design outlined in this report is very
Virtually no stone remains unturned.
Changes are prescribed in
ambitious.
visIon/missIon/values, strategy, structure, communication channels, and management processes
such as budetng, human resource management, information resources systems and program
analysis and evaluation. Taken as a whole changes will begin forging the "PFMAIdentity" that
GAO found lacking. However, such an ambitious program of change can only be implemeted
by a competmt executive cadre which shares some common vision, sense of mission and values.
This does not mean a homogenized executive cadre that works together In complete harmony.
Ta would be as unhealthy for the agency as it is impossible for humans to behave. But
without sone unity of perspective and competency, the executives will fail to send consistent
signals to the rest of the organization and thereby undermine the efforts to Improve FEMA.
Hence, executive development efforts at FEMA should concentrate on building an executive

cadre cap

of orchestrating the desired chas.

Leading figures in executive development argue that executive development programs
should be closely linked to organiztional strategy." Others call for executive development
programs to be coupled with succession planning efforts." There are still others who offer a
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way to organize a number of organizational factors such as strategy and succession planning into

a Oframework for coherence' from which the content and supporting processes can be
derived." In this approach a few 'central messages" should be developed, around which, the
program should be built. By utilizing such a focus, individual development can be merged with
organizational improvement or institution building.
The approach described here is compatible with a recent National Academy of Public

Administrtation report, Paths to Leadership. which was sponsored by 20 federal agencies."'
Beginning at different points, both call for a strategic perspective.
EFFORTS AT FEMA
FEMA executives seem aware of the need for an improved executive development
program. They also seem increasingly aware of the potential it has as a leverage point for
change. The challenge will be to develop the program from the strategic perspective rather than
from traditional 'training and development" perspective. The emerging executive development
program should be thought of more as an organizational intervention than a training effort.
Given the present situation, the emphasis should be on building a capable executive team with
a shared perspective, not en providing executive A with skill Y.
The Implications for adophS a strategic rather than a training perspective are profound.
For example, since the strategic objective of the program should be to help foster an institutional
building organizational change, emphasis should be placed on providing a developmental
experience for the key change agents in the organization, regardless of their exact job title or
grade. The result might be a mixture of participants from the field and headquarters
representing a range of grades from mid to senior management. In contrast, a typical training
approach would "target' a certain hierarchical slice of the organization such as "all SES
members' or all GS/GM 14's & 15's. Yet the reality might be that not all SES members are
key to bringing about the desired organizational change, but that some GS/GM 14's & 15's are.
The above example is particularly salient for FEMA, as distinctions such as SES/nonSES, career/political, headquarters/field, classified/non-classified, and stovepipe X/stovepipe Y
have contributed to the lack of cohesion within the agency. The executive cadre which will
drive a successful organization transformation at FEMA must minimize the labels and categories
which result in exclusivity, and focus on the shared aspects which are inclusive and can build
commitment to the larger organizational purpose. Until the key executives share a common
perspective about the desired future state of the organization and the means for getting there, the
other employees will mirror the lack of shared purpose and direction. The executive
development program should be central to establishing that common perspective.
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EXECUTIVE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES
In creating the executive development program recommended in Chapter Four, there are
several strategies which FEMA officials should consider. They are:
I.

Adopt a strategic perspective in creating the executive development program. Blend
individual development with organizational improvement strategies.

2.

Avoid a 'training" perspective at this point.

3.

Use a structured approach such as the "framework for coherence" to study the multitude
of factors that have relevance for institution building and uses for the executive
development program at FEMA.

4.

Develop a few 'central messages' which will be conveyed through the program's content
and processes.

5.

Be flexible in interpreting "executives," so as to be inclusive to all the true managerial
change agents. (This also has the side benefits of encouraging diversity of participants
and not establishing career expectations as sometimes occur in "candidacy" programs.)

6.

Blend succession planning considerations into the executive development program, but
keep succession planning and training subordinate to the strategic perspective of changing
the organization through executive development.

7.

Develop individual career development plans that allow for voluntary placement outside
FEMA in related agencies either permanently or temporarily.

8.

Do everything possible to prevent the treatment of executive development experiences
as punishment or rewards.

9.

Establish "continuous learning' as a norm within the agency so that continuous
development and improvement is an expectation for all FEMA employees. This will
provide an ongoing mechanism to bring about the desired organizational changes.
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APPENDIX E
FEMA ORGANIZATION AND FUNCTIONS
FEmA was established pursuant to Reorpnizatin Plan No. 3 of 1978(5 U.S.C. app.)

and Executive Orders 12127 of March 31, 1979, and 12148 of July 20, 1979.

The following is the description of the agency included in The Utdad states Gownmmnt
Manul 1992/1993.
Te Federal Emergency Management Agency (PMA) is the focal point within

the Federal Government for emergency planning, preparedness, mitigation,

response, and recovery. The Agency works closely with State and local
governments by funding emergency programs and providing technical guidance
and training. These coordinated activities at the Fedend, State, and local levels
ensure a broad-based emergency program to protect public safety and property.
The chart on page 134 shows the current structure of the agency. The major divisions
of the agency and associated resourcesn are as follows:
The United States Fire Administration (USFA . Established by the Federal Fire
Prevention and Control Act of 1974, as amended, the mission of the USFA, is to provide
coordination, direction, control, and administration for the agency's fire control
programs. The USFA is responsible for the mitigation, research, planning, and
dissemination of fire prevention information to the nation's firefighters and the general
public. The USFA Is also responsible for activities of the National Fire Academy, the
National Fire Data Center, and management of the National Emergency Training Center
at Emmitsburg, MD.
The authorizing legislation of the USFA includes a statutory priority for reducing the
incidence of residential fires which the USFA identifies as the cause of the overwhelming
bulk of fire-caused deaths.
The USPA has a FY 1993 budget of $28.6 million in program dollars and $8.2 million
in salaries and expense funds, and 147 work years, representing 5.4 percent of FEMA's
total
work years.
Th USFA director is appointed by the President and confirmed by the Senate.
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The Nsional Ep d
Directorate aMP). This Office administers FEMA's major
repsibilities for maintaining the continuity of government in the event of a national
security emergency - a nuclear attack upo the United States. The governing legislation
Is Included in the National Security Act and the Defense Production Act as well as in
certain Executive Orders. The bulk of FEMA's activities in this area are classified.
The directorate coordinates national security emergency management and preparedness
responsibilities with federal departments and agencies. It develops, coordinates, and
evaluates procedures that provide for the effective operation of government In a national
security emergency, creates and coordinates concepts and systems to improve the
mobilization of industrial and federal sectors, formulates concepts and systems to ensure
the availability of resources required to fulfill defense and critical civilian needs,
develops presidential emergency action documents, serves as the civil/military interface,
and manages the 24-hour National Emergency Coordination Center.
The NP budget for FY 1993 includes $78 million of program funds of which $56.5
million is for classified programs, and $57.6 million of salaries and expenses funds of
which $44.8 million is for classified activities. It has 1,019 work years, 37.7 percent of
FEMA's total, of which 842 (82.6 percent) work in classified functions.
The National Preparedness Directorate Is headed by an associate director appointed by
the President and confirmed by the Senate.
The State and Local Pryrams and SuVoort Directorate (SLPS . This Office is the one
most closely associated with disaster recovery activities. It is that part of FEMA which
coordinates the administration of disaster assistance, including responsibilities for
administering the Disaster Relief Fund programs of Individual and Family Assistance
Grants, Temporary Housing Assistance, Public Assistance Grants, and other associated
programs.
The Individual and Family Assistance Grant Program provides grants of up to
$11,900 to individuals or families with serious needs and necessary expensts that
can not be met through other governmental disaster assistance programs or other
means. Programs of disaster unemployment insurance and crisis counselling are
also made available to individuals.
The Temporary Housing Assistance Program provides 100-percent grants for
rental assistance and home repair to individuals and families whose homes are
damaged or destroyed and who do not have adequate insurance coverage.
Mortgage a rental assistance is also provided to those who had a financial
hardship and are therefore unable to make rent or mortgage payments. Mobile
homes and travel trailers are provided when available rental housing in the area
is insufficient to meet housing demand.
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vides assistance to state and local governments
e Public Anbmp r
and certain private nonprofit organizations. This assistance covers the cost of

repair or replacment of damaged facilities owned and operated by eligible

applicants Eligible costs also include debris removal and emergecy protective
measures. Grant$ am prenrbed by law to be "... no less than 75 peront of the
eligible costs. .. Reimbursement of eligible public assistant co sometimes
exceeds the 75-percent rate in unusual circumstances based on a formula which
reimburses at 75 percent for the first ten dollar per capita (baed on state
population) of total public assistance costs and a higher rate (up to 100 per n
for expenses ove" ten dollars per capital.
In addition to the basic disaster relief function - which is centered primarily in one office
within SLPS - the Office of Daster Assistance Pograms (DAP), the Directorate has
responsibility for the following programs and activities:
The Emergency Food and Shelter Program which supplements emergency food
and shelter assistance to needy individuals that is currently delivered by traditional
providers at the local level.
The program operates through aNation Board composed of representatives from
Catholic Charities, USA, American Red Cross, United Way of America, National
Council of churches of Christ in the USA, Salvation Army, and the Council of
Jewish Federations. The National Board distributes program funds based on a
formula agreed to with FEMA.
Supef
and Relocation Assistance which provides relocation assistance to
individuals, businesses, and facilities threatened by hazardous materials incidents.
ThW E ==g g
-mne-ia
which conducts training activities for the
emergency management community in methods of preparing for, responding to,
recovering from, and mitigating emergencies and diaster.
ivi
fens programs aimed at providing an integrated emergency management
system at the federal, state, and local levels capable of protecting life, property,
and vital infrastructure regardless of the cause of the disaster/emergency.
EartjW and Other Natural Hazard Mitigaton bgram. FEMA Is the lead
agency under the National Farthquke Hazards Reduction Act of 1977, as
amended. It runs a cooperative federal/state hurricane program for population
protection planning, property proectio planning, and technical assistance. A
small dam safety program is also in effect.
CheMical Sgie
ge
ft=Md= RMM.This program is designed
to assist state and local jurisdictions In responding to incidents related to the
storage and destruction of the Amy's stockpile of chemical weapons.
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EMUl2W"
Bug= 2xinruWm . Workin with the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission, this
program Isdesigned to enhance die ability of sta and local
governments and othr to respond to PeacetiM rdooi
mergeNe.
The SLPS budget for FY 1993 includes $292 million for the Disaster Relief Fund (which
may be augmented by supplemental appropriations) and $129 million for the Bmergency
Food and Shelter program. Its budget also includes $156.6 million in other program
funds and $50.7 million in salaries and expense funs, and 800 work years, 29.6 percent
of FEMA's total.
The State and Loa Programs and Support Directorate is headed by an associate director
appointed by the President and confirmed by the Senate.
The Federal Insurance Administration (FM. The FIA administers the Federal Crime

Insurance Program (FC[P) and the National Flood Inwrance Program (NFIP). The FCIP
is a federally subsidized program which began in 1971 and which authorizes the federal
government to sell crime insurance at affordable rates in any eligible state. The program
is somewhat regional at this stage with the bulk of the policy holders being in New York.
The NFIP is a federally backed program that makes flood insurance available to residents
of communities in exchange for the community's adoption and enforcement of the NFIP's

floodplain management regulations.
The FIA budget for FY 1993 reflects revolving fund income of $846 million. In
addition, the budget includes $48.1 million of program funds and $14.7 million in
salaries and expenses funds and 214 work years, 8 percent of FEMA's total.
The FIA Is headed by an administrator appointed by the President and confirmed by the
Senate.

External Affairs Diretort. This organization is responsible for public affairs,
congressional affairs, international contacts, and intergovernmental relations. Its 1993
budget is $1.7 million of salaries and expenses funds and 20 work years.
The External Affairs directorate iskd
President and confirmed by the Senate.

by an associate director appointed by the

h
~Ment and Administration. This activity represents an array of offices handling
gen'.ral administration, procuement, human resources, and security. It has a 1993

budget of $35.8 million of salaries and expenses funds, including centrally paid services
such as rent, and 330 work year, 12 percent of the FEMA total.
]JtM=CW I.The Officeof the Inspector General is headed by an inspector general
appointed by the President and cofirmed by the Senate. It has a $4 million budget for
78 work years in FY 1993.
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1.dhs activity includes dhe Office of Regional UsIason and
an u offce of regional admin'suation. (Fi md for the bance of regional oftes
is bcuded widdn theopgpam office budget deMibd mov.) this activity is bdgeted
for $10.3 mlion and 110 work yc: a, 4.1 peret of FEWA's toa.

Te tables which foow 9w the budget an staffing allocaons. The first table &sho
the budget numbers for each component pant of the orpnhton. The second table shows
comparable Imnrmaon for the regional office.
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